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The Development & Enterprise Market is a market designed to include emerging or smaller 

companies to which a higher investment risk tends to be attached than to larger or more 

established companies. The Development & Enterprise Market securities are not admitted 

to the Official Market of the SEM. 

 
 

A prospective investor should be aware of the risks of investing in such companies and 

should make the decision to invest only after careful consideration and, if appropriate, 

consultation with a professional financial adviser. Prospective investors are directed to 

review Section 15 (“Risk Factors”) of this Admission Document. 
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2 Notice 

 
 

This Admission Document has been prepared by Volt Graphite Tanzania Plc and is issued pursuant to the 

rules for Development & Enterprise Market (DEM) companies of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd (“the 

DEM Rules”) in relation to a listing by way of private placement on the Development & Enterprise Market 

(the “DEM”). A copy of this Admission Document has been duly filed with the Financial Services 

Commission of Mauritius. 

 
 

This Admission Document relates to the issue of up to US$15,000,000 interest bearing notes with a maturity 

of five years with the interest being payable in cash and the principal being paid in cash. 

 
 

The Listing Executive Committee of the SEM has granted its approval on 24 December 2019 for the 

listing of the above Notes on the DEM. On the first day of admission to listing and trading  on  the DEM, 

which has been  scheduled for 24 February 2020, 100,000  Notes will be made available for  trading at an 

indicative price of US$1.00 per Note. 

In accordance with DEM Rule 7, the Company advises that as at the date of admission, all related 

parties and applicable employees including the parent company, have agreed not to dispose of 

any interest in the Securities for one year from the date of the admission on the DEM. 

 
 
 
 

3 Important Notices 

 

This Admission Document include particulars given in compliance with the DEM Rules governing 

the listing of Securities on the DEM for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Issuer. 

The Issuer or where applicable, the directors, whose names appear on page 35, collectively and 

individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of the information 

contained in this Admission Document and confirm/s, having made all reasonable enquiries, that 

to the best of its / their knowledge and belief there are no other facts the omission of which would 

make any statement herein misleading. 

 
 

Certain of the statements made and information contained or incorporated by reference herein is "forward- 

looking information" within the meaning of applicable securities laws. All statements other than statements 

of historical facts included in this Admission Document, including but not limited to statements regarding 

the prospects of the industry and the Company’s prospects, plans, future financial and operating 

performance and business strategy, constitute forward-Looking information. Forward-looking information 

is based on current expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections as well as beliefs and assumptions 

made by the Company’s management. 

 
 

Such statements include, in particular, statements about the Company’s plans, prospects, position, future 

results, and business strategies; the Company’s technical reports, or any Preliminary Economic 

Assessment or Feasibility Study, including, without limitation, with respect to any mineral resource and ore 

reserve estimates, life of mine estimates, and mine closure plans; the parameters and assumptions 

underlying the mineral resource and ore reserve estimates and financial analysis; anticipated market prices 

of minerals; the Company’s anticipated capital and operating costs for its material mineral properties; the 

Company’s ability to comply with contractual and regulatory requirements; the receipt of all necessary 

permitting and approvals; the Company’s intentions with respect to exploration and development activities 

at its projects and expectations regarding the results of operations and production at the Company’s 

projects. 
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Words such as “aim”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “continue”, “contingent”, “endeavour”, “estimate”, “expect”, 

“feasibility”, “forecast”, “focus”, “foresee”, “future”, “guidance”, “initiative”, “intend”, “likely”, “may”, “model”, 

“objective”, “opportunity”, “option”, “outlook”, “plan”, “potential”, “predict”, “preliminary”, “project”, 

“proposed”, “prospect”, “risk”, “seek”, “should”, “strategy”, “study”, “target”, “uncertainty”, or “will”, or the 

negatives of these terms or variations of them or similar terminology or statements that certain actions, 

events or results “could”, “may”, “might”, “would”, or “will be taken”, “occur,” or “be achieved” are intended 

to identify such forward-looking information. 

 
 

Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking information 

contained herein are reasonable, these statements, by their nature, involve risks and uncertainties 

and are not guarantees of future performance. Forward-looking information is based on a number 

of assumptions and are subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties, and ultimately, actual events 

or results may differ materially from those reflected in the forward-looking information. Risks and 

uncertainties that may impact the Company’s performance include, without limitation, risks 

associated with operating in foreign countries; uncertain political and economic environments; 

community activism and risks related to negative publicity with respect to the Company or the 

mining industry in general; changes in laws, regulations or policies including but not limited to 

those related to permitting, environmental management, labour, trade relations, and transportation; 

delays in or inability to obtain necessary permits; risks associated with business arrangements 

and partners over which the Company does not have full control; risks associated with acquisitions 

and related integration efforts; competition; development or exploration results not being 

consistent with the Company's expectations; estimates of future production; operating and cash 

costs estimates; allocation of resources and capital; litigation; uninsurable risks; volatility in 

mineral prices; the estimation of asset carrying values; funding requirements and availability of 

financing; indebtedness; foreign currency fluctuations; interest rate volatility; changes in the 

parent company’s share price, and equity markets, in general; changing taxation regimes; 

counterparty and credit risks; health and safety risks; risks related to the environmental impact of 

the Company’s operations and products and management thereof; unavailable or inaccessible 

infrastructure; risks inherent in mineral exploration, development and production including but not 

limited to risks to the environment, industrial accidents, catastrophic equipment failures, unusual 

or unexpected geological formations, or unstable ground conditions; actual mineral quality varying 

from estimates; mineral processing efficiency; risks relating to attracting and retaining of highly 

skilled employees; ability to retain key personnel; the potential for and effects of labour disputes 

or other unanticipated difficulties with or shortages of labour or interruptions in production; the 

price and availability of energy and key operating supplies or services; the inherent uncertainty of 

exploration efforts as well as development, and the potential for unexpected costs and expenses; 

risks associated with the estimation of mineral resources and ore reserves; and the geology, quality 

and continuity of mineralisation including but not limited to models relating thereto; natural 

phenomena such as earthquakes, flooding, and unusually severe weather; potential for the 

allegation of fraud and corruption involving the Company, its customers, suppliers or employees, 

or the allegation of improper or discriminatory employment practices; security at the Company’s 

operations; breach or compromise of key information technology systems; materially increased or 

unanticipated reclamation obligations; risks related to mine closure activities; title risk and the 

potential of undetected encumbrances; and other risks and uncertainties, including but not 

limited to those described in Section 15 “Risk Factors” of this Admission Document. 

Readers are cautioned that the foregoing list is not exhaustive of all factors and assumptions which 

may have been used. Although the Company has attempted to identify important factors that could 

cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking information, there 

may be other factors that cause results not to be as anticipated, estimated, forecast or intended. 

Forward-looking information is in addition based on various assumptions including, without 

limitation, the expectations and beliefs of management that the Company can access financing, 

appropriate equipment and sufficient labour and that the political environment in which the 

Company operates will continue to support the development and operation of mineral projects. 

Should one or more of these risks and uncertainties materialise, or should underlying assumptions 

prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially from those described in forward-looking 



 

information. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that forward-looking information will prove 

to be accurate, and so readers are advised not to place undue reliance on forward-looking 

information. The forward-looking information contained herein speaks only as of the date of this 

Admission Document. The Company does not undertake to update such forward-looking 

information unless required under applicable laws. 

 
 

This Admission Document (the “Admission Document”) is furnished to a limited number of selected 

investors who have expressed an interest in investing in the Securities of Volt Graphite Tanzania Plc (“Volt” 

or the “Company”). 

 
 

By accepting this Admission Document and other information supplied by GFin Corporate Services Ltd 

(“GFIN”) on behalf of the Company, or any of their directors, employees or agents, the recipient agrees 

that, except as otherwise provided in this Admission Document, neither it nor any of its directors, 

employees, agents or advisors will use such information for any purpose other than for evaluating an 

investment in the Company or divulge such information to any other party. This Admission Document may 

not be photocopied, reproduced or distributed to others without the prior written consent of GFIN. 

 
 

No person has been authorized to make any statement concerning Volt or the offering being made under 

this Admission Document, other than as set forth herein, and any such statements, if made, may not be 

relied upon. 

 
 

The Securities and the resale thereof may be subject to other restrictions on transfer under the securities 

laws, rules and regulations of other countries and jurisdictions. This Admission Document is not an offer to 

sell or a solicitation to buy Securities, nor shall any Securities be offered or sold, to any person in any 

jurisdiction in which such offer, solicitation, purchase or sale would be unlawful under the securities laws 

of such jurisdiction. For information on the restrictions applying in certain jurisdictions, prospective investors 

should refer to Section 13 (“Investment Overview”). Prospective investors are required to inform 

themselves, and comply with, all such restrictions or prohibitions and none of the Company, GFIN or any 

other person accepts liability to any person in relation thereto. 

 
 

The Company has taken all reasonable care to ensure that the information contained in this Admission 

Document is accurate as of the date of this Admission Document. Neither the Company nor any of its 

affiliates has any obligation to update this Admission Document. Under no circumstances should the 

delivery of this Admission Document, irrespective of when it is made, create an implication that there has 

been no change in the affairs of Volt since such date. The Company reserves the right to modify any of 

the terms of the offering and the Securities described herein. This Admission Document may be updated 

and amended by a supplement and where such supplement is prepared, this Admission Document will be 

read and construed with such supplement, as one Admission Document. 

 
 

This Admission Document is provided for information purposes only and is not intended to be, and must 

not alone be taken as, the basis for an investment decision. Prospective investors should conduct their 

own investigation and analysis of an investment in Volt and make their own assessment of the private 

placement (including, without limitation, their consideration and review of the subject matter of the 

appendices hereto, and the documents referred to herein) independently and without reliance on the 

Company, GFIN or their respective directors, employees, agents and affiliates. In addition, prospective 

investors are strongly urged to consult their own legal counsel and financial, accounting, regulatory and tax 

advisors regarding the implications of investing in the Group. 

 
 

An investment in the Securities involves certain risks - see Section 15 (“Risk Factors”). Any projections or 

forecasts in this Admission Document are illustrative only and have been based on the estimates and 

assumptions described in this Admission Document in relation to them which may or may not prove to be 

correct. Each recipient of this Admission Document should be aware that these projections do not constitute 
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a forecast or prediction of actual results and there can be no assurance that the projected results will 

actually be realized or achieved. Actual results may depend on future events which are not in the 

Company’s control and may be materially affected by unforeseen economic or other circumstances. The 

reliance which can be placed upon the projections and forecasts made in this Admission Document is a 

matter of commercial judgment. No representation or warranty is made as to the achievability or 

reasonableness of any projection or forecast in this Admission Document. 

 
 

Furthermore, the Company operates in a specialised sector with potentially high risks and potential 

investors should be aware of these risks before investing in the securities. Each prospective 

investor must be prepared to bear the economic risk of an investment in the Securities and should 

consult their financial advisors regarding the appropriateness of making an investment in the 

Securities. Neither the Listing Executive Committee (the “LEC”) of the SEM, nor the SEM, nor the 

FSC assumes any responsibility for the contents of this Admission Document. The LEC, the SEM 

and the FSC make no representation as to the accuracy or completeness of any of the statements 

made or opinions expressed in this Admission Document and expressly disclaim any liability 

whatsoever for any loss arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part thereof. 



4 Responsibility Statement 
 

 
 

The directors, whose names appear on page 35, collectively and individually: 
 

a. confirm that the accounts of the Issuer for the 14 month period ending 30 June 2016, the financial 

years ended 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2018 have been prepared in accordance with all applicable 

legislation and relevant accounting standards, and accept full responsibility for them; 

 

b. accept full responsibilty for the accuracy and completeness of the information in this Admission 

Document and confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief after having made all reasonable 

enquiries, that this Admission Document complies with the Securities Act 2005 (including applicable 

rules and regulations issued thereunder) and the DEM Rules, and that this Admission Document 

contain or incorporate all information which is material in the context of the Issue and the offering of 

the Notes, that the information contained or incorporated in this Admission Document is true and 

accurate in all material respects and is not misleading, that forecasts, estimates or projections hasve 

been made after due and careful enquiry, that the opinions and the intentions expressed in this 

Admission Document are honestly held and that there are no other facts, the ommission of which 

would make this Admission Document or any of such information or expression of any such opinions 

or intentions misleading; 
 

c. confirm that, in their opinion, having made due and careful enquiry, the working capital available to 

the Company upon completion of this private placement will be sufficient to meet the Company’s 

obligations and commitments for at least the twelve months, as further shown in Section 10 

(“Financial and Trading Prospects of the Group”) of this Admission Document; and 
 

d. confirm that there has been no material adverse change in the financial or trading position of the 

Company or its subsidiaries since the date of the last audited accounts or as disclosed in this 

Admission Document. 

 

Unanimously approved by the Board (as defined below) of the Issuer on 11 November 2019 and signed on 

its behalf by: 

 
 
 
 
 

………………………………….. 
Asimwe Kabunga 
Chairman 

………………………………….. 
Trevor Matthews 
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

8 



Admission Document Volt Graphite Tanzania Plc 
 

 
 
 

5 Corporate Information 
 

 
 

ISSUER 

SEM AUTHORISED 

REPRESENTATIVE 
 

ADVISORS 

Volt Graphite Tanzania Plc GFin Corporate Services Ltd Exotix Partners LLP 

Plot No 1826/17 Chole Road Level 6, GFin Tower 1st Floor, Watson House 

Golden Heights Building 42 Hotel Street 54 Baker Street 

Msasani Peninsula, Masaki Cybercity W1U 7BU 

PO Box 80003 Ebene 72201 London 

Dar es Salaam Mauritius United Kingdom 

Tanzania   

 
 

LEGAL ADVISOR (Tanzania) 

 
LEGAL ADVISORS 

(Mauritius) 

 
 

AUDITORS 

Clyde & Co Tanzania Dentons Innovex Auditors 

Golden Jubilee Towers 2nd Floor, Chancery House 8 Kilimani Road 

Ohio Street Lislet Geoffroy Street PO Box 75297 

PO Box 80512 Port- Louis Dar es Salaam 

Dar es Salaam Mauritius Tanzania 

Tanzania   

 
RECEIVING BANK AND 

COLLECTION AGENT 

 
 

REPORTING ACCOUNTANT 

 
 

COMPANY SECRETARY 

NMB Bank PLC Ernst & Young Leticia Kabunga 

Ohio/Ali Hassan Mwinyi Road 

PO Box 9213 

 

Tanhouse Tower (4th Floor) 
 

Plot No 1826/17 Chole Road 

Dar es Salaam 34/1 Ursino South, Golden Heights Building 

Tanzania New Bagamoyo Road, Msasani Peninsula, Masaki 

 Dar es Salaam PO Box 80003 

 Tanzania Dar es Salaam 

  Tanzania 

 
 
 
 

BANKERS 

  
REGISTRAR AND 

TRANSFER AGENT 

 
 

(GFin Corporate Services Ltd 

acting as local representative) 

CRDB Bank PLC  NMB Bank PLC 

 

Lumumba 
 Ohio/Ali Hassan Mwinyi Road 

PO Box 9213 

PO Box 2318  Dar es Salaam 

Dar es Salaam  Tanzania 



6 Definitions and Equivalences 
 

 
 

6.1 Definitions 

 
 

Application means an application to subscribe for Securities under this Admission Document made on the 

Application Form and accompanied by the relevant application monies. 

 
 

Application Form means the application form attached to or accompanying this Admission Document 

relating to the Offer. 

 
 

Business Day means any day upon which the SEM is open for business. 

 

 
Closing Date means the closing date for receipt of Application Forms under this Admission Document as 

set out in Section 8.2 (“Indicative Timetable”) (unless extended or closed early by the Company). 

 
 

Coupon means interest of 9.5% (nine decimal five percent) fixed rate. 

 

 
Companies Act means the Tanzania Companies Act No. 12 of 2002 (as amended). 

 

 
DEM means the Development & Enterprise Market 

 

 
Directors means directors of the Company at the date of this Admission Document and Director means 

any one of them. 

 
 

Dollars or US$ means the currency of the United States of America. Prospective Investors should note 

that the graphite industry commonly trades in, and refers to, Dollars. 

 
 

DSE means Dar es Salaam Stock Exchange. 

 

 
DSRA means Debt Service Reserve Account. 

 

 
East African Territories means the countries comprising the East African Community but excluding 

Tanzania, being, as at the date of this Admission Document, Kenya, Uganda, Burundi and Rwanda. 

 

Escrow Account means an escrow account which will separately hold the funds raised by the Senior 

Note Issue 

 
 

Exposure Period means the period of 7 days after the date of lodgement of this Admission Document, 

which period may be extended by the Company and the SEM. 

 
 

Free Carried Interest means a potential 16% free carried interest, which the Government of Tanzania is 

entitled to in all companies that hold a mining license as per the 2017 Mining Act amendments. 

 
 

Greenshoe Rights means the rights of the Company to sell investors more Securities than originally 

planned by the Company if the demand for the Securities proves higher than expected. 
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6 Definitions and Equivalences 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Information Memorandum or Admission Document means this Admission Document. 

 

 
Issuer or Volt or the Company means Volt Graphite Tanzania Plc. 

 

 
JORC means Joint Ore Reserves Committee. 

 

 
Ktpa means thousand tonnes per annum. 

 

 
Mtpa means million tonnes per annum. 

 

 
Notes means up to US$15,000,000 senior notes with a maturity of five years with the interest being payable 

in cash and the principal being paid in cash. 

 
 

Noteholders mean the holders of the Notes. 

 

 
Offer means the Offer as set out in this Admission Document. 

 

 
Opening Date means the opening date for receipt of Application Forms under this Admission Document 

as set out in Section 8.2 (“Indicative Timetable”). 

 
 

Prospective Investor means any investor eligible to invest in the Notes as per section 8.5 of this Admission 

Document. 

 
 

ROM means Run of Mine. Generally, describes untreated mined ore either stockpiled or fed direct to a 

processing plant. 

 
 

Securities means the Notes issued by the Company under this Admission Document and the subject of 

the Offer. 

 
 

SEM means the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd. 

 

 
Share means a fully paid up ordinary share in the capital of the Company. 

 

 
Shareholders means the holders of Shares. 
 
 
Sinking Fund means an escrow account to receive surplus cash from the commencement of Year 3 to fund the 
repayment of the Senior Notes principal at maturity 

 

 
Subscribing Investor means a subscriber to the Notes. 

 

 
Tanzanian Government means the Government of the United Republic of Tanzania. 
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TGC means Total Graphitic Carbon. 

 

 
VRC means Volt Resources Ltd. 

 

 
6.2 Equivalences used in this Admission Document 

 
 

The following table sets forth certain standard conversions from Standard Imperial units to the International 

System of Units (or metric units). 

 

 
To Convert To Multiply By 

Feet metres 0.305 

Metres feet 3.281 
Miles kilometres 1.609 

Kilometres miles 0.621 

Acres hectares 0.405 

Hectares acres 2.471 
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7 Summary of the Transaction 

 
 

Volt Graphite Tanzania Plc (“Volt” or the “Company”) is issuing up to US$15,000,000 of 5-year interest 

bearing notes on the DEM in Mauritius, in addition to US$30,000,000 equivalent in Tanzanian Schillings of 

7-year unsecured interest bearing notes on the Dar es Salaam Stock Exchange (DSE) in Tanzania to 

develop the Bunyu Project (“Bunyu” or the “Project”), an open pit graphite mine in Southern Tanzania. 

The Project is 100% owned by the Company and has so far been financed through equity investments by 

its ASX listed parent company Volt Resources Ltd (ASX: VRC). 

The Financial Forecasts and Assumptions in section 10.4 include the plan by the Company to raise equity 

funds periodically through the 5-year period of the DEM listed Notes. The equity finance is planned to be 

raised through the subscription of equity by its parent, VRC from funds raised on the Australian Stock 

Exchange, and/or equity issuance to third party investors by Volt. VRC has a history of raising equity as 

required to fund the development expenditure to date and in excess of the amounts identified in section 

10.4. There is the risk that the funds from the periodic equity raisings will not be successful. This 

could result in investors losing some or all of their investment in Volt’s Notes. 

 
 

It is envisaged that a listing on the DEM will provide the company with access to a global investor base of 

managed funds, banks with investment portfolios, high net worth individuals and other sources of capital 

who are looking for high yielding fixed income investments with liquidity and view Mauritius as an 

attractive market in which to invest. Additionally, Mauritius is well placed geographically in terms of its 

proximity to both Africa and Asia, with a favourable time-zone with either continent. A bond listing on the 

DEM will provide Volt with a platform and acquisition currency for further expansion and diversification, as 

well as increase the Company’s public presence and profile. Investors should note that the high yield 

nature of the securities is commensurate with their risk profile. These risks can be found in section 15 

“Risk Factors”. 

 

 
8 Particulars of the Listing 

 

The creation and issue of the Notes was authorised by a resolution of the board of directors of the Issuer 

passed on 11 November 2019 and subsequently in a shareholder resolution at the Company’s General 

Meeting held on the 11 November 2019. 

 
 

All consents, approvals, authorisations or other permissions of the Issuer as well as of all regulatory 

authorities required by the Issuer under all applicable laws have been obtained for the issue of Notes and 

for the Issuer to undertake and perform its obligations under the Notes, the Admission Document and any 

other agreement as may be applicable for the purpose of the subscription to the Notes by Prospective 

Investors. 
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As at the date of this document, the following expenses of the issue and of the application for listing has 

been or will be payable by the Issuer: 

 

 

Activity Cost (USD) 

Legal costs 10,000 

Authorised Representative fees 7,000 

SEM Application fees 2,155(1)
 

Total 19,155 

(1) The SEM application fees are MUR 75,000, which equated to USD2,155 at the time of payment. 

 

 
8.1 Summary of the Securities 

 
 

The following is a summary of the Notes, which is qualified in its entirety by the remainder of this Admission 

Document. 

 

 
Issuer: Volt Graphite Tanzania Plc 

Issuing Venue: Development & Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius. 

Amount: Up to USD15,000,000 

Currency: United States Dollars 

Underwriting These Notes are not underwritten 

 
Coupon: 

 
9.5% (nine decimal five percent) fixed rate (“Interest Rate”) 

Coupon 

Frequency: 

Payable semi-annually, on 14th of October and 14th of April in each year (“Scheduled 

Payment Date”). 

Coupon 

Payments: 

 

 

Debt Service 

Reserve Account 

(DSRA): 

 

 

     

    Sinking Fund: 

 

 

 

 

    Escrow Account 

The Company shall pay accrued interest in cash, in arrears to the persons who were 

registered as Noteholders at the close of business on the relevant Scheduled Payment 

Date. 

 

The DSRA will hold the first two interest payments during the construction period (first 

2 semi-annual coupon payments). Following the construction period which is 

scheduled for 12 months, cash will be reserved in the DSRA to fund the next coupon 

payment for the remaining 4 year.term of the Senior Note. The DSRA funds will be held 

in an account maintained by Afrasia Bank Limited (Mauritius).  

 

Commencing in Year 3 the Company will transfer surplus cash from operations and 

after payment of taxes, royalties, sustaining capital and debt servicing each calendar 

quarter to a Sinking Fund account to be maintained by Afrasia Bank Limited. The funds 

will be escrowed solely for the purpose of repayment of the Senior Note principal at 

maturity in Year 5. 

 

Volt will set up an escrow account which will separately hold the funds raised by the 

Senior Note Issue. The escrow account will be managed by a regulated and 

independent Mauritian escrow agent. Funds will only be released from the escrow 

account upon presentation by the Company of authorised, agreed expenditures for the 

development of the Bunyu Graphite Project including reasonable budgeted corporate 

and administrative purposes. The escrow account provides investors certainty that 

funds raised by the Senior Note issuance will only be used for development of the 



 

Bunyu graphite mine and associated activities.  

 

Interest: Interest shall be calculated on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed in the 

relevant period and a 365-day year. 

 
 
Interest on any Note repaid by the Company in accordance with this Admission 

Document shall cease to accrue as from the date of such repayment. 

 
 
There shall be no additional rights to payments (including dividends that the Company 

may issue from time to time). 

 
Greenshoe 

Rights: 

 
The Company reserves the right to issue up to USD15,000,000 of Greenshoe Rights in 

the event that demand proves higher than expected. 

 
Payment Format: 

 

Coupon payments to Prospective Investors will be paid in USD on the day of Coupon 

payment. 
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Seniority: The Notes are senior to all outstanding obligations at the time of issue, including 

shareholder equity and are not subordinated to any other debt. 

 
 

These Notes are not secured but shall be the senior debt of the Issuer. 

 

 
Furthermore, no security or guarantee in rem or in personam is being granted by the 

Issuer or any third party. Prospective Investors of the Notes should accordingly be aware 

that by subscribing to the Notes, they are subject to the credit risk of the Issuer, as 

described in the Section 15 “Risk Factors”. 

 
 

The minimum amount to be raised is USD6,000,000. Should the Company not raise this 

minimum amount the Company shall withdraw its application to list the Securities on the 

DEM and shall refund all collected monies to Subscribing Investors. 

 
 

 
None. Payment should be made in full before the Notes are issued. 

 
 

Payment should be made by direct transfer to the Company’s bank account. 

 
 

 
27 January 2020 

21 February 2020 

5 years 

 

Security: 

 
 
 
 

Minimum 

subscription: 

 

Description of 

any instalment 

arrangement: 

 

Method of 

payment: 

Opening Date: 

Closing Date: 

Maturity: 

 
General: 

 
(a) The issue price is US$1.00 per Note with an issue date of 24 February 2020. 

The final maturity date of the Notes shall be 24 February 2025 (Maturity). 

(b) The Notes are denominated in units of US$1.00 with a minimum subscription of 

US$100,000.00 or above in integral amounts of US$1.00. 

(c) No discount or premium is applicable to the issue of these Securities. 

(d) The Notes shall be in registered form. 

 
Redemption: 

 
(a) The Company shall have the right to offer a redemption of the Notes early in whole 

or in part as the Company elects. 

 
(b) The Notes shall be redeemed by way of cash payment at market value to the 

Noteholders. 

 
(c) If, on redemption of Notes, a Noteholder fails to deliver the receipt of allotment for 

the Notes or an indemnity in accordance with these conditions or to accept payment of 

moneys due to him, the Company shall pay the moneys due to him into a bank account 

which payment shall discharge the Company from all further obligations in respect of the 
Notes. 



 

 (d) The Company shall cancel any Notes repaid, redeemed or purchased and shall not 

reissue them. 

 
Transfers and 

other matters: 

 
 

(a) Once listed, transfer of Notes will be effected through the Automated Trading 

System of the SEM in accordance with the applicable procedures and the Notes 

are freely transferable. 

 
(b) The Company shall recognise the registered holder of any Note as the absolute 

owner of them and shall not (except as provided by statute or as ordered by a court 

of competent jurisdiction) be bound to take notice or see to the execution of any 

trust (whether express, implied or constructive) to which any Note may be subject. 

The Company shall not (except as provided by statute or as ordered by a court of 

competent jurisdiction) be bound to enter any notice of any trust (whether express, 

implied or constructive) on the register in respect of any of the Notes. 

 
(c) Where applicable, an instrument of transfer shall be signed by the transferor or 

upon instructions given for such transfer through the Automated Trading System of 

the SEM, and the transferor shall be deemed to remain the owner of the Notes to 

be transferred until the name of the transferee is entered in the register in respect 

of such Notes. 

 
 

(d) In the event that the Transfer of Notes will not be effected according to point (a), 

each instrument of transfer shall be sent to, or left for registration at, the office of 

the Company for the time being, and shall be accompanied by the certificate(s) for 

the Notes to be transferred and any other evidence that the Company may require 

to prove the title of the transferor or his right to transfer the Notes (and, if such 

instrument is executed by some other person on his behalf, the authority of that 

person to do so). All such instruments of transfer that are registered may be 

retained by the Company. 

 
(e) No transfer of Notes shall be registered in respect of which a redemption notice has 

been given. 

 
(f) Payment of the principal amount and all accrued interest on the Notes may be made 

by cheque made payable to, or by bank transfer to an account nominated for the 

purpose to the Company [in writing] by, the registered holder or, in the case of joint 

registered holders, to the one who is first-named on the register, or to such person 

or persons as the registered holder or all the joint registered holders may in writing 

direct and sent to the registered holder or in the case of joint registered holders to 

that one of the joint registered holders who is first-named on the register or to such 

address as the registered holder or joint registered holders may in writing direct. 

Cheques may be sent through the post at the risk of the registered holder or jointly 

registered holders and payment of any such cheque by the bankers on whom it is 

drawn, or a bank transfer to the relevant account, shall be good discharge to the 

Company. 

 
(g) If more than one person is entered in the register as joint holders of any Note then 

the receipt of any one of such holders for any moneys payable on or in respect of 

the Notes shall be as effective a discharge to the Company or other person making 

the payment as if the person signing such receipt were the sole registered holder 

of such Notes. 

 
(h) If any certificate is worn out or defaced then, on production of it to the Directors, 

they may cancel it and may issue a fresh certificate in lieu. If any certificate is lost 

or destroyed it may be replaced on such terms (if any) as to evidence and indemnity 
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 as the Company may reasonably require. An entry recording the issue of the new 

certificate and indemnity (if any) shall be made in the register. No fee shall be 

charged for the registration of any transfer or for the registration of any probate, 

letters of administration, certificate of marriage or death, power of attorney or other 

documents relating to or effecting title to any Note. 

 
(i) A copy of the instrument shall be kept at the Company's registered office. A 

Noteholder (and any person authorised by a Noteholder) may inspect that copy of 

the instrument at all reasonable times during office hours. 

 
(j) The Company reserves the right to issue and transfer additional Notes if demand 

proves higher than expected (Greenshoe Rights). Here, the Company is committed 

to reduce the DSE Note issue by the equivalent amount of DEM Notes issued under 

the Greenshoe, in order to avoid any excessive indebtedness. 

Taxation: All payments in respect of Notes will be made free and clear of withholding tax unless 

law requires the withholding tax. In the event that withholding tax is imposed, the Issuer 

will make payments net of the tax withheld. 

 
The acquisition and disposal of Securities may have tax consequences, which will differ 

depending on the prevailing tax legislation or regulations applicable to the investor. All 

Prospective Investors in the Company are urged to obtain independent financial advice 

about the consequences of acquiring any Securities in the Company from a taxation 

viewpoint. 

Governing Law 

and Dispute 

Resolution 

i. The laws of Mauritius shall govern the Senior Notes and any transaction documents 

which are connected to or relate to the Senior Notes. 

ii. Any dispute, controversy or claim arising out of the Senior Notes or any other 

transaction document to which the Senior Notes relate to or the breach, termination 

or invalidity thereof shall be settled by final and binding arbitration pursuant to the 

First Schedule of the International Arbitration Act 2008 of the Republic of Mauritius. 

The arbitration procedures shall be conducted pursuant to the arbitration rules of the 

Mauritius Chamber of Commerce and Industry (“MCCI”). The dispute, controversy 

or claim shall be referred to one (1) arbitrator jointly appointed by both parties. 

Should the parties fail to agree on the appointment of the arbitrator, within a period 

of 30 days from the date that one party raises the arbitration clause, any of the parties 

can instruct the MCCI to appoint a suitably qualified arbitrator of their choosing to 

rule as regards the said dispute, controversy or claim. The juridical seat of arbitration 

shall be Mauritius. The language to be used in the arbitral proceedings shall be the 

English language. Each party to a dispute, controversy or claim shall bear its own 

costs, expenses, fees, disbursements and other charges of its counsels in 

connection with the arbitration proceedings, except as may be otherwise determined 
by the arbitrators. 



8.2 Indicative Timetable 
 

 
 

An indicative timetable of events relating to the transaction is outlined below. 
 

 

Event Date 

Submission of application for listing of the Notes 

with the SEM 

14 November 2019 

Opening Date of Offer 27 January 2020 

Closing Date of Offer 21 February 2020 

Announcement of results of the offer 24 February 2020 

 

The above dates are indicative only and may change subject to obtaining the SEM’s approval. The 

Company may extend the Closing date or close the offer early after obtaining approval of the SEM. 

 

 
8.3 Procedure for Application and Payment 

 
 

The summarized procedures below should be read in conjunction with the detailed instructions for applying 

for Securities as contained in this Admission Document, as well as the instructions set out in the Application 

Form. 

 
 

Completed Application Forms must be submitted to the Company together with the necessary payment in 

USD, by way of electronic funds transfer to the account the details of which are on the Application Form. 

 
 

The latest time for submitting an Application Form is 4:00 pm Mauritian time on 21 February 2020. 

 

 
Late Applications will not be considered. Acceptance of Applications will only be considered if received by 

the Company by the Closing date and time. Accordingly, the Company will not accept any responsibility for 

any Application that are, or may be, misdirected. 

 
 

Applicants will not be charged any fees for the submission of the Application Form, but will be liable to pay 

any bank fees or charges incurred upon payment of the requisite application funds at the time of submission 

(including any fees or charges associated with any banker’s draft or irrevocable bank guarantee). All 

applicable fees will be for the account of the Company. 

 

 
8.4 Exposure Period 

 

 
This Admission Document will be circulated during the Exposure Period. The purpose of the Exposure 

Period is to enable this Admission Document to be examined by market participants prior to the raising of 

funds. Prospective Investors should be aware that this examination may result in the identification of 

deficiencies in the Admission Document. 
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Applications for Securities under this Admission Document will not be processed by the Company until 

after the expiry of the Exposure Period. No preference will be conferred on persons who lodge applications 

prior to the expiry of the Exposure Period. 

 

 
8.5 Restrictions on Distribution and Foreign Jurisdictions 

 
 

This Admission Document does not, and is not intended to, constitute an offer in any place or jurisdiction, 

or to any person to whom, it would not be lawful to make such an offer or to issue this Admission Document. 

No action has been taken to register or qualify the Securities or to otherwise permit a public offering of the 

Securities in any jurisdiction outside Mauritius except to the extent indicated in the Section (“Eligibility”). 

 
 

The distribution of this Admission Document outside Mauritius may be restricted by law and persons who 

come into possession of this Admission Document outside Mauritius should observe any such restrictions. 

Any failure to comply with such restrictions may constitute a violation of applicable securities laws. 

Applicants who are resident in countries other than Mauritius should consult their professional advisors as 

to whether any governmental or other consents are required or whether any other formalities need to be 

considered and followed. 

 

 
8.6 Eligibility 

 

 
By this Offer, the Company invites Prospective Investors in Mauritius, together with any current 

Shareholders exercising their lawful pre-emption rights to acquire new Securities of the Company. 

 
 

The offer of Securities to parties outside of Mauritius may be affected by laws and regulatory requirements 

of the relevant jurisdictions. Any foreign investor wishing to apply for the Private Placement must satisfy 

themselves as to the full observance of the laws of the relevant territory and governmental and other 

consents to ensure that all requisite formalities are adhered to and pay any transfer or other taxes due in 

such territory. Such foreign investors are advised to consult their own professional advisors as to whether 

they require any governmental or other consent or need to observe any applicable legal or regulatory 

requirements to enable them to apply for and purchase the Securities. 

 
 

None of the Company, Advisors or their respective directors, officers, staff and advisor accepts any 

responsibility or liability for any breach of relevant laws and / or regulatory requirements of relevant 

jurisdictions or for any tax consequences to Applicants who acquire the Securities under this offer. 

 
 

The offer is conditional on the Company achieving a minimum subscription of US$6,000,000 (before 

expenses of the Private Placement) under this Admission Document. The minimum amount to be raised is 

US$6,000,000 (six million US dollars). Should the Company not raise this minimum amount the Company 

shall withdraw its application to list the Securities on the DEM and shall refund all collected monies to 

Subscribing Investors. 



8.7 Selling Restrictions 
 

 
 

8.7.1 United States 

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act 1933, as amended (the 
Securities Act) or securities laws or “blue sky” laws of any state of the United States or any other relevant 
federal jurisdiction and, accordingly, may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the 
account or benefit of, U.S. persons except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of 
the Securities Act. Accordingly, the Notes are being offered and sold only outside the United States (U.S.) 
to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act. Terms used in this section that 
are defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act are used herein as defined therein. 

 
 

The Company will not offer, sell or deliver the Notes as part of its distribution at any time or otherwise until 
40 days after the later of the commencement of the offering and the Closing Date (the Distribution 
Compliance Period) within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons, and it 
will have sent to each distributor, dealer or person receiving a selling concession, fee or other remuneration 
that purchases Notes from it during the Distribution Compliance Period a confirmation or notice setting out 
the restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit 
of, U.S. persons. 

 
 

Because of the following restrictions, purchasers are advised to consult legal counsel prior to making any 
offer, resale, pledge or transfer of the Notes. 

 
 

Each Investor in the offered Notes will be deemed, by its acceptance of those Notes, or its beneficial interest 
in those Notes, to have acknowledged, represented and agreed as follows: 

 
 

(a) It understands that such Notes have not been registered under the Securities Act and may not be 
offered or sold within the United States or to or for the account or benefit of U.S. persons (i) as part 
of their distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise until forty (40) days after the later of (A) the date 
upon which the offering of such Notes commenced to persons other than distributors in reliance 
upon Regulation S and (B) the date of issuance of the offered Notes, except in either case in 
accordance with Regulation S under the Securities Act; and 

 
 

(b) it understands and acknowledges that such Notes have not been and will not be registered under 
the Securities Act or any state or applicable securities law and that such Notes, or any interest or 
participation therein, may not be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred unless registered 
pursuant to, or exempt from registration under, the Securities Act and any other applicable 
securities law. 

 
 

The Issuer, the Paying Agents, and their affiliates and others will rely upon the truth and accuracy of the 
foregoing acknowledgments, representations and agreements. 

 
 

The Notes will bear a legend to the following effect: 

 
 

"THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE UNITED STATES 
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE SECURITIES ACT) OR WITH ANY SECURITIES 
REGULATORY AUTHORITY OF ANY STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES 
AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD OR DELIVERED IN THE UNITED STATES OR TO, OR FOR THE 
ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF, A U.S. PERSON (AS DEFINED IN REGULATION S UNDER THE 
SECURITIES ACT), EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM THE REGISTRATION 
REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH ANY APPLICABLE 
SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES." THIS 
LEGEND WILL CEASE TO APPLY UPON THE EXPIRY OF THE PERIOD OF 40 DAYS AFTER THE 
COMPLETION OF THE DISTRIBUTION OF ALL THE NOTES." 
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8.7.2 Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors 

The Company has also represented and agreed that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available 
and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Note to any retail investor in the European Economic 
Area (the EEA). For the purposes of this provision, the expression retail investor means a person who is 
one (or more) of the following: 

 
 

(a) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Directive 2014/65/EU (MiFID II); or 

(b) a customer within the meaning of the Directive 2002/92/EC, where that customer would not qualify 
as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II. 

 
 

Consequently, no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (the PRIIPs 
Regulation) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the 
EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to 
any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation. 

 
 

8.7.3 United Kingdom 

The Company has further represented and agreed that except as permitted by this Admission Document: 

 
 

(a) it will only communicate or cause to be communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in 
investment activity within the meaning of Section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 
2000 (FSMA) received by them in connection with the issue or sale of the Notes in circumstances 
in which Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer; and 

(b) it will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in 
relation to the Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom. 

 

8.7.4 General 

Except for the approval of this document as a Listing Document by the SEM, no action has been or is being 
taken by the Issuer in any jurisdiction which would or is intended to permit a public offering of the Notes or 
the possession, circulation or distribution of this document or any other material relating to the Issuer in 
any country or jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. 

 
 

This document does not constitute, and may not be used for the purposes of, an offer or solicitation in or 
from any jurisdiction where such an offer or solicitation is not authorised. Accordingly, the Notes may not 
be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this document nor any other circular, Listing Document, 
form of application, advertisement or other material in connection with the Notes may be distributed in or 
from or published in any country or jurisdiction, except under circumstances which will result in compliance 
with applicable laws and regulations of any such country or jurisdiction. 



9 About the Company 
 

 

 

9.1 The Company 

 

 
Nachi Resources Ltd was incorporated on 13 May 2015 in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, with registration 

number 117231. On 18 April 2017 the Company name was changed to Volt Graphite Tanzania Ltd. 

Following Volt Graphite Tanzania Ltd’s conversion to a Public Limited Company on 7 November 2018 the 

Company name was changed to Volt Graphite Tanzania Plc. (“Volt”). 

Volt’s registered office address is Plot No 1826/17 Chole Road, Golden Heights Building, Msasani 

Peninsula, Masaki, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. Its contact telephone number is +255 (0) 784 282 212. 

Volt Resources Ltd (“VRC”) is an Australian public company listed on the Australian Securities Exchange 

(ASX) (ASX:VRC). VRC owns 100% of its subsidiary, Mozambi Graphite Pty Ltd. Between them the two 

companies own 100% of the issued shares of the Tanzanian operating company Volt Graphite Tanzania 

Plc. VRC’s sole undertaking is the development of the Bunyu project in accordance with a two-stage 

strategy discussed later in this section. VRC has approximately 3,400 shareholders mainly located in 

Australia. It has invested approximately US$17m in the acquisition and development of the Bunyu Project 

since late 2015 in both Tanzania and Australia. VRC has demonstrated its ability to raise material amounts 

of capital to support Volt and the Bunyu Project development achieve its current status of a being 

development ready. 

Upon discovering the Bunyu (formerly Namangale) deposit in Tanzania’s Lindi and Mtwara regions in 2015, 

VRC’s focus shifted from exploration in Australia and Mozambique to exploration and development in 

Tanzania, through its subsidiary Volt, specifically in the Lindi and Mtwara regions. Since that time, VRC 

has increased its Tanzanian focus, appointing its largest shareholder, Tanzanian-born Asimwe Kabunga, 

as chairman of the VRC board of directors. 

 
 

Volt plans to issue Notes that will be listed on the DEM. The Notes will be used to raise the funds 

required to construct the mine, plant and infrastructure and bring the Bunyu project into 

production. 

 
 

Volt’s vision is to become a top 3 global supplier of natural flake graphite by 2022 and the preferred supplier 

of high-quality flake graphite to existing and growth industries. Volt and its parent company, VRC, 

management, directors and advisors have considerable international experience in exploration and the 

development of projects in the metals and mining sector. Currently the Company is focused on exploring 

and developing its wholly owned Bunyu Graphite Project in Southern Tanzania and identifying further 

assets which have the potential to add value for its stakeholders. 

 
 

Volt is developing the Bunyu project over two Stages. Stage 1 will be developed over the course of twelve 

months and requires US$35.2 million in project development funding with a further US$5.8 million to cover 

interest during construction and US$0.6 million for working capital. Part of the funding is to be raised in 

Tanzania and part in Mauritius. The funding will be disbursed equally over the construction period, so that 

each month will see capital expenditures of about US$2-3 million. The Stage 1 development incorporates 

a significant amount of infrastructure, utilities and mine development work that benefits the Stage 2 

expansion including the site access road, plant laydown area, tailings storage facility, waste dumps, 

stockpile areas, open pit development and mining, accommodation village, water supply, etc. 

 
 

Stage 1 production is expected to start in Q4 2020, processing 400ktpa of ore and producing on 

average 23.7ktpa of graphite products. 
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The Stage 2 expansion will require a definitive feasibility study, which Volt is planning to fund and complete 

in H1 2021. The total development funding for Stage 2 is expected to be in the neighbourhood of US$150 

million. Volt plans to commence the development of Stage 2 in Q3 2021 and start ramping up production 

in 2023. The project’s pre-feasibility study has set Stage 2 production at 170ktpa. The Stage 2 expansion 

is targeted to meet expected significant increases in demand for coarse flake graphite in the expandable 

graphite market and fine flake size products for battery anode material and other existing and evolving 

industrial uses for micro carbon products. 

 

 
9.2 Company Structure 

 
 

By investing in the Notes through the below structure, Investors are able to participate in the growth of Volt 

as the Bunyu Project brings both the Company and the Tanzanian graphite market to prominence. 

 
 

The Company is pursuing a Note issuance on the Dar es Salaam Stock Exchange (DSE) alongside Notes 

to be issued and listed on the DEM. Volt is planning to raise US$15 million through the Note issue to be 

listed on the DEM combined with an East African US$30 million Note issue and listing on the DSE. The 

Tanzanian Note issue requires the approval of the Capital Markets and Securities Authority (CMSA) to 

issue the Note Information Memorandum (prospectus) and the DSE for listing approval. The Company is 

in advanced discussions with the Tanzanian government in relation to the approval for the DSE Note issue 

and expects to receive the approval to proceed soon after the completion of the DEM Note issue. 

The difference in pricing for each Note is dictated by international investors yield expectation for each 

market and includes a Tanzanian shilling currency premium. Both, the SEM and DSE Notes will be 

unsecured but with different tenors with the SEM Notes having a 5-year term to maturity and the DSE 

Notes having a 7-year term to maturity. There are no differences in covenants for each Note. The minimum 

subscription amount for both the SEM and DSE Notes is US$6,000,000 each respectively. 

 



 

9.3 Description of capital structure 

 

 
9.3.1 Shares 

As from July 2018, the authorised share capital of the Company is made up of 100,000,000 shares of TZS 

1,000 each. The Company has only one class of share with no other form of securities issued. 

The Company has 24,500,100 fully paid up shares on issue held by the following shareholders: 

9.3.2 Volt Shareholders 
 

Rank Name Interest in Volt 

1 Volt Resources Ltd 24,500,099 shares 

2 Mozambi Graphite Pty Ltd 1 share 

   

 Total Shares Issued 24,500,100 shares 

Mozambi Graphite Pty Ltd is a 100% subsidiary of Volt Resources Ltd. 

 

 
For the periods ending 30 June 2016, 2017 and 2018 the authorised share capital of the Company was 

2,000 shares of TZS 1000 each. The Company had 100 fully paid up shares on issue. 

 
 

9.3.3 Voting Rights of Members / Shareholders 

Subject to any rights or restrictions attached to any class or classes of shares, on a show of hands every 

member in person shall have one vote. On a poll every member shall have one vote for every share he / 

she holds. In case of joint members, the vote of the senior member in person or by proxy shall be accepted 

to the exclusion of other joint holders – in this case seniority shall be determined by the order in which the 

names stand in the register of members. 

 

 
9.3.4 Memorandum and Articles of Association 

Extracts from the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association are set out under section 18 of the 

Admission Document. 

 

 
9.4 General development of the Company in the past four years 

 

2015 

 

 
The Company acquired a number of tenements either granted or under application under two Term Sheets 

dated 19 May 2015 and 7 September 2015 and subsequent variation agreements dated 17 August 2015 

and 21 October 2015 respectively. 

 

 
On 22 September the Company announced the granting of 11 prospecting licences. Exploration activities 

commenced following the grants. Subsequent relinquishments of low prospectivity tenements has reduced 

this number to a current holding of 7 tenements. 

 
 

Drilling results announced on 1 December 2015 identified a large envelope of mineralisation extending 

3.2kms in length. With a number of near surface results pointing to low cost mining and access to nearby 

road and port infrastructure, the Bunyu Project was developing into a world class project. 

24 



Admission Document Volt Graphite Tanzania Plc 
 

 
 
 
 
 

2016 

 

 
The Company commenced the PFS for the Bunyu Project on 10 March 2016 with target completion timing 

of Q4 2016. 

 
 

The Company announced the signing of three MOU’s with Chinese graphite end-users for a total offtake 

of 100,000tpa. The Chinese groups were battery, anode and spherical graphite producers. 

 
 

The Bunyu Project Pre-Feasibility Study results were announced on 15 December 2016. The PFS 

estimated capital expenditure of USD173 million to process 3.8Mtpa of ore and produce 170ktpa of graphite 

products. Financial analysis indicated an attractive investment with a post-tax NPV in the order of USD890 

million, 66.5% after tax IRR based on a 22-year mine life. The Company also reported the largest JORC 

Resource in Tanzania with 461M tonnes @ 4.9% TGC and largest Ore Reserve with 127M tonnes @ 4.4% 

TGC. 

 
 

2017 

 

 
A successful stakeholder workshop was held in Lindi on 26 January 2017. This workshop was an important 

pre-cursor to the commencement of the ESIA study, resettlement action plan preparation and the mining 

licence applications. During January 2017 the NEMC agreed to the terms of reference for the environmental 

impact assessment. 

 
 

On 3 March 2017 the Company signed a binding offtake agreement with Nano Graphene Inc, the 

agreement was to supply on average 1,000tpa of graphite products at a fixed price per tonne of product for 

a term of 5 years. The price is commercially confidential. 

 
 

On 18 May 2017 VRC announced a revised development strategy for Volt’s Bunyu Project. The project 

would be developed in two stages with a smaller lower development cost Stage 1 Project processing 

400,000tpa of ore to produce 20,000tpa of graphite products. The Stage 2 Expansion Project would follow 

and be sized at approximately the same production capacity as the PFS output of 170,000tpa of graphite 

products. This would be scheduled for development in mid-2019 and be commissioned by late 2020. 

 
 

During June and July 2017, the Company entered into four non-binding agreements with Chinese 

counterparties including two offtake term sheets with Qingdao Tianshengda Graphite and Guangxing 

Electrical and two cooperation agreements with China National Building Materials General Machinery and 

AOYU Graphite. The cooperation agreement with CNBMGM covers graphite product offtake, engineering 

services and financing support. The AOYU cooperation agreement covers potential downstream 

processing of graphite products for the production of battery anode material and graphite product offtake. 

 
 

the Company commenced a Stage 1 Feasibility Study in November 2017 based on the development of a 

mining operation, 400ktpa mineral processing plant and associated infrastructure to produce nominally 

20ktpa of graphite products for a 7-year period. 

 
 

2018 



 

On 8 February 2018 the Company lodged two Mining Licence Applications (“MLA’s”) with the Minister for 

Minerals of Tanzania. The MLA’s cover the area required for both the Stage 1 and Stage 2 developments. 

The total area covered by the MLA’s is approximately 18km2. Single MLA’s are limited to 10km2 in area. 

The newly formed Tanzanian Minerals Commission commenced issuing prospecting and mineral licences 

in May 2018. 

 
 

The Company completed the Environmental and Social Impact Assessment study and has lodged its 

Environmental and Social Impact Statement (ESIS) with the National Environment Management Council 

on 23 January 2018, an amended ESIS on 30 April 2018 and a further amended ESIS on 29 June 2018. 

The ESIA study covers the area required for the Stage 1 Project and Stage 2 Expansion Project. 

 
 

The Resettlement Action Plan (RAP) was completed and the compensation report approved by the relevant 

authorities including the Chief Valuer. The RAP covers the MLA areas incorporating both the Stage 1 and 

Stage 2 development. 

 
 

The Bunyu Stage 1 Feasibility Study (“FS”) results were released on 31 July 2018. The Stage 1 FS was 

based on a mining and processing plant annual throughput rate of 400,000 tonnes to produce on average 

23,700tpa of graphite products. The FS financial analysis showed favourable NPV and IRR over a payback 

period of 4.4 years. The capital and operating cost estimates used for the FS have been prepared to an 

accuracy of ±15%. 

 
 

A binding graphite offtake agreement was entered into with Qingdao Tianshengda Graphite Co. Ltd. for 

9,000 tonnes per annum of Bunyu Graphite Product over five years. The Agreement includes an option for 

a further five-year term by mutual agreement. The Agreement incorporates the size ranges of products to 

be produced in both the Stage 1 development and the planned expansion to Stage 2 at Bunyu. Product 

pricing will be market based negotiated six monthly based on published reference prices for applicable 

products. 

 
 

The Bunyu EIA certificate, along with the previously advised approval of the resettlement compensation 

under the Resettlement Action Plan, covers the area required for the Stage 1 development and Stage 2 

Expansion Project. 

 
 

The Company received the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Certificate from the National 

Environment Management Council of Tanzania (NEMC) for the Bunyu project development on 3 

September 2018. Importantly, the EIA certificate signed by the Honourable Minister of State in Vice 

President's Office for Union Affairs and Environment Hon. January Makamba, represents the final pre- 

requisite for the granting of Volt’s Mining Licence (ML) and one of the final remaining major milestones in 

terms of Government permitting for the Bunyu Graphite Project. 

 
 

On 20 October 2018 the Company received two mining licences ML 591/2018 and ML 592/2018 from the 

Mining Commission of the Ministry of Minerals of Tanzania. The two Mining Licences (ML’s) cover the 

respective Stage1 and Stage 2 developments of the Bunyu Graphite Project. The two ML’s cover a 

combined area of 17.71km2 and provide Volt with the exclusive right to develop the graphite resources in 

the ML area. The ML’s are effective for a period of 10 years and there is a right of further 10-year renewals 

under section 53 of the Mining Act. 
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9.5 Significant Acquisitions 

 
Volt acquired the Bunyu tenements in 2015 under two separate Term Sheet agreements dated 19 

May 2015 and 7 September 2015. Subsequently, the Term Sheets were varied on 17 August 2015 

and 21 October 2015 respectively resulting in the acquisition of various prospecting licences and 

applications that form the Bunyu Project. On 20 October 2018 the Company received two mining 

licences ML 591/2018 and ML 592/2018 from the Mining Commission of the Ministry of Minerals 

of Tanzania. Following the receipt of the mining licenses, the underlying PL, PL 10718 was 

cancelled. Subsequently an application has been submitted for two new PL’s (PL 13208 and PL 

13207), to cover land area previously covered by PL 10718 but not accounted for by the new mining 

licences. 

 
 

These tenements have been consolidated into the current 1,109.km2 Bunyu Project licence holding as 

summarised below. 

 
 
 
 

License No. Deposit Name Land Area km2 Status 

PL 10643 Bunyu 4 154.5  

PL 10644 Bunyu 2 198  

PL 10667  153.2  

PL 10668  108  

PL 10717 Bunyu 3 142.8  

PL 10788  117.1  

PL 13208  121.78 Application 

PL 13207  96.23 Application 

ML 591  8.48  

ML 592  9.23  

Total  1109.32  

 

9.5.1 Fixed Assets 

The Company is an exploration and development company. As such, it does not own any material fixed 

assets. The Company intends to purchase and construct a graphite processing facility / plant and develop 

related infrastructure including a mine, access roads, accommodation and storage facilities, all together 

the Bunyu Project Development, from the proceeds of the Note issues. This expenditure is forecast at 

US$31.8 million and will be funded from the proceeds of the SEM and DSE Note issues and other sources. 

 

 
9.5.2 Legal and arbitration proceedings and regulatory action 

To the best of the Company’s knowledge, the Company is not and was not, during the year to the date of 

this Admission Document, a party to any material legal proceedings, nor is any of its property, nor was any 

of its property during the year ended on the date of the Admission Document, the subject of any such legal 

proceedings. As at the date hereof, no such legal proceedings are known to be contemplated. 



 

No penalties or sanctions have ever been imposed against the Company by a court relating to securities 

legislation or by a securities regulatory authority, nor have there been any other penalties or sanctions 

imposed by a court or regulatory body against the Company that would likely be considered important to 

a reasonable investor in making an investment decision, nor have any settlement agreements been entered 

into by the Company before a court relating to securities legislation or with a securities regulatory authority. 

 
 
 

9.5.3 Reproduced Third Party Information 

Where information has been sourced from a third party, the Company confirms that this information has 

been accurately reproduced and that as far as the Company is aware and is able to ascertain from 

information published by that third party, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced 

information inaccurate or misleading. 
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10 Financial and Trading Prospects of the Group 

 
 

10.1 Notes 

 
 

1. The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

projections including the underlying assumptions supporting the projections. 

 

2. Actual results may be different from projections because anticipated events do not usually happen as 

expected and variations from projections may be material. 

 

10.2 Historical Financial Statements 

For the three years (periods) ended 30 June 2016, 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2018, audited financial 

statements of Volt Graphite Tanzania (previously Nachi Resources) have been prepared in accordance 

with IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standards) presented in Tanzanian Shillings (TZS) and 

audited by Innovex Auditors based in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. 

 
 

All three audit reports on the Financial Statements noted above provided a not modified or unqualified 

opinion but with an emphasis of matter with regards to a “Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern” 

whereby it was drawn to the attention that the Company has not started mining activities and is still in the 

exploration phase and therefore did not record any revenues for the years under review. As a result, the 

Company since its incorporation relies on funding from the Parent Company to meet its administrative and 

exploration costs. During the years under review it reported net losses from operations and had negative 

equity. If the Parent Company for any reason stops providing funding for its administrative and operational 

needs, these events or conditions along with other matters indicate that a material uncertainty exists that 

may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

 
 

A high-level summary of these financial statements converted into US$ at a fixed exchange rate of 1USD 

to 2290 TZS is provided below along with an unaudited balance sheet summary for 30 June 2019 which 

reflects the conversion of the majority of the inter-company loan provided by the Australian listed parent 

company into new share capital in Volt which occurred on 10 July 2018. The audited financial statements 

for 30 June 2018 presented in Tanzanian Shillings is included as Annexure 1. 

 
 

During the years to 30 June 2019 after acquiring the Graphite prospecting tenements in Tanzania in May 

and September 2015 Volt has completed exploration drilling to define graphite Resources and Reserves, 

a Pre-feasibility study for a significant Graphite project completed December 2016 and Feasibility study for 

Stage 1 Bunyu graphite project (starter project) completed July 2018 all funded by the parent company via 

inter-company loans and capitalised to the balance sheet as Exploration and evaluation assets. Ongoing 

administrative costs of maintaining the company including accounting and exploration support in Tanzania, 

tenement maintenance costs, environmental compliance and community relations costs have been 

expensed through the profit and loss account along with unrealised gains and losses on the revaluation of 

the inter-company loan with the parent entity. The project is yet to be developed and commence production 

so there were no sales revenue for these years. 



 

Volt Graphite Tanzania FY2016* FY2017 FY2018 FY2019 
 US$000's US$000's US$000's US$000's 

Profit & loss 

Administrative expenses 
 

352 
 

941 
 

1,211 

Unaudited 

900 

Foreign exchange (gains) / losses   52 205 157  

Net Loss after tax 404 1,146 1,368  

Financial Position 

Exploration and evaluation assets 

 

1,894 

 

5,451 

 

7,980 

 

8,200 

Other furniture and equipment - 10 14 10 

Cash and current assets 10 41 129 40 

Current liabilities (17) (22) (28) (50) 

Loan from parent company (non-current)   (2,291) (7,030) (11,012) (700)  

Net Assets / (Liabilities)   (404) (1,550) (2,918) 7,500  

Total Equity / (Deficiency) (404) (1,550) (2,918) 7,500 

Cash Flows 

Operating 

 

(392) 

 

(1,147) 

 

(1,472) 

 

Investing (1,894) (3,567) (2,535)  

Financing from parent company   2,291 4,739 3,982  1,100 

Net inflow / (outflow) 5 25 (25)  

* 14-month period ended 30 June 2016 
  

 
 

1. There is no remuneration paid or due to be paid to the directors of the Company. 

2. The Company has engaged consultants to operate the business to date and therefore has no liabilities 

in relation to pension, retirement or similar benefits. 

3. The Parent Company has provided interest free loans to fund the activities of Volt. On 10 July 2018 

Volt issued 24,500,000 new shares at TZS1,000 per share to substantially reduce the non-current 

loan’s balance outstanding. 

4. Other than as noted under Note 3 above, there is no significant change in the financial or trading 

position of the group which has occurred since the end of the last financial period for which audited 

financial information is available. 
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10.3 Financial Forecasts and Assumptions 
 

Cash Flow Forecast FY2020 FY2021 FY2022 FY2023 FY2024  TOTAL 

 US$000's US$000's US$000's US$000's US$000's  US$000's 

Net Receipts 

Proceeds from Debt Note issue - DSE 7 yrs 

 
 

30,000 

      
 

30,000 

Proceeds from Debt Note issue - DEM 5 yrs 15,000      15,000 

less (Costs) of the Debt Note raisings (3,550)      (3,550) 

Equity raising (net of costs) 6,200 5,800 3,500  8,500  24,000 

Cash receipts from sales revenue - 21,594 24,212 38,653 39,664  124,123 

Cash (costs) of production - (15,230) (15,714) (22,213) (20,741)  (73,897) 

Working capital adjustments - 209 (78) (497) (105)  (471) 

 47,650 12,372 11,921 15,944 27,318  115,205 

Payments 

RAP (Resettlement Action Plan) 

 
 

(3,400) 

      
 

(3,400) 

Stage 1 Capex (31,771)      (31,771) 

Stage 2 DFS (3,000)      (3,000) 

Sustaining capex / pre-prod. mining - (2,335) (298) (609) (4,678)  (7,919) 

Interest on listed Notes DSE (14.5%) (4,350) (4,350) (4,350) (4,350) (4,350)  (21,750) 

Interest on listed Notes DEM (9.5%) (1,425) (1,425) (1,425) (1,425) (1,425)  (7,125) 

Income tax expense (min 0.5% revenue) - (108) (121) (193) (198)  (621) 

Royalties - (1,512) (1,695) (2,706) (2,776)  (8,689) 

Administration expenses - (1,748) (1,765) (1,765) (1,764)  (7,042) 

Corporate expenses (Tanzania) (800) (1,706) (1,706) (1,706) (1,706)  (7,625) 

DEM Notes repayment - - - - (15,000)  (15,000) 

 (44,746) (13,184) (11,360) (12,754) (31,898)  
 

(113,942) 

Cash Generated 2,904 (811) 561 3,189 (4,580) 
  

Cumulative Cash Generated 2,904 2,092 2,653 5,843 1,263  1,263 

 
 

Detailed Capex Schedule (FY 2020) 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Process Plant (equipment, earthworks, infrastructure, buildings) 2,563,966 2,563,966 $2,563,966 2,563,966 

Project Infrastructure (water supply, power stations, roads etc.) 2,206,875 2,206,875 $2,580,486 2,580,486 

Indirect Costs (mobilisation costs, engineering etc.) 2,452,267 2,616,360 $2,915,320 3,956,746 

Total 7,223,108 7,387,201 8,059,773 9,101,199 

 
 

General Assumptions 

1. The Company will be able to source sufficient funding through debt and equity to continue as a going concern, 

meeting its obligations in the ordinary course of business. 

2. The Company will obtain US$30 million equivalent of funding in early FY2020 from the listing of 7-year unsecured 

Notes on the Dar es Salaam Stock Exchange (DSE) in Tanzania. Interest will be paid half-yearly in arrears at 

14.5% per annum. The DSE Notes are repayable in full on their 7-year maturity in FY2026. 

3. The Company will obtain US$15 million of funding in early FY2020 from the listing of 5 year unsecured Notes on 

the Development and Enterprise Market of Mauritius (DEM). Interest will be paid half-yearly in arrears at 9.5% per 

annum. The DEM Notes are repayable in full on their 5-year maturity in FY2024. 

4. Any additional funding required will be sourced through the issue of new shares, either directly or through the 

Parent Company (VRC) which is listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX). 

5. The Company is planning to implement Stage 1 of the Bunyu Graphite Project in the 7 years from FY2020. During 

this period, it is likely that the larger Stage 2 expansion project will either supersede or run in parallel with the 

Stage 1 project. The Company's five-year projected cash forecast incorporates local corporate operations plus 



 

Stage 1 of the Bunyu Graphite Project for the period FY2020 to FY2024 which is expected to cover the construction 

and early operating phases of the project. The projected cash forecast information does not include projections 

for Stage 2 of the Bunyu Project other than completion of the feasibility study which is forecast at US$3.0 million. 

6. No changes to the Tanzanian legal, regulatory and fiscal frameworks, including laws related to the natural 

resources sector currently enacted are expected to delay or prevent the Company progressing the project. The 

company tax rate is expected to remain at 30% of taxable income. The Alternative Minimum Tax (AMT) rate for 

entities with 3 consecutive tax loss years is to remain at the revised 0.5% of revenue. 

7. The Company has its required mining licences, environmental and social impact assessments and resettlement 

compensation plan approved by the relevant authorities and all other secondary approvals, permits and licences 

required for the project are expected to be obtained on a timely basis. Secondary approvals are numerous and 

generally minor but may cause delays if not received in time. 

8. The Total Graphitic Carbon (TGC) Grade is expected to average 6.26% from preliminary results targeting a specific 

higher-grade portion of the Bunyu 1 graphite resource identified as the initial pit areas to cover the 7 years' 

production under Stage 1 of the project. 

9. Offtake agreements are in place or will be executed immediately after development funding is available and are 

expected to continue in force to ensure sales transaction as forecast are achieved. 

10. The construction of Stage 1 plant and infrastructure is planned to take 12 months and comprises early works for 

roads, water bores and camp; water storage dam construction; mine establishment and pre-strip; tailings storage 

facility construction; process plant. A 3-month period for commissioning and ramp-up to nameplate operations 

follows. Based on development funding completed in 2019 construction is expected to be completed Q4 2020. 

11. Proceeds from the sale of flake graphite products are expected to start in the FY2021 and proceeds from the sale 

of Purified Spherodised Graphite for Battery Anode Product (PSGBAP) is expected to start in FY2023. 

12. Royalties are expected to be paid at the rate of 3% to the Government of Tanzania and 3% to the former tenement 

holders. 

13. The Company does not have a dividend policy. No dividends are expected to be paid to shareholders in the five 

years up to FY2024 from the Stage 1 Bunyu Graphite project. Dividends are anticipated once Stage 2 of the Bunyu 

Graphite project is in commercial production. 

14. The cash flow forecast does not reflect any impact of a 16% free carried interest1 to be held by the Government 

of Tanzania. Under current legislation the Tanzanian Government will be issued shares in Volt which will provide 

the Government with a direct interest in the project and alignment of interests. All costs including debt servicing 

will be funded from 100% of project cashflows. Along with existing Volt shareholders, the Tanzanian Government 

will be entitled to receive dividends arising from net profits. 

15. Current planning is to complete the DFS for the Stage 2 expansion project, obtain financing and commence 

construction 6-months after the Stage 1 project is commissioned and in commercial production. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

1 Free Carried Interest (FCI) refers to an equity interest granted to the State by the company holding a mining license. 

FCIs serve the purpose of giving States, and therefore by extension the people of the host country, an ownership stake 

in mining projects developed in-country. 
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10.4 Development Funding 

Volt plans to raise sufficient funding through debt and equity to fully develop and commence operations 

of the Stage 1 Bunyu Graphite Project and complete the Definitive Feasibility Study for the Stage 2 

Expansion Project. The primary sources of funding will be through the issue of US$15,000,000 of 5-year 

interest-bearing notes to be listed on the DEM of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius and US$30,000,000 

equivalent in Tanzanian Schillings of 7-year unsecured interest-bearing notes to be listed on Tanzania’s 

Dar es Salaam Stock Exchange (DSE). 

Refer to section 15.2.8 for the risk of funding shortfalls from the DEM and/or DSE Note Issues. 

10.5 Additional Development Funding 

Refer to section 15.2.7 for the risk of availability of additional funding. 

10.5.1 Additional Debt Funding 

Cognizant that both a project finance style mining bond is new to both the Tanzanian and Mauritian 

markets, the issuer has contingency planning in the event only the minimum amounts in each market are 

raised. Volt and its advisors are in discussions with both African Development Agencies and African 

Development Banks regarding extending funds to complete Stage 1 if required. Volt and its advisers are in 

dialogue with these counterparts and will proceed to documentation and due diligence once the results of 

the local Note raisings are completed and the additional financing can be appropriately sized. 

Refer to section 15.2.10 for Additional Debt Funding risks. 

10.5.2 Equity Funding 

Volt plans to raise equity funding during construction of US$6.2 million The equity funding will be used to 

supplement the funds raised through the planned Note issuance to cover the Stage 2 DFS and Volt 

working capital and corporate costs. The timing for the equity raising will be at approximately the mid- 

point of the 12-month construction period and may be completed in two or more tranches. It should be 

noted that Volt’s cash balance at the completion of construction is forecast at US$2.9 million after the first 

two interest payments during the 12-month construction period. There is a material amount of contingent 

funding in the amount of equity planned to be raised in the first 12 months when the DFS expenditure of 

US$3.0 million during the construction period is taken into account. 

The following two years have equity funding requirements of US$5.8 million and US$3.5 million 

respectively. The forecast operating net cash flows in these years of US$6.4 million and US$8.5 million 

are sufficient to meet debt servicing with equity to fund administration, corporate and FY 2021 mine 

development capital expenditure. 

The equity funding for Volt is planned to come from two sources - equity investment by VRC which will 

raise funds through capital raisings from its shareholders and investors on the ASX and private equity 

placements by Volt. Direct investment in Volt is attractive to strategic investors and may be combined 

with offtake agreements or other commercial arrangements. VRC has a history of raising material 

amounts of capital to fund Volt and the Bunyu Project development expenditure. 

VRC has raised a total of A$64.4 million to date from equity issuances on the ASX. In the past 4 years it 

has raised a total of A$26.7 million including A$12.3 million in the year ended 30 June 2016 and A$11.2 

million in the year ended 30 June 2018. VRC raises equity from financial markets as required to fund 

project activities. During 2016 the company completed its first drilling programme and prepared the PFS 

published in December 2016. In 2018 the Company obtained its key environmental approvals, received 

its mining licences, signed binding offtake and prepared the Stage 1 Feasibility Study published in July 



 

2018. In years of less activity it reduces expenditure through reducing the use of consultants and 

contractors. With VRC’s sole investment focus being Volt, VRC’s shareholders are committed to 

supporting the Bunyu Project development strategy and ensuring it is successful. 

With the Bunyu Project’s status as a world class graphite project through its resource size, high value 

flake size distribution, proximity to existing transport infrastructure and products suitable to a range of end 

uses, the sale of equity in Volt to strategic investors is a realistic source of funding. Following the DEM 

Note issue, the appetite for investment in a project entering the construction phase on the pathway to 

operations will be increased. 

Refer to section 15.2.9 in relation to the risks of equity funding being unavailable. 

10.5.3 Refinancing from Stage 2 Funding 

As discussed in section 9.1, Volt’s strategy is to develop the Bunyu Project in two stages. The cashflow 

forecasts in this section are based on funding the DFS for the Stage 2 Expansion Project with the 

remaining 4 years based on Stage 1 operations only. As described in section 14.10, the plan is to fund 

the Stage 2 development in the first year of Stage 1 operations. With a construction period of 

approximately 18 months, the Bunyu project cashflows will increase significantly as the project is scaled 

up to be one of the largest flake graphite producers globally. The Bunyu Project is forecast to produce 

approximately 16% of global graphite supply in 2023 once fully developed into a period when there are 

forecast to be significant deficits in graphite markets (see section 14.8). If the Company is able to achieve 

this development pathway, by year 4 of the DEM Note’s the Company will, based on the PFS cashflow 

forecasts, be in a strong position to repay the DEM Notes on maturity. 

There is a risk that funding for the Stage 2 development will not be obtained when planned or that 

it will be unable to raise the required funding, in which case the Stage 2 development will be 

delayed or may not proceed. 
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11 Board of Directors 

 
 

11.1 The Directors 

 
 

The Company has two board members: 

 

 
Mr. Asimwe Kabunga (Non-Executive Chairman, Age 46) 

Mr. Kabunga is a Tanzanian born Australian entrepreneur who holds a Bachelor of Science, Mathematics 

and Physics and has over 19 years technical and commercial experience in Tanzania, the United States 

and Australia. Mr. Kabunga has extensive experience in the mining industry, logistics, land access, tenure 

negotiation and acquisition, as well as a developer of technology businesses. Mr. Kabunga has been 

instrumental in establishing the Tanzania Community of Western Australia Inc. and served as its first 

President. Mr. Kabunga was also a founding member of Rafiki Surgical Missions and Safina Foundation, 

both NGOs dedicated to helping children in Tanzania. Mr. Kabunga is currently Chairman of Volt Resources 

Ltd (ASX:VRC) and Chairman of Lindian Resources Limited (ASX:LIN). Mr Kabunga is an Australian citizen 

and presently resides at Perth, Australia. 

 
 

Mr. Trevor Matthews (Chief Executive Officer, Age 60) 

Mr. Matthews has an accounting and finance background with 30 years’ experience in the resources 

industry including roles with North and WMC Resources in executive-level positions. More recently, his last 

two roles were as Managing Director for MZI Resources (2012-16) and Murchison Metals (2005-11). During 

his career Mr. Matthews has gained considerable experience managing many nascent resource projects 

through to production. Consequently, he has extensive executive management experience of feasibility 

studies, project planning/development, coordination and leveraging capital markets effectively to secure 

the appropriate mix of debt/equity funding, to successfully complete a mining project. Mr. Matthews’ role in 

overseeing an exploration company into production which was valued at approximately US$2 billion in 

market capitalization was viewed by the Volt Board as an excellent prerequisite. This experience will be 

valuable to Volt as it moves forward to bringing its Bunyu project into production. Mr. Matthews has a 

Bachelor of Commerce Degree from the University of Western Australia, a Post-Graduate Diploma in 

Applied Finance and Investment and is a member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. Mr 

Matthews is an Australian citizen, and presently resides at Perth, Australia. 

 
 

As noted above, both Company directors are directors or executives of the parent company Volt Resources 

Limited which is listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX:VRC). Mr Kabunga is the Non-executive 

Chairman of VRC and Mr Matthews is Chief Executive Officer of VRC, Volt Graphite Tanzania and its 

Bunyu Graphite Project are the only current projects of VRC and its subsidiaries and accordingly it is in the 

best interest of both companies to develop the Bunyu Graphite projects. There are currently no conflicts 

of interest, nor are any foreseen. Mr Kabunga is a party to the Royalty Term Sheet Agreement detailed in 

section 17.1 Material Contracts, where the development of the Bunyu Graphite projects and sale of graphite 

products is of mutual benefit to all parties. 



 

11.1.1 About the Company Secretary 

Ms Leticia Kabunga 

Ms Kabunga has a Bachelor of Business Management from Bangalore University in India. She has 

extensive experience in logistics planning and management and Government liaison. She is consulting to 

a number of companies in Tanzania in relation to business management and logistics. Ms Kabunga 

provides company secretarial services to a number of Tanzanian subsidiary companies of listed foreign 

companies. 

 

 
11.1.2 Conflict of Interests 

Certain directors of the Company have other business interests and do not devote all their time to the affairs 

of the Company. The Company’s directors and officers may serve as directors or officers of other 

companies or have significant shareholdings in other resource companies and, to the extent that such other 

companies may participate in ventures in which the Company may participate, the directors of the Company 

may have a conflict of interest in negotiating and concluding terms respecting the extent of such 

participation. If such a conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the Company’s directors, a director who 

has such a conflict will abstain from voting for or against the approval of such participation or the terms of 

such participation. 

From time to time, several companies may participate in the acquisition, exploration and development of 

natural resource properties, thereby allowing for their participation in larger programs, the involvement in a 

greater number of programs or a reduction in financial exposure in respect of any one program. It may also 

occur that a company will assign all or a portion of its interest in a particular program to another of these 

companies due to the financial position of the company making the assignment. In accordance with the 

laws of Tanzania, the directors of the Company are required to act honestly, in good faith and in the best 

interests of the Company. In determining whether or not the Company will participate in a particular 

program and the interest therein to be acquired by it, the directors will primarily consider the degree of risk 

to which the Company may be exposed and the financial position at that time. The directors and officers 

of the Company are aware of the existence of laws governing the accountability of directors and officers 

for corporate opportunity and requiring disclosure by the directors and officers of conflicts of interest and 

the Company will rely upon such laws in respect of any directors’ and officers’ conflicts of interest or in 

respect of any breaches of duty by any of its directors and officers. All such conflicts will be disclosed by 

such directors or officers in accordance with the board’s Code of Conduct and they will govern themselves 

in respect thereof to the best of their ability in accordance with the obligations imposed upon them by law. 

Other than as disclosed herein, the directors and officers of the Company are not aware of any such 

conflicts of interest in any existing or contemplated contracts with or transactions involving the Company. 

No directors of the Company or their associates have any shareholding in Volt. 

 

 
11.1.3 Agreements with Directors or Related Parties 

The Company’s policy in respect of related party arrangements is: 

(a) a Director with a material personal interest in a matter is required to give notice to the other Directors 

before such a matter is considered by the Board; and 

(b) for the Board to consider such a matter, the Director who has a material personal interest is not 

present while the matter is being considered at the meeting and does not vote on the matter. 

As at date of this Admission Document, there is no contract or arrangement subsisting in which any director 

of the Issuer is materially interested or which is significant in relation to the business of the Company, apart 

from the Royalty Agreement disclosed in section 11.1. 
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11.1.4 Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcy 

Except as may be provided in this Admission Document, no director or executive officer of the Company 

is, as at the date of this Admission Document, or was within 10 years before the date of this Admission 

Document, a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer of any company that: 

(a) was subject to an Order that was issued while the director or executive officer was acting in the 

capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer, or 

(b) was subject to an Order that was issued after the director or executive officer ceased to be a director, 

chief executive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from an event that occurred while 

that person was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer. 

Except as may be provided in this Admission Document, no director or executive officer of the Company, 

or a shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of the Company to affect materially the control of 

the Company: 

a) is, as at the date of this Admission Document, or has been within the 10 years before the date of this 

Admission Document, a director or executive officer of any company that, while that person was 

acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became 

bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject 

to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, 

receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; or 

b) has, within the 10 years before the date of this Admission Document, become bankrupt, made a 

proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted 

any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or 

trustee appointed to hold the assets of the director, executive officer or shareholder. 

The foregoing information, not being within the knowledge of the Company, has been furnished by the 

respective directors, officers and controlling shareholders of the Company individually. 

 
 

11.1.5 Loans and Guarantees 

The Company has not extended any loans to any of its current or former directors and has not provided 

any guarantees to any current or former directors in respect of any other third-party loans. 

 
 

11.1.6 Annual General Meetings 

A general meeting shall be held once in every calendar year (but not being more than 15 months from the 

last general meeting) at the proposed time and place as may be determined by the directors. Notice of 

general meetings shall be at least three weeks – excluding the day the notice is served but including the 

day on which notice is given. A quorum is convened when two members are present in person or by proxy 

and hold no less than 75% of the issued share capital entitled to vote on the matters therein presented. 



 

12 Management 

 
The Company is aware of the need to have sufficient and experienced management to conduct its graphite 
exploration and development business in Southern Tanzania. During the exploration and study phases the 
Company utilizes the services of its parent company’s Australian staff, international and local consultants 
and contract services to undertake the required programs of work and administration of the Company until 
the project enters and completes the project financing followed by the development phase. 

 
The current Company management are: 

 
• Trevor Matthews – Chief Executive Officer 

• Peter Dodi – Community Relations Manager (consultant) 

• Juma Selemani – Exploration Manager (consultant) 

 
The Company also has engaged the service of Godwin Nyelo as a consultant on government and corporate 

relations. 

 
 

Post financing, the Company will recruit a number of roles including senior finance and operations positions 

to ensure the safe and efficient operation of the Company’s graphite business, protection of the Company’s 

assets and appropriate levels of corporate governance. At least one independent director is likely to be 

appointed to the board of directors. 

 
 

No employees have any arrangements involving the capital of the company. 

 

 
To date the Company has managed its activities through the engagement of consultants and contractors 

to maintain flexibility regarding project expenditure when any delays or changes in activity levels occur. 

Progressively over the development, construction and ramp-up period to commercial production, 

approximating twelve months, the Company is anticipating hiring approximately 70 staff including 

approximately 5 expats in addition to the mining contactors and other service provider employees. 
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13 Investment Overview 

 
 

13.1 Historical Investment 

 
 

Since its incorporation in May 2015, and following the acquisition of the graphite tenements in Tanzania in 

May and September 2015, Volt has completed exploration drilling to define graphite Mineral Resources 

and Ore Reserves, a Pre-feasibility study for a significant graphite project completed December 2016, 

Feasibility study for the Stage 1 Bunyu graphite project (starter project) completed July 2018, obtained key 

approvals and completed product offtake agreements. These activities were all funded by the parent 

company via inter-company loans and capitalised to the balance sheet as Exploration and Evaluation 

assets. Ongoing administrative costs of maintaining the company including accounting and exploration 

support in Tanzania, tenement maintenance costs, environmental compliance and community relations 

costs have been expensed through the profit and loss account along with unrealised gains and losses on 

the revaluation of the inter-company loan with the parent entity. The project is yet to be developed and 

commence production so there is no sales revenue for these years. 

 
 

Consequently, there is no history of investments by the Company. 

 

 
13.2 Purpose of the Note Issuance 

 
 

The purpose of issuing the Notes on the SEM is to provide funds to enable the Company to: 

 

 
(a) develop the Bunyu Graphite Project in Southern Tanzania including the construction of a 

400,000tpa concentration plant and associated infrastructure; and 

(b) fund the resettlement costs of people currently farming and/or living within the project 

development area. 

 
 

On completion of the private placement, the Board believes that funds raised from the Offer will provide 

the Company with sufficient funds to achieve the Company’s objectives set out above. 

 

 
13.3 Use of Proceeds 

 

 
The Company intends to apply funds raised from the Offer and the Tanzanian Note Offer, as follows: 

 

 

Sources Millions 

Securities US$45.000 

Note Issue costs US$3.550 

Net Proceeds US$41.550 
 

Uses Millions 

Bunyu Project Development US$31.771 



 

DSRA US$5.775 

Resettlement compensation payments US$3.400 

Working Capital (part DFS funding) US$0.604 

Total Uses US$41.550 

 

The above table is a statement of current intentions as at the date of lodgement of this Admission Document 

with the SEM. As with any work plan and budget, intervening events (including exploration success or 

failure) and new circumstances have the potential to affect the way funds are ultimately applied. 

Accordingly, the actual expenditures may vary from the above estimates and the Board reserves the right 

to vary the expenditures dependent on circumstances and other opportunities. 

The Company has not entered into any commitments in relation to the above tabled uses apart from 

resettlement compensation payments which have been calculated and agreed with the landowners and 

approved by the Tanzanian Chief Valuer. 

 
 

The DSRA is utilised to reserve the funds to pay the first two semi-annual coupon payments due to 

Noteholders. 

 

 
13.4 Queries 

 
 

This Admission Document provides information for Potential Investors in the Company and should be read 

in its entirety. If, after reading this Admission Document, you have any questions about any aspect of an 

investment in the Company, please contact your stockbroker, accountant or independent professional 

advisor. For additional copies of the Admission Document, further advice on how to complete the 

Application Form or further information about the Offer, please contact the SEM Authorised Representative. 

 

 
13.5 SEM Authorised Representative 

 

 
GFIN Corporate Services Ltd (“GFIN”) has been appointed as the authorised representative to facilitate 

communication between the Company and the SEM for the purpose of the Listing. 
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14 Bunyu Graphite Project 

 
 

14.1 A Unique Mining Opportunity 

 
 

Geographic size, location, flake distribution and purity of graphite products give Volt a distinct advantage 

over market competitors. Volt is the largest tenement holder in the area with licenses covering 1109km2 of 

the highly prospective Usagaran Belt (Mozambique Belt Neoproterozoic System). To date, approximately 

6% of the tenement area has been explored offering significant exploration upside. Situated 10km from 

sealed roads, Volt’s tenements benefit from a direct 140km route to the deep-water port of Mtwara which 

currently operates at just 34% of capacity. 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
14.2 Description of Deposits 

 
 

At the time of tenement acquisition there had been no previous exploration on any of the application areas 

although numerous areas of outcropping graphite mineralisation had been noted by local prospectors and 

several large coarse-flaked graphite deposits had been discovered to the north and east within the same 

sequence of prospective rock. As the exploration progressed and high-quality graphite mineralisation was 

identified, surrounding areas were progressively acquired, building Volt’s tenement package. 

 

 
Volt’s tenements contain a JORC 2012 compliant resource base of 461MT at 4.9% total graphitic carbon. 

The project is divided into North and South zones. The Bunyu 1 mine is situated in the North zone with the 

Bunyu 2 and 3 mines located in the South zone. 



14.3 Resource Summary 
 

 
 

Within the North zone the contained graphite amounts to 406Mt, while the South zone makes up the rest 

of the endowment (55Mt). The total graphitic carbon grade in the Northern zone is about 1% higher than 

in the South zone. 

 
Bunyu Graphite Project Mt TGC (%) 

   

Inferred   

North 264 5 

South 23 3.6 

Total Inferred 286 4.6 

Indicated   

North 122 5.2 

South 33 4.3 

 
Total Indicated 

 
155 

 
5 

Measured   

North 20 5.3 

Total Resource 461 4.9 

 
 
 

14.4 Description of Mining Methods 

 

 
The Bunyu Deposits are suited to conventional drill and blast, and load and haul open pit mining methods. 

Further it is expected that some of the weathered material will be amenable to ripping by dozer and free 

dig. 

 
 

The deposit dips at 30 to 40 degrees which allows one wall of the pit to follow the footwall (minimal waste 

dilution). There are also multiple parallel lenses that fall within the pit boundary resulting in low stripping 

ratios. 

 
 

The ROM pad would be built adjacent to the processing facility, the open pit haul trucks would haul directly 

from the pit to the ROM pad, where the material would be re-handled by front-end-loader into the Crusher. 
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14.5 Description of Processing Plant and Associated Infrastructure 

 

 
The processing plant will incorporate the following unit process operations: 

 

 
• ROM ore will be stage-crushed in primary and secondary crushers, with associated screening 

to recirculate the oversize back to the crushers and to produce a top-sized product ahead of 

grinding 

• Ore will be wet ground by rod mill for concentration by flotation 

• Flotation will recover graphite by rougher flotation followed by five cleaning stages, with 

regrind milling between stages, to target coarse graphite recovery 

• Graphite product will be thickened, filtered, dried, screened and packaged in 1-tonne bags 

• Flotation tailings will be thickened to maximise water recovery and discharged into a 

constructed TSF 

 
 

The product is subsequently transported approximately 550 km to the port at Dar es Salaam in Eastern 

Tanzania. 

The principal production objective of the plant design is a marketable high-grade graphite product which is 

sized in ranges for the purpose of targeting appropriate market segments and so maximises the value of 

the products produced. Maximising the yield of high-value coarse flake is a key part of this objective. 

 
 

 

Production Flowsheet 



14.6 Supply Chain and Product Transport 
 

 
 

Volt will manage all supply-chain activities. The product will be filtered, dried, screened and bagged then 

trucked approximately 550 km to the port at Dar es Salaam (DES) in Eastern Tanzania where the bags will 

be loaded into 20’ or 40’ sea containers in preparation for shipping to customers. Loading of containers 

onto the ship and stevedoring will be done through a contract arrangement with a logistics management 

and freight company. There will be two warehouses; a product storage and dispatch facility on site and a 

warehouse in DES managed by the freight company. The feasibility study investigations have 

recommended DES as the lower cost port option for Stage 1. This is due to the modest Stage 1 product 

tonnages and current absence of coastal shipping in Tanzania. Discussions and investigations are ongoing 

for a Mtwara based shipping solution for Stage 1 that is cost competitive and robust. 

 
 

For Bunyu Stage 2, with the significantly increased product tonnages, it is expected that transport to and 

shipping from the Mtwara Port will become the preferred logistics route. Each container will contain 20 bags 

of graphite product. There is access to land near the port for storage and warehousing. 

 

 
14.7 Product Marketing 

 

 
14.7.1 Product Quality 

Test work conducted on graphite samples from these deposits has been positive with metallurgical results 

showing graphite product TGC purity of up to 96.6%. Samples have also been tested by US based 

graphene customer Nano Graphene INC (“NGI”) and potential off-taker Chinese National Building Materials 

General Machinery (“CNBMGM”). NGI confirmed Volt’s Bunyu graphite is amongst the highest quality 

graphite tested to date. CNBMGM reported that the Bunyu graphite product meets all company 

requirements. Such feedback supports the rationale that current reserves can provide consistent, high- 

grade graphite suitable for commercial applications including those within the Li-ion battery market and the 

fire-retardant building materials market. 

 

 
14.7.2 Off-take and Buyers 

 
 

Volt has signed a 5-year fixed price binding off-take agreement with a US-based graphene producer NGI 

for an average 1,000tpa of flake graphite. On 1 August 2018 Volt signed a second binding off-take 

agreement with Qingdao Tianshengda Graphite (“TSD”) for the supply of 9,000tpa of graphite products. 

Additionally, non-binding co-operation agreements and term sheets have been signed with three Chinese 

off-takers; CNBMGM, Guangxing Electrical (“GEM”) and AOYU Graphite. CNBM is China’s largest building 

materials group and has agreed to purchase 10-15ktpa of expandable focused product. GEM, one of 

China’s largest graphite processors and distributors has agreed to purchase 5ktpa of expandable focused 

product. Aoyu, one of China’s leading graphite groups has the potential to purchase 10 - 20ktpa of flake 

graphite subject to further testwork planned during the course of 2019. 

 
 

14.8 Graphite Market 

 
 

Natural graphite is an industrial mineral with several marketable properties including heat resistance and 

electrical conductivity. Discovered in three forms (vein/lump, flake and amorphous), flake graphite 

composes 40% of the market, is considered high grade and has the greatest number of end uses including 

components of lithium-ion batteries and upcoming new technologies such as graphene batteries. 

Amorphous graphite accounts for approximately 60% of the market and is primarily used in industrial 

products such as refractories. However, two industries that use natural graphite have the potential to more 

than double global demand over the next five years - lithium-ion batteries used in electric vehicles and fire- 
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retardant building materials. The demand for electric vehicles is forecast to continue growing with more 

than 12 ‘gigawatt’ battery making facilities coming on stream by 2020. This is due to increasing 

environmental awareness in the US, Europe and China with the Chinese Government targeting 5 million 

electric vehicles produced by 2020 and 3 million manufactured every year by 2025. Analysts estimate that 

natural graphite demand will increase 500% by 2020 and the graphite market will reach US$ 29.05 billion 

by 2022. Expandable graphite is manufactured by treating flake concentrate with reagents (acid and heat) 

to produce a compound that expands several hundred times its original size when heated to >1,000oC. 

Typically, end-users require large, jumbo or super jumbo flake concentrate to produce expanded graphite, 

as they have higher expansion rates than smaller flakes. Other than being heat resistant, expandable 

graphite doesn’t corrode, cannot be compressed and blocks radiation to a high degree. Expandable 

graphite flake is a fire-retardant additive for applications that require improved fire protection 

characteristics, including wood, foam, paint, plastics, and other construction and building materials. Mining 

of flake graphite takes place predominantly in China, with Brazil being the only other major supplier. China’s 

three biggest producers of flake graphite in 2016 were Luimao Graphite, BTR New Energy Materials and 

Yixiang Graphite Group, all of which operate in the flake graphite capital of China’s Heilongjiang province. 

With the average size of a flake graphite mine in China estimated at less than 25,000tpa, there are only a 

handful of major producers in the world. Outside of China, there is only one producer with a capacity of 

over 25,000tpa, Nacional de Grafite of Brazil. Almost no output from Nacional or any other producer outside 

of China goes into the battery industry today, although many companies are conducting test work to explore 

the economics of using their material for these applications. 

Future demand for advanced material graphene is expected to increase graphite demand even further. 

Graphene is a one-atom thick sheet of hexagonally arranged carbon. This structure creates an extremely 

strong, thin, light material. Furthermore, graphene is a significant conductor of heat and electricity. These 

properties give the material application in nano-technologies, LED’s and other electronic components. The 

global graphene market was valued at US$32 million in 2016 driven by research and development with 

analysts forecasting a US$ 195 million market by 2022. 



14.9 Stage 1 Development 
 

 
 

Volt commissioned engineering consultants, Battery Limits to complete a Feasibility Study published in July 

2018 for a proposed Stage 1 development to process 400ktpa of ore and produce a nominal 23.7ktpa of 

graphite products. This Stage 1 development is to produce bulk graphite product which will both satisfy 

the existing offtake agreements and allow potential customers to assess the product. In addition, Stage 1 

includes the planned downstream toll treatment in China of part of the graphite production to produce a 

high value Spherical Graphite product for sale into the Lithium battery anode market. 

 
 

The strategy of staging the project development provides a low-cost, fast-track path to get the Bunyu 

Project into production and deliver consistent representative product to the market place. This Stage 1 will 

facilitate product validation and assist in securing long-term offtake agreements to support development of 

the large-scale Stage 2 project. The Stage 1 development will have the added benefit of de-risking the full- 

scale project, improving the ability to finance the expansion, reducing the risks of commissioning and 

production ramp up delays, cost and schedule overruns. 

 

 
14.9.1 Key project parameters for the Stage 1 development 

 

 
Description Units Design 

Deposit  Bunyu 1 

Bunyu 1 block model Mt 2.8 

Nominal strip ratio Waste: Ore 0.2 

Annual ore feed rate Mtpa 0.4 

Ore grade %TGC 6.5 

Life of Stage 1 development y 7 

Graphite recovery % 91 

Product grade %TGC 95 

Nominal Graphite production Ave ktpa 23.7 

Graphite Products Type Multiple product grades and sizes 
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14.9.2 Summary of project financial parameters 
 

 
Financial Performance Summary   

Capex (US$MM) 32 

Opex (excl. PSGBAP processing) (US$/t) 578 

Average product basket price (excl. PSGBAP) (US$/t) 1,200 

Project Life (from first ore) (years) 7.1 

Total LOM Net Revenue (US$MM, real) 263 

Total LOM EBITDA (US$MM, real) 103 

Total LOM Net Cash Flows After Tax (US$MM, real) 50 

NPV @ 10.0% - after tax (US$MM, real) 24 

IRR – after tax (%, real) 30 

Payback Period - after tax - from first ore (years) 3.0 

Financial analysis of the Stage 1 project based on capex and opex estimates produced the above results 
 

The development schedule is built around a twelve-month contract schedule for engineering, supply and 

installation of the process plant which was provided by the plant supplier. This includes two months of 

commissioning and ramp-up time and seven months to take the project from contract award to 

commencement. The schedule assumes that regulatory approvals are obtained as required without 

causing any delays to the execution of the Stage 1 development. 

 

 
14.10 Stage 2 Expansion 

 
 

The Bunyu graphite project Pre-Feasibility Study (“PFS”) was completed in December 2016 by Battery 

Limits. The PFS was for a project with an estimated capex of US$173 million to process 3.8Mtpa of ore 

and produce 170ktpa of graphite products. Financial analysis indicated an attractive investment with a 

post-tax NPV in the order of US$ 890 million. The PFS can be used as a proxy for the Stage 2 Expansion 

project. During mid-2020 the Company will compete a Definitive Feasibility Study (“DFS”) for the Stage 2 

Expansion Project and plans to complete further offtake agreements, enter into construction contracts and 

other material project agreements, and finance the Stage 2 Expansion Project by mid-2021. 

 
Highlights: 

 
• Project Life: 22 years 

• Total Net Revenue: US$6.46 billion 

• Total EBITDA: US$4.20 billion 

• After-tax IRR: 66.5% 

• After-tax NPV (10%): US$891 million 

• Revenue shared to Government of Tanzania2
 

• Development Funding Required: US$173 million 
 
 

 

2 Financial projections are indicative and based on a 100% share held at the project level. Final, audited financial statements will include a free 

carried interest provision currently estimated at 16%, though this number remains under discussion. 



 

Financial Performance Summary   

Project Life (years) 22.1 

Total LOM Net Revenue (US$MM, real) 6,445 

Total LOM EBITDA (US$MM, real) 4,186 

Total LOM EBIT (US$MM, real) 3,912 

Total LOM NPAT (US$MM, real) 2,738 

Total LOM Net Cash Flows Before Tax (US$MM, real) 3,912 

Total LOM Net Cash Flows After Tax (US$MM, real) 2,738 

IRR - Before Tax (%, real) 86.9% 

IRR - After Tax (%, real) 66.5% 

NPV @ 10.0% - Before Tax (US$MM, real) 1,306 

NPV @ 10.0% - After Tax (US$MM, real) 890 

Maximum Cash Draw - Before Tax (US$MM, real) 172.5 

Maximum Cash Draw Period - From Construction Start (years) 2.0 

Payback Period - After Tax - From 1st ore (years) 1.4 

 

14.11 Sustainability 

14.11.1 Community 

To build relationships with the community and to commence the environmental and social impact 

assessment process, Volt held a workshop in January 2017 with 3 levels of government, community 

members and neighbours. Via this stakeholder workshop, the Company secured the support from key 

participants throughout the local community and government to proceed with the various development 

approvals needed to develop the Bunyu project. Volt has appointed a Community Relations Manager and 

two Community Liaison Officers as it continues to engage in meetings with the regional government, 

community and landowners to advance the Bunyu project. 

Volt proudly has an active community engagement and sponsorship program which includes making 

contributions for school equipment and village infrastructure. 

As part of its community outreach program, Volt is funding the construction and repair of village offices and 

restoration of a primary school. As the project begins to ramp up, the opportunity for local people to secure 

employment during both the construction and operations phases will improve the living standards for the 

local population. 

Compensation through the RAP (Resettlement Action Plan) in the form of cash or new accommodation at 

a neighbouring site, valued in total at US$3.4 million, will be made to displaced home owners and for 

farming plots and fruit trees etc. 
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14.11.2 Environmental and Social 

Volt has a policy of at least meeting or exceeding its environmental obligations. During financial year 

2016/17 Volt did not materially breach any significant regulation in respect of environmental management 

in any of the jurisdictions in which it operates. 

Volt has completed the Environmental and Social Impact Assessment (ESIA) for the Bunyu Project and on 

23 January 2018, Volt lodged its Environmental and Social Impact Statement (ESIS) with the National 

Environment Management Council of Tanzania. The NEMC Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) has 

conducted a site visit and held a meeting with other government agencies. On 4 April 2018 the TAC issued 

a number of requests for further information to be incorporated in the ESIS. The Company amended the 

ESIS to incorporate the additional information and lodged the document with the NEMC on 30 April 2018. 

Further NEMC meetings and requests for additional detailed engineering drawings for certain project 

infrastructure followed during May and June. With the incorporation of the additional information, an 

amended ESIS was lodged on 29 June 2018. 

Volt received the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Certificate from the National Environment 

Management Council of Tanzania (NEMC) for the Bunyu project development on 3 September 2018. 

Importantly, the EIA certificate signed by the Honourable Minister of State in Vice President's Office for 

Union Affairs and Environment, the Hon. January Makamba, represents the final pre-requisite for the 

granting of Volt’s Mining Licence (ML) and one of the final remaining major milestones in terms of 

Government permitting for the Bunyu Graphite Project. 

The Bunyu EIA certificate covers the area required for the Stage 1 development and Stage 2 Expansion 

Project. 

Volt has completed a Resettlement Action Plan (RAP) which includes a Valuation Report in relation to 

compensation payments for people affected by the project development. The Valuation Report has been 

approved by the relevant authorities, including the Government Chief Valuer. The RAP is not part of the 

environmental approvals required to grant a ML but the implementation of the plan is required during 

construction to facilitate land-based construction activities. The RAP implementation plan is currently under 

development and does not require any approval by a government body. It is developed by the Company to 

share with the local communities and government and is used as a guide for the resettlement program 

once it commences. As part of this process Volt has built relationships with the local village councils and 

all levels of government that commenced with a stakeholder workshop held in Q1 2017. The communication 

process has continued and been expanded by the use of consultation and working groups supported by a 

Volt’s full time Community Relations Manager and two Community Liaison Officers. 

 

 
14.11.3 Mining Licence 

In February 2018 Volt applied for two mining licences covering an area of approximately 18km2. Mining 

licences are limited to 10km2 and are granted for a period of 10 years. The two licences cover the area 

required for the Stage 1 pit, processing plant and infrastructure, and also the area required for the Stage 2 

Expansion pit, plant and infrastructure. 

On 20 October 2018 the Company received two mining licences ML 591/2018 and ML 592/2018 from the 

Mining Commission of the Ministry of Minerals of Tanzania. The two Mining Licences (ML's) cover the 

respective Stage 1 and Stage 2 developments of the Bunyu Graphite Project. 

The two ML’s cover a combined area of 17.71km2 and provide Volt with the exclusive right to develop the 

graphite resources in the ML area. The ML’s are effective for a period of 10 years and there is a right of 

10-year renewals under section 53 of the Mining Act. 



 

15 Risk Factors 

 
 

15.1 General 

 

An investment in the Company is not risk free and the Directors strongly recommend Prospective Investors 

to consider the risk factors described below, together with information contained elsewhere in this 

Admission Document, before deciding whether to apply for Securities pursuant to this Admission 

Document. 

 
 

There are specific risks which relate directly to the Company’s business. In addition, there are other general 

risks, many of which are largely beyond the control of the Company and the Directors. The Company 

actively monitors and seeks where possible to minimize or remove any material risks. 

 
 

Based on the information available, a non-exhaustive list of risk factors which may affect the Company’s 

financial position, prospects and the price of its listed Securities include the following: 

 

 
15.2 Financial Risks and Risks relating the Securities 

 
 

15.2.1 General Risks Relating to the Securities 

 
 

Noteholders’ rights may be adversely affected by a change of Mauritian law and/or Tanzanian law, and an 

active trading market for the Securities may not develop in the Mauritian market. Additionally, Investors 

may be exposed to exchange rate risks and exchange controls because of purchasing the Securities. 

 

 
15.2.2 Tanzanian Tax Implications 

 
 

Volt is a company incorporated in Tanzania and is a tax resident in Tanzania. Section 56 of the Tanzanian 

Income Tax Act (ITA) deals with the Tanzanian income tax consequences of a change in the underlying 

ownership of a Tanzanian-resident entity (such as Volt) by more than 50%. Section 56(1) of the ITA 

provides that “where the underlying ownership of an entity changes by more than 50% as compared with 

the ownership at any time during the previous three years, the entity shall be treated as realizing any assets 

owned and any liabilities owed by it immediately before the change”. This applies whether or not there is 

continuity in the business activities carried on by the Tanzanian entity. The income tax liability which arises 

on a deemed disposal triggered by section 56 of the ITA is attached to the Tanzanian company (i.e. in this 

case the appropriate member of the Volt Group). This is not the tax liability of the direct or indirect owners 

of the shares. 

 
 

Section 56 of the ITA does not prescribe the value at which assets and liabilities would be deemed to be 

disposed. However, section 39(h) of the ITA deals with deemed disposals under section 56 and section 42 

of the ITA prescribes that the value to be attributed to the deemed disposal of assets and liabilities should 

be the fair market value. The assets and liabilities in question are treated as immediately re-acquired by 

the company at that value. 

 
 

The capital gains arising from the deemed disposal will be calculated as the difference between the deemed 

disposal value (i.e. the market value) and the cost of the assets and liabilities (balance sheet value of the 

assets and liabilities). The capital gains tax will be computed at the rate of 30% of the capital gain. The new 

balance sheet cost of the assets and liabilities after the section 56 event will be the market value of the 
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assets at the point of the deemed disposal. Therefore, although the transaction will have capital gains tax 

implications on the entity, the base cost of its assets and liabilities will be “stepped up” to the market value 

after the deemed realization. 

 
 

There are no exemptions available in respect of the implications of section 56(1) of the ITA. Accordingly, a 

change in the shareholding of Volt could trigger tax consequences for the Company under section 56 of 

the ITA. 

 
 

15.2.3 Implications of Section 56 of the ITA on the Offer 

The offer will not trigger the provisions of section 56 of the ITA, as the underlying ownership of Volt will not 

change by more than 50% (i.e. the current Shareholders will still own more than 50% of the Company upon 

completion of the Offer). 

 
 

15.2.4 Implications of Section 56 of the ITA on Future Capital Raisings by the 

Company 

Depending on the Company’s exploration success and future capital requirements, the Company may 

undertake equity capital raisings in the future. 

 
 

If such equity capital raisings result in the direct or indirect ownership of Volt changing by more than 50% 

as compared with that ownership at any time during the previous three years, Volt could, on a technical 

reading of section 56 of the ITA, be treated as realizing any assets owned and any liabilities owed by it 

immediately before the change under section 56(1) of the ITA. As at the date of this Admission Document, 

the Tanzanian Revenue Authority has not applied this broad interpretation of section 56 of the ITA and it is 

unclear whether or how it would apply such an interpretation in the future. 

 
 

15.2.5 Exceptions to Section 56 of the ITA 

Section 56(1) is subject to Section 56(4) of the ITA, which states that Section 56 shall not apply where, for 

a period of two years after the change in ownership, the entity conducts the same business and in the same 

manner, as it had done for the 12 months that preceded the change in ownership; and that it did not engage 

in new business or investments other than those in place in the same 12-month period. 

 

 
15.2.6 External Influences on the Trading Price of Securities 

The trading price of securities of mineral commodities issuers is subject to substantial volatility often based 

on factors related and unrelated to the financial performance or prospects of the issuers involved. Factors 

unrelated to the Company's performance could include macroeconomic developments, domestic and 

global commodity prices or current perceptions of the graphite market. Similarly, the market price of any 

securities of the Company could be subject to significant fluctuations in response to variations in the 

Company's operating results, financial condition, liquidity and other internal factors. 

 
 

Lower commodity prices may also affect the value of the Volt Group’s ore reserves as certain reserves 

become uneconomic. In addition, lower commodity prices may restrict the Volt Group’s cash flow resulting 

in a reduced capital expenditure budget. As a result, the Volt Group may not be able to replace its 

production with additional reserves and both the production and reserves of the Volt Group could be 

reduced on a year over year basis. Any decrease in value of its reserves may reduce the borrowing base 

under future credit facilities, which, depending on the level of indebtedness, could result in the Volt Group 

having to repay a portion of its indebtedness. If market conditions were to decline resulting in a lack of 

confidence in the graphite industry, the Volt Group may have difficulty raising additional funds or if it is able 



 

to do so, it may be on unfavourable and highly dilutive terms. Any substantial decline in the prices of 

graphite could have a material adverse effect on the Volt Group and the level of its graphite reserves. 

Additionally, the economics of producing from some deposits may change as a result of lower prices, which 

could result in a suspension of production by the Volt Group. 

 
 

Accordingly, the price at which any securities of the Company will trade cannot be accurately predicted. 

 

 
15.2.7 Risks Relating to the Availability of Additional Financing 

 
 

Currently there exists no material indebtedness with regard to Volt. Future capital expenditures will be 

financed out of funds generated from operations, borrowings and future equity sales forecasted in section 

10.3.2. The Company's ability to do so is dependent on, among other factors, the performance of its 

investments, the overall state of capital markets and investor appetite for investments in the Company's 

securities. From time to time the Company may enter into transactions to acquire assets or the shares of 

other companies. These transactions may be financed partially or wholly with debt, which may temporarily 

increase the Volt Group’s debt levels above industry standards. 

Based on current funds available, forecast debt and equity issuance and expected results of operations, 

the Company believes it has sufficient funds available to fund its development costs and operations. To 

expand the productive capacity of its assets, depending on the timing, the Company may require significant 

additional capital. In addition, if capital costs for these projects exceed current estimates, or if the Company 

incurs major unanticipated expenses related to development or maintenance of its existing properties, it 

may be required to seek further additional capital to maintain its capital expenditures at planned levels, 

meet operating costs or debt servicing requirements. 

 
 

15.2.8 Risks Relating to a Funding Shortfall 

 

In the event that both the DEM and DSE notes are undersubscribed, there is a risk the Company will need 

to source alternative additional funding. This may result in a delay in development or production on the Volt 

properties. There can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in its efforts to arrange 

additional financing in amounts sufficient to meet the Company’s goals or requirements, or on terms that 

are acceptable to the Company. This risk is only after Volt has exhausted all forms of alternative funding 

including bank financing, project equity investment by third parties and/or equity financing by Volt either 

from its parent company, VRC, or from other investors. 

 
 

15.2.9 Risks Relating to Additional Equity Funding 

 

The Company may be required to pursue equity financing should a funding shortfall occur in relation to 

the DEM and/or the DSE Note Issuance and alternative forms of finance be unavailable to the Company. 

The company may find market conditions at the time of sourcing additional equity funding to be 

unfavourable. An equity issuance to be funded by VRC will require shareholder approval if it exceeds 

15% on its market capitalisation at the time, which may not be forthcoming at the time of issue. To date, 

Volt’s ASX listed parent entity, VRC, has raised US$17,000,000 from 3,400 shareholders to fund the 

Bunyu Project development costs. The ASX is the eighth largest securities exchange in the world (based 

on free-float market capitalization) and the second largest in Asia-Pacific, with A$1.2 trillion market 

capitalization and average daily secondary trading of over A$5 billion a day. Due to its compulsory 

superannuation system, Australia has the largest pool of funds under management in the Asia-Pacific 

region, and the fourth largest in the world. Volt can also consider raising capital in other markets or 

sources which could include the Mauritian equity markets, private equity and strategic investors. 
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15.2.10 Risk Mitigation Measures for Additional Debt or Equity Funding 

 
 

Any funds raised by the DEM/DSE Notes will serve to de-risk the Bunyu project to facilitate the introduction 

of new financiers. Subject to a funding shortfall, the Company may seek additional finance in the form of 

bank debt. Bank funding will likely be of a shorter tenor than the capital markets issuances and thus 

structurally senior. This will likely result in banks seeking returns lower than that of the DEM/DSE notes. 

Where the Company is unable to secure bank funding, alternative funding would have to be sought from 

existing shareholders, equity providers or strategic industrial or end users. The Company has executed 

NDA’s and continues to be in dialogue with a number of institutions providing project finance facilities and/or 

credit enhancement facilities. Commitment letters from these institutions will only be prepared once funding 

for both the DEM and DSE issuances have been completed and the amounts raised are quantified. Banks 

and other potential financiers will then complete their own credit processes to provide the required funding 

to complete the Stage 1 development. There is a risk the Company will not receive credit approved offers 

of finance or the offers will be unacceptable to Volt. 

 

 
15.3 Risk Related to Mine Development in Emerging Markets 

15.3.1 General Economic and Political Risks 

Changes in the general economic and political climate in the jurisdictions in which the Volt Group and its 

assets are located, or on a global basis that could impact on economic growth, the graphite price, interest 

rates, the rate of inflation, taxation and tariff laws, domestic security which may affect the value and viability 

of any mining activity that may be conducted by the Volt Group. 

 
 

15.3.2 Title Risk 

All licenses are subject to compliance with certain requirements, including but not limited to meeting the 

minimum exploration work commitments, lodgement of reports, payment of royalties and compliance with 

environmental conditions and environmental legislation. Consequently, the Volt Group could lose title to or 

its interest in any of the licenses to any of its assets if these requirements are not met. 

 
 

 
15.3.3 Risks of Foreign Operations 

The Volt Group operates in areas that may be considered politically unstable and is subject to the laws of 

foreign jurisdictions. The Volt Group’s operations and related assets are located in Tanzania, ranking in 

the lowest quartile of both the Human Development Index (World Bank) and the Ease of Doing Business 

Index (World Bank), may be considered to be politically and/or economically unstable. Risks exist in terms 

of the relevant governmental approval for the various activities which mining licenses require and the 

timetable associated with obtaining such approvals. 

 
 

Volt is subject to extensive laws and regulations governing prices, taxes, royalties, production, transport, 

pollution control, export of graphite and many other aspects of its business in its country of operations. 

There can be no assurance that the actions of present or future national governments will not materially 

and adversely affect the business, financial condition or results of operations of the Volt Group. 



 

Through its operations in foreign jurisdictions, the Volt Group may become subject to economic and political 

risks, such as: 

 
 

• the renegotiation, cancellation or forced modification of existing contracts and product sharing 

agreements; 

• expropriation or nationalization of property; 

• changes in laws or policies or increasing legal and regulatory requirements, including those relating 

to tax, royalties, imports, exports, duties, currency or other claims by government entities (including 

retroactive claims or changes in administration of laws, policies and practices); 

• uncertain political and economic environments, war, terrorism, sabotage and civil disturbances; 

• delays or inability to obtain or maintain necessary government permits or to operate in accordance 

with such permits or regulatory requirements; and 

• currency fluctuations. 

 
Exploration, development or production activities in Tanzania may require protracted negotiations with host 

governments and third parties and there is no guarantee that results of these negotiations will be 

favourable. 

 
 

In addition, if a dispute arises with regards to any of Volt’s operations, Volt will be subject to the exclusive 

jurisdiction of the courts of Tanzania. Tanzania’s legal system, developing since independence in 1961, is 

relatively emergent compared to for instance the 800-year-old UK legal system, therefore Volt may have 

difficulty in obtaining effective legal redress in the national courts. These risks may limit or disrupt Volt 

operations, restrict the movement of funds, or result in the deprivation of contract rights or the taking of 

property by nationalization or expropriation without fair compensation and may materially adversely affect 

Volt’s financial position and results of operations. Volt operates in a region that may be subject to a higher 

degree of political, social and economic risks than more developed regions. 

 
 

The occurrence of these several factors and uncertainties cannot be accurately predicted and could have 

an adverse effect on the operations or profitability of the Company. The Company has made its investment 

and strategic decisions based on the information currently available to its directors, however should there 

be any material change in the political, economic, legal and social environments in Tanzania, the Directors 

may re-assess investment decisions and commitments to assets in the country. 

 
 

15.3.4 Regulatory 

Changes in relevant taxes, legal and administration regimes, accounting practice and government policies 

may adversely affect the financial performance of the Company. 

 

 
15.3.5 The Tanzanian government exercises significant influence over the mining 

industry 

In Tanzania, the state retains ownership of the minerals and consequently retains control of the exploration 

and production of mineral resources. Accordingly, these operations may be materially affected by the 

government through royalty payments, export taxes and regulations, surcharges, value added taxes, 

production bonuses and other charges. 

 
 

The Company has operated in Tanzania for a number of years and management believes the Company 

has reasonably good relations with the current Tanzanian government. However, there can be no 

assurance that present or future administrations or governmental regulations in Tanzania will not materially 

adversely affect the operations or future cash flows of the Company. 
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15.4 Risks Associated with Changes in Legislation 

Changes to mineral exploration or investment policies and legislation or a shift in political attitude within 

the jurisdiction in which the Volt operates may adversely affect the Volt’s proposed operations and 

profitability. Government action or policy change in relation to access to lands and infrastructure, 

compliance with environmental regulations, export restrictions, taxation, royalties and subsidies may 

adversely affect Volt’s operations and financial performance. Volt is governed by a series of national laws 

and regulations. Breaches or non-compliance with these laws and regulations can result in penalties and 

other liabilities. These may have a material adverse impact on the financial position, financial performance, 

cash flows, growth prospects and share price of the Company. 

 
 

These laws and regulations may be amended from time to time, which may also have a material adverse 

impact on the financial position, financial performance, cash flows, growth prospects and share price for 

the Company. The legal and political conditions in Tanzania and any changes thereto are outside the 

control of Volt. 

 
 

The introduction of new legislation or amendments to existing legislation by the national government, 

developments in existing common law, or the interpretation of the legal requirements which govern Volt’s 

operations or contractual obligations, could adversely affect the assets, operations and, ultimately, the 

financial performance of the Company and the value of its securities. In addition, there is a commercial risk 

that legal action may be taken against or by Volt in relation to commercial matters. 

 
 

15.4.1 The evolution and interpretation of Tanzanian legislation is uncertain and may 

impose restrictions on Volt 

Volt´s business is subject to various levels of government controls and regulations which are  revised 

from time to time. The Company is unable to predict what legislation  may  be  proposed  that might  

affect its business or when any such proposals, if enacted, might become effective. Such changes could 

require increased capital and operating expenditures and could prevent or delay certain operations by Volt. 

To the extent Volt is unable to comply with any such legislation, whether in the future or past, the Company 

may be unable to continue to successfully operate. 

 

 
15.4.2 The ‘Natural Wealth Resources’ Regulations 

The introduction of new legislation such as the introduction in Tanzania of the Natural Wealth and 

Resources (Permanent Sovereignty) Act, 2017 and the Natural Wealth and Resources (Review and 

Renegotiation of Unconscionable Terms), 2017 which govern the Company’s operations or contractual 

obligations, may adversely affect the assets, operations and, ultimately the financial performance of the 

Company and the value of its securities. 

 

 
15.5 Asset Operating Risks 

15.5.1 General Operational Risks 

Developing mineral resources inherently involves a high degree of risk. The business of Volt is subject to 

all of the operating risks normally associated with the exploration for, and the production, storage, 

transportation and marketing of graphite. These risks include explosions, fire, migration of harmful 

substances and waste production spills, any of which could cause personal injury, result in damage to, or 

destruction of, production facilities and other property, equipment and the environment, as well as interrupt 

operations. In addition, Volt will be subject to the risks normally incident to the construction of graphite 

mines and the operation and development of graphite properties, including encountering unexpected 

mining conditions, premature declines of resources, equipment failures and other accidents, adverse 

weather conditions, pollution and other environmental risks. 



 

15.6 Ore Reserves and Mineral Resources Risks 

15.6.1 Uncertainties in Estimating Reserves and Future Net Cash Flows 

Ore reserve and mineral resource estimates are expressions of judgement based on knowledge, 

experience and industry practice. Estimates that were valid when originally calculated may alter 

significantly when new information or techniques become available. In addition, by their very nature, 

resource and reserve estimates are imprecise and depend to some extent on interpretations, which may 

prove to be inaccurate. As further information becomes available through additional drilling and analysis, 

the estimates may change. This may result in alterations to development and production plans which may 

in turn, adversely affect the operations of Volt. 

 
 

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of proved and probable reserves and 

cash flows to be derived therefrom, including many factors beyond the control of the Company. These 

evaluations include a number of assumptions relating to factors such as initial production rates, ultimate 

recovery of reserves, timing and amount of capital expenditures, marketability of production, graphite price 

differentials to forecasts, operating costs, transportation costs, cost recovery provisions and royalties, 

governmental “back-in” methodology and other government levies that may be imposed over the producing 

life of the reserves. 

 
 

Estimates of the economically recoverable graphite reserves attributable to the project properties, 

classification of such reserves based on risk of recovery and estimates of future net revenues associated 

with reserves may vary from actual results, and those variations could be material. The process of 

estimating reserves requires interpretations and judgments on the part of mining engineers, resulting in 

imprecise determinations, particularly with respect to new discoveries. Different engineers may make 

different estimates of reserve quantities and revenues attributable thereto based on the same data. 

 
 

The reserve evaluation is based in part on the assumed success of activities Volt intends to undertake in 

future years. The reserves and estimated cash flows to be derived therefrom and contained in the reserve 

evaluation will be reduced to the extent that such activities do not achieve the level of success assumed in 

the reserve evaluation. The reserve evaluation is effective as of a specific effective date and, except as 

may be specifically stated, has not been updated and therefore does not reflect changes in the reserves of 

Volt since that date. 

 
 

The estimation of proved reserves that may be developed and produced in the future are often based upon 

probabilistic calculations and upon analogy to similar types of reserves rather than upon actual production 

history. Estimates based on these methods generally are less reliable than those based on actual 

production history. Subsequent evaluation of the same reserves based upon production history may result 

in variation or revisions in the estimates reserves, and any such variations or revisions could be material. 

Market driven fluctuations of commodity prices may render the recovery of certain reserves uneconomic. 

 

15.6.2 Risk of Inability to Maintain or Replace Reserve Levels 

Volt’s ore reserves and production and, therefore, its cash flows and earnings are highly dependent upon 

Volt developing and increasing its current reserve base and discovering or acquiring additional reserves or 

resources. Without the addition of reserves through exploration, acquisition or development activities, the 

Volt Group’s reserves and production will decline over time as they are depleted. To the extent that cash 

flow from operations is insufficient and external sources of capital become limited or unavailable, the ability 

of Volt to make the necessary capital investments to maintain and expand its graphite reserves will be 

impaired. There can be no assurance that Volt will be able to find and develop or acquire additional reserves 

to replace production at commercially feasible costs. 
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15.7 Environmental Risk 

15.7.1 Risks Relating to Environmental and Other Regulations 

Extensive environmental laws and regulations will affect Volt operations. These laws and regulations set 

various standards regulating certain aspects of health and environmental quality, provide for penalties and 

other liabilities for the violation of such standards and establish in certain circumstances obligations to 

remediate current and former facilities and locations where operations are or were conducted. In addition, 

special provisions may be appropriate or required in environmentally sensitive areas of operation. There 

can be no assurance that Volt will not incur substantial financial obligations relating to environmental 

compliance. Significant liability could be imposed on Volt for damages, clean-up costs or penalties in the 

event of certain discharges into the environment or non-compliance with environmental laws or regulations. 

Such liability could have a material adverse effect on Volt. Moreover, Volt cannot predict what 

environmental legislation or regulations will be enacted in the future or how existing or future laws or 

regulations will be administered or enforced. Compliance with more stringent laws or regulations, or more 

vigorous enforcement policies of any regulatory authority, could in the future require material expenditures 

by Volt for the installation and operation of systems and equipment for remedial measures, any or all of 

which may have a material adverse effect on Volt. 

 
 

While management believes that Volt is currently in compliance with environmental laws and regulations 

applicable to its operations in Tanzania, no assurances can be given that it will be able to continue to 

comply with such environmental laws and regulations without incurring substantial costs. 

 
 

Volt’s planned operations are subject to extensive governmental legislation and regulation and increased 

public awareness concerning environmental protection. The introduction of more stringent regulations and 

conditions may also adversely affect Volt. 

 
 

The Company expects that the cost of complying with environmental legislation and regulations will 

increase in the future. Compliance with existing environmental legislation and regulations has not had a 

material effect on capital expenditures, earnings or competitive position of Volt to date. Although 

management believes that Volt’s operations and facilities are in compliance with such laws and regulations 

in all material respects, future changes in these laws, regulations or interpretations thereof or the nature of 

its operations may require Volt to make significant additional capital expenditures to ensure compliance in 

the future. 

 

 
15.8 Personnel Risks 

15.8.1 Reliance on Key Personnel 

The Company is highly dependent upon its executive officers and key personnel (including contractors). 

The unexpected loss of the services of any of these individuals could have a detrimental effect on the 

Company. There is no guarantee that the Company will retain members of its management team, and if 

the Company were to lose a member of its management team unexpectedly, its business, prospects, 

financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected. 

 
 

15.8.2 Volt may not be able to attract and retain qualified personnel 

Volt may have difficulty attracting and retaining qualified local personnel to work on its projects due to 

shortages of qualified, experienced workers and competition for their services. It may also be difficult to 

attract, employ and retain qualified expatriate workers as a result of legal restrictions, socio-economic 

issues and security concerns in the jurisdictions in which the Company operates. In the event of a labour 

shortage, Volt could be forced to increase wages in order to attract and retain employees, which may result 



 

in higher operating costs and reduced profitability. A failure by Volt to attract and retain a sufficient number 

of qualified workers could have a material adverse effect. 

 

 
15.9 Competition Risks 

15.9.1 Competition from other mining companies 

The graphite industry is competitive in all its phases. The Company competes with numerous other 

organizations in the search for, and the acquisition of, graphite properties and in the marketing of graphite 

products. 

 
 

The Company's competitors include graphite companies that have substantially greater financial resources, 

staff and facilities than those of the Company. The Company's ability to increase its reserves in the future 

will depend on its ability to explore and develop its present properties. Competitive factors in the distribution 

and marketing of graphite include product quality, graphite flake size, price and methods and reliability of 

delivery and storage. 

 
 

15.9.2 Increased competition in Tanzania may pose a threat to the Company’s ability 

to market its products 

There has been an increase in exploration activity in Tanzania, which has yielded significant discoveries of 

graphite that could, when developed, lead to increased competition for graphite markets and lower graphite 

prices in the future. In addition, various factors, including the effect of foreign regulation of production and 

transportation, general economic conditions, changes in supply due to mining by other producers and 

changes in demand may adversely affect the Company's ability to market its graphite production. 

 
 

15.9.3 The Company may be affected by the inability to respond to changing 

technical development 

The mineral resource industry is characterized by rapid and significant technological advancements and 

introductions of new products and services utilizing new technologies. Other companies may have greater 

financial, technical and personnel resources that allow them to enjoy technological advantages and may in 

the future allow them to implement new technologies before the Company. There can be no assurance that 

the Company will be able to respond to such competitive pressures and implement such technologies on 

a timely basis or at an acceptable cost. One or more of the technologies currently utilized by the Company 

or implemented in the future may become obsolete. If the Company is unable to utilize the most advanced 

commercially available technology, its business, financial condition and results of operations could also be 

adversely affected in a material way. 

 
 

15.9.4 Insurance 

Insurance against all risks associated with graphite development and production is not always available or 

justifiable on a cost-benefit basis. The Company will maintain insurance where it is considered appropriate 

for its needs, however it will not be insured against all risks either because appropriate cover is not available 

or because the Directors consider the required premiums to be excessive having regard to the benefits that 

would accrue. 

 

 
15.9.5 Risks relating to Corruption and Bribery 

Corruption remains an issue in Tanzania. Tanzania ranks 116 out of 176 on the 2016 Transparency 

International Corruption Index, and 132 out of 190 on the World Bank’s 2016 Ease of Doing Business Index. 

Having assessed the Company's exposure to corruption in Tanzania, it was concluded that the risk of the 

Company and/or its subsidiaries violating applicable laws prohibiting corrupt activities are mitigated or 

unlikely given the Company's controls relating to such risks and their effective operation.  There  can  be 
 

58 



Admission Document Volt Graphite Tanzania Plc 
 

 
 
 

no assurance, however that corruption may not directly or indirectly affect or otherwise impair the 

Company's ability to operate in Tanzania and effectively pursue its business plan in either country. 

 

 
15.9.6 Information Technology Systems and Cyber-Security 

The Company has become increasingly dependent upon the availability, capacity, reliability and security 

of it’s information technology infrastructure and the ability to expand and continually update this 

infrastructure, to conduct daily operations. The Company depends on various information technology 

systems to store and collate geological information, estimate resource and reserve quantities, process and 

record financial data, manage our land base, administer our contracts with our service providers and 

lessees and communicate with employees. Further, the Company is subject to a variety of information 

technology and system risks as a part of its normal course of operations, including potential breakdown, 

invasion, virus, cyber-attack, cyber-fraud, security breach, and destruction or interruption of the Company’s 

information technology systems by third parties or insiders. Unauthorized access to these systems by 

employees or third parties could lead to corruption or exposure of confidential, fiduciary or proprietary 

information, interruption to communications or operations or disruption to our business activities or our 

competitive position. Further, disruption of critical information technology services, or breaches of 

information security, could have a negative effect on our performance and earnings, as well as on our 

reputation. The Company applies technical and process controls in line with industry-accepted standards 

to protect our information assets and systems; however, these controls may not adequately prevent cyber- 

security breaches. The significance of any such event is difficult to quantify but may in certain 

circumstances be material and could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial 

condition and results of future operations. 

 
 

15.9.7 Reputational Risk 

Due to the Company's asset concentration, the Company's operations are dependent on positive 

relationships with a small number of organizations (including the government of Tanzania). Damage to the 

Company’s reputation within Tanzania due to the actual or perceived occurrence of any number of events 

could negatively impact the Company. Reputation loss may lead to increased challenges in developing 

and maintaining community relations, decreased investor confidence, and the impediment of the 

Company's overall ability to advance its project development, thereby having a material adverse impact on 

financial performance, cash flows and growth prospects. 

 

 
15.9.8 Litigation and Dispute Risks 

The Company may become involved in disputes with other parties in the future which may result in 

arbitration or litigation. The results of any future disputes cannot be predicted, and the Company may be 

subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of foreign bodies in settling these disputes. The costs of defending or 

settling these disputes may be significant. If the Company is unable to resolve these disputes favourably, 

it may have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial performance, cash flow and results of 

future operations. 

 
 

Although the agreements in relation to the Company’s assets all require international arbitration if there is 

a dispute in connection with its operations, the Company could still become subject to the jurisdiction of 

courts or arbitration tribunals in any country of operation or may not be successful in subjecting persons or 

government entities to the jurisdiction of the arbitrators or another country. There can be no assurance that 

if the Company becomes involved in a dispute that it will be dealt with in a satisfactory manner or in a way 

in which the Company expects. The delay or results of such dispute settlement could have a material 

adverse effect on the Company, its business, prospects, results of future operations and financial condition. 



 

16 Current Indebtedness 

 
 

16.1 Intercompany Loan 

As of 30 June 2018, and therefore considered current, the only Volt indebtedness apart from trade and 

other sundry payables was the intercompany loan of US$10.83 million. Post 30 June 2018 the 

intercompany loan from its parent company was substantially converted into share equity in Volt. The debt 

has been converted into share capital during the first quarter of the financial year ended 30 June 2019, with 

24,500,000 fully paid shares issued to VRC with a par value of TZS 1,000.00. 

 

 
17 Material Contracts 

 
 

17.1 Royalty Term Sheet Agreement 
 

 
Signature Date: Term Sheet dated 19 May 2015 and variation agreement dated 17 August 2015 

Parties: Volt Resources Ltd, Leticia Kabunga, Jovitha Charles, Nachi Resources Limited 
(Volt), Asimwe Kabunga 

Aim:  

 The sale and purchase of prospecting licences for graphite minerals 

Signature Date: Term Sheet dated 7 September 2015 and variation agreement dated 21 October 
2015 

Parties: Volt Resources Ltd, Jovitha Charles, Frederick Msonga, Asimwe Kabunga 

Aim: The sale and purchase of prospecting licences for graphite minerals 

Tenements 
Acquisition: 

Volt acquired the Bunyu tenements in 2015 under two separate Term Sheet 
agreements dated 19 May 2015 and 7 September 2015. Subsequently, the Term 
Sheets were varied on 17 August 2015 and 21 October 2015 respectively resulting 
in the acquisition of various prospecting licences and applications that form the 
Bunyu Project. 

Royalty: The Term Sheets provide for the payment of a royalty on a 3% net smelter basis 
for any mineral production from the relevant licences, which includes the licence 
which contains the Stage 1 Project. The royalty is payable to the various parties 
who were the vendors of the prospecting licences. 

Royalty Reduction 
Clause: 

Under both Term Sheets and where applicable the Variation agreements, Volt has 
the option whereby the production royalty can be reduced to 1.5% net smelter 
basis by the payment of US$2,000,000 to the licence vendors. This payment 
applies once to each of the licences acquired under each Term Sheet. This option 
is available to Volt at any time post the settlement i.e. it is available now and at 
any time in the future. 

Future 
Documentation 

The royalty agreement will be further documented but the key terms described 
above will remain. 
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17.2 Nano Graphene Inc Offtake Agreement 
 
 

Signature Date: 3 March 2017 

Parties: Volt Graphite Tanzania Plc, Volt Resources Ltd, Nano Graphene Inc. 

Aim: The supply and purchase of graphite products 

Supply Agreement: To supply on average 1,000tpa of graphite products at a fixed price for a term of 
5 years. The price is FOB ex-Mtwara Port in South East Tanzania. 

Terms & 
Conditions: 

The agreement includes the usual terms and conditions found in offtake 
agreements including product specifications, shipping terms, risk and insurance, 
weighing, sampling, analysis and assays, payment, force majeure, dispute 
resolution and is governed under United Kingdom law. 

 
 

17.3 Qingdao Tianshengda Graphite Co. Ltd. Offtake Agreement 
 

 
Signature Date: 1 August 2018 

Parties: Volt Graphite Tanzania Plc, Qingdao Tianshengda Graphite Co. 
Ltd. 

 
Aim: 

 
The supply and purchase of graphite products 

Supply Agreement: To supply 9,000tpa of graphite products at market prices agreed each 6-month 
period for a term of 5 years. The price is CIF Qingdao, China. 

Terms & 
Conditions: 

The agreement includes the usual terms and conditions found in offtake 
agreements including product specifications, shipping terms, risk and insurance, 
weighing, sampling, analysis and assays, payment, force majeure, dispute 
resolution and is governed under Tanzanian law. 



 

18 Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve 

In accordance with the Stage 1 Feasibility Study for the Bunyu Graphite Project Tanzania dated 31 July 

2018, the Bunyu 1 (Stage 1) Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves tables below, relate to the Stage 1 

higher grade portion of the Bunyu 1 deposit, not the entire Bunyu 1 deposit: 

A Competent Persons’ Report, incorporating the Stage 1 Feasibility Study summary information, has 

been prepared in accordance with Schedule 10 of the DEM Listing Rules and is attached as Annexure 

2. 

There were no material changes to the information contained in the Competent Person Report including 

the Bunyu 1 Stage 1 Mineral Resources and Ore Reserve from 31 July 2018 to the date of this 

Admission Document. 

The Mineral Resources have been reported for the July 2018 model at a 2.93% TGC cut-off grade and 

are included in the Table below. This cut-off grade was determined from technical and economic 

assessment of the mineralisation within the Stage 1 Feasibility Study (FS) pits by Orelogy Consulting 

Pty Ltd. This resource tabulation is not a resource statement for the entire Bunyu 1 project and is 

presented for validation of the July 2018 resource model which has been used as the basis of the July 

2018 Stage 1 FS pit designs. 

Bunyu 1 (Stage 1): Mineral Resources (restricted above the base of model surface and above 240m 

RL) reported above a cut-off grade of 2.93% TGC 
 

Classification Mt TGC (%) 

Measured 8.0 5.8 

Indicated 31.9 5.6 

Inferred 36.9 5.1 

Total 76.8 5.4 

Note: this update does not cover the global Mineral Resources at Bunyu 1 

The July 2018 mineral resource model was used to determine the Bunyu 1 Stage 1 FS Ore Reserve 

and associated mine production schedule. The selected mining scenario, based on the outcomes of 

an open pit optimisation, was for three pits to be developed over 7 years with a total of 2.8Mt of mill 

feed being mined. 

The scope of the Stage 1 FS was to develop a project plan for a relatively small component of the Bunyu 

1 deposit. The Bunyu Stage 1 FS Ore Reserve is considered a subset of the 2016 Namangale 1 Ore 

Reserve released by Volt Resources 15 December 2016 as part of the 2016 Namangale Pre-Feasibility 

Study. It therefore does not replace or update this reserve and is for the purposes of underpinning the 

Stage 1 FS. The overall Ore Reserve for Bunyu (previously Namangale) will be updated as part of the 

Bunyu Stage 2 DFS which will be based on the whole of the Bunyu 1 deposit. 
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The Bunyu 1 (Stage 1): Ore Reserves (not the entire Bunyu 1 deposit) 
 

 

Material Ore Waste Total 
 

Strip Ratio 

Location Classification kt TGC % kt kt 
 

 
 

North 

Proved 833 6.1% 
 
 

109 

 
 

1,001 

 
 

0.12 Probable 60 5.1% 

Subtotal 892 6.0% 

 
 

Central 

Proved 472 6.2% 
 
 

593 

 
 

1,408 

 
 

0.73 Probable 343 5.6% 

Subtotal 815 5.9% 

 
 

South Starter 

Proved 
 

0.0% 
 
 

916 

 
 

1,315 

 
 

2.30 Probable 399 6.8% 

Subtotal 399 6.8% 

 
 

South Main 

Proved 
 

0.0% 
 
 

649 

 
 

1,358 

 
 

0.91 Probable 709 6.6% 

Subtotal 709 6.6% 

 
 

TOTAL 

Proved 1,305 6.1% 
 
 

2,267 

 
 

5,082 

 
 

0.81 Probable 1,511 6.4% 

Total 2,815 6.3% 

Inconsistencies in table totals are due to rounding. 

 

 
The Bunyu Stage 1 FS Ore Reserve comprises 46% Proved and 54% Probable Ore Reserves. Both 

the Stage 1 Ore Reserve and Mineral Resource underpinning it have been prepared by competent 

persons in accordance with JORC requirements. 

The Bunyu Stage 1 FS mining schedule was designed to generate a minimum 400,000tpa of plant feed 

annually, for seven years, resulting in an average feed grade of 6.26% TGC. 



 

 

19 Extracts from The Memorandum and Articles of Association of The 
Company 

 
 

The following sections use the definitions as set out in the Memorandum and Articles of Association 

(“Memarts”) of the Company. 

 
 

For a full appreciation of the provisions of the Memarts, shareholders are referred to the text of the Memarts 

which is available for inspection as provided for in section xxx of this Admission Document. 

 
 

MEMORANDUM OF ASSOCIATION OF VOLT GRAPHITE TANZANIA PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY 

 

 
Company Objects 

 

 
The name of the Company is VOLT GRAPHITE TANZANIA PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY. 

 

 
The registered office of the Company will be situated in the United Republic of Tanzania. 

 

 
The objects for which the Company is formed are (and it is expressly declared that the several sub-clauses 

of this clause and all the powers thereof are to be cumulative and in no case is the generality of any one 

sub-clause nor is any general expression in any sub-clause to be narrowed or restricted by any particularity 

of expression in the same sub-clause or by the application of any rule of construction, ejusdem generis or 

otherwise): 

 
 

To prospect explore acquire develop maintain and carry on wells mines and mining rights minerals ores 

and properties of any kind and to erect and operate refineries mill works machinery laboratories workshops 

dwelling houses and other buildings works and appliances and to aid in or subscribe towards or subsidise 

any such objects. 

To carry on all or any of the businesses of importers exporters manufacturers’ representatives buyers and 

sellers (both wholesale and retail) insurance agents property agents general merchants traders and 

manufacturers of and dealers in and agents and representatives for goods merchandise materials furniture 

furnishings appliances equipment machinery stores products provisions commodities substances and 

effects of all kinds and to establish factories for the manufacture of any of these. 

To carry on the business as general merchants and to buy sell import export manufacture and to deal in 

textiles, hardware products goods stores consumable articles and articles for merchandise and trade of 

every kind and description both wholesale and retail and to act as manufacturer's representatives and 

agents, commission agents brokers and to transact every kind of agency business whether in respect of 

manufactured or consumer goods agriculture commercial or financial matter. 

To carry on the business of an investment Company and to buy undertake invest in and acquire and hold 

shares, stocks debentures debenture stock bonds obligations and securities issued or guaranteed by any 

Company constituted or carrying on business in any part of the world and debentures debenture stock 

bonds obligations and securities issued or guaranteed by any government state public body or authority 

supreme municipal local or otherwise private or firm or person and to deal with and turn to account the 

same provided always that no investment imposing unlimited liability on the Company shall be made. 

To carry on the business of an investment Company and for that purpose to acquire and hold either in the 

name of the Company or in that of any nominee shares stocks bonds debentures debenture stocks bonds 

64 



Admission Document Volt Graphite Tanzania Plc 
 

 
 
 

notes obligation and securities issued or guaranteed by any Company wherever incorporated or carrying 

on business and debentures debenture stock bonds notes obligations and securities issued or guaranteed 

by any government commissioners public body or authority dependent municipal local or otherwise in any 

part of the world. 

To carry on any other business which may seem to the Company capable of being conveniently carried on 

in connection with the above or calculated directly or indirectly to encourage light aviation or to enhance 

the value of or render profitable any of the company's property or rights. 

To act as agents and to sell lease let mortgage or otherwise dispose of the lands houses buildings and 

other property of the Company and to undertake or direct the management of the property buildings lands 

and estates (of any tenure or kind) of any persons whether member of the Company or not in the capacity 

of consultants stewards or receivers or otherwise. 

To purchase or otherwise acquire movable or immovable property of all kinds and any rights or privileges 

which may seem convenient to obtain for the purpose of or in connection with any of the businesses of the 

Company and whether for the purpose of resale or realisation or otherwise and to manage develop sell 

exchange lease mortgage or otherwise deal with the whole or any part of such property or rights. 

To carry on any other business which may seem to the Company capable of being conveniently carried on 

in connection with the above or calculated directly or indirectly to enhance the value of or render profitable 

any of the Company's property or rights. 

To prospect explore acquire develop maintain and carry on wells mines and mining rights minerals ores 

and properties of any kind and to erect and operate refineries mill works machinery laboratories workshops 

dwelling houses other buildings works and appliances and to aid in or subscribe towards or subsidise any 

such objects. 

To construct, erect and maintain either by the Company or other parties, sewers roads, streets, buildings, 

houses, flats, shops and all other works erections and things of any description whatsoever either upon the 

lands acquired by the Company or upon other lands. 

To establish maintain and operate air transport services, public and private joy flights and all trips of all 

kinds and all ancillary services and to carry on the business of flying instructors aerial photographers, crop 

sprayers and all other services for which aircraft can be used and for these purposes or as independent 

undertakings to purchase take in exchange charter hire build construct or otherwise acquire and own work 

manage and trade with aircraft and all necessary and convenient equipment therefor engines gear furniture 

and stores or any shares or interest in aircraft including shares stocks or securities in companies possessed 

of or interested in any aircraft and to maintain, fit out, improve insure, alter, sell exchange or let out on hire 

purchase or charter or otherwise deal with and dispose of the aircraft equipment engines gear furniture 

stores shares stock and securities of the Company. 

To carry on the business of proprietors manufacturers and hirers of vehicles of all kinds whatsoever 

propelled and whether for use on land water or in the air including motor omnibuses, motorcars, motor 

vans, motor lorries, carts, motor cycles and aircraft of every description. 

To carry on the business of garage proprietors dealers in repairers, cleaners, storers and warehousers of 

omnibuses, cars, vans, lorries and cycles, aircraft, tractors and trailers road making and repairing. 

To give instructions in all aviation matters and ·the use of any of the machines connected therewith and to 

provide all and any facilities for such instructions, training of pilots, engineers, air traffic controllers, 

navigators, transport economists, ground and other crew and all other personnel connected with or who 

are deemed necessary for the carrying on of the business authorized by the Memorandum of Association 

of the Company. 

To operate motor ship and aircraft transport of all kinds including the leasing hiring or chartering for any 

period or number of journeys of aeroplanes, cars, trucks, ships, or any other kind of vehicles. 

To carry on the business of importers and exporters of all kinds and classes of goods, materials and 

merchandise manufacturers and distributors representatives marketing agents salesmen brokers 

auctioneers commission agents land and estate tourist travel commercial and financial agents charterer of 



 

ships and other vessels warehousemen wharfingers merchants carriers of goods clearing and forwarding 

agents and transport and management consultants and transport contractors by land sea and air. 

To carry on the business as tourist agents and contractors a travel agency and to facilitate travelling and 

to provide for tourists and travellers and to promote the provision of conveniences of all kinds in the way of 

through tickets sleeping cars or berths reserved places hotel and lodging accommodation guides safe 

deposits inquiry bureau libraries lavatories reading rooms baggage transport and to fit out organize and 

conduct hunting trips photographic and scientific expeditions with all necessary and useful equipment and 

conveniences and generally to do all such things as are connected and incidental to the business of tour 

operators and contractors. 

To provide and promote the provision of camps buildings and conveniences of all kinds for tourists and 

others including reserving and providing hotel messing and lodging accommodation guides safe deposits 

inquiry bureaux and reading rooms. 

To carry on business as hotel keepers lodging house and restaurant keepers transport agents and to act 

as insurance agents. 

To acquire by license or otherwise from any Government municipal or other public body or any person the 

right to maintain and operate air transport and any other services whether by air or land or by water. 

To establish depots and agencies in different parts of the world for the purposes of carrying on any or all 

of the business of the Company. 

To carry on the business of timber and lumber merchants, lumberyard and sawmill proprietors, and to buy, 

sell prepare for market, import export and deal in timber and articles of all kinds in the manufacture of which 

timber or wood is used. 

To carry on business and to act as general merchants traders commission agent or in any other capacity 

and to import export buy sell barter exchange manufacture make advances upon or otherwise deal in goods 

produce articles stores and merchandise of all kinds both wholesale and retail and to transact every kind 

of agency business. 

To construct garages and store houses and other buildings for the housing or repair of such vehicles the 

storage of fuel and other oils and substances required for the working of the said vehicles the warehousing 

of the goods carried and accommodation of the persons. 

To carry on the business of importers and dealers in fuel and other oil petroleum of every kind and the 

business of lubricating oils and all accessories required for the equipment and operations of the said 

vehicles. 

To purchase or otherwise acquire construct manufacture barter exchange sell equip maintain work run 

repair hire let or otherwise deal in buses motor coaches motor cars motor vans motor cycle's aircraft tractor 

trailers road-making and road-repairing machinery and equipment plant equipment and vehicles of every 

description vehicles bodies engines chassis machinery spare parts accessories and other specialized 

overland vehicles of all kinds, construction equipment chattels and things used for or in connection with 

any of the above purposes agricultural plant machinery and equipment of every description. 

To enter into contracts with any person or company as to interchange of traffic running powers or otherwise. 

To obtain all powers and authorities necessary to carry out or extend any of the above objects. 

To purchase or otherwise acquire any interest in any patents brevets invention licenses concessions and 

the like conferring exclusive or limited rights to the use of any secret or other information as to any invention 

in relation to the production treatment storage application distribution and use of drugs pharmaceutical 

and industrial chemicals compounds cement oils of all kinds of fats fatty acids esters glycerine and like 

paints pigments and varnishes agricultural chemicals fertilizers pesticides and the like soaps detergents 

toilet and beauty preparations photographic surgical and scientific materials and matters articles and 

commodities of industrial personal household use and consumption textiles and artificial fabrics of all kinds 

and of any apparatus thereof or generally by invention which may seem to the company capable of being 

profitably dealt with. 

To use exercise develop grant licenses in respect of or otherwise to turn into account any such patent, 

brevets invention licences concessions and the like and information aforesaid. 
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To carry on the business of soap manufacturers to buy sell manufacture refine prepare and deal in 

detergents toilet and beauty preparations of all kinds of oils and oleaginous and saponaceous substances 

and all kinds of unguents and ingredients and to carry on business as manufacturers collectors of flowers 

and perfume-producing vegetation. 

To carry on the business of manufacturers’ processors stores distributors and dealers of and in drugs 

pharmaceuticals and industrial chemicals compounds cements pigments dyeware varnishes agricultural 

chemicals fertilizers fungicides and the like, photographic surgical materials and matters articles and 

commodities of industrial personal and household use and consumption. 

To carry on the business of weaving clothing material piece goods and fabrics from grey bleached or dyed 

yarns and threads of cotton silk linen wool mohair rayon terylene dacron or any other vegetable animal 

mineral or manmade synthetic fibre or fibres or mixtures thereof bleaching dyeing printing processing 

starching finishing ironing and making up of the same or any other clothing material piece goods and fabrics 

making up or weaving apparel garments and any other articles from the said or any other clothing materials 

piece goods and fabrics and dealing in marketing and selling the said or any other clothing material piece 

goods fabrics weaving apparel garments and articles. 

To carry on the business as manufacturers of and dealers in grey bleached or dyed fibres of vegetable 

animal mineral or man-made synthetic origin made by mechanical chemical or any other process. 

To carry on business as drapers and hosiers fashion artists or dress agents tailors dressmakers clothiers 

hatters glovers boot and shoe manufacturers rug and mat manufacturers feather and down purifiers and 

manufacturers embroiderers hemstitchers platters knitters lacemakers costumiers furriers haberdashers 

pelmet makers stencillers painters dyers cleaners and renovators men's children's and school outfitters 

naval military tropical and other outfitters engineers electricians wool and metal workers ironmongers and 

hardware dealers goldsmiths silversmiths watchmakers and jewellers electroplaters and fancy goods 

dealers and depository proprietors railway coach shipping and forwarding agents theatre, and 

entertainment agents bankers money changers and upholsterers house' office and shop furniture outfitters 

general warehousemen and shopkeepers. 

To carry on the business as manufacturers of and dealers in cloth leather cotton wadding down feather 

goods linen silk and textiles and fabrics generally tapestry needlework neckwear ties scarves veils tinsel 

fabrics and threads and all articles of wearing attire or personal household use or ornament. 

To carry on the business as manufacturers of and dealers in boxes trunks suitcases handbags 

portmanteaux and other carriers glass china porcelain cutlery picture framers cardboard mounts hair and 

cloth brushes combs toilette and manicure sets and cases games toys photo frames medals badges 

trophies presentation goods smailware fancy paper and similar goods. 

To carry on the business of dealers in hardware and machinery and electrical operators appliances and 

things and all kinds of things mechanical plant and tools and spare parts of motor cars lorries and all types 

of engines. 

To raise and borrow money by the issue of shares, stock, debentures, debenture stock, bonds, 

obligations, deposit, notes and otherwise howsoever. 

To carry on all or any business of manufacturers of and dealers and workers in cement lime plasters whiting, 

clay gravel sand minerals earth coke fuel artificial stone and builder's requisites truck owners quarry owners 

general contractors and carriers garage and petrol service station proprietors. 

To carry on any other business whether mercantile agricultural manufacturing constructional or otherwise 

which may seem to the Company capable of being conveniently carried on in connection with the objects 

herein contained or calculated directly or indirectly to enhance the value of or render more profitable any 

of the' Company's property or rights. 

To carry on the business of manufacturers and manufacturer's representatives which may seem to the 

Company capable of being conveniently, carried on or calculated directly or indirectly to enhance the value 

of or tender more profitable any of the Company's property. 



 

To act as agents or brokers and as trustees for any person firm or company and to undertake and perform 

sub-contracts and also to act in any of the business of the Company through or by means of agents brokers 

sub-contractors or otherwise. 

To invest and deal with monies of the Company not immediately required in such shares or upon such 

securities and in such manner as may from time to time be determined. 

To borrow or raise money in such manner as the Company shall think fit and in particular by the issue of 

debentures debenture stock perpetual or otherwise and to secure the payment of any money borrowed or 

raised or owing by the mortgage charge or lien upon the whole or any part of the Company's property or 

assets whether present or future including its uncalled capital and also by a similar mortgage charge or lien 

to secure and guarantee the performance by the Company or any obligation or liability it may undertake. 

To purchase take on lease or in exchange or otherwise acquire buildings and to develop and turn to account 

the same in any manner and to advance money to or enter into contracts and arrangements of all kinds 

with the builders tenants and others. 

To vary the investments of the Company. 

To re-issue any stock or Shares or other securities with or without the guarantee of the Company. 

To acquire and undertake the whole or any part of the goodwill and assets of any person firm or Company 

carrying on or proposing to carry on any of the businesses which the Company is authorized to carry on 

and as part of the consideration of such acquisition to undertake all or any of the liabilities of such person 

firm or company or to acquire an interest in amalgamate with or enter into partnership or into any 

arrangement for sharing profits or for co-operation or for limiting competition or for mutual assistance with 

such person firm or company and to give or accept by way of consideration for any of the acts or things 

aforesaid or property acquired any shares debentures debenture stock or securities and to retain or sell 

mortgages and deal with any shares debenture stock or securities so received. 

To promote any other company for the purpose of acquiring the whole or any part of the business or 

property and undertake any of the liabilities of this company or for undertaking any business or operations 

which may appear likely to assist or benefit this company or'to enhance the value of any property or 

business of this company and to place or guarantee the placing of or underwrite subscribe for or otherwise 

acquire all or any part of the shares or securities of any such company as aforesaid. 

To enter into any arrangements with any Government or Authorities (Supreme Municipal Local or 

otherwise) or any companies firms or persons that may seem conducive to the attainment of the Company's 

objects or any of them and to obtain from any such government authority company firm or person any 

charters contracts decrees rights privilege e and concessions which the Company may think desirable and 

to carry out exercise and comply with any such charters contracts decrees rights privileges and 

concessions. 

To enter into working arrangements of all kinds (including joining in a cooperative arrangement) with other 

companies, corporations, firms or persons and also to make and carry into effect arrangements with respect 

to union of interests or amalgamation either in whole or in part or any other arrangements with other 

companies, corporations, firms or persons. 

To accept any composition scheme or any securities for any debt or property claimed and to allow any time 

for payment of any debt and to compromise abandon compound or submit to arbitration or otherwise settle 

any debt account claim or thing. 

To sell mortgage improve manage develop turn to account exchange let rent and grant licenses easements 

or otherwise rights in respect of and in any other manner deal with or dispose of the undertaking or the 

property for the time being of the company for any consideration whether in cash or shares (fully or partly 

paid) debentures debenture stock or other interest in securities of any company or otherwise. 

To sell or otherwise dispose of the whole of any part of the business or property of the Company either 

together or in portions for such consideration as the Company may think fit and in particular for shares 

debentures or securities of any company purchasing the same. 

To advertise all or any of the products or goods of the Company in any way that maybe thought advisable. 

To establish and support or aid in the establishment and support of associations institutions funds trusts 

and conveniences calculated to benefit employees or ex-employees of the Company or the dependents or 

connections  of  such persons and to grant  pensions  and  allowances  and  to  make payments  towards 
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insurance and to subscribe or guarantee attorney for charitable or benevolent objects or for any public 

general useful objects. 

To give as charity to any person from or institution in any part of the world any reasonable sum of money 

for the purpose of doing good to humanity at large. 

To remunerate any person firm or Company rendering services to this Company either by cash payment 

or by allotment to him or them of shares or securities of the company credited as paid up in full or in part 

or otherwise as may be thought expedient. 

To distribute among the members of the Company in kind any property of the Company and in particular 

any shares debentures or securities of other companies belonging to this Company or of which this 

Company may have the power of disposing. 

To pay all or any expenses incurred in connection with the promotion formation and incorporation of the 

company or to contract with any person firm or company to pay the same and to pay commission to brokers 

and others for underwriting placing selling or guaranteeing the subscription of any shares debentures 

debenture stock or securities of this Company procure the Company to be registered in any part of the 

world or to take such other steps as may be  necessary to  give the Company as far as possible the  

same rights and privileges in any part of the world as are possessed by companies or partnerships of a like 

character elsewhere. 

To carry on all such businesses which may be similar to any of the businesses specified in the foregoing 

sub-clauses. 

To distribute any of the property of the Company in specie among the members. 

To do all such other things as are incidental or conducive to the attainment of the above objects. 

 

 
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION OF VOLT GRAPHITE TANZANIA PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY 

 

 
RIGHTS, PREFERENCES AND RESTRICTIONS ON SHARES AND DEBENTURES AND CHANGES TO 

RIGHTS 

 

 
The Company is a public company and accordingly has the right to transfer any shares of the Company is 

not restricted and any invitation to the public to subscribe for any shares or debentures of the Company is 

not prohibited. 

 
 

SHARES 
 
 

The Share capital of the Company is Shillings One Hundred Billion Only (Shs 100,000,000,000/=) divided 

into One Hundred Million (100,000 ,000) Ordinary Shares of Shillings One Thousand (Shs. 1,000/=) each 

with such rights privileges or conditions as may be determined by or in accordance with the regulations of 

the Company, and to vary modify or abrogate any such rights privileges or conditions in such manner as 

may for the time being be provided by the regulations of the Company. 

 
 

Subject to the provisions, if any, in that behalf of the Memorandum of Association, and without prejudice to 

any special rights previously conferred on the holders of existing shares, any share may be issued with 

such preferred, deferred or other special rights or such restrictions whether in regard to dividend, voting, 

return of share capital or otherwise, as the Company may from time to time by special resolution determine, 

and any preference share may, with the sanction of a special resolution, be issued on the terms that it is 

or at the option of the Company is liable to be redeemed. 



 

(1) If at any time the share capital is divided into different classes of shares, the rights attached to any 

class may be varied with the sanction of an extraordinary resolution passed at a separate general meeting 

of the holders of the shares of that class. 

 
 

(2) In every  such  separate  general  meeting  the  provisions of these Regulations relating to 

general meeting should mutatis mutandis apply, but so that the necessary quorum shall be two persons at 

least holding or representing by proxy seventy-five percent of the issued shares of that class, and that any 

holder or shares of the class present in person or by proxy may demand a poll. 

 
 

For the purpose of this Article, the rights conferred upon the holders of the shares of any class issued with 

preferred or other rights shall not, unless otherwise expressly provided terms of issue of the shares of that 

class be deemed to be varied by the creation or issue of further shares ranking pari passu therewith. 

 
 

The Directors may allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company in payment or part payment for any 

property sold or transferred, goods or machinery supplied, or for service rendered to the Company in the 

conduct of its business as fully paid-up shares and if so issued, shall be deemed to be fully paid up. 

 
 

Every person whose name is registered as a member on the register of members shall, without payment, 

be entitled to a certificate under the Seal of the Company specifying the share or shares held by him and 

the amount paid up thereon, provided that in respect of a share or shares held jointly by several persons 

the Company shall not be bound to issue more than one certificate and delivery of a certificate for a share 

to one of several joint holders shall be sufficient delivery to all. 

 
 

No person shall exercise any rights or privileges of a member until he shall have paid all calls and other 

moneys for the time being due on every share held by him. 

 
 

If a share certificate is defected, lost or destroyed, it may be renewed on payment of such fee, if any, not 

exceeding one shilling, and on such terms, if any, as to evidence and indemnity, as the Directors think fit. 

 
 

No part of the funds of the Company shall directly or indirectly be employed in the purchase of, or in loans 

upon the security of, the Company's shares, but nothing in this regulation shall prohibit transactions 

mentioned in the Act. 

 
 

The Company shall be entitled to treat the person whose name appears upon the register in respect of any 

shares as the absolute owner thereof and shall not be under any obligation to recognize any trust or equity 

or equitable claim to or partial interest in such shares whether or not it shall have express or other notice 

thereof. 

 
 

The Company shall have a lien on every share for all money (whether presently payable or not) called or 

payable at a fixed time in respect of that share, and the Company shall also have a lien on all shares 

standing registered in the name of a single person for all moneys presently payable by him or his estate to 

the Company but the Directors may at any time declare any share to be wholly or in part exempt from the 

provisions of this regulation. The Company's lien, if any, on a share shall extend to all dividends payable. 

 
 

The Company may sell, subject to the provisions on forfeiture of shares, in such manner as the Directors 

think fit, any shares on which the Company has a lien, but no sale shall be made unless some sum in 

respect of which the lien exists is presently payable, nor until the expiration of fourteen days after a notice 

in writing, starting and demanding payment of such part of the amount in respect of which the lien exists 
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as is presently payable, has been given to the registered holder for the time being of the share, or the, 

person entitled thereto by reason of his death or bankruptcy. 

For giving effect to any such sale the Directors may authorize some person to transfer the shares sold to 

the purchaser thereof. The purchaser shall be registered as the holder of the shares comprised in any such 

transfer and he shall not be bound to see the application of the purchase money, nor shall his title to the 

shares be affected by any irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings in reference to the sale. 

 
 

The proceeds of the sale shall be received by the Company and applied in payment of such part of the 

amount in respect of which the lien exists as is presently payable, and the residue shall (subject to a like 

lien for sums not presently payable as existed upon the shares prior to the sale) be paid to the person 

entitled to the shares at the date of the sale. 

 
 

CALLS ON SHARES 
 
 

The Directors may, subject to any conditions of allotment from time to time make calls upon the members 

in respect of any moneys unpaid on their shares whether on account of the nominal value of the (shares 

or by way of premium) provided that except as otherwise fixed by the conditions of allotment) no call on 

any share shall be payable at less than thirty days from the date appointment for payment of the last 

preceding call, and each member shall (subject to being given at least three weeks' notice specifying the 

time or times and place of payment) pay to the Company at the time or times and place so specified the 

amount called on his shares. 

 
 

The joint holders of a share shall be jointly and severally liable to pay all calls in respect thereof. 

 

 
If a sum called in respect of a share is not paid before or on the day appointed for payment, the person 

from whom the sum is due shall pay interest upon the sum at the rate of eight per centum per annum from 

the day appointed for the payment thereof to the time of the actual payment, but the Directors shall be at 

liberty to waive payment of that interest wholly or in part. 

 
 

The provisions of these regulations as to the liability of joint holders and as to payment of interest shall 

apply in the case of non-payment of any sum which, by the terms of issue or a share, becomes payable at 

a fixed time, whether on account of the amount of the share, by way of premium, as if the same had become 

payable by virtue of a call duly made and notified. 

 
 

The Directors may, if they think fit receive from any member willing to advance the same all or any part of 

the money unpaid upon the shares held by him beyond the sums actually called upon thereon as a 

payments in advance of call which shall extinguish, so far as the same shall extend liability upon the shares 

in respect of which it is advanced and the Company may pay interest upon the money received or so much 

thereof as from time to time exceeds the amount of the calls then made upon the shares in respect of 

which.it has been received at such rate as the member paying such sum and the Directors agree. 

 
 

TRANSFER AND TRANSMISSION OF SHARES 
 
 

The instrument of transfer of any share shall be executed by or on behalf of the transferor and transferee, 

and the transferor shall be deemed to remain a holder of the share until the name of the transferee is 

entered in the register of members in respect thereof. 



 

Shares shall be transferred in the following form, or in any usual or common form which the Directors shall 

approve: 

 
 

"I, A.B. of. .. .... .. ........ .. .. .. .. ... ...... ., in Shs. .. .. .. .. ... .. .. .. ..... .... .... .. .. .. paid to me 

consideration of by C.D. of ........................................... (hereinafter called "the said transferee") do 

hereby transfer  to  the said  transferee the share (or shares)  numbered  in the undertaking called  ...   ... 

.......... ........ .. ... ....... to hold unto the said transferee, subject to the several conditions on which I hold the 

same; and I, the  said transferee, do  hereby agree to  take  the' said aforesaid 

 
 

As witness  our hands  set below  Witness  to the signatures of, etc." 

 

 
The Directors may in their absolute discretion decline to register any transfer of shares to a person of whom 

they do not approve not being already a member of the Company and may also decline to register any 

transfer to shares on which the Company has a lien. The Directors may also suspend the registration of 

transfer during the fourteen days immediately preceding the ordinary general meeting in each year. The 

Directors may decline to recognize any instrument of transfer unless: 

 
 

a fee-note exceeding two shillings is paid to the :Company in respect thereof, and 

the instrument of transfer is accompanied by the certificate of the shares to which it relates, and such 

other evidence as the Directors may reasonably require to show the right of the transferor to make the 

transfer. 

If the Directors refuse to register a transfer of any shares they shall within two months after the date on 

which the transfer was lodged with the Company send to the transferee notice of the refusal. 

 
 

The legal personal representatives of a deceased sole holder of a share shall be the only person recognised 

by the Company as having any title to the share. In the case of a share registered in the names of two or 

more holders, the survivors or survivor or the legal personal representatives of the deceased's survivor 

shall be the only persons recognized by the Company as having any title to the share. 

 
 

Any person becoming entitled to a share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of a member shall, 

upon such evidence being produced as may from time to time be properly required by the Directors, have 

the right, either to be registered as a member in respect of the share or, instead of being registered himself, 

to make such transfer of the share as the deceased or bankrupt person could have made, but the Directors 

shall, in either case, have the same fright to decline or suspend registration as they would have had in the 

case of transfer of the share by the deceased or bankrupt person before the death or bankruptcy. 

 
 

A person becoming entitled to a share by reason of th death or bankruptcy of the holder shall be entitled to 

the same dividends and other advantages to which he would be entitled to were he the registered holder 

of the share, except that he shall not, before being registered as a member in respect of the share, be 

entitled in respect of it to exercise any right conferred by membership in relation to meetings of the 

Company. 

 
 

Save as hereinafter provided, no shares in the Company shall be transferred otherwise than to a person 

who is already a member of the Company until the rights of pre-emption hereby conferred, shall have been 

exhausted that it to say: 

 
 

Every member or other person referred to in Article 26 who intends to transfer shares (hereinafter called 

the Vendor) shall ,give notice in writing to the Board of his intention so to do. Such notice shall constitute 

the Board his agent for the sale of the said shares in one or more lots at the discretion of the Board to 
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members of the Company at a price to be agreed upon by the Vendor and the Board, or in default of 

agreement, at a price which the Auditor of the Company for the time being shall certify by writing, under his 

hand, to be in his opinion, the fair selling value thereof as between a willing Vendor and willing purchaser. 

Upon the price being fixed as aforesaid the Board shall forthwith give notice to all the members of the 

Company of the number and price of the shares to be sold and invite each of them to state in writing within 

thirty days from the date of the said notice whether he is willing to purchase any, and if so, what maximum 

number of the said shares. 

At the expiration of the said thirty days the Board shall allocate the said shares to or amongst the members 

or member who shall have expressed his or their willingness to purchase as aforesaid and (if more than 

one) so far as may be pro rata according to the number of shares already held by them respectively 

PROVIDED THAT no member shall be obliged to take more than the said maximum number of shares so 

notified by him as aforesaid. 

Upon such allocation being made the Vendor shall be bound on payment of the said price to transfer the 

shares to the Purchaser or purchasers. If he makes default in so doing the Chairman for the time being of 

the Directors of the Company or failing him one of the Directors duly nominated by resolution of the Board 

for that purpose shall forthwith be deemed to be duly appointed attorney of the Vendor, with full power to 

execute, complete and deliver in the name and on behalf of the vendor a transfer of the shares to the 

purchasing member and the Board may receive and give a good discharge for the Purchase money on 

behalf of the Vendor and enter the name of the purchaser in the register of members as holder by transfer 

of the shares purchased by him. 

In the event of the whole or any lot of shares offered through the Board as provided by this article not being 

sold in the manner by this article provided the Vendor may at any time within six calendar months after the 

expiration of the said period of thirty days after the date of the notice given by the Board to the members 

transfer the shares not so sold to any person (subject to article 24) and at any price. 

 
 

FORFEITURE OF SHARES 
 
 

If a member fails to pay any call or instalment of a call on the day appointed for payment thereof, the 

Directors may, at any time thereafter during such time as any part of such call or instalment remains unpaid 

serve a notice on him requiring payment of so much of the call or instalment as is unpaid, together with any 

interest which may have accrued. 

 
 

The notice shall name a further day (not earlier than the expiration of three weeks from the date of the 

notice) on or before which the payment required by the notice is to be made, and shall state that in the 

event of non-payment at or before the time appointed the shares in respect of which the call was made will 

be liable to be forfeited. 

 
 

If the requirements of such notice as aforesaid are not complied with, any share in respect of which the 

notice has been given may at any time hereafter before the payment required by the notice has been made 

be forfeited by a resolution of the Directors to that effect. Such forfeiture shall include all dividends declared 

in respect of the forfeited shares not actually paid before the forfeiture. 

 
 

A forfeited share may be sold or otherwise disposed of on such terms and in such manner as the Directors 

think fit, and at any time before a sale or disposition the forfeiture may be cancelled on such terms as the 

Directors think fit. 

 
 

A person whose shares have been forfeited shall cease to be a member in respect of the forfeited shares, 

but shall, notwithstanding, remain liable to pay to the Company all moneys which, at the date of forfeiture, 



 

were presently payable by him to the Company in respect of the shares, but his liability shall cease if and 

when the Company receives payment in full of the nominal amount of the shares. 

 
 

A Statutory Declaration in writing that the declarant is a Director of the Company and that a share in the 

Company has been duly forfeited on a date stated in the declaration shall be conclusive evidence of the 

facts therein stated as against all persons claiming to be entitled to the share. The Company may receive 

the consideration, if any given for the share on any sale or disposition thereof and may execute a transfer 

of the share in favour of the person to whom the share is sold or disposed of and he shall thereupon be 

registered as the holder of the share and shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase 

money, if any, nor shall his title to the share be affected by any irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings 

in reference to the forfeiture, sale or disposal of the share. 

 
 

The provisions of these regulations as to forfeiture shall apply in the case of non-payment of any sum 

which, by the terms of issue of a share, becomes payable at a fixed time, whether in account of the amount 

of the share, or by way of premium, as if the same had been payable by virtue of all calls duly made and 

notified. 

 
 

CONVERSION OF SHARES INTO STOCK 
 
 

The Company may by ordinary resolution convert any paid-up shares into stock, and reconvert any stock 

into paid-up shares of any denomination. 

 
 

The holders of stock may transfer the same, or any part thereof, in the same manner, and subject to the 

same regulations, as, and, subject to which, the shares from which the stock arose might previous to 

conversion have been transferred, or as near thereto as circumstances admit but the directors may from 

time to time fix the minimum amount of stock transferable, and restrict or forbid the transfer of fractions of 

the minimum, but the minimum shall not exceed the nominal amount of the shares from which the stock 

arose. 

 
 

The holders of stock shall, according, to the amount of stock held by them, have the same rights, privileges 

and advantages as regards dividends, voting at meetings of the Company and other matters as if they held 

the shares from which the stock arose, but no privilege or advantage (except participation in the dividends 

and profits of the Company) shall be conferred by any such a liquor part of the stock as would not if existing 

in shares, have conferred that privilege or advantage. 

 
 

Such of the regulations of the Company as are applicable to paid-up shares shall apply to stock, and the 

words "share" and "shareholder" therein shall include "stock" and "stockholder". 

 
 

ALTERATION OF CAPITAL 
 
 

The Company may from time to time by special resolution increase the share capital by such sum, to be 

divided into shares of such amount, as the resolution shall prescribe. 

 
 

Subject to any direction to the contrary that may be given by the Company by special resolution in general 

meeting all new shares shall, before issue be offered to such persons as at the date of the offer are entitled 

to receive notices from the Company of general meetings in proportion, as nearly as the circumstances 

admit, to the amount of the existing shares to which they are entitled. The offer shall be made by notice 

specifying the number of shares offered, and limiting a time within which the offer, if not accepted, will be 

deemed to be declined, and after the expiration of that time, or on the receipt of an intimation from the 
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person to whom the offer is made that he declines to the shares offered, the Directors may dispose of those 

shares in such manner as they think most beneficial to the Company. The Directors may likewise so 

dispose of any new shares which (by reason of the ratio which the new shares bear to shares held by 

persons entitled to an offer of new shares) cannot in the opinion of the Directors, be conveniently offered 

under this article. 

The new shares shall be subject to the same provisions with reference to the payment of calls, lien, transfer, 

transmission, forfeiture and otherwise as the shares in the original share capital. 

The Company may by ordinary resolution: 

 

 
consolidate and divide all or any of its share capital into shares of a larger amount than its existing shares; 

sub-divide its existing shares or any of them, into shares of a smaller amount than is fixed by the 

Memorandum of Association subject, nevertheless to the provisions of the Act; 

cancel any shares which, at the date of the passing of the resolution have not been taken or agreed to be 

taken by any person. 

The Company may, by special resolution, reduce its share capital and any capital redemption reserve fund 

in any manner and with, and subject to, any incident authorised and consent required, by law. 

 
 

GENERAL MEETINGS 
 
 

A general meeting shall be held once in every calendar year at such time (not being more than fifteen 

months after the holding of the last preceding general meeting) and place as may be determined by the 

Directors. In default of a general meeting so held a general meeting may be convened by any one member 

in the same manner as nearly as possible as that in which meetings are to be convened by the Directors. 

 
 

All such general meetings shall be called Annual General Meetings and all other general meetings shall be 

called Extraordinary General Meetings. 

 
 

The Directors may, whenever they think fit, convene an Extraordinary General Meeting and Extraordinary 

General Meetings shall also be convened on such requisition or, in default, may be convened by such 

requisitionists as provided by section 114 of the Companies Act. If at any time there are not within Tanzania 

sufficient Directors capable of acting to form a quorum, any Director or any one member of the Company 

convene an Extraordinary General Meeting in the same manner as nearly as possible as that in which 

meetings may be convened by the Directors. 

 
 

 
NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETINGS 

 
 

Subject to the provisions of the Act relating to special resolutions, three weeks' notice at the least (exclusive 

of the day on which the notice is served or deemed to be served by inclusive of the day for which notice is 

given) specifying the place, the day and the hour of meeting and, in case of special business, the general 

business, the general nature of that business shall be given in manner hereinafter mentioned, or in such 

other manner if any, as may be prescribed by the Company in general meeting, to such persons, as are 

under the regulations of the Company entitled.to receive such notices from the Company but with the 

Consent of all the members entitled to receive notice of some particular meeting that meeting may be 

convened by such shorter notice and in such manner as those members may think fit. 



PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETINGS 
 

 
 

All business transacted at any general meeting shall be deemed special with the exception of the 

consideration of the accounts, balance sheet and the ordinary report of the Directors and Auditors. 

 
 

No business shall be transacted at any general meeting or any adjournment thereof unless a quorum of 

members is present when the meeting proceeds to business. A quorum shall be constituted when two 

members are present in person or by proxy and hold not less than seventy-five percent of the issued share 

capital entitled to vote on the matters therein presented. 

 
 

If within half an hour from the time appointed for the meeting a quorum is not present, the meeting, if 

convened upon the request of members, shall be dissolved in any other case, it shall be adjourned to the 

same day in the next week, at the same time and place, and if at the adjourned meeting a quorum (as 

defined in article 50), is not present within half an hour from the time appointed for the meeting the meeting 

shall be dissolved. 

 
 

No resolution, whether special or extraordinary, shall be carried as being passed at any general meeting 

or any adjournment thereof, unless the said resolutions received the affirmative vote of not less than 

seventy-five percent of the shares of such members as, being entitled to do so, vote in person or by proxy 

at a general meeting of which notice specifying the intention to propose the resolution as special or 

extraordinary has been duly given. 

 
 

The Chairman, if any, of the Board of Directors shall preside as Chairman at every general meeting of the 

Company. 

 
 

If there is no such Chairman or if at any meeting he is not present within fifteen minutes after the time 

appointed for holding the meeting or is unwilling to act as Chairman, the members present shall choose 

someone of their number to be the Chairman. 

 
 

The Chairman may, with the consent of any meeting at which a quorum is present (and shall if so directed 

by the meeting) adjourn the meeting from time to time and from place to-place, but no business shall be 

transacted at any adjourned meeting other than the business left unfinished at the meeting from which the 

adjournment took place. When a meeting is adjourned for ten days or more, notice of the adjourned meeting 

shall be given as in the case of an original meeting. Save as aforesaid it shall not be necessary to give any 

notice of an adjournment or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned Meeting, 

 
 

At any general meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a show of hands, 

unless a poll is (before or on the declaration of the result of the show of hands) demanded by at least one 

member present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote. Unless a poll is so demanded, a declaration by 

the Chairman that the resolution has, on a show of hands, been carried or carried unanimously or by a 

particular majority, or lost, and an entry to that effect in the minute book shall be conclusive evidence of 

the fact. 

 
 

If a poll is duly demanded, it shall be taken in such manner as the Chairman directs, and the result of the 

poll shall be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting at which the poll was demanded. 

 
 

In the case of an equality of votes, whether on a show of hands or on a poll, the Chairman of the meeting 

at which the show of hands takes place or at which the poll is demanded, shall be entitled to a second or 

casting vote. 
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A poll demanded on the election of a Chairman or on a question of adjournment shall be taken forthwith. A 

poll demanded on any other question shall be taken at such time as the Chairman of the meeting directs. 

 
 

VOTES OF MEMBERS 
 
 

Subject to any rights or restrictions for the time being attached to any class or classes of shares, on a show 

of hands every member present in person shall have one vote. On a poll every member shall have one 

vote each share of which he is the holder. 

 
 

In case of joint holders the vote of the senior who tenders a vote whether in person or by proxy, shall be 

accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders and for this purpose seniority shall be 

determined by the order in which the names stand in the register of members. 

 
 

A member of unsound mind, or in respect of whom an order has been made by any court having jurisdiction 

in lunacy, may vote, whether on a show of hands or on a poll, by his committee or other legal guardian 

appointed by the court, and any such committee or other legal guardian may, on a poll, vote by proxy. 

 
 

On a poll votes may be given either personally or by proxy, provided that no company shall vote by proxy 

unless a resolution of its Directors in accordance with the provisions of section 139 and 140 of the Act is in 

force. 

 
 

The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or his attorney duly 

authorised in writing, or, if the appointor is a corporation, either under seal, or under the hands of an officer 

or attorney duly authorised. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. 

 
 

The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is 

signed or a naturally certified· copy of that power or authority shall be deposited at the registered office of 

the Company not less than twenty-four hours before the time for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting, 

at which the .person named in the instrument proposes to vote, and in default the instrument of proxy shall 

not be treated as valid. 

 
 

Any instrument appointing a proxy may be in the following form, or any other form which the Directors shall 

approve: 

 
 

"I, . .... . .... ...... ........ .. .. ... . ... ... .... ... ... .. .. of ... .. ... ............ ........ .. .. ....... .... ... 

being a member of a 

.................. ...... ..... ......... ..... ..... ....... ........ ........... ... ..... ... hereby appoint 

....... ........ .... .... ...........  ........ .... ..............  ... .. ........... ........................ of 

. ... .. .. ....... .... ....... .................... .... as my proxy, to vote for me and on my behalf at the (ordinary or 

extraordinary as the case may be) general meeting of the company  to  be  held ....................................... 

on the 

.................... day of ........................................ 20...., and at any 

adjournment thereof. 



Signed this ........ .................... ....... day of ............ ....... ... ........ .... 20.. . 
 

 
 

The instrument appointing a proxy shall be deemed to confer authority to demand or join in demanding a 

poll. 

 
 

 
CORPORATIONS ACTING BY REPRESENTATIVES AT MEETINGS 

 
 

Any corporation which is a member of the Company may by resolution of its Directors or other governing 

body authorised such person as it thinks fit to act as its representatives at any meeting other company or 

of any class of members of the Company, and the person authorised shall be entitled to exercise the same 

powers on behalf of the corporation which he represents as that corporation could exercise if it were an 

individual member of the Company. 

 
 

DIRECTORS 
 
 

Every such member or members may at any time remove from office and Directors appointed or removal 

shall be effected by notice in writing signed by the member or members making the same or, in the case 

of a member being a Corporation signed by any of its Directors or other Authorised officer on its behalf, 

and shall take effect upon lodgement at the registered office. 

 
 

Unless otherwise directed in a general meeting, any member or members holding in the aggregate more 

than fifty percent (50%) in nominal value of the issued shares of the Company may nominate as Chairman 

of the Board of Directors, one of the Directors appointed under this Article. 

 
 

A Director may resign from office upon giving one month's notice in writing to the company of his intention 

so to do, and such resignation shall take effect upon the expiration of such notice or its earlier acceptance 

by the Board of Directors. 

 
 

(1) The remuneration of the Directors shall from time to time be determined by the Company in General 

Meeting. 

 
 

(2) In addition to their usual remuneration the Directors shall, subject to the approval of the whole 

Board of Directors, also be paid such traveling, hotel and other expenses as may reasonably be incurred 

by them in the exercise of their duties, including any such expenses incurred in connection with their 

attendance at meetings of Directors. 

 
 

Any Director may at any time appoint any person to be an alternate Director of the Company, with powers 

which may be limited by the Director, and may at any time remove any alternate Director so appointed from 

office, and, appoint another person in his place. An alternate Director shall (subject to his giving to the 

Company an address at which notices may be served on him) be entitled to receive notices of all meetings 

of the Directors, and to attend and vote as a Director at any meetings at which the Director appointing him 

is not personally present and generally' to perform all the functions of his appointer as a Director in the 

absence of such appointer. An alternate Director shall ipso facto cease to be an alternate Director if his 

appointer ceases for any reason to be a Director. All appointments and removals of alternate Directors 

shall be effected by notice in writing under the hand of the Directors or by cable, making or revoking such 

appointment sent to or left at the registered office. An alternate Director shall be an officer of the Company 
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and shall alone be responsible to the Company for his own acts and defaults and he shall not be deemed 

to be the agent of or for the Director appointing him. The remuneration of any such alternate Director shall 

be payable out of the remuneration payable to the Director appoint him and shall consist of such part (if 

any) of the last mentioned remuneration as shall be agreed between the alternate Director and the Director 

appointing him. Any Director or alternate Director may, in addition to his position as Director or alternate 

Director, be appointed as an alternate to or by any number of Directors. 

 
 

A Director and alternate Director shall not require a share qualification but nevertheless shall be entitled to 

attend and speak at any general meeting of the Company and at any separate meeting of the holders of 

any class of shares in the Company. 

 
 

The quorum necessary for the transaction of the business of the Directors shall be two. A resolution in 

writing signed by two Directors shall be as valid and effectual as if it had been passed at a meeting of the 

Directors duly called and constituted and may consists of several documents in the like form, each signed 

by one or more of the Directors hut so that the expression "Director" in this article shall not include an 

alternate Director other than an alternate Director appointed by a Director who at the date of the resolution 

is absent from Tanzania. 

 
 

Provided a Director declared his interest therein in manner provided by the Act he may vote as a Director 

in regard to any contract or arrangement in which he is interested or upon any matter arising thereout, and 

if he shall so vote his vote shall be counted in the quorum when any such contract or arrangement is under 

consideration. 

 
 

The Directors may exercise all of the powers of the Company with the exception of the following which shall 

require ratification by the Company in general meeting: 

 
 

(1) borrowing money in excess of shs. 100,000.000/=; 

(2) mortgaging or charging the Company's uncalled capital or any part thereof; 

(3) issuing debentures, debenture stock and other securities in excess of shs. 100,000,000/=, whether 

outright or as security for any debt liability or obligation of the Company or of any third party. 

 
 

The business of the Company shall be managed by the Directors who may pay all expenses incurred in 

getting up and registering the Company, and may exercise all such powers of the Company, as are not by 

the Act, or by these articles, required to be exercised by the Company in general meeting subject 

nevertheless to any regulation of these articles, to the provisions of the Act, and to such regulations, being 

not inconsistent with the aforesaid regulation or provisions, as may be prescribed by the Company in 

,general meeting shall invalidate any prior act of the Directors which would have been valid if that regulation 

had not been made. 

 
 

The Directors may from time to time appoint one or more of their body to the office of Managing Director 

or may appoint any person or body corporate to manage the Company for such term and at such 

remuneration (whether by way of salary or compassion, or participation in profits, or partly in one way and 

partly in another) as they may think fit. In the case of the appointment of a Managing Director such 

appointment shall be subject to determination ipso facto if he ceases from any cause to be a Director. 

 
 

The Directors shall cause minutes to be made in books provided for the purposes: 



(a) of all appointments of officers made by the Directors.; 
 

 
 

{b) of the names of the Directors present at each meeting of the Directors: 

 

 
(c) of all resolutions and proceedings at all meetings of the Company, and of the Directors; 

 

 
and every Director present at any meeting of Directors shall sign his name in a book to be kept for that 

purpose. 

 
 

 
DISQUALIFICATION OF DIRECTORS 

 
 

The Office of Director shall be vacated if the Director: 

 

 
(a) without the consent of the Company in general meeting holds any other office of profit under the 

Company except that of Managing Director or Manager, or 

(b) becomes bankrupt in this Territory or in any other territory which is declared to be a reciprocating 

territory under section 147 of the Bankruptcy Act or 

(c) becomes prohibited from being a Director by reason of any order made under any provision of the 

Act; or 

(d) if found lunatic or becomes of unsound mind; or 

(e) resigns his office by notice in writing to the Company; or 

(f) is punished with imprisonment for a term exceeding six months without the option of a fine. 

 

 
PROCEEDINGS OF DIRECTORS 

 
 

The Directors may meet, together, upon adequate notice duly given for the dispatch of business, adjourn 

and otherwise regulate their meetings as they think fit. Questions arising at any meeting shall, except as 

otherwise agreed from time to time by the members, be decided by a majority of votes. A Director may, 

and the secretary on the requisition of a Director shall at any time summon a meeting of the Directors. 

Adequate notice shall in all cases be that which is reasonably calculated to advise Directors whether within 

or without Tanzania of the proposed meeting. 

 
 

If at any time the Chairman is not present within five minutes after the time appointed for holding the same, 

the Directors present may choose one of their number to be Chair. 
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20 Documents Available for Inspection 

 

Copies of the following documents will be available for inspection by Prospective Investors at 

 

 
c/o GFin Corporate Services Ltd 

6th Floor, GFin Tower, 

42 Hotel Street, 

Ebene, 

Cybercity, Mauritius. 

 

 
• This Admission Document; 

• The Business Plan prepared by the Company and certified by an independent financial advisor; 

• The Constitution of the Issuer; and 

• The audited financial statements of the Issuer for the past three years. 

 
 

In addition, all documents relating to this issue will be available for viewing on the website of the Issuer at 

http://vgt.co.tz 

 
All documents will be published in English. 

http://vgt.co.tz/
http://vgt.co.tz/


 

Please complete all pages of this form in black ink using BLOCK letters. 

Mark appropriate boxes with a tick like the following 
Please ensure that this form is completed and all required documentation is provided. 

 
Notes to Applicants: 
In case of Individual - complete sections 1.1, 2.1, 2.2, 2.3, 3 
In case of Corporate/Societe/Trusts - complete sections 1.2, 2.1, 2.2, 2.3, 3 

Appendix 1: Note Application Form 
 
 

 

 

Part 1 - INVESTOR DETAILS 

 

1.1. Investor Details (Individual) 

 
INVESTOR INFORMATION 

 
 

SINGLE INVESTOR 

Title: Mr. Mrs. Miss 

Surname:…………………………………………………. 

First Name(s):…………………………………………… 

Maiden Name:…………………………………………. 

Marital Status: Single Married Divorced Widowed 

Date of Birth:…………………………………………… 

National Identity Card No.: ……………………………………………… 

OR Passport Number 

Passport Issuing Country: ………………………………………………… 

Passport Expiry Date: ………………………………………………………. 

Permanent Residential Address: 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

………………………………………………………………………………………………….…………………… 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

Mailing Address (if different): 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

………………………….…………………………………………………………………………………………… 

………………………………………………………………………………………………….…………………… 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
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Telephone (Home): ………………………………… 

Telephone (Office): ………………………………… 

Telephone (Mobile): …………………………………………………. 

E-mail address: ……………………………………………………………… 

 

JOINT INVESTOR 

Title: Mr. 

 

 Mrs. Miss 
 

Surname:………………………………………………… 

First Name(s):………………………………………….. 

Maiden Name:…………………………………………. 

Marital Status: 
 

Single Married Divorced Widowed 

Date of Birth:………………………………. 

National Identity Card No.: ……………………………………………… 

OR Passport Number 

Passport Issuing Country: ………………………………………………… 

Passport Expiry Date: ………………………………………………………. 

Permanent Residential Address: 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

Mailing Address (if different): 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

Telephone (Home): …………………………………………………….….. 

Telephone (Office): ………………………………………………………… 

Telephone (Mobile): …………………………………………………….…. 

E-mail address: …………………………………………………………..… 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

EMPLOYMENT DETAILS 



 

Employment Status (please tick) 
 

Employed Employer’s Name and Address 
……………………………………………………………………………… 
……………………………………………………………………………… 
………………………………………….. 

Self-Employed Business Sector if self-employed and Address 
……………………………………………………………………………… 
……………………………………………………………………………… 
…………………………………………… 

Retired 
 

 
Unemployed 

 

 
 
 
 

FINANCIAL DETAILS 

 

Gross Monthly Income (in ‘000 MUR) 

Source of Funds 

Salary 

Pension 

Interest 

Loan / Overdraft 

Rent 

Alimony 

Inheritance 

Insurance 
 

Lottery / Gambling 

Business Proceeds 

Gift 

Capital Gains 

Retirement Provision 

Compensation 

Dividends 

 

 
1.2. Investor Details (Corporate/ Trust/ Societe) 

 
Corporate Name: ………………………………………………………….. 

Incorporation/Registration No.: ……………………………………..…… 

Business Registration Number: …………………………………………. 

Country of Incorporation/Registration:………………………………….. 

Business Activity: ………………………………………………………… 

Place of Business (specify country): …………………………………… 

Registered 

Office:……………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

……….……………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
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Mailing Address (if different): 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

…………………………………………………………………………………………………….………………… 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

………………………………………………………. 

Telephone No.: ………………………………………………………… 

 
E-mail address: ………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

 

Part 2 - INVESTMENT DETAILS 

 

2.1. USD Notes 

 
 

 
Number of Notes applied for: 

 

…………………………………………………………………………….. 

 
Investment Amount (minimum 
USD 100,000): 

 

…………………………………………………………………………….. 

 

2.2. Payment details 

 
 

Account 
Name 

 

Bank Name  

Account 
Number 

     

IBAN      

SWIFT      

      

Currency      

      

 
CDS Account 

Number………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

(please state your CDS Account Number (or leave blank if you do not have one – see paragraph 3.7) 

and attach copy of the relevant CDS statement. 

 
Notes allocated to you will be credited to your CDS account. 

2.3. Applicant Bank Account Details 
 

This section is mandatory and should be completed by all applicants. 

 
Bank Name:  

Account Holder:  

Account Number:  

Currency:  



 

Subject to paragraph 3.7 this account shall be used for newly opened CDS accounts. Note that this 

same account shall be credited for refund of monies in case of oversubscription or cancellation of issue. 

 
Part 3 – REPRESENTATION, WARRANTIES AND DECLARATIONS 

 

3.1 I/We* the undersigned agree to purchase the above-mentioned Note(s) and I/We* agree to accept 

the same or lesser number of Notes that may be allocated to me/us* upon the terms and 

conditions of the Admission Document. 

 
3.2 I/We* hereby acknowledge that I/We* have received, read and understood the Admission 

Document and agree to be bound by the provisions contained therein and by the provisions of the 

Financial Intelligence and Anti-Money Laundering Act 2002, as may be amended from time to time. 

 
3.3 I/We* represent and warrant that I/We* have the necessary authority and power to purchase and 

hold the Notes in accordance with this application form and have taken all necessary corporate 

action, where necessary, to approve such purchase and to authorise the person(s) signing this 

application form to bind me/us* in accordance with the terms hereof. 

 
3.4 In accordance with anti-money laundering requirements, I/We* hereby consent to Volt Graphite 

Tanzania plc (the “Issuer”) issuer and/or GFin Corporate Services Ltd (the “SEM Authorised 

Representative”) making reasonable enquiries for the purpose of verifying the information 

disclosed herein and obtaining information about me/us*. I/We* certify that the monies being 

invested are not proceeds from illegal activities and that my/our investment is not designed to 

conceal such proceeds so as to avoid prosecution for an offence. 

 
3.5 I/We* undertake to promptly notify the Issuer of any change in the information and / or details 

submitted in this application. 

 
3.6 I/We further understand and agree that interest payments, redemption and / or maturity proceeds 

of the Notes shall be credited as per prevailing instructions on my CDS account. 

 
3.7 I/We* understand that if a CDS account number is not specified in paragraph 2.2 above or if the 

corresponding CDS statement is not attached to this application, by signing this application form, 

I/We* am/are* expressly authorising the SEM Authorised Representative to open a CDS Account 

on my behalf in my/our* name. I/We* undertake to provide any other documentation as may be 

requested by the SEM Authorised Representative. 

 
3.8 I/We* declare that all statements and declarations made in this application and any related 

documents submitted are true, correct and complete. 

 
3.9 I/We* acknowledge and agree that all notices to be sent by the Issuer to the Notes holders will be 

sent to the email address provided here above. The email and mailing address provided herein 

shall supersede all previous addresses provided by me/us* in respect of any securities issued on 

or before the date hereof. 

 
3.10 I/We* hereby declare that I/We* am/are* an eligible investor and have read, understood and 

accepted the terms and conditions of this application form and I/We* hereby make a binding offer 

to subscribe to Note(s) issued by the Issuer, upon such terms and conditions as set out in the 

Admission Document. 

 
3.11 I/We* hereby declare that I/We* have sought legal and/or professional advice prior to signing this 

application form with full knowledge of its intent and purpose. 



Admission Document Volt Graphite Tanzania Plc 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Signature   

Name   

Capacity   

Date   

 

(*) strike out as applicable. 

 
 

 
NOTES TO THE APPLICATION FORM FOR SUBSCRIPTION 

Application for subscription 

1. The application will be deemed to have been made jointly if more than one applicant has signed. 

2. Please ensure the form is fully completed and, in the case of a corporate entity, please sign in 

accordance with the authorised signatory list. 

3. In case of joint application, the joint applicants will be required by the Issuer to sign jointly to be 

entitled to exercise all rights attached to their notes including the right to transfer the same. 

4. When subscription requests are received without complete documents or funds are not cleared on 

the bank account of the Issuer, these will be carried forward until complete documents are received 

and funds cleared. 

5. Any application may be rejected in whole or in part by the Issuer without it having to assign any 

reason for the rejection. 

6. A statement of holdings will be mailed to investor on a monthly basis and upon request made to the 

Issuer. 

To ensure compliance with legislation, applicants are required to provide certain information to the 

Issuer which is included in this application form. 



 

Annexure 1: Volt Graphite Tanzania Plc – Audited Financial 
Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2018 in Tanzanian 
Shillings. 
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V OLT GRAPHITE TANZANIALIMITED 
FI NANCI AL  STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE2 018 

1. IN TROD U CTIO N 
T heOri e  cot l'SofVol t  Graphite Tanzanla Limitedsubmit their reportand finanicalstaterneot.sw hci  h 
disclose the stateo f a ffairs of the company !0< tho year ended 30 June 201 .8 This Report has 

been prepared in accordance with the Tanzania Financ:lal Reporting Standards (TFRS)N.o ,1 

Directors Repor.t 

2. VO LT GR APHITE TANZANIA LIMITED COMPANYPROF I LE 
VoltG raph i te Tanzania li mited ls a company registerde under the Compaei sn Act, 2002 witha 

r  egis  lra  tion  certificate no.117231 dated 13th May 2015 issued by BRELA.The   company was 
in l lia yll r  egis te re d  asNaclll ResourcesLimited bu t on 18th April 20 1,7 It changedItsname to Volt 

Graph i te  Tan zania Limited. Volt GraphiteTanzania Limited Isowned by VoltResources Lmi 
an  Australian company which directly ancl indirectly hold s 100%  of the total issu  ed shares. 

ited, 

 

TheCompany s' main aetMtyis todevelopand carry outminingactivities andiscurern tlye)(ploring 

mining of graphite in the Lindi and Mtwara region of Southern Tanzania. 

 
Vision statemont 
Volt GraphiteT anzania Limited's visionIs to be in the top 3 global suppliers of flake grap  h i te  by 

2020. Thecompany hasa strongpolicy ofusinglocal staffand contractorswherever po  ssib le and 
an active program of community developme ntto ensure that the communi tybene  ftrs fromt  he 

development of a mintngoperating in the region. 

3. PRI N CIPAL  ACTIVITIES OF VOLT GRAPHITE TANZANIA LIMITED 

The  compan  y'sm  ain acttvityIs to deve1op and carry out miningactivitk)s. CurrentlyV, ol t G rpah i te 
Ta  nzania  Limited is focused on the exploration and development  of graphite  at  theBunyu 
Graphite Projectlo   cat   ed   i n  Lind i  and Mtwara. Tanzania. As at 30 June 2018, the company had 
been granted seven (7)  prospectinglicences by the Ministry of Minerals to conductexp lo   raUon 

activities in various parts of Undi and Mtwara. 

4. RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS 
The   netl  ossfor the year is TZS 2,778,538,613 (2017: TZS 2,625,336,600). The direc\OfS dono t 

recommend the dedarationofa dividend for the year. 

5. COM POS I TIO N O F THE VOL T GRAPHITE RESOURCES LIMITED BOARD OF 

DIRECTORS 
The company had three {03) members of the board In the year under review. Memberswtio 

served during theyear are: 
 

 

1. 
 Mombe< "" 

• 
8.So , Geology and 
Geophysics 

Austr 22-Nov201s 
(Rc, 9'«19" 
Jul 2018 

2. Mr.A&irnweKabunga Member 48 6Sc. Mathme atics and 
Ph s:iee 

A.1.1$1.m!lan 13-May-2015 

3. Mr, TrevorMMlhews Member 59 PGO Apptioo Finanoe Aostftt11an 2U1ay-2017 
and Investment 
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VOLT GRAPHlTETANZANlA LlMlTEO 
flHANClAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

l• l  l3#i•ll ►lf-W:J8:l•J;ll  #•l#Hhl1 =ffl;l@llll#•illl llW#l•:llk@•ihdlM-4·1  

ItR 
005

Um  edhasentenKIIntoaprof8$Slonal ser,1ceagroementwllhAn z ,m • 

to oe:f 'management services ror Volt Graphite Tenzanta Umited inT anzan.ia 
agreement, Arnita KaziLimitedis responsible for: • . , 

• Pr ov is ion of accounting and 1axafton serv"'8Stnduding bulnot ilnlledto. 

As per thi$ 

t<eepo,g flnallciarl ecordsandp,epa,ation of llnancial statements 1n accordance wrth 
0  

International FinandalRepo<tlng Standards(IFRS); 
Following  up matte<s arising with the Tanzanian government  and its  regulatory 

0 

aulhorifles 
o Processing payments to suppllen, 

, Management of t,umanresources and provision of candidates IOf employment 
 

7. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
V olt GraphiteTanzania Umtted is committed to tileprinciples of efledive CC<p<lt8te gowmance 
and the  Board Is  of  the  opinion I/lat  tile company currently compiles with principlesof good 

corporategovernance. 

The Board of Directors 
TheBoard!a}(esoven1IIresponsibility for theCompany,Including responsibility for Identifying key 

 r si  k   areas, cons$dering and moniloring investment decisJon.s,  oonsklering slgnfficant  financial mat\e<s andreviewing the performanceof management against budgetsandbusiness pfam;. The 
soard Is also r,,-ponsible for ensuring that a comprellensive  system of Internal control policies 
andprocedures ia operative forcompliance with soundcorporate governance prw'tcip18S. 

Th e Boardis confident that ,tsmembe<$ have theknowte<lge, talent and experionoe tolead the 
company The Board la requiredto meetandoversoo the managementof the business, The table 
belOY, summa lfze• theparticipation of Board membe<$ In the meetingsheldduring thepe,iod, 

- i : ;" .· r: 1-i-ri 
.J- AtlCM\dEld 
X -  AbSent 8"1Q1ogy 

N lA- wasnotytt. BoaAIImemberwhenmeeting-hetf 

Board commlttffS 

Due_to the current size and natureo_f the existing Board and the magnitude of the Company's 
operations. the Board does not consider that tileCompany will gain any bonefil fromIndividual 
Board committees and that ttsresourceswouldbe better utilisedInOCher areas asthe Board11o1 
the strong view that at this stage the axperlence and si<III se t of the e<men t B oar d Is sufficient to 
perform these roles. Under tho Company's Board Challer. the duties that would ordinarily be 
ass1gnod to Individualcommittees are currentlycarried out by the full Board under tho written 
terms of reference for thosecommiflees 
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VOLT GRAPHl"Jl; TANZANIA LIMITED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30JU NE 2018 

l•  Jl#:@(•J;J-.-tU #f.Z.,;ll  i•J;l  i:tli  ff;i=i:M=i•IJ•I PW#4•1i•tcittbU,M4·1-  

a CAPITALS TRUCTURE AND SHAREHOLDING OF THE COMPANY 

Thocapitalstructureis madeup or2,000ordinary sharesof TZS1,000each. BclowISlhe ana!YSls 
or and fully paid shore capital as at 30June 201.8 

 
Autho(lsed 

2,000 0<dlnary shares of TZS 1,000each 

In uedand flJlly paid 

100 ordinary sha.res orTZS 1,000each 

TZS 

 
2,0 00,000 

 

 
100,000 

Volt ReSC<Jrcet UmMdIn Aus ia1sthe majooly shareholder of Volt Graphlte Tanzna iaLimited. 

As at 30 June 2018, the shareholding sttucture was asrolloW:I 

1
r
#
;
J
i,
±
n
:
 SNHwE1 47_*" •11EM

;
;
l
_ iih111

:
•t1ili j 

 
 

'Mozambi Grap/Jfte PlyUd 1$100%ovmed by Voff R&Souroos Limited in Austrarle. 
 

9. D IREC T ORS I N TERES T 
Thedi:ed01$ whoservedduring Ille yearunderreviewhav•nointerestIntheIS$U8dandpaid up 
sha(esof the company. 

 

10. SOLVENCY 
Thi)Oiractorsarosatl1f\ed thot the Company isa eotvent going concem withinthemoaningdesaibed 
by lhe CO<npanleo Ac.  No.  12 of 2002 of lhe  laws of Tanzania ond lnlernationaFl inancialReportni g 
Smndards (IFRSs) . 

11. GOING CONCERN ASSUMPTIO N 
Tho Directors confirmthat the apphcable International FinancialReporting Standerds havebeen 
fojjowed and that tho financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The 
Directors have reasonable expectellon that Voll Graphtte Tanzaria Umlted has adequate 
resourcesto continue Itsoperational existence in the foreseeable future. Volt Resources Umited 
the ultimate parent company which is listed on the Australian Securities Exchonge (ASX) has 
confirmed to the Directors of Volt Graphfte Tanzania Umfted in a letter of cx,mtort 1llat d wll 
continue tofinance VoltGraphite Tanzen1a Limlot dfor otleaat the followingtwelve months oruntil 
such time asVolt Grsphite Tanzanai  Limited can support ilsalf financially, which Is anticipated 
through tho plonnodbond issue. 

 

1 2.  RISK M ANAGEM  ENT AND INTE RN AL CONTROLS 

The board of dlreotors accepts f,nal responslbllity for the riSlt man agement and lntemat control 
systems of VoltGraphfte Tonzania Umited It is the 1ask ol management to ensurethatadequate 
internalfinanciaal nd operational control aystems are Qeveloped and maintained on an ongoing 

basis inorde,to prov!dereasonable as...-.nce regarding: 
• The effectiveness and efficloncy of operations: 

• Thesaleguardlng of company's assets; 
• Compliance with applicable laws andregulations; 
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VOLT GRAPHITETANZANIALIMITED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTSFOR THEYEAR ENDED 30JUNE2018 

12. RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS (Continued} 

• Thereliabilityof theaccounting records; 
• Businesssustainabtllty under n01mal as well as adverse conditions; and 

• Responsible behaviors towards all stakeholders. 

The efficiency of any internal control systemis depended on the strict observance of presrci be d 
measures . however themis alwaysa risk of non-compilanceof suchmeasures by staff. Whilst 

no system of intemat control can provideabsolute assurance against misstatement orlos  ses, the 
company's  system  is  designed  to  prov\de  the  Board  with  reasonable a·ssurance  that  the pr  

ocedures   In plac e  are operating effectively.  TheBoard assessed theinternalcontrlosystems 

throughout theyear and is of theopinionthat they metthe acceptedcri ter ia. 

 
13. PR  IN CIP AL   RISKS AND UNCERTAINITIES 

Vol t   Graplltte Tanzania Limited has defined a graphite deposit large enough to underpina  large 
scale long   lifem iningoperaUon. The principal risk facing Volt Graphite Tanzania LimitedI  s  Ille 
risko f being unable to obtain finance to develop the mine to economic levels of production, rsi k 
of no t   obtaining development approvals  from the Tanzanian government and  the poten ti al   for 
adverse regulatory changes to themininglaws in Tanzania to impacl the ability of  the company 

to produce graphite at an acceptable cost 

14. ACHIEVEMENTS OF THE PERIOD UNDER REVIEW 

Key operational highligh\S during the year included: 

F easi b i lity Study  (FS) for the Stage 1 Bunyu Graphite Projectwas subslantially comp le   te d   and 

the results announced on31 Juty 2018 as follows: 
• P ositive Stage 1 FS based onannual throughputrate of 400,000tonnesof ote topr  odu ce 

on  average 23,700 tonnes per annumof graphite products o-vera 7 year project period: 
- Pre-tax NPV at10% discount rate ofUS$18.6 million, after tax US$14.7 millino; 

- P r e - t axlRR 0121% 
- Paybeckpe,iod of 4.4 years 
- Sta-rt up Capltal cost esamateof US$31.8million 
- FOB opecating costs averagingUSS664 per tonne 
- Average annuel EBITDA of US$13.1 million over 7 years. US$96.3 million in total 

•  Key objective of Stage 1 development is to establish Infrastructure and market posroit n  in 
suppo rt of thedevelOp,nent of the significantly largerStage 2 expansion project 

• Stgae   1d evel opme nt in corporatesa significantamount of infrastructure, utilities andmine 

developmentwork that willbenefit theStage 2 expanslon; 
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- VOLT GRAPHITE TANZANIA LIMITED 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTSFOR THE YEAR ENDED 30JUNE 2019 

DI R ECTORS R EPORT F OR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 (Contm ur d) 
 

14. ACHIEVEMENTS OF THE PERIOD UNDER REVIEW (Conti nued) 

,     VollGraphite Tanzania Limited app0inted experienced. well-quaflfiedinVeSirnent banking 

fim,ExotlxCapital andIn partnership decided10procoodwith aplannedraisingof US$30- 
US$40 mllion via a Tanuonian note Issue istedon the Daros salaam Stoel< Exchange 
(DSE) es funding for Stage 1 development 

,  A c!raft f)f'()Sf)OClUS or lnfonnation memorandum (IM) for the note Issue was lodgod with 
the two Tanzanian regulators. DSE and capital Markets and S<K:urilies ASsociation 
(CMSA) on 27 March 2018 for their approvals. After format feedback and discussions, 
lnIergroup financial ...-.:turing and inccrpofalion of recent FS results. the Company 
lodged a revisedIM withbothregulatorson17 August 2018 tor further consklers!lon: 

• Subsequent to!he nawsUateglcplan announced on 18 May 2017, whe,eby !he foasiblllty 
studies were to be revisedto focus on a S1age 1 staM<project end a Stage 2 e,q,ansion 
projeci. on 22 September 2017II was announcod that theprojectwould be renamed the 
Bunyu Graphite pr<>jed from the previous Namangale Graphite project and Volt's 
TanzaniansubsidiaryNachlResources Limited would be renamed VottGraphtte Tanzania 
Urnited; 

• North American offlake panner Nano Graphene Inc. confrmed the premium quality of 
Bunyu graphllo product du ng tho September2017quarter, 

• lnflfl drillng for lhe 8unyu Stage 1 FS focussedon the 8ooyu 1 depositandIncluded: 
- Reverso Circulationdrilling of 56holes totalllng 1,452 metres 
- Oiamond Core drillirlg of 16 holes totalling 463 metres 

- Water boredrllhng of 2 holes tou,illng 175 metres. 
This waa completed during the Oeoembor 2017 quarter, with samples assays completed 
In the followlng quatter; 

• Metallurgical test ,vcrk confirmed the p<omium grade graphite product at the Bunyu 1 
deposit lncludirlg C  content of 99.6'14 and O content of 0.08%, with no Impurities. High 
quattty defect-free material, tobe thomain source of om for the Stage 1 f)f'Ojec:I and the 
Su,ga 2 expansion projeci; 

• The Company's Envlronmenlal and Social Impact Statement (ESIS) f0< the Bunyu 
Graphite Project covering the footp<ints o f bothStage 1 and Stage 2 ex:p,i/lSlon projects 
wasinillallylodged with the National e,wlronmental Management Council (NEMC) on 23 
January 2018. Alter site visits by NEMC and requests tor the inwslon of further 
Information, an updated ESIS waa lodged during the Juno 2018 quart,er The resulttng 
Environmental Certificete and Env1ron- Conditions were received on 3 September 
2018; 

• The ROS<Jttlemenl ACIJon Plan (RAP) was completed during lho Morch 2018quarter with 

theassociated Valuation Repartof compensation payable to peopeaff.-SbytheBunyu 
Project developmen.t approved by the Government Chief Valuer on 17 April 2018. Tho 
Valuation Report is oow fully aPl)fOVed folloWlng aw oval al the dislricl and regional 
levels; 

• On 8 February 2018. the Company announced It had lodged two Mining Licence 
Applications (MLA's) with !he Ministry of Energyand Minerals of Tanzania coveting boch 
Su,gos 1 and 2 of Its Bunyu Graphite Project. A key roquiremenIfor the approval of the 
Mmg lk:enoes Is the receipt and attachment of the Environmental Certificate for the 
proj9Ct, which was recoived on 3 September 2018; and 
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VOLT GRAPHITE TANZANIA LIMITED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED30 JUNE20 1 8 

1.4 4  A CHI EV EMENTS OF THE PERIOD UNDER REVIEW (Co nti nued ) 

• Addi tiona   l  Offtake agreementscontinued to be advancde following positive meetingsw ith 
po ten  Ua l   Chinese partners during April 2018. Subsequent to year end,ni earlyAug us t 
2018a   se<:ondbin d i ng offtake wassignedwithQingdao TiangshengdaGraphitefo r   9,000 

to nnes per annum of Bunyu Graphite produCI, approximately 40% of forecatspr odu ction 
fr  om the Stage 1 project and a Co-operationagreement was signed withHaida  G raph i te 
in  lateAugust20 1 .8 Further sign.edOfftake agreements are anticipated,immeida te yl after 

project development fundingIs available. 
 

15. FINA NCI AL PE RFOMAN CE 

 
Financial position 
The Company's assets mainly comprise of explorationand evaluation assets reported atTZS 
1 .8 3 b ililon ( 20 1 7:   T ZS  12 .5  billion) forming 99% of total assets. ThoIncreaseinexp ol  ra   tion   and 

evalua tion   a ss ets was malnty attributed by incre.ased level or explorationa  ctivieits , dr i llign an d 
sampletes   tni  g that increased significantly during lhe year. Thesecosts have beenfu n d  ed  by t he 

pa ren  t   compan  y i.e  Volt Resources in Australia hence the liability due to a'led  partiesw hic h 

in cre  ased  to TZS 25.2 billion as al lhe reportingdate (2017: TZS 1.6 1b illion. ) 
 

F in ancial results 
Dur ni  g theyea r   ended 30 June 2018, tho Company made a loss of TZS 3.1 billioncom  pared to 
TZS2.6b iloil n re  portedin thepreviousperiod. VoltGraphite Tanzanla Limited I s t illinexp ol ratoin 
stage andhas nolbegun trading no revenue was recorded duringthe year. The loss reported 

dur in g   they ear   was mainly attributed by increased costs in legal fee- Domestic from TZS100,000 
toTZS 1 62 m  illion reiating topreparation oflheinformation me morandumfor hte   lisntig o f n o t  es 
on the oar esSalaa m   S t o ckExchange. Volt Graphite Tanzania Limited obtained financlgn from 
the parent company i.e. Volt Resources in Australia to cover the said expenses. 

 
16. GE NDE R PARITY 
As at 30Jun e 20 1 8 , Vol t G raph ite TanzaniaUmited did not have staff employed directly by lhe 

com pan. y  Allhuman resourceis vested under the agency i.e. Afrika Kazi Limited. 

 
17. . REL ATE D PARTY TR ANSACTI ONS AND B ALANCES 

All related party transactionsandbalancesare disclosedIn Note 1.5 
 

18, EMPLOYEES WELF ARE 
ASa t 30Ju ne 2018, Volt Graphfte Tanzania Umlted did have not staff employed directlyby the 

company. AHhu man  re sourceis vested under the agency Le. Afrika Kazi  Lim  i t ed. 

 
19. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
A summary of key accounting policies is in Note  2  to the financial statements  and were 

eonsistenUy applied during the year under review. 
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20. ENV I RO NM ENT 
VoltG rap h i te  Ta nzania Limitedhasbeen taking measures to $lrengthen preparedness fornatural 
and occupational d asters and p<otection of the en\llronment and it continues too bse rve environm
  ent  a l  requ   i rements  i n   all   i mplemen t ed projects. On  23  January20 1 8  t he Company 

lodged its Envi ronmental and Social Impact Study with the National EnvironmentMangae   rnen t 
Coun cil to prog r ess t he env  i r onmenta l   approval  for   the  Bunyu  project  deveol  pme n  t.  The 

Env ironmen t al Cert ifi cate andEnvironmentalConditions were recefvedon3 September20 1 8. 

 
21 . COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS ANO REGULATIONS 
Volt GraphiteT anzania Limited is in compliance with stattitory laws andregulation. s There areno 
knowninc i den  ceso f bt  ea chof law that resulted to fines or penalties in theperiod under review. 

 
22. POLI TICAL AND CHARIT ABLE DONATIONS 
VottGrap hi te Tanzania Limited didnot make anypolitical donations during the year underrev iew . 
The Comp-any made a number of donations to the communtiies it operatesin underItsCorpo ta te 

So ci a l Respons ibility p r ogram. 

23. PREJ UDICI AL I SS U ES 
nI theop in io n o f thedirectors, there ar& no seriousunfavourable matters thatcanadversely affect 

Volt Graphite Tanzania Limited. 

- 
24. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES 

From July 2017toJune2018 , the Company employed casuallaborers fromthe loac l  communities 
with over onehundred and twenty temporary jobs created in one quarter of the 2017/18 financia l 
yea r. In addition, theCompany fundedNursery School teachersalaries. repairstostormdamaged 

- 
class room and teachersoffice, sponsored lhe S100   e:xhibition in  the Lindi reg i  o,n fundedt he 

development of th& local village land useplan. funded substantial local road repairs, purchased 

desksfo r theUtimbulaNursery School and contributed funding for the Nation Torch Rallyfo r the 

Masasi andLindi districts. 

The  Company continues to support smallbusinesses in theproject areas., lncludingthepurchase 
of food for exploration staff, fuel  from local  fuel suppliers. The company employees'   stay at the 
local guest houses in Ndanda which has provided valuable Income since the Company 

commenced e:xploration activ ities in theregion. 

Dur ing    the financial  year the Compan'ys Community RelationsManager and  two  community 
Liaison Officers continued the engagement with the community and local government providing in  
f omr a  toin  on the Company's activities andseeking feedback fromthe community onanyI ssu  es 

or concerns. 
 

25. FIDUCIARY RESPONSIBILITY 
Membe f S of the Board of Directors as stewards of public trust always acted for theg   ood of the 
Company rather than for the benefit of themselves throughout the period. Reasonablecare was 
exercised in all decisionstakenby theCompany withoutplacing theCompany under unnecessary 

risks. 
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VOLT GRAPHITE TANZANlA LIMITED 

FINAHC&AL STAT£MENTSFOR THE YEARENDED 30 JUNE 20f$ 

26. FUTUREDEVELOPMENTPLANS 

A  Feaslbllily Study for the Stage1 davelopment of the Bunyu Graphite project wassu b6ta ntl  aJly 
oomplet8d by t he   end or   the financial year. The results were announcedon3 1  Ju ry 2018 and 
1-Upportedt he Company's stated strategy of developing a Stage1 starter projectfo rl ow Od bya 
Stage2 ex pansion Pioject. FO!lowing the receru receipt er the Bu.nyu Projects environment.at 
approval, tne focus for the Company is to obtain the Mining Ucencegand development funding 
to construct end CCf1'WTlisslon theStag& 1 Bunyuprojea . 

'JJ,EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 

• The Stage1 BunyuGraphiteProjectF-0asi:iii lity Study wascompletedand the,esults were 
publiclyreleaseden 31 JUiy 2018. 

• Mr MatthewBu,i 
2018. 

esignedas:a Non-executive director of the Compayn ef feci tve9  Ju ly 

• On1   August 2018, a second binding offtake was $igned with OingdaoTi an g  shengda 
Gra phi te for   9  0.  00   tonnes per  annum  cf  Bunyu Graphite p,oduct, whichr  epr  ese  nts 

approximately 40% (I( forecast aMualpco<fuction from the Stage1 projI addition3 
Co- operat  ionagreemettt was slg1led with HaidaGraPhitein lateAugust2 01,8 

• The E rMr onm  eotal  Certificate and Environm&ntal  Concfflions v1erer  eoovi 
N MC on3 Sep(Gmber 2018. 

ed from the 

• A revised  Prospectus (IM) WM lodgedwith theTanzanian regulators on 17 August 2018 

andupdated on 28" September 2018 fer appnwal of the US$30 to USS40m il ionNote 
l$$ue to belisteden theOares saraamSlackExehange. 

• On 17 October2018, the8unyu mining licences weregranted by theTanz ania   Ministry of 
Minerals. Mwiiing Comnission et ing the respective fil.-ge 1 and s1age2 developments 
ol the Ekmyu Gre,phft& P n:iject with reference numbers Ml 0064a/2018an d ML 
00649/2016 re,;pecll,,.ly. 

28.AUDITORS 

INNOVEX Aud iot  rs wasappointedasthe   any'sauditorfor theyearended30 June2018and 
has expre:s:sec:1 its  wil ing  ness to c:ontlnue in offlce in accordance with Section1 59   (2) of the 
Tanzan4anCompanies Ace 2002 , 
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VOLT GRAPHITE TANZAN.IA UMrTEO 
FI NAN CI AL $TAT£MENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2{118 

 

STA TEM NT OF D1RECTOR S' R ESPONS1Bll lTIES 
 

The   directOf'S are requi1ed   under th& Tanzanian Compani Act, 2002, to preapre financia l 
&tatements that givea trueand fat view of thestateof affairsof the coml)0ny as at theend of the 
flnna cai 1  periodandof thestaiement of income.aocl expenditure of thecompany for the peir o.d 

 

The directOfS  are responsible  for the prep&ratie>n  and  fair  presentaUon  at the&e  nfi  anci a1 
statements  in  accorctanc e   v.,lh  International Financial  Reporting  SUITldardS (IFRS). This 
,esponslblity includes;. des.igning, implemenlrig&ndmaintainingintemalcontrols televant to tt'le 

preparationand fai, p,e&entation ol financial s1atementsthatarefreefrommateir8' misstta emne,t 
whether dueto fraud or error, selecli andeppiying apl)f'Qpriate accounting policies. andmaking 
accoun1ing estimates that  arereasonalbeIn thecircums.1ances. 

Thed ier  ctor$acceptresponsal)llltyfor theannualfinancial statemenls, whichhavebeenpre red 

using appropriate accounting pollcles supported by re8SOnable end prud ntj  udg   ments and 
es  timates, i\  conformity with lntematlona1 Financial  Reportni g Standctrd and in the manner 
r  equ iredby the Tan.i:enia1,CompaniesAct. 2002.Th&directorsare of U'leopin\onthatlhefinacni al 
ste:temenl$ gNe a trueandfair view of the stateof tho financialaffairs of thecompany and of its o  
peratin g results.  The directors fvrtheraccept res.ponsib!lity for the maintetiaooe of accounting 
roCOC'dt which metybe relieduponin thepreparation o f financial ,s,tatements, as well asadequate 

systemso( internal financial oontroL 

Nothing hascome to the attef'Won of the  directors to indk:ate tha1the company will not  remai n  a 
going ol\C$mforat least th& next twelvemonths fromthe dateof ttlisstatement. 

$-0. ( (!)• , "'(, 

Date 
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DECLARATION OF THF HEAD Of f-lNANCr 

TheNationll Boonl ol --and Audilo< 

FINAHClA.t.. 8T A TEMEtfTI  FORl tiE Y!  AR! HO 

 

 

 

the Audi1ora and  Atcoun1ants (Rcgio1nltion) M 

.... 

Ibo--• 

::: d-$. 
,- ..... , ........ 

- 

 
 
 
 

VOLTORAPfflTE TANZANIA LIMITED  
EDSOJUNe2011 

 

 

(NIIMIac<U tothe power conlt«ed unclef 

, No. 33 ol 1972, • • -- bl'Act No. 2 ol 
1995,requires financial statetMntsto be aCOOtnP1nied Yfi1h a declar8tloniH ued by the Headof 
Financere1ponsibte for thepret)llraliOn of finenciaf 1talements o( Che Mltlyc:cnoetnecL 

his  lhe  duly ol o Pr- . .on■I - to asolst the - ol DoedO!O to ditchargo the 
responalb'ilityofp!'llparingfinancielata1eirnem1of an entity1h0Wing tNe  Ind  fair viewOf tbt  e,..cty 
posido(t and pe,formancl in aoc:ordance withapplicable ln1ernatk. mal Accounting Stendardt 11nd 
•UIMo,y flnenciol repon,ng requirement>. Ful 111Ja1 for ol the 

tin

o
eneial atatem&nt.s  re

-
 tlt

-
 w

.
ith  the  Board  of Oltectors under  the  Statement  of  Olr.ctor'1 

I,- f.l!.h:§ .T............... on beh..  of Afnka Kazi Limiet d being  ma   goment consub  nts 
who ...,,.._ p,11)8111t,on ol - - ol  Vdl G<wpile T- llmlted, horeb\' 
ecl(nowel dg,e my respc,nIibililyofenturlog that finundal ttatements lor the year ended 30 June 

20_18 _,-""incou,pianoo wM 8Pf)ilcebla llandarcls ond llatulOly requiremenls. 

I d'IUI confirm that lhe financial Sla1emcnts g-iYe a true Ind fair Ylew positklnof Volt Graphite 

TanzaniaU miled  II on -- and lf,ey hoYe - basedon  p,opetly malruined 

- 
- Po1lbon-. 

NBM-h;pNo 

oa.. 

..G...A..-.8.0..5..7.................. 
30.1 18 
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OF VOLT G HE MEMBERS 

 
INNOVEX Auditors 

8Klimlr4Roed 
AdaE•tate(Noa,theFrenchEmba,sy) 
PO. Box75297 
0., es SalHrn. Tan2;0nia 
M obile: +255 715 540 949 
lM,dline;  +255 22 2664090 
Fex: +25522 2664088 
Email; 11toin@inoqvexdc,omo 
Website:- www,j'lnoytxdc,.cgm 
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VoltGraphite Tru,zanla Limited 
Plot No. 431, Mahando Stleet 
Msa&ani Ponlnsula 
PO Box 105589 
Oar es Sataam 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT 

TO T RAPHITE TANZANIA LIMITED 
 

Report on theAudit of the Financial Statomonts 
 

Opini on 
Wehaveaudited lhe financial slatements of Voit Graphite TanzaniaLimited, set out onpages 15 
up to 46 whichcomp se the statement of nnanclal positionasat 30 June 20 18 , and lhe slatement 
of profit orlossand comprehensiveIncome, statement of changesin equity and statement of cash 

flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial $talements, including • wmma,y of 
slgniflcant accounting policies 

 
In our opinion, the accompaniyng financial statementspresentfairly, In an marerial respem the 

r.,ane,a1position of the oompany asat 30 June 2018and of 11s fi na ncial perfonnaneeandItscash 
Rows ror the year then endod in accordance wffli International Financial Reporting Slandards 
(IFRSsJ. 

Basi.forOpinion 

We condcuted our audit in  acOO<danee wittl International Slandards on Audling (ISAs Our 
ro sponsbl llllies unde, those standards arerutther doscribed in the Auditors Responslbll,ties lor 
the Audtt or the Al ane/al Statements section of our report. We areindependent of the Company 
In accordanoe with the e thic,la oquirements that are relevant to our audit or the financial 
alatemen1s in the United Republic ot Tanzania, and we have fulfilled our olhGl ethical 
rosponslbilitlesIn accordancewiththese requirements. 

We believe that tho audrt evidence we have obtained Is sutficlent and app,oprfate toprovide a 
basis fa,our opinion. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF VOLT GRAPHITE TANZANIA LIMITED jCon t1n ucd J 

 

Em phasis of matter 

1. Signillcant conti ngentllabill ty 

we draw 10 Nole 18.2 of tile tk\anc;lal statements. vmlch descrtbes the existence of a 

significant contingent tiabilily related to wi!hholding tax amouru,g 10 TZS 1.168.468,816. Volt 
Grapt,,:eTanzaria Limited didnot wtthhold andremincometaxforlhal weremadeto 
foreign and don1Mtic seMCe 0..-opinion is not modifle<I In re spectof thismatter. 

 
2. MaterialUncertaintyRelatedtoGoingconcern 

We draw attention to N«e 4 ., the finanaal statements. vmich ind,cates that the Company has 
not started mining activities and Is still in tile explorationphase and the<elore did not reeord any 
revenues for the yea l.lldef re'<llew. A$ a result. tile Company since ots lncCfpo,ation reties on 
funding from tile Patent Company to mee, its 4'dmlnistratJve and exploration costs. Du ng the 
year under review, It reported a net loss from ope,ations of TZS 3,133,084,032 (2017: TZS 
2,625.338.600) Ind as al  !hat date. had negative eqwty of TZS 8,663,107,242  (2017: TZS 

3,550,023,211). If the P8fent Company for any reason stop s providing funding ror its 
admriistrativeand operetional needs, theseeventsor conditions. along wllhothermattersas set 

""11> In NcM • . lncfJCato ltlat a mze<lal uncertainty exists that may castslgniftcant doullt on tile 
Company's ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of thia 

manor. 

Responalbllttiea of Management and Thoso Cha:rged With Govtmanc:• for tho Financial 
Statements 

Management is resfor tile prej)aflltion and lawpresen!alion of the r., ancial statements 
In accordance withIFRSs, and for suchinternalcontrolas management detennines Isnecessary 
to enable the preparatJOn ol r111anc:ial statements thal me tree from ma:.rial mosstalemellt. 

- due 10 fraud or e,ror. 

In prepamg the financial statements, management II responsible for asoess,ng tile ccmpany's 
ability to conbnUe as agoing-,,.disclosing, •• applicab,le matters relatedto going concern 
andusing the going concern basis of accounting unless management - inlendl to liquidate 
thecompany or to oaaseoperations, or hasno raafis!Jc attemative but 10do so. 

Those charged withgovernanceareresponsible foroverseeing the  • linancial reporting 
ptoCe$S. 

 

Auditor's Responslbllltlea for theAudit of theFinanc:lal Statements 

0... olljecti,es ""' to obtulre.,sonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
vmole are hoe!tomma1ena1misstatement, vmether due to treud or em:,r and to lssveanaudtto( s 
re port th a t Incl u de s our opinion . Reasonable assurance is a high i ;,, ass,nnc:e. bu! Is naa 
guaramee that  an au_dil  conduaed  In  accordance  with ISAs v,;11 always detect a materai l 
m v.flen ii eiosts. MisSlatemen!s can - from fraud o, errot and a,e considered 
mat11, lnd "'.ldually or In the aggregate, they COUid reasonably be exp«:ted to intluenoe lhe 

ec:ooomic decisb11ofusers taken on the bas.sof these financial statements. 
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As part of an aud in accordance wlU, ISAs. we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. Weaiso: 

• Identify andasSBSS tilerisksofmate,lal misstatement of th&financial statements, whethe< 
due tolraud or emir, deolgn and perform aud prooedures responsive to those risks, an<! 
obtain audit ovidence that is sufficient and appropirate toprovide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk ct not deeec:ling a material misstatement resulting from fraud Is higher than for 
one resulting from e,ror, as fraud may lnvotve coll\JSion, rorgery, intontional omisslons. 
misrepresentations, or lhe overrideOf Internal control: 

• Obtainan understan<llng of internal controlrelevant lo the audtt in order lo design audlt 
procedures that are appropriate U1 the circurnstallCes, but not for the purpose of 
Oxpfessing anoS)jnion on the effectiveness of the company's.-rtemat control; 

• Evalua te the approprtatenes, of accounUng poticies used and the reasonableness or 

accounting estimates androtated disclosuresmooe by management; 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, strueture  a nd content of the financial  statemeflts. 

Including tile dis®""'"· and whether the financial slatementsrepreMnt the underlying 
transectiona and events lna manner that achieves felr presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters. the 
planned scope and timing ct lhe aud and slgnlflcant audit findings, Including any significant 
deficlaneies In internal control that we lde11tify during our audit. 

 

We also provide those charged with govemanca with a stalamefll that we have compiled WilJ'I 
rele\1'3.nt  ethical  requirements  regarding  Independence, and  to  communicate  with  them  an 
relationships Md other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independenc,e 
and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with goveman,:e, we detonnine those 
manors that wereal mosl significanceIn theaudit of tho f1narlcial statements ol thecurrent period 
and are therefore thekey audit matters. We desai be these matt.eta inour audito(s report Wlless 
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in  extremely  rare 
ct umstances, we determine that a matte< shouldnot be ccnvnunlcated In our report because 
the adverse consequenoes of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the  publtc 
Interest benefits of such communication. 

Report onOther Legal andRegulatory Requirements 

Thi•roport.includingtho opinion, has been preparedlor,andonly for, the company'smembers 
as a bOdy in acccrdance with the Companie$ Act.No. 12 of 2002 and for no other purposes. 

 
As required by IlleCompanies Act No. 12 of 2002, we are alsorequriedto reportto you, ff Inour 
opinion, the Oirecto(s Report Is nof consistent with the financial statements. If the company haa 
notkept proper rncords. if we havenotrooelvedon thotnformtalonandexplanation we require for 
ouraudK,or d informationspecified by law regatdlng Oirectors'remuneraUon and transacUon with 
the company is not disclOsed. 

In respect of the foregoing requirements, wehavo no other matter toreport. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF VOLT GRAPHITE TANZANIA LIMITED 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF VOLT GRAPHITE TANZANIA LIMITED (Continued I 

 

The engagement partne r on the audit resulting In this Independent au<f,tof• report is CPA 
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NTS FOR   H   Y  AR ENO   O 3,0 JUHE 2018 
 

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THF. YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

Notes 2018 
  TZS  

2017 
  TZS  

Expenses 

d    nl   ra· • 6 2.773.082.000 2,1 ,301,609 
LOS$ on fo · n exx:: nge 
Totat exp nditur 

 360.001,971 
S 133 ,084,0.32 

   470, ,99 
2,625,338,600 

· t..ou before t >l  {3.133,084,032)  (2,825,336. 0) 

TaxatiO 14 
   

l.o$s for the y, at  (3 133 084 .032)  625 ,338,600) 

 

port of he          e 1 o 4 
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VOLT GRAPHITE TANZANIA U MITED 

 

 
 
 
 

ASSETII 

2018 
  TZS  

2017 
  TZS  

Non-current assets 
Exploration and evoluation ass.el$ 
Futnlture end equlpmen1 

Cu tanffl 
Tradeandothetreeelvables 

Cath nd cash equtvelents 
 

TOTAL ASSETII 

7 18,273,571,141 12.481.787.660 

8   31,017,110 23,524,916 
18,304,588,251 12,505,312,576 

9 281,718,731 24,550,684 
10   131824.335 70,286,754 

  29, 5 543,066 94837 438 
18,600,1311 317 12.60 0,150 ,014 

 

 

 

EQUITY AND LI ABILITIES 
Equity  

11 1 00,000 

 
100,000 

- 
Shatecapital  

(6,883,207,242) (3,550,123,211} 
Accumulatedlos&es 
To tal equity 

 

U abill tles 

(6,683,107,242) (3,550.023.211) 

Non-eurrent liabilities 
Liabliitydue toparent a.,y 

 

Currentll  abUlties 

Trade andother pay&bles 
TotalIIJbilities 
TOTALEQUITY AND LIAB ILITIES 

12 25,2181 193,4 56 16 ,099,401 , 003 

 
13   65,0451103 50,772.222 

25,283.238 ,559 16.150 ,173,225 
 

 

18,600, 1 31 ,317 12,600 .150,0 14 
 

The notes on pages 19 to 46 form an integral  part of these fll arM::ial  s1a! ements.  The Financial 
Statemc,nts on pages 15 to 16 were approved by theboard of directOI'$ and  authorisedfotls.we 

o ..n.   . • ., l:Q.,·:·.: 2018 weres ned  on i   behalf     •--  

 

Mr. Allmwe ga 
Director 
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VOLT GRAPHITETANZANIA LIMITED 
Fl NANClAL STATEMENTS fOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUN.£ 2018 

STATEMENT or CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

 

Year ended 30 June 2017 
 

Paid up capital 

 

Sharecapilal 
  TZS  

100,000 

 

AccUmu1aet d 
losses 

 

Total 

LO$$for theyc'l!I    
  100 000  

 

Year end&d 30 June2018 
 

At the&tart of the year 

 
 

100,000 
l..o6s for  the yu r    

  100,000  1s,s sa.20, 1 2•2L (6,683,107,242) 

 

The notes on pages 19 to 46 form an integral part or th$&e flnancial s.tetemen,.ts The Fmaneial 
State ntsonpages15 to 18 were approved by the board of directors and authorised for iH uO­ 

o n .... -.....J......... 2018 andweret.igned on its behalt by: 

M;:·-r. .. 
_Dir tor 

i.l';:1.4,;;  ·i<  
Dir ector 
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  TZS    TZS  

(924,78, 8 611) (924,688,611) 
(2,625,336,600) (2,625,336,600) 

(3,sso.1232,11L {3,550,023,211) 

 
(3,550,123,210} 

 
{3,550,023,210) 

(3,133,084,032) (3,133,084,032) 

 



 

 
 
 
 

VOLTGR.APHITETANZANIA LIMlTED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THEYEAR ENDED30JUNE2018 

STAT[ MEN'f or CASHFLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

 
 

 
OPERATING ACTIVR'IES 
l.0$$for the year 
Adjusimont tor. 
Oepreclt:illon for the year 

ng In worl<lng capilal 
Increase In11'8de andolher receivable$ 
IncreaseIn trade andothor payables 
Net Cath flowU$odIn operating activities 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Notes 2018 2017 
  TZS TZS 

 

(3,1 33,084,03 2) (2,625,336,600) 

5,914,688 2as,3n 

 
(257,16,0847) 

 
(13,422,570) 

  14J:72,&81 1, 1940,360 
(3,370,064,612} ,(2 628,533,438) 

Net CaSh flow usedin inVfltlngattiVIUOI 

 

FINANCING ACTIV1TIES 

Loan from parent ny 
NetCashfrom finanei aeUvititS 

 
Net incnt.asoin cash and cashequivalent& 
Casha!)dcash equi\!alents at the startof the 
year 
Ca&-h and cash oquivalOnts at the end of the 
yoar 

(5,80 5,190 ,281) 

 

 

12 9,1 18,7 92,454 
9,118,792,154 

 

(56,462,419) 
 

  70,286,764  

10    
13,824,335 

(8,167,735,214} 

 

 

10,852,528,099 

10,852,528.099 
 

58,259,447 
 

  12 02,7 307  
 

  70,286 ,754  
 

The notes on pages 19 to 416 form an integralpart of theMt financial $1aet ments. The Fln41neial 
State entson pages15 to 18 were approvedby the boardof directors and authorised for issue 

,  ,." :'···.2::8. oowe   re     nedooftsbhea lf   : . 

r.  revor Metthewa Mr.   A$im Kabunga 

0 ctor Olro-clOf 

Report ofthi&lndepitnclentauditors ..page11 to14 
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Expk>rationend evaluationasse1s 7 (5,791,783,481) (8,143,924,928) 

Office fumrb.Jre 8 {13,406.78DL  (23,81,0 288) 

 



 

VOTLGRAPITETANZAIANUMITEO 

FINANICAL STATEEMNTSFOR THE YEAR ENOEO 30 JUNE2018 
 

N OTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Conl11111ed) 
 

1. . GENERAL INFORMATION 

Volt Graphite Tanzania Limited is a company registeredunder the Companies Act, 2002 witha 
reg  istr a ti on cer1!flca te  no.117231 dated 13th May 2015 issued by BRELA.The   company was 
In  itiayll  r  egis tered  as  Nach i Resources li mited but on 18th April 2017, it changed tst name   to Volt 

G rpa h i te Tanzania Limited, Volt Graphite Tanzania li mtted Is owned by Volt Resourceslimit  e.d 
an A ustralian company which directly h0k1s 100%of the total Issued shares. 

 
Di rectros   of Volt Graphi te Tanzania Limited reside in Australia and have vestedmanag  ement o  f 
activities and financial reporting in Tanzania to Afrika KaziLimitedat the below addr  es:s 

Afrika Kazi Ltd 
Golden Heights 
1• Floor, Wing B, Untt 1/8/102 
Chole Road 
PO 8ox 80003 
Dar es Salaam 
Tanzania 

 
2. SIGNIFICANTACCOUNTING POLI CIES 

Thepr ln  cpi a l   accounting policies adoptedIn the preparation of these fina11ciaJ st atemetns  are set 
out below. 

 
2.1 Statement of compliance 

The   finan  cia l  statements have been prepared In acoordance with the Internationl aFinan  cial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

 

2.2 Basis of preparation 

The   fin ancial statements have been prepared under thehistorical cost convention ase  xpla  in  ed 
ni the acoounting poficies be&ow, H i s to r ic a l  c ost is   genera l ly based  on theaf ri valu e  o  f the 
consideration given in exchange for assets. Th& financial statements are presentedIn Tanzania 

Sh flllng s  {TZS) .  The   fina ncla t  stat ements  comprise  a  statement  of profrtor Jsos and other 
com prehensive income. statement of financial position, statement of changesin equi  ty,stateme n  t 
of cash flows,and explanatorynotes. 

 
The  prepa r  ation of  financial statementsin conformity  with  ln tem atlonal  Financlal Re  poritng 
Standards requfres the use of estimat&s and assumptions. It  also requires management to 
exor  ci se its judgment   in theprocessof applylng theaccountingpoflciesadopted by thecompany. 
Althoughs  uch estimates  and assumptions arn based on  the directors'best knowledge of  the 

h1f or ma tio n   av  a i fab le,  actual results may  differ  from those estimates, The ju  dgme nts  an d 
es  it mates are reviewedat the end of each reporting period, and any revisions to such estimates 
are recognised in the year in which the revision is made. The areas lnvotving theju  dg  ments of 
mo  s  t s  gi  n  ificanoeto the financial statements, and the sources or estimation uncertainty thathave 
a s ign i fi can  t risk of resultingIn a material adjustment within thene:xt financial  yea r. are disclosed 

in N ote 3 . 
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VOLTGRAPHITE TANZANIA LIMI TED 
FINANCIALSTATEMENTSFOR THE YEAR ENDE.D 30 JUNE 2018 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

 
2.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
2.2 lmprovamonts to IFRSs 

 

i. New and revisedIFRSsmandatorily effective at the and of the reporting period with 

no material effect on the reported amounts and disclosures in the current or prior 
year 

The following new or revised IFRSs were mandatority effective and adopted by Volt Graphite 
Tanzania Limited as at tile end of tho reporting period but did not have a material effect on the 
current or previously reportedfinancialperformance or financial position. 

 

Name of standard Changes made to the standard 

JAS 1 Disclo sure Initiative - 
Amendments to IA$ 1 

Key requirements 

Theamendments toIAS1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
clarify, rather than significantly change, existing IAS 1 
requirements. The amendments clarify: 

• The materiality requirements in IA$ 1 

• That specific line hems in the statement(s) of profit or 
lossandOCI and the statementof finaneial position may 
be disaggregated 

• That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they 

presentthe notes to financial statements 

• Th at the share of OCI of associates and joint ventures 
accounted ror using tne equity method must be 

presented In aggregate as a single line Item and 
classttled between those items that will or will not be 
subsequetnlyreclassifiedto profit or loss. Furthermore, 
the amandments clarify the requirements that apply 
when addrtional subtotals are presented in the 

statement of financial position and the statement(s) of 
profit or loss andOCI. 

 
Impact 

These amendments are Intended to assist entities in applying 

judgement when meeting the present:)tion and disclosure 
requiremeo!s fn IFRS, and do not affect recognttion and 
measurement   Although  these  amendments  claJify  existing 
requirements of !AS 1, the cla fiflcat!ons may facilitateenhanced 
dlsclosu,e effectiveness. 

 

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2018. 

IFRS 15 Revenue from 
contracts with Customers 

Key requirements 

IFRS 15 replaces all existing revenue requirements in IFRS 
(IA$ 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Rovonuo, IFRIC 13 

Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15 Agreements for the 
Construction of Real Estate IFRIC 18 Tmnsforsof Assetsfrom 
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VOLTGRAPHITE TAHZANIA LIMITED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTSFOR THE YEARENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contmucd) 
 

Name ot standard Changr.s made In the standard 

 and SIC 31 Revenue - 88110, Tronsacfions 
Involvni g  Adve1/ts ing   SeJV/ces)  and  applies  to  all revenue 
arising lrom cootrac:18 withcustom,n, unless thecontracts are 
In !he scope or other standards, such as tAS 17. its 
requiremen.te also provide a model for the recognition and 
measurement of gains and losses on dispo$al of certain non­ 

financlol assets, Includni g property, equipment and Intangible 
assets. 

Effective !or annual periods beginfllng on °' after 1 Janua,y 
2018. 

l mpac, 

IFRS 15 fa more pn,scriptllle lhan the CUm,nl IFRS 
requriements for revenue recogmtlon end provides more 
application guidance. 

 
The dJsclosure requirements are also more extensive. The 
standard wilt affect entities across au rndustrles. Adoption will 
be a algnlllcanl undertaking fo, most entitial with potential 
changes tolheir current accounting, systemsandprocesses.. 

tFRS 9 F1na.ncial In struments Koyroquiroments 
Classiflcalionand measurement of financitJIassets 
AR flnonclaJ a ssets are measured at fair value on initial 
recognition, adjuated for transaction costs, if the instrumentis 
not accountod for at klir value through p,ofit orlos$(FVTPL). 

 

C/8ssiftc8tion and meosuromenl Of financllll liabilities 
For financialriatalme$ designated as FVTPL using theFVO, the 
amount of change in the fair value of such financial liabilities 
that is attribu1o.ble to ch anges in cr ed f1 risk must be presented 

in ocr 

The remainderof lhe changeIn lair valuels presented In profit 

Of loSs, un1ess presentationin OCI of tho fair value change in 
respect of the tiab!lity's cred r1$1( wwld cr""te or enlalll<' an 
accountingmlsma1chIn profitor less. 

 
lmpa!tmenl 

Tile impairmentrequirements are baaed on an expected cred 
toss (ECL) modol lhatreplaces theIAS 39Incurred toss model. 
The ECL model applies to dellt instruments IICCOIJnled for at 
amortised costor at FVOCI, most Joan com mitment.a, finan cial 
guarantse eontrads, contract asselsunder tFRS 15 andlease 
receivables under IAS17 I.Nases. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 

Name of s tandard ChanQes 
 

 Hedge accounting 
Hedge effectiveness testing is prospective, without the 80% to 
125%bright line test in IAS 39, and, depending on the hedge 
complexity, 1vlll oftenbe qualitative. 

 
Effective for annuaJ periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2018. 

Impact 

The application of IFRS 9 may change the measurement and 
presentation of many financial instruments, depending on theri 
contractual cash flows and the business mOdel  under which 

theyare held. Theimpairment requirements wmgene  rally result 
in earlier recognitionof credit losses. The new hedging model 
may lead to more economic hedging strategies meeting the 
require1nents forhedge accountin.g 

IFRS  2   Classificaotin  and 
Measurement of Share­ 
based Payment 
Transactions - Amendments 
to IFRS 2 

Key requi rements 

TheIASB issued amendments to IFRS 2 Shal&-base(J 
PaymeM in relation to the classification and measurement of 
share-basedpayment transactions. The amendments address 
three main areas: 

• The effects of vesting conditions on the measurement 
of a C8Sh-settled shDro-bas-&d paymenttransaction. The 

amendm&nts ctanfy that the approach used to account 
for vesting conditions \vhen measuring equity-settled 
share-based  payments  also  appUes   to  cash-settled 
share-basodpayments. 

•  Theclassificationof a share-based paymont tronsaction 
with not settlement foatures for wilhho/alng tax 
obligation.s This amendment adds an exception to 
address the narrow situation where the net setffement 
arrangement Is designed to meet an entity's obligation 
under tax laws or regulations to withhold a certain 
amount in order to meet the employee's tax obligation 
associated with theshare-based payment. This amount 
is then transferred, normally in cash, to the tax 
authoriites on the employee's beha.tf. To fulfil this 
obligation, the terms of the share-based payment 
arrangement maypermit or require theentityto withhold 
the number of equity instruments that are equal to the 
monetary value of the employeo•s tax obligation from 
the total  number of equity instruments that otherwise 
would have beenissuedto the employee upon oxerclse 
(or vesting) of the share-based payment ('net share 
settlement  feature'\.  Where traiiSactions. meet the 
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 etlteria , th ey are no t divided into two components but  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

h 

o 

 are classified in their entirety as equity-settleds hare­ 

based payment transactions,if they would have beenso 
classified In the absence of the net share soWement 

feature. 
• The accounting where e modificatioo to the terms and 

conditions of a sh81&-based payment trnnsaclioo 
changes its classif,ca//on from cash-settled to equity 

settled. The amendment clarifies that, if the termsan d 

conditions  of  a  cash-settied  share-based  paymen  t  
t ra nsaciton aremodified,with theresult that itbecomes 

anequity..settted shareb- asedpayment transaction, U1e 
transaction   is   accounted   for   as   an   equit-y set  tled 

transaction  from   the  date  of  the  modification.  Any 
difference (w11ether a d ebit or a credtt) between Ille c 
arrying amount of  the liability  derecognised and  the 
amount recogn1sed in equity on the modification date is 

recognised immediately in profit or toss. 

 
Transition 
Ona d opti on , entit ie s are r equ lred t o app ly the am endmen ts 

w i th o u t  r esta    ti ng   p   or  periods, b ut  retrospective appl ica   tion     Is 

perm i tt ed   if e l ected       for    a fl  thr   ee    amendments and other crtie r ia a 

r e met Eal'IY ap plica tlon is pe tm itted . 

 
Im p act 
The   amendments are intended to elimlnate diversity in par  cti ce 

but a r e narrow   lo    scope   and   address   specific area s of 

classificationand measurement. 

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2018. 

Applying IFRS 9 Financial 

Instruments   with  l FRS 4 

Insurance Conttads 
Amendmenls to IFRS 4 

Key requ irements 
The  amendments address concerns arising fromimplementi ng 

the new fin ancia l i n struments Standard, IFRS 9, before mi   

plementingthe new insurance contracts standard  thatt he 

Boar d Is devel oping to replace IFRS 4, The amendments in  t  roduce

 t w o  op  ti ons for   entitiesissuinginsurancecont  ra  cts:  a 

t  empo   r ary exemption  from  applying  IFR S  9  and  an  over la y 

approach. 

Temporary exemption from IFRS 9 
The optional temporary exemption from IFRS 9 Is availableto 

en tit ies whose    activities    are    predominantly    connected wit 
i nsu rance . The tem ora exam   tion.    etmits   such  entities t 
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ENTS (Contmued} 
 

Name of standard Changes made to the standard 
 

 conttnue to apply IAS 39 Financ,aJ Inst ruments: Recognitton 
and Measurement wh ite they defer the application of IFRS 9 

unlit 1 January 2021 at the latest. Predominance must be 
(nitialty assessed at the annual reporting <fate that immediately 
preeooes1 April 2016 andbefore IFRS 9 isImplemented.Also, 
theevaluationof predominancecanonly be reassessed In rare 
ceses. Entities applying the temporary exemption will be 
required tomake additional disclosures. 

 

The overlay approaches 

The ove ay approachIs an option toe en titl es that adopt IFRS 

9 and issue insurance contracts, to adjust profit or loss for 
eligible financial assets: effectively resulting in fAS 39 
accounting  for  those  designated  financial  assets. The 
adjustmenteliminatesaccounting volatility that may arise from 
applying IFRS 9 without the new Insurance contracts standard. 
Under this approach, an entity is penmitted to reclassify 
amounts between pro fit or loss and other comprehensive 

income (CCI) for designated financial assets. An entity must 

present a separate line item for the amount of the overlay 
adjustment in profit or loss, as well as a separate l fne item for 
the corresponding adjustment In OCJ. 

Tran sit ion 

The temporary exemption is first applied for reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018. An entity may olect the 
overlay approach when • first applies i FRS 9 and apply that 
approach retrospectively to financial assets designated on 
transition   to   IFRS   9.    The   entity   restates  comparative 
Information  reflecting the overtay  approach ii , and only  if, the 

entity restates comparative informationwhen applyingIFRS 9. 

Impact 

The overlay approach requiros an entity to cemove from pro fit 
or Joss add ition.al volatility that may arise if IFRS 9 Is applied 
with JFRS 4, When applying the temporaryexemption, entities 
must  stlll  provide   extensive   discol sure   that   require   the 

application of some aspects or IFRS 9. 

 
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2018 

Transfers of Investmen t 
Property   (Amendments  to 
!AS 40) 

Key requ irement s 

The amendments clarify wh en a.n entity should transfer 
property. Including property under construction or devefopment 
Into, or out of lnvestm t property. t he amendments state that 
a ch.anoe in use occurs when the cr_oN>-rtV 'meets, or ceases to 
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- NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS iContonucd) 

N,:1mc ol standard Changes made to tho standtirc1 

 
 
 
 

 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
11. Standards andlnterprotatlonsIn l.ssue but not yot effe-ctlvo 

At the reporting da,te the following new and/or revised accountlng standards and in«wp,etallons 

Mte in isSue but 110( yel effective and therefore haVe not been applied In lheae fin anc ial 

statements. VottGraphtie TanzaniaLimtied ha&not yot asseu od the Impact of thesechangot Ofl 

their financial stotements-.tlen lhey become effectNo: 
 

Nitmc of standard Changes mado lo thr• stand.1rd 

 
 
 

• 
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 mee t, the def\nition of investment p,operty and thete Is 
evidence of the change In use A mere chango ln 
management's Intentionsfor the uso of a property does not 

p,ovide elofcllange In use. 

Transition 

Enlltietshould apply lhe pmspedM>ly to chai-GOS 
In uso that oocur on or after the beginning of the annual 
reporting period In which lhe entity first applies  lhe 

amendments. An enlily sho<lld reasle$$ tno clas$it1ealion of 
pro p erty heldat that date and, ff app lica ble, reclassify property 

to reflect the conditions that &xist at that date. Retrospectlve 

appica11on in accorclanCe w1h tA$ 8 Is only permitted ff tnat Is 
possible without tile useof hindsightEarly application of lhe 
emendments Is permi tted and mustIle disclooed. 

 
Impact 

Theamendments will eliminatedivaralty in practice. 

Effective for annual periods beginningon or ttfter 
1 Janua 201, 8 

 

IFRS17 lnsuranceContracts In May 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17 vmich estabishes 
 principtes for the recognition,measurement. presentation and 

dlsek>s,u e forinsurance contracts issued. reinsurance contracts 
hek! and investment c:ootracts will dlsaetiona,y participat10n 
feature• Issued. 

Et!,aw;o 10< annual periods beglnn,ng on 0< after 1 Janua,y 

2021. Early adoption le permttted. 

IFRS 16 Leases Key requirements 
The &eopeof I FRS 18 Includes leases of all assets, wilhcertain 

excef)tions.  A  lease Is  defined as a  conl7ael  or  part o/ a 
contract, tnatconvey, the right to UM an a,aet (the underl)'lng 
asset) for a period of time inexchange forconsideration. 

IFR S 16 requires lessees to account for an leases under a 

stncdeon-balancesheetmodal, 10a simllarwov tofinance leases 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Conlonucd) 
 

Name of standard Changes made to the standard 

 under IAS 17. The standard includes two recognition 
exemptions for lessees - leases of 'low-value' assets (e.g., 
personal computers) and short•term leases (i.e. leases with a 
leasetermof 12 monthsor less).At the commencement dateof 
a lease, a lessee will recognise a llabinty to make lease 
payments (i.e. the lease liability) and an asset representing the 
right to use the undertying asset during the lease tem, (I.e. the 
right-of-use asset). 

 

Les-sees Vllll be required to separately recognise the interest 
expense on the lease liabilityand the depteclation expense on 
the right..of use asset. Lessees w111 be requi red to remeasure 
the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events (e.g.•a 
change in the lease te,m, a change in future leas-e payments 
resulting from a change In an inde)( or rate used to determine 

those payments). The lessee will generally recognise  the 
amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an 
adjustment to the right-of-use asset Lessor accounting is 
substantially unchangedfrom today'saccounting under IA$ 17. 
Lesso rs will c on tinue to c las sify all leases using the same 

classificationprincipfe asin lAS17 anddi stinguishbetween two 
types of leases: operating and financeleases. 

 

Transition 
A lessee can choose to apply the standard using ei ther a full 
retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The 
standard's transition provisions permit certain reliefs... Early 
appilcation is pem,itted, but not before an entity applies IFRS 

15. 

Impact 
The leaseexpense recognition pattern forlesseeswillgenerally 
be accelerated as compared to today. Key balance sheet 
metrics such as leverage and finance ratios, debt covenants 
and income statement metrics; such as earnings before 
Interest, laxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITD A), could 
be impacted. Also, the cash flow statement forlessees could be 

affected as payments for the principal portion of the lease 

liabiUty will be pre.sented with in finan cing acti vities. Lesso r 

accounting will resu lt in littlechange oompared to today's lessor 

accounting. Thestandard require$ lessees andlessors o make 
more ex1ensive disclosures than undef IAS 17 

 

Effective for annual petlods beginning on or after 1 January 
2019. 
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VOLTGRAPHITE TANZANIA LIMITED 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTSFOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE2018 
 

NOTES TO THE FI NANCIAL STATEMENTS (Conlinned) 

 
2.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
2.3 lmprovoment:s to IFRSs 

 
111. Ear ly adoption of standards 

The company did not     ea tl y-adopt any new or amen  d ed s tandard s or in terpretations du rf llg: the 
financial periodunder review. 

 
2.4 Current versus non-eurrent classification 

The company presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on 
currenVnorr curren t clas sification.An assetis current whenIt is: 

• Expected to be realisedor Intendedto be sold or consumedin tho normaloperating   cycle 
• Held pri marily for th e pu rpose of trading 

• Expected to be realised within l\vetve months after the reporting period, or 
• Cashor cashequivalent untessrestricted frombeing exchanged or used tosettlea liability 

for al leas! hvelve months after lhe reporting period 
 

AU other assets are classified as non-current 
 

A llability is currentwhen: 

• Itis expected to be settledin the normal ope.rating cycle 

• It is hekf primarily for the purpose of trading 

• It is due to be settted withintwelve months a fter the reporting period, or 

• There is nou nconditional rl9ht to defer the settlement of the liability for at Jeast twe 
months after the reporting period 

 
 
 
 
 
 

vl e 

 

The company classifies all other liabilities as non-current Oefetred tax assets and liabllitiesare 
cfassified as non-current assets and liabilities. 

 
2.6 Exploration and evaluation assets 

The company's exploration and evaluation assets comprise of exploration and evalu ati on e xpendi tu r  
es  capitalized in,    aspect of projects that are at the exploration and pre-development  s ta ge. T 
hese  assets  are  transferred  to mine devffiopmen t assets, afte< testing  for mi  pa i  rme   n  t, upo n t he
  commencem en t of  m i ne  d ove Jopmen l  Expl oratio n an d ev alua tion exp enditu re In the 
rele v ant  a r e a of interest comprisescosts which are directly attributablet o; 

• Acqu i s i tio n: 

• Surveying . g  eo   l ogical , geochem i ca  l  and geophys i ca l ; 

• E xploralory drilling; 

• Land maintenance: 

• Sampl fng; and 

• Assess ing toc hnlcal fea sibility and comme rci al viabi lrty. 

 
C apitalized exploration and evalua tion expenditure related to  an  area of  interost wheret he 
com pa ny has tenu re are tec ord ed at cost less impairment. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

 
2.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
2.6 Exploratlo n and evaluati on assets {Conti nued} 

Noamo rt:2adon charge Is recognized In respect of explorationand evaluation asse.ts 
 

Impairment 
Explorationand evaluationassetsarerevi ewedforimpairmentat eachreportingdateor whenever 

even ts or   changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recovrea bel . 

An   im  p  ai  rment       loss ls recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds 
itsre  coverabl  e amount In determining whether the assets are impaired. manag  emen  t assesses 

several factorsIncluding the Intention to continue to developing the areas of interes t 

 
2.7 Fu rn it ure and equ ipm ent 

 

i. Rec og nit ion 
Fu  mhure and equipment are lnitlaUyrecorded at cost Costcomprisesof the expendi ut 

direct l y attributable to the acquisition (purchase or construction) of theitems. 
 

SubSequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognized as a sepaar 

 
re t ha t is 

 

te asset, 

as appropriate, only whenItrs probab   le  that the future economic benefits associated witht he  item 

wiUf ol w to the VoltGraphite   TanzaniaLimited and the cost  of   the item can  be  measured reliably. 

A ll other repairs andmaintenanceare charged to the income.statement duting the year Inw h i ch 

they are incurred. 

Ii, Measurement after recog nition 
A fter   recognition as an as.. et, an itemof property, plant andequipment shallbe carriedat its cost 

less any accumulateddepreciationand any accumulated impairmenltosses. 
 

Pr  operty    and  equipment  of  the  Volt  Graphite  Tanzania  Limited  are  stated  at  cost  less 
accumulated depreciationand accumulated impairment loses...  Replacement or majorrepair cost 

are capitalized when incurredand if it is probablethat future benefits associated to with the item 

will flow to the groupand the costof the Item canbe measured reliably. 
 

Oepre oia tl on is calculated on a straight-Una method so as to allocate the cos t to the-ir res idua l 

va lues over their estimated useful lives from the time- the asset is brought into use to the time of 

its de-recognition as follows: 
 

Category of noncurrent asset 

Furntture and fitUngs 

Computers 

Us eful ll ves 

8 years 
3 years 

Assets that have an indefiniteuseful life arenot subject to depreciation and are tested annually 

for impairment. Assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed for imp,al ment whenever 

eventsor changes in circumstancesIndicate that the cacrying amount maynot be recoverable. 
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VOLT GRAPHITE T ANZANI A LIMrTEO 
FINANCI AL STATEMEN TS FOR THE YEAR ENOEO 30 JUNE 2018 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont in ued) 

 
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conti nuod) 

 

2.7 Fumit uro and equipment (Continued) 

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverableamount, It Is 

written downImmediately to itsrecoverable amount. 
 

An item of property and equipment and any significant part initiallyreoognizedis de-recognized 
upon disposal or wh.en no future economic benefits are expe<:ted from Its use or disposal. Any 

gain or loss arising on de-recognitionof the asset (catc-ulated as the difference between thenet 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statementof profitor 

loss and other oompreh.ensfve incomewhen the assetis de,,reoognized. 
 

The assets' residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each 

financial year end and adjustedprospectively, if appropriate. 
 

2.8 Translation of foreign currencies 
 

Fu/JCl/onal CU1Y$11Cle s 
Items included in the financial statements of the company are measured using the currency of 

primary economic environm ent In which the company operates (''the functional currency j . The 
flnanclal statements are presented in T anzania Shilling which is the comp.any s functiona l and 
presentation curren,cy 

 

TransacJlons and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated fnto Tanzanian Shillings using the exchange rates 

prevailing on the dates of the transactions. Foreignexchange gains andlosses res u ttlng from th e 
se ttlem e nt of suchtransactions and fromthe translationat period endexctiangerates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominatedIn foreign currencies are recognised In the statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensiveincome. Non-monetary items that are measured at histofical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exch ange rat& at the date of the transaction. 

Non..monetary items that aremeasured at fair value lna foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rates at the date the fair value was determined. 

 
2.9 Financial i nstrument.$ 

The company classifies its fin ancial instruments into the follo'Ning categories: 

i. Financial assets and financial li abili ties at fair value through profit or loss, which 

comprise financial assets and ftnanc!al Uabilities acquired or incurred principally for the 

purpose of selllng or repurchasingin the near tern, or to generate shorMerm profit: 
Ii. Loans and recclvablcs., which oomprise non erivative financia1 assets with fixed or 

determinable payments that are not quoted in an  active ma rket, and ex clude asse,ts  ll!llch 

th e entity intends to sell Immediately or in the near tern, or those which the entity upon 

initiaJrec og nition d es igna tes as at fair value throogh profit or loss. 
iii. Fin ancial li abilities, which oomprise all financial 11ab lllti8 s ex c ept  fr nanclal li abilit!es at fa ir 

va l ue lll r oug h profitor loss. 
 
 

 

INNOVEX©2018 29IPage 

I 
 

' 



VOLT GRAPHITE TANZANI A LIMITED 

FI NAN C I AL STATEMENTSFOR THE YEAR ENDED30 JUNE20 1 8 

 

 

 

2. SI GNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Con tinuod ) 
 

2.9 Financial Instruments (continued) 

 

2.9.1 Financial as.s.ets 

Financial  assets  comprl$e  of  loans and other receivables.  Loan  andr  eceivab le s  are  non ­ 
de rivattves financial assets  with fixed determinable  payments that are not  quoted In the active 

m arl<et AO fnia nc ia f assets arerecognised initially using the trade date accounting which is the 
date the company commits itself to the purchase er sate. 

Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or losses are initially recognised at fa ir value 

and thetra nsac  tino   costs are  expensed In the profit and foss account. AU other cate go r ies of 
financial assets arer  ecorde  d at thefair valueof theconsideration given plus the transactio n cos t 

 

The   company assesses at each year end whether Uiere is objective evidence tha t a fina nc ia l 
assetsi im pa ri ed . If any such evidence exists. an impairment lossis recognised.  Impairmentlo ss 

si the amount by which the canyin.g amount of an asset exceeds Its recove,ab Je amount. 

2.9.2 2 Financ ial liablllties 

Al l finan cia  l   liabllltles are recognised lnitialty at  fair  varue of  the consideratino given plus the 
transa ctfoncoswt  i  th   lhe excep tion of   fin  ancfal fiablllties carried at fari  value throgu h  profiot r   loss, 
which arein  i tiall y recognisedat fair value andChe tr ansaction costs areexpensed in theprofitand 
Joss ac count 

 

All finnac i a l  fl abi   l ities are classified as non--<:ur r ent  except financiaJliabilltiesa t   fari  
p rofit o r loss, thoseexpeciedto be settledin the oompany's normal operating eye,.le 

va tue through 

thosepayable 
or expected to be paid within 12 months of the yaar ended and those which the companydoes 
not have anu nconditional right to defer settfementforat ast12months after the year end. 

 

Fni a   nc ai   l   li abilit i es a r e   de   r ecognised onty  when the obligation  specifiedin the oonlract si 

discharged or cancelledor expire. 

2.10 Trade and other rocelvable 

Trader  ecevi a    bel s   are non detivalive financial  assets with fixed or dete,mtnable payments that 
areno t quoted in  an actfve market. Receivables (including trade and other recevi a   b l es),     are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less anyI mpai   rmen  t   In  te re  st 

in comeis recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-tern,r ecetvabies 
when the recognition of interest would be immaterial. 

 

2.11 fmpairment of financial assets 

Fin ancia l assets, other than those at fait value through profrt o, loss (FVTP L), are assessed fro 

indicators of impairment at the end of eachreportingperiod. Financiat assets am consider  ed  to 
beim pa ir  ed  wtl enthetais objectiveevidence that, as aresult of one or more events that occurred 
after theinitial recognition of the financial asset, theestimated futurecashflowsof theInvetsme  n  t 
have been affected. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

 
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTI NG POLICIES (Continued) 

 

2.11 Impairment of financial assets {Continued) 

For Available forSale (AFS)equityinvestments, a significant or prolongeddeclineIn thefair value 
of the security below Its cost is considered tobe objective evidence of impairment. For all other 
finandal assets. objective evidence of impairmentcould include: 

• significant financialdifficultyof theissuer or counterparty; or 

• breach of contract, such as a default ordelinquencyl.ninterest or principal payments: or 

• It becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or flnan<;ial re organization; 
or 

• The  disappearance  of  an active market for  that  financial  asset  because o f  financial 
difficulties. 

 

For financial assets carriedat amortised cost.. th e amount of the impatrmentloss recognisedis 
the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 

cash flow$, discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. For financial assets 

carried at cost, the amount of the Impairment loss is measured as the difference between the 

asset's carrying amount and the present value- of the estimated future cash flows discounted at 
the current market rate of return fot a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be 
reversed in subsequent periods. 

 
The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss dlrecUy for all 
finan cial asse ts with the excepiton of trade receivables, where ttle carrying amount Is reduced 

through the use of an allowanoe aocount. \Nhen a trade receivableIs considered uncotlectible. It 
is written off against the allowance aocount. Subsequent recoveries of amountspreviously written 
off are credited against the allowance account. 

 
Changes In the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When 

an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously 
recognisedin other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period. 

 

For financial assets measured at amottlsed cost, if. in a subsequent period, the amount of the 

Impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectlvefy to an event occurring 
after the Impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 
through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the 
impairment Is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the 
impairmentnot beenrecognised. 

 
In respect of AFS equity securities, impalrment Josses prev ious l y recogn ised in pr ofit or lo ss are 

not  re versed  thr ough  profi t or lo ss. Any increase In fair value subsequent to an impalrmeA t loss 

Is recognised in other comprehensive income and ae<:umulated unde r the head ing of investm ents 

revalu ation  rese rve.  In  respect   of  AFS debt  securities,  impairment losses are  subsequently 
reversed th.rough pro fit or lo ss if an Increasein the fair value of the investment can be objectively 
related to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairmentross. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

 
2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLI CIES {Continued) 

 
2.12 De-recognitionof financial assets 
VoltGraphite Tanzania Limited derecognisesa financiaJ asset only v1hen the contractualrights to 
the cash flows from the asset expire. or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all 
therisks and rewards of ownershipof theasset to another entity, If thecompanyneither transfers 
nor retains substantially  all the risks and rewards of ownership  and continues to control  the 
transferred asset, the entityrecognisesIts retainedinterestIn theasset and an associated liability 
for amounts it may have to pay. If the company has substantial ty an the risks and rewards of 

ownership of a transferred finan cial asset, it continues to recognise the financial 8$S8t and  atso 

recognises a collateralised borro'Nlng for the proceeds received. 

 
On dereoognltion of a finan cial ass.et in its en tire ty, the differen ce between the asset's carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss 

that had been recognised in other comprehensive Income and acoumulated in equity is 

recognised in profit or loss . 
 

2.13 Provi$ion s 
Provisions  are  recognized  when  Volt  Grapthl e  Tanzania  Limited  has  a  present  legal  or 

constructive obligation as a result of past events; wflen it is rnore lfkely than not that an outflow 

of resources willbe requ ired to settle the obligation; and the amount can be reliably estimat ed . 

Where the company expects a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance 

contract. the reimbursementIs recognized 8$ a separate assetbutonly when the reimbursement 

5s virtually certain. 

2.14 Cash and cashequivalents 
Cash and cash eQulvalents include ca$h in hand and demand and sho-rt term deposits, with 
maturities of three monthsor lessfromthedateof acquisition, thatarereadilyconvertible toknown 

amounts of cash andwhich are subject to anInsignificant risk of changes in value, net of bank 
overdrafts. cash and cashequivalents arecarried at cost which, due to their  short-term nature, 

approximates their fair value 
 

2.16 Trade and other payables 
Liabilities for trade and othe< arnounts payable are c.artled at cost which is the fair value of the 

consideration to be paid In the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to 

Vott Graphtte Tanzania U mlte<l. 

 
2.1 6 Sharo capital 
Ordinary sharesare classified as 'share capital' In equity. Any premium received over and above 

the par value of the shares is classified 3$ ' share premium'  in equi ty.  Incremental costs directly 

attributable to tha issue of new shares or options are shown ln equity as deduction, net of tax, 

fromproceeds. 
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NOTES TO THE FI NANCIAL STATEMENTS (Co1111nuerl) 

 
2. SIGN IFICANT ACCOU NTI NG POLI CIES (Conti nue d ) 

 
2.17 Income tax 
Income tax expense Is the aggregate amount charged/(credited) In respect of current tax and 
deferred tax ind  et  enn  i ning the profit or loss for the year. Tax is recgonzi e   d  in   the statement of 

profito< l oss and other comprehensive income acoount 
 

Current tax: 
Cu rrent   Income tax is the amount of incometax payable on the taxable profit for the year. and 
anya dju stment   to   tax    payable in  respect of  prior  years.  determined in  aocordanoe with  the 

T anzanian Income Tax Act Cap 332 as revised from timeto time. 

Deferred income tax: 
Deferredin   com  e tax Is provided in full on all temporarydifferences except ht ose   arising on the 

in  i  tai    l rec    ognition of anasset or liabllity, other than a business combination, that   at the timeof the 
transa   ciot n   affects neither the accounting nor  taxable profit nor  loss. Deferer d   income tax is 
de te  rmine  d us ing   the llabilitymethod onall temporary differences arising between  the tax bases 
of assets andl ai  b ilit ies and their carrying vatues for financial reporting purpo  se,s us i ng   tax rates 
andlawsenacted or substantively enacted at lhe balancesheet date and expectedto  a pp yl when 
the,eal  te d de f etred i ncome tax   asso   t is  r ea l ized or t11e deferred taxliabHrty isse  ttle  .d 

 

Value Added Tall 
Revenue, s expenses and assets are recognizedne.t of the amount of Value Added Taxex cep t 

w  here   theValue  Added Taxincurred ona purchase of assets or services isno t rec  ovrea b le  f  rom 
thetaxa tio n au t ho  rity, in which case the  Vatue Added Tax is recognized as part of the cosot f 

a  cquis i tion  o  f  the asset or as partof theexpense iiem as applicable: and the net   amount ofValue 

AddedTax re co verablefrom, orpayable to, thetaxationauthority is lncluded as partorfece iv able s 

or payables in the statement of financial positio, n 
 

3. S )GNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 
Preparation of the company's financial statements requires management to makeju dgmen   ts, 
estmi   aets  andassumptions that affect the reported amounts of expenses,assets andt ia  bi l i ties 

as we ll  as   thedi s etosures of contingent liabiliUes atthereporitngdate.Howevre.unce   rtain   tya bou t 
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require materiat adujs tments to 

the carrying amountof the • • set or liability affect in future peroi  d. 

In thep  rocesso f apply i ng the company's accounting policies, managemetnhas used its 
ju  dgmen ts an d  made esUmatesin deter.mining theamount recognizedinlh&financial s  ta temen .ts 
A lthoug h   the se  estimates are based on tho management's knowledge of curretne vents   and 
a  citon  s. actualres u lt  ultimately may differ from these estimates. The most sign ificant us  e of 

judgments and e 1imates are follows: 
 

3.1 In come taxes 
The   company issu  bject to variousgovernment taxes under the Tanzaniantaxal ws  . S ignifcian t 
es Uma tes andju  dgm  ents  are required in determiningthe provisionfor Income taxes on certain 

tran   sa coit ns.  There  are  many  transactions  and  calculations for  which  tiel 

de te  im  tnation ls  u nce  rtainduring the ordinarycourse of busines. s 

u lt im ate tax 

 
 

33( P,a g e 
INNOVEX©2018 

0
 



VOLT GRAPHITE TANZANI A LIMITED 
FINANCI AL STATEMENTS FOR THEYEARENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

 

 

 

,3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Con  tinue d ) 
 

3 . 1    In    com e     ta    xe    s    (Cont i nued} 

W  here the final  tax outcome of  these matters Is different from tho amounts that we   re inltlaUy 
re  co rde,d   suehdi fef   ren   oeswillimpact the income taxand deferredtax provlsfonsin thepe r oi  d ni 

whi ch suchdeterminationis made. 

 
3.2 Exploration and evaluation expenditure 

The company'sac  counting  policy  for  exploration and  evatuaUon  expenditure  resul ts   in t he 
cap i ta l i za  tio  n   o f  the exploraiton expenditure. This policy requires mafl.Sflement   to make oertain 
es  timates and assumptions as to  future events and circumstance,sIn particuJar  w he t her  an 
econmo i cally  v i ab  l e  ext   r action op  erationcan be established.The company isin   the proecsso f 
e xp lo   ring and evaluating its exploration and evaluation assets  and  has not   yet  datennined 
w he  ther  t he  p  roperties  contain  mineral  reseives  that  are  economlcalfy  recovrea bel. The 
reco vera  blflty  o f th e amoun  ts sh o wn for explorationand evaluation assets isdep  enden t u pon   the  e 
xJtse n ce o f econ om i ca Uy recoverable mineral reserves, the ability of the company toob tain necessaryf 
ina nc  ing t o   comp let  e   the development of those mineral reserves  andupon   fu tu re 
pro d uc ti on o r p roceedsfrom the disposition thereof. 

- 4. GOI NG CONCERN 
Volt Gra p hi te   T anz.ania  Lirnitedis  stlU condu cting  exploration activities  and  haveno t yet 

commen ced trading activities and therefore do not have any income.Tho Paren  t   Companyhas 
beenpr o  vidin g fina ncia l support to meet the costs for administration and exploration activities. 
Dur ing the year ended 30  June 2018, lh e Company made a  loss from operalions ofTZS 
,3  1 33,  0 8, 4032  (2017: TZS 2,625,336.6-00) and as at  that date,  had negativeequ i ty  o  f   TZS 
6, 683,   1 0,7 2 4 2 (20 1 7: TZS 3,550,023,211). SlgMicant doubt on the going concern status of the 
Company may be cast if  the Parent Company, for any reason, stops providing fundign   for Its 

a dm in  is  traivt  e  and operationaJ needs, These conditions indicate that the ability of   the Company 
to cont in  ue as a going concern largelydepends oncontinued availablllly of financial  support form 

i ts Pa rentCompany to meet hs administrativeand exploration costs. 
 

The  Company's parent company (Volt ResourcesLimited), a company Incorporat ed  in Aus tar  l,ia 

hascon firmedits commitment to continue providing tt with financial support tomeet itsmatu r i ng 
o igationsin a letter of supportdated1ot1July 2018. This commitment toprovied f inan cia l s uppo  rt 

wilrlem ain i.n place until the Company finishes the explorationphase and commencser evenua ge n  
erating mining activities and attain profitabel  operations that wfltenable it to meet i1s matruing   o b l  ig  
a tkm s  wit   ho   u t  the assistanceo f theParentCompany. Accordingly, these financial  statements 
ha ve beenprepared on thebasisof accounting policies applicab$& to a goingcon ce.rn 

5. REVENUE 

No   revenue was earned year ended 30 June 2018. Volt Graplllte Tanzania Limited Is stillni   t he 

e  xpl oration phase a.nd thus did not conduct activltJes that generated income In theperiodunder 
review . 
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6. Adm in ist rative expenses 
Travel a ftd accommodation 
Accountingfees 

Audit  fees 
Bank fees 
Casual labour 
Application fees 
Cleaningandhygiene 
Community consultation groups 
Company secretarial fees 
Compensation fees 
l eg al fees-internaitonal  
Consumable small tolls & equipment 
DD-consumalebs 
Depreciation 
Directorsfees 
Oonations/spooSOfships 
Filling/stattuoryfees 
Financial modelllng 
Flights--domestic(Tanzania) 
Food staff accommodation 
Fuel 
Funeral 
Generator maintenance 
Insuranceon pubilcliability 
Internet(hosting, subscrtptionsElc.) 

Immigration 
IT repaJrs and maintenance 
IT Softwa,e subscriptionsandlicenses 

Legalfees-domestic 

U censes 
Labour him 
Maintenance 
Maintenanc•eplanned renovations 
Maintena11ce -spares 
Meals and entertainment 
Medical 
Memberships 
Notificationof traffico ffences 
Office supplies 
Pal1<i ng 
Personal protectionequpi ment 
Petrol 
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1,348,000 896,369 
 1,187,271 

1,294,086  

635,673  

162,296,082 100,000 
30,000 715,000 

1,09 1,327,280 1,105,813,504 
2,109,853 4,287,196 

567,000  

488,000  

23,608,236 
208,700 794,179 

11 ,241,200  

30,000 
756,300 31,328,498 
1 10 , 290 46,100 

2,023,746 
6_3J),237 

 

 

2018 
  TZS  

2017 

TZS 
 
251 ,5 32,681 

 

205,77, 1031 
107 ,8 96,6 01 29,584,091 

16,955,592 31,207,026 
11,413,999 9,163,396 
25 ,20 6,60 0 97, 968,628 

 1,981,910 
130,000  

6,764 ,6 00 16,21 4,000 
52,117,491 31,546,199 

 2,915,000 
3,434,132  

6,863,442  

1,689,032  

5,914,587 285,372 
81,476,00 4  

12,500,661  

79,000  

35 ,841,29 7  

26, 281,723 14, 6 099,960 
1,262,214  

35,510,080 72,279,721 
21,153 ,027 

10,000 
4,532,000 
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ENTS (Conl inued) 

- 
6. Administrativeexpenses (Continued) 

Expo rts 

Postage and couirers 
Rent and outgoings 
Roadshows   
Royalty 
Share regl$1ry 
Stati onary and prtn ting 

Stampduty 
Taxis Etc. 
T e!ephones.-mob i!es 
Tenement rents 
Training 
Visitorsvisas 
Wate,and electricity 
Consultancy(Australia) 

 

2018 2017 

  TZS TZS 

32,88 9,040 
1 00,432,867 236 ,307 

69 ,429 , 262 17 ,1 2, 1 131 
64,926,951 

780,100 
110,000,016 

4, 299,335 2,022,900 
 581,591 

6,193,820 200,979 
7,619,302 9,501,780 

248,794,124 280,018,301 
11,600,000  

110,000 
1,104,717 604,000 

163,594, 448    

  2,773,082,060 2,155,301,608 

 

7. Exploration and evaluation assets 
exploration Costof Bunyu Project: 

Beginningbal.ance 
 

Costs incurred duringthe period: 
ARD test w o fl<. 

Assays -diamondcore InclSG 
Assays-RC Sample 
Bench scale test work • 
Consultants general 
Consumabel..Qiamond 
Consumabel ..Re 
Corporateadvisory 
Drilling 

Design studies 
Downhole survey 
Earth moving & roads(rentalsetc,) 
ESIA and EIA studies-mine 
Approval & licensingcosts 
Geool gical informationsystems 
Geolog i sts 
G eographlcalsurvey 

 
 
 
 
 
 

247,722,805 
181,733,387 

9,110,297 
21,078,616 
45,692,678 

616,661,729 
6,200,000 

16,207,310 
21,456,966 

424,718,340 
147,604,400 

34,224,882 
1,63 2,595 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
35,167,326 

 

 
1,927,323,785 

 

74,859,000 
414,951,147 
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7. Exploratlon and evaluation assets 
(Continued) 

Geophysical survey 

Geophysics (consultants) 

Geotechnlcal 

Graphtte 

Human resources 
Hydrogeologicala$sessmetn 

In direct consultants (support) 

Infrastructure studies 

Lowbedhiring 

Materilashandling -ore 
Mine plann!ng& ore reserve 
PM C-feasibi\itystudy management 
Risk assessments 
Survey control 
Vehicles rental 

 
2018 

  TZS  

 
 
 
 

6 2,817,8 22 

175,363,547 

19,878,760 

299,212,823 
61,978,149 

475,269,696 

 
 

272,961,236 
2,045,130,268 

102,630,140 

2017 
  TZS  

 
 

26,968.724 
3,257,351,368 

 

 

 

 
 

6,830,000 
20,007,000 

 
 

Capitalized e xploration expenditure represents the accumulated cost o f the holding and 
exploration of the Bunyu Projectin Mtwara. Ultimate recovery of these costs isdependenton the 
successful d evelopment a nd commarcial exploitation of the projectand its areas of interest 

 

8. FU RN IT URE AND EQUIPMENT  
Office 

furnituer 

 
 

Compuerts Total 

2018   TZS TZS TZS  

c ost 

As at 1st July 

Addition duringthe year 
 

 

Accumulated de preciation 
As at 1st July 

Chargefor the yea,   !2,331,6211 !3,582.965! !5,914,586!  
  !2,616,993! (3,582,965! !6,199,958L 

As at 30th June 16,321,337  - 14,695,773 31,017,110 
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16,830,400 222,065,643 

  374,988,395    466.433.751  

18, 273,571,141 12,481.787.660 
 

18,938,330 4,871,968 23,810,288 
 13,406,78 0 13 ,406,78 0 

18,938 ,330 1,8 278,738 37,217 ,0 68 

 

1286,372) 
 

1285,372) 
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8. FURNITURE AND EQUIPMENT (Co n tinued) 

- Office 
 
 

2017 

Cost 

As at 1st July 

furniture Computers Total 
  TZS TZS TZS 

Addition duriog the year   18.938.330 4,871,958 23.810.288 
18,938,330 4,871.958 23,810,288 

 

Accumulated depreciation 
As at 1st July 

Charge for theyear   285,372 285,372 

  285.372 285.372 
As at 30.,Juno 2017   18,652,958 4,871,958 23,524,916 

 
2018 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• 

 
 
 

 
As at 30 June 2018, Volt Resources Limited held 99 ordinary shares of the company while 

Mozambi Graphite P1yLi mifed hold 1 ordinary share. 
 

 
12. LI ABILITY DUE TO RELATED PARTIES 

Volt Resources Limifed (Note 15) 

2018 

   TZS 
25,218,19 3,466 

2017 

  TZS  
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  TZS TZS 
9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES   

Deposits 19,749,202 21,960,100 

Sundry debtors 21,728,347 2,590,584 

VAT ,eoeivables   240, 241,182  

 281,718,731 24,550,684 

10. CASH AND CASHEQUIVALENTS 
  

Bankbalance 1 3,824,336   70,286,754 

11. SHARE CAPITAL 
Authorised 

  

2,000 Ofdinary shares of TZS 1,000 eadl 2,000,000 2,000,000 

Issued and fully paid 
Called up and fully paid 

  

100 ordinary shares of TZS 1,000each   100,000  100,000 

 



 

- 
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12.LIABILITY DUETORELATI:D PARTIES (Contin uod) 

VottResources limned, acompanyincorpo111ted in Ausltala 0\\1'\SMozamlliGrftj)hlto Ply Umltod. 

The balance due refers 10 funds that Voll Resources Llmiled has advanced Volt Graphlle 

Tanu,nia Limited In execution of i1s act Mtles, Repayn,enl of !he liallility Is dependent oo the 

disooveJy of economic reserves Including the ablllly of the company lo raise auffci lentfinance.s 

The balanco donot carry any interest andnoneof the company's aasets arepledged against this 

balance. 

2018 2017 
 

 

 

 

 

- 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The company la ,1m under expl0<ation stage andhasnot started canmetdal mining activi!Jes 

and dJd no t record any Income.. As a l'GSult, it reported a loss for the year under review. 
Corporate '"" Is not cha'lled in r.,., of tho Joss made by the company during the reporting 
peroi d. However, the company's taxa ffair&are subject to assessment and agreement wfth rhe 
Tanzania Revenue Authocity. 

b. Deferred uo.• 
Directors have not recognzi ed deferred tax asset or liability ainoe there are no expectaitOns to 

recover differed taxesinthe ne• future. 

16. RELATI:0 PARTY TRANSACTIONS ANO BALANCES 
 

ldontffication Of related parties 

Panias are considered to be related W on e party has the ability to conltot !he othe< p8lly and 
exercisesignificant -.neeover the party in making nnancial and operatingdecisions. 

 
Thecompany's relaled parties consist of holding companies andkey management personnel. 
Key management personne,l  as defin«t by IAS 24,  Re/oled Patty DisdosJNB1,  8111 those 
persons helling authority and respon81bility for planning,directing anilcontrolling the activfties 
of tho enl!ty, diA!dly Of lndiredly, incl\J<ling anydlrect0<(whether executive« olhe<wiso) of tha t 
enU1y. 
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13. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES   TZS   TZS  
Accommodation-domestic 2,679,000  

HR & Ar:,; payables 1,078,015  

Audit fee p;,yable 20,397,956 31,207,026 
Company secretarial fee 5,382,796  

Director seivl ces fee 5,551,. 63  

Legalfee 14,318,235  

Sundry creditor&  1,078,015 
Wilhholding tax payable 5,970,141 15,242,730 
Oth8< payables 9,6670, 9 ,3 244,451 

 66,045,103 50,772,222 

1, 4 TAXATION 

a. Income tax ox.pense 

  

 



 

• 
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15. RELATED PARTY TRANS ACTIONS AND BALANCES {Continuod ) 
 

2018 

 

 
2017 

Transactions 

Tronsactlons withVolt Resources Limited 
Directexpenses paid onbehalf 
Financingreceived during the period 

  TZS    TZS  

 
 

Remunreationto key management perso,me:l 
Key managem8flt personnel of the companycomprise of its directors. Duringthe year ended 
30 June201,8 directorsdidnot receive any financial or non financialbenefit from the compan,y 
apartfrom Directorsfee paid to AsimweKabunga,asdetailed in note 6. 

 
 

Balances 
Llablllty due to Volt Resources Um/fed 
Openingbalance 
Ad d ttions during the year 

As at 30 June 
 
 

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABIL ITIES 

 

16, 1 Fair value of financial instruments 

Set out belowIsa comparison byclass of the carrying amounts and fatr values of thecompany's 

financial instruments. 

 
 

Fi nanci al assots 

Ttadeandother receivables 
Cashand cashequivalents 

2018 
  TZS  

 

28 1 ,71 8,73 1 
1 3 ,82 4,335  

295,543. 066 

2017 2018 2017 
  TZS  TZS TZS 

 

24,550,684 281,718,731 24,550,684 
70,286,754 13,824,336 70,286,754 

94,837.438 295,543,066 94.834 438 
 

 

 

 

Financial 
llablltiies 
Trade and 

 
2018 

  TZS  

 
2017 2018 2017 
   TZS TZS TZS 

otherpayables 
liability due to 
relatedparites 

6,  5 046,103 
 

26,.218,193,456 
25,283,238,559 

50 ,TT2,222 
 

16 ,099,401,001  
16 ,150, 173,223  

65 ,045 ,1 03 
 

25 ,21,8,19 3,456 
25,283,238,559 

so,n 2.222 
 

16,099,401,001 
16,150,173,223 

 

Carrying valuesof thefinancialinstrumentsapproximates the fair val es noadjustments needed. 
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5,063,360,046 8,007 ,194,6 09 

4,055,432,4-09 2,845 ,333,489  

9, 118,79 2, 454 1 0 .8 52 ,528 ,099  

 

2018 

  TZS  

2017 

  TZS  

16,099,401,002 5,246,872,904 

9,118,792,454 10,852,528,099 

25,218,19, 3 456 16,099,401,003 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS iCononued) 
 

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS ANO LIABILITIES (Continued) 

16.2 Financial Instruments by c.atogory 

 
 

 
Loa.ns and receivables 

2018 

 

 

 

2017 
Financial assets 

Trade and ottlerrecoivat,les 
Cash and cash equivaol nts 

  TZS  

28f ,718,731 

13,824,335 
295,543g066 

  TZS  
24,550,684 

  70.288754  
  94.837 438  

 

 

 
financial llabilitlos 

Trade andothet payables 
UabR1ty due torelated patties 

Financial llabilltles at amorttz.ed cos t 
2018 2017 

- --
6
=
5
=
,04
-
6
T
,1
"Z
0
'
3
S  

50,772
T
,2
Z
22
S 

25,218,193,466 1 
25,283,238.659 . 

 

The table belowshows ananalysisof the financial lnstn,ments at a fair valueby leY<II of the fair 
value hio!e,clly. The financial lnstnmentsare groupedInto levels 1 to 3 based on the degree 
to Which fair valueIs obserroblo. 

 

(l) Level 1: Fair value measurements are lhoso derived from quoted prices(unadjusted)in 
active in actlve markets for Identical assets or liabliities. 

(Ii) Level 2: Fair value measuremerns are those derived fromlnpulS othe< than quoted price 
Included within levot 1 that ere observable for the assets or Uabilities. either directly(i.e.as 
a prico)orindirectly (I.e.derived from prices); and 

(ii) Level 3· Fair value measurements arethose derivedfromvaluationtechniques that include 
Inputs tor Iha assalSor llablltty that aro based on observable market data (unobse<vable 
In puts) 

Thetablebelow shows ananalysis ot th& financial lnstn,mentsat a fair value bylevelof the fair 
value hierarchy The financial lnslrumenm aregroupedInto levols 1 to 3 based on the degree 
to ..i,ich falr value Is ob&ervable. 

- 16.3 Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments 

 
 

2018 
FinanclaJ assets 

Level 1 

  TZS  
Level2 

  TZS  
Level 3 

  TZS  
Total 

  TZS  

Trade andother,eceivables  281,718,731  281,718,731 

Cash and cash equivael nts    13,8 24, 335    13,824,335 
    295,643,066    295,543,066 
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- - 

- 

- 

- 

- 

, 6 099 ,401,001 
16 150,173.223 

 



 

II 

25,283,2_38,659 
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16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Contlnued) 

 

16.a Fatr 'Jalue hJerarchy of financial Instruments (Continued) 
 

 

 
2018 (Continued) 

Flnanclal liablll tles 

Trade and olh<lf 
payable• 

Uablflty due 10 

Level 1 

  TZS  

Levol2 

  TZS  

 
 
 

65,045,103 

Level3 

  TZS  
Total 

  TZS  

 
 
 

65,045,103 

relatedparties    
   

25,218,19 3,456    

   

25,21, 8 193,456 

25,283, 238: 559  
 

2017 

Financial assets 
Tr ade and olh« 

reoelvabloa 
Cash and cash 
equrvalenbl    

   

 

 
 

24,5 50,68 4 

 

   

   

 

 

 
24 ,550 ,6 84 

 

Financial lfabllftles 
Trade and 0111« 

payables 
Liability due torelated 

parUes    

 

 
50,772,22 2 

 

 
50,772,222 

 
   16,0ll9,401,003 

   16,150,173,225    16,15, 0173,225 
 

17. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND OBJECTIVES 

The mainrisks arlolng fromlhecompany's finandalinstruments""'creditrisk, foreign exct,onge risk 
and liquidity rls.k.   Information aboutthe company'sexposure to each of these riska, its obj 

ectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing the risksIssummarized below; 

(I) Crodlt risk 

Qedt risk Is the risk of finanoal los5 to the company in an event where a counterparty to a 

financial instrument falls tomeet itscon aClualobligaUons, 1he risk arisesprinclpaffy from trade 

and other receivables. As Illecompany doesnol have any sa1esyet, lhis risk ls fimlted. 

The company's financial assets comprioe of cash and cash equivalents as well as other 

recetvables. The creoriskoncash and c.. h equivalenls Is limitedbecause thecompany banks 
withreputable benks lh at have high credlt•ratings. 
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70 , 286 ,75 4 

- 

70, 288 , 7 54 

94 . 83 7,438 

 

16 , 099 , 40 1 , 00 3 
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N O TE S l'O THE FIN ANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

 
17. FINANCI AL RISK M ANAGEMENTAND OB J EC TIVES (Continued) 

 
(i} Foreign exehangorisk 
The compa11y u ndertakescertani transacitonsdenominated in foreign currencies and e xposures 
lo exchange rate fluctuations therefore  a rise. The currencychangescan result in unperdictable 
gainsor lossesto the company. Volt Graphite Tanzania Limited does not hedge againstforeign 
currencyrisksas management holds most of ttscash in a stable currency which Is US$.  As at 
the reporting da te the companyhad a foreign currencyexposure resulting ma in!y from the ltclb ility 
due to related parties and audit fee payable which  are  denominated in  US$.  The  net  foreign 
monetary liability stood at US$ 11,126,835 (2017: US$ 7,183, 256); an equlvaJent of TZS 

25,218,192,650 (2017: TZS 16,124,083.128) as translated at an exel>ange rate of TZS 

2,266.43/US $ (2017: TZS 2241.24 /US$) whi ch was ruling asat reportingdate. 

tf Tanzanian Shillings strengthened or weakened by 5% the reported gain or loss on foreign 
oxel>ange would be  higher or lower by TZS 1,260,459,rn 1 (2017: TZS 803,319,919)  as seen 
below. 

 

2018 2017 

 

Exch.anga rate 
 

Assets 

Cash andcash 
equivalents 

 
Liabilities 

Trade    and other 
p,iyables 
Llabillty due to 

relatedparties 
 

Net foreign 
denominated 

monetary llablUty 

 
G;;1i n or loss when 
TZS strengthens or 
weakness by 5% 
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TZS US$ 
2,266.43 

TZS USS 
2,241.24 

 
9,009,626 

 
3,975 

 
64,209,285 

 
28,649 

   
31,207,026 

 
13,924 

25,21, 8 193.456 11 ,12 6,8 35 16,099,401,003 7,183,256 

2s,21s,103,456 11,126,835 16,1306, 08,029 7 197180 

 

(25,209,183,830) 

 
tlj,122,860) 

 

(16.066,398.385) 

 
(7,16a.531) 

 
1,260,459,191 

  
803,319,919 
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1 .7  FI NANC IAL  RISK MANAGEMENT AND OBJECTIVES (Continu&d) 

 

(Ill)Liquidity risk 

LiquJdity is th&ca  paci ty   to  meetcash and ooUatetal oblrgat!ons without incurring unaoceptab!e losse. s Liquidity risk is the riskt ha t   thecompany will 
not be able to meet Its financ!aol b l gi a   tfons a:s they fall due. The company's approach tomanagign l iqu  i d i ty   is   to ensure, asfa r   asposs i b le,   I t   will 
always have st1fficient tlqui d i ty to meet itsliabilitieswhen du, e under bothnonn.aJandS!fessedcondi tio ns,    without Incurring unacceptable rossesor 
risking damageto    the    company's reputation. Liqudi ity is ful'ther managed by monitorll\g cash flows forecast to ensuret ha t   the company has 
adeq:u.a.tecash l'esourcos tomeet11$ short -te rmcommitments. 

 
The table beof w     is   anun di  scoutneccr as h   flow analysis for both financial  assets and financial liabilitei s th-at a.re presentedIn   the statements of 
rlnanciaJ position aOCO(ding to the ir OOfltractual maturi tiesat thestatement of financiaJ positionda te. 

 

Contractual cash flow1. 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

1 1 

 

 
 

Ca' 'shandballkbalance's 
. 

'""' 
Liablli ti es 13::: 1 

Trade.a ndothi rpayab\es 5, 0 772,222 
Liabi Wdue to(elate/d arties _ 

\  . _ j 50,772   , 222         

 
 

 

16,099.401.003 

 
 

50,772 . 2 22 
  16 ,099    ,40  1, 003  

Liquldlty , i• k g IV 22,105.116 _    

© IN NOVEX 2 0 1 8 

2 1 ,960    . 1 00   = 
16,099,401,003 

(16.099,401.0ol ) 
1 6,150 ,1 73 ,225  
1),6.055 .335,78 7}  

44 1 P a g e 

19,286,754       24.550.684 

7 2,877 ,3:la          1.960, 100    
  70,286,754 

_94.837 ,4 :la  
 

 
2 018 

Assots 

0-1 
m onths 

TZS 

1-2 
months 

  T S  

3-6 

months 
TZS 

6-12 
months 

  .........R!>  

Above12 
months 

  TZS  

 
Carry·ing amounts 

_   _   _ _  _ TZS 

Trade andother feceivables 
Gash and bank baJances 

21,728,347 
13,!124 ,335  

 
   

  
259,990,384 

 

281,7 1 8,731 

Liabillt1es 
iradeand other payables 

35,552,682 
 

65,045,10·3 

         
2 59,990,38-4_ 

  13 ,824,335_ 
295 ,64 3 , 066 

Liability d ue to relaled parties 
 
Liquidi ty risk P 

' 
2017 

   

65,045,103 

(2.1!,492,421)  

   

   

      

   

   

1s 21s 19 3,456  

25 ,218,193 ,456  

.,,J2, 4,958,203,072} 

65,045,103 

- s,.,218 11 9•3   456 _ 
25,283,238,559 

&  ,987,695.493) 

A $SGt&· , . , 
1

 

Trade and other receivables 
 

2.590, 584 

  
21.960.100 
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18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

 
18.1 Capital commitments 
There were no capital commitments as at the reporting date{2017: Nil) 

 
18.2 Contingent ltabllltles 
As at the reporting date, Volt Grapl11te Tanumia Limited had contingent tlablllties relating to 

withholding tax  amounitng  to  TZS   1,156,273,754  (2017:  TZS  591,876,591).   Appropriate 
wi thholding taxes were deducted and paid to the Tanzania Revenue Authority for all payments 

made bythe Company out of the Company's bankaccounts, in accordance withSection 82(1) of 

the Income Tax Act 2004 (Revised Edition 2007). The parent company in Australia made 
payments to both domestic and foreign so.rvice provlde l'S (outside of Tanzania), primatlly to 
consultantscompleting tilepre-feaisbilltyand teasiblllty sltldyevaluationson the Bunyu Graphite 
project. frombankaccounts in theparent company's nameheld In Australia. The parent company 
did not \\lithhold and remit Income taxes in Tanzania. The parent company has allocated 
expenditure to the Company through the 

4 LiabUity due to related parties account". No provision 
for withholding talC has beenraised in the Company's books. The tax affairs of the company are 
subject to assessment by theTanzania Revenue Authority. When the rele\lant expenditure is paid 

by the Company to the parent company outskle of Tanzania, withho kfing taxes in the order of the 

amounts noted above, will likely become payable to theTanzaniaRevenue Authority. 
 

19. OPERAT ING LEA SE 

Operating lease arise as the company leases its offioe space. In the period under review. Volt 
Graphite Tanzania Limited entered a one year operating lease agreement for rentof office 

space at US$ 2,184 /YATinclusive)per month effective from 1 Ap<il 2018. As at 30 June 
2018, management had the followfn9 outstanding te, ase comm i tment 

 

2018 
  TZS  

2017 
  TZS  

Within 1 year 14,913,171    

 
As at 30 June 2018, directors were committed 10 payment of annual rents for prospecting 

licences as follows: 

 
 

Within 1 year 
More than1 year but less than 5 years 

2018 
TZS 

252,129,473 
 

252,12   473 

 

L a 

2017 
TZS 

249,407,428 
26,310,082 

275,717,510 
. ' 
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• On 17October20 1 8 , theBunyu mining lioencesweregranted by theTanzanai 

- 
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FI NAN CI AL   ST AT EM EN TSFOR THE YEAR ENDED30 JUNE  2018 

20. EV  EN TS AFT ER  REPORTING PERIOD 

 

• Co mple   toi n of the Stage 1 Bunyu Graphite Project Feasibility Study   with lhe  results 
publicly released31 July 2018. 

• M,r MatthewBullresigned as a Non-executive director of the Company effective9 Juty 
2018 . 

• On  I     August  2018, a socond binding offtake was  signed1111th   Qingdao Tiangshengda 
Graphite for 9,000 tonnes per annum of Bunyu Graphite prOcfuct. whci h   represents 

approximately 40% of forecast annual proOuction from the Stage1 proje c. t In  addition 
a   Co-operation agreement was signedwithHaida Graphtte fn lateAuguts20 1.8 

• The  En vrfonme ntal Certificate  and Environmental Cond ions werere  celv  ed from the 
NEMC on 3 September 2018. 

• A  revisedPr  opse  ctus(IM)was lodgedwith theTanzanianregulators on 17August 2018 
fo r approva l of the US$30 to US$40million Note Issue to be listed on lhe Dar es Salaam 

- 
Stock Exchange. 

of Mnf  era J,s Mi ning  Commisison  covering  the  respective  stage 1 and  stage 2 
developments of the Bunyu Graphite Project with reference numbers Ml  00648/201 8 
and ML 00649/2018 respectively. 

Apart from eventsdisclosed above there are no other significant subsequent events that have 
oc curerd  whci h  aree i ther tobe disclosed or to be adjusted in the financial s  ta temen ts that 
could mateirallyaffect the financilastatement.s 

 

20. CO M PERA TI VE FIGURES 

1Mlenevre   necessary,  comparative  figures have  been rec!assrtie-d to  conform  to changes ni 
p<esentation In the current year. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INNOVEX©20 18 
 

46 1P a g e 

Ministry 



 

Admission Document Volt Graphite Tanzania Plc 

 
 
 

Annexure 2: Competent Persons’ Report 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Competent Persons’ Report1 Incorporating Stage 1 Feasibility 

Study Information for the Bunyu Graphite Project, Tanzania 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
November 2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1 Prepared In accordance with Schedule 10 of the DEM Listing Rules 



 

 
 
 

12 November 2019 

 
The Board of Directors 

Volt Graphite Tanzania Plc 

Dar es Salaam 

Tanzania 
 

 
Dear Sirs 

 

BUNYU PROJECT – COMPETENT PERSONS’ REPORT INCORPORATING STAGE 1 
FEASIBILITY STUDY INFORMATION 

 

The Bunyu Project in the Lindi Region, South East Tanzania, is currently 100% owned by Volt Graphite 

Tanzania Plc (Volt). Volt holds two mineral licences which provide the rights to mine and produce graphite 

from an area of approximately 18 km2 in the project location described as Bunyu 1. 

In 2017, Volt commissioned a Feasibility Study (FS) into the development of a small-scale Stage 1 Project. 

The FS is based on a mining and processing project to produce flake graphite from the Bunyu Stage 1 

Graphite Project (the Project) and was completed on 31 July 2018. 

The Competent Persons’ Report (the Report) incorporating Stage 1 Feasibility Study Information includes 

information that complies with the Development and Enterprise Market (DEM) rules, specifically Schedule 

10 sections 4.2 and 4.3. The Report has been completed in accordance with the guidelines of the 

Australasian Code for the Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves prepared 

by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, Australian 

Institute of Geoscientists and Minerals Council of Australia, December 2012 (the JORC Code). A FS is 

defined in the JORC Code as a comprehensive technical and economic study of the selected development 

option for a mineral project. On this basis, the Report, which includes the Stage 1 FS information, exceeds 

the reporting requirements under the DEM rules. 

The Report includes Mineral Resources which have been classified and reported in accordance with the 

guidelines of the JORC Code. In addition to the exploration, geological information and Mineral Resources 

definition contained in the Report, Annexure 2 sections 1, 2 and 3 summarise the assessment and 

reporting criteria used for the 2018 Bunyu 1 resource model. 

The Mineral Resource estimates were prepared by Mrs Christine Standing. Mrs Standing, Principal of 

Optiro and Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, fulfils the requirements of a 

Competent Person as defined in the JORC Code and accepts responsibility for the Mineral Resource 

estimate in the form and context in which it appears in the Competent Persons’ report. Optiro is an 

independent consulting and advisory organisation which provides a range of services related to the 

minerals industry. The principal office of Optiro is at 16 Ord Street, West Perth, Western Australia, and 

Optiro’s staff work on a variety of projects in a range of commodities worldwide. 
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The estimation and reporting of the Bunyu Stage 1 FS Ore Reserve is in accordance with both the 

guidelines of the JORC Code and the requirements for a FS to be underpinned by an Ore Reserve. The 

Report contains the mining study and associated information including the Ore Reserve. Annexure 2 

section 4 summarises the assessment and reporting criteria used for the Bunyu Stage 1 FS Ore Reserve. 

The Ore Reserve estimate has been compiled by Mr Ross Cheyne, Director of Orelogy Mine Consulting 

and Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Mr Ross Cheyne fulfils the 

requirement of a Competent Person as defined in the JORC Code and accepts responsibility for the Ore 

Reserve estimate in the form and context in which it appears in the Competent Persons’ report. Orelogy 

is an independent consulting services provider with a skilled team of mine planning professionals 

experienced across a wide range of commodities, locations and project types. The principal office of 

Orelogy is at 162 Colin Street, West Perth, Western Australia. 

 

 
Yours faithfully 

 
Optiro Pty Ltd Orelogy Mine Consulting 

 

 
Christine Standing 
Principal Consultant 

 

 
Ross Cheyne 
Director 
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Introduction 
Volt Graphite Tanzania Plc (Volt) is a graphite development company based in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. Its 

strategy is to develop a graphite mining and processing project to produce flake graphite from the Bunyu 

Graphite Project (the Project). Based on a two-stage development strategy, the aim is for Volt to become 

one of the three largest flake graphite producers in the world. The Bunyu Project is 100% owned by Volt, 

which in turn is 100% owned by Volt Resources Limited (VRC) an Australian company listed on the 

Australian Securities Exchange (ASX). 

The Project is located on two mining licences in the South-East of the United Republic of Tanzania 

(Tanzania) in Eastern Africa, close to existing transport infrastructure including sealed roads and a deep- 

water port. 

Volt completed a Prefeasibility Study (PFS) in December 2016, for a project with a total JORC Resource of 

461 Mt at 4.9% Total Graphitic Carbon (TGC), a 22-year mine life and Net Present Value (NPV) before tax 

of US$1,310M with a payback period of 1.4 years. Refer Australian Securities Exchange announcement 

ASX:VRC dated 15 December 2016 titled “Pre- Feasibility Study Completed”. 

Subsequently, as a strategy for de-risking the development of the full-scale project, Volt investigated a two- 

stage approach to project development starting with a smaller scale Stage 1 start-up project. As well as 

establishing local relationships, project development and logistics paths, this will provide commercial 

quantities of graphite products for product marketing, developing downstream processing options and will 

assist the negotiation of offtake contracts for the main Stage 2 development. 

This Competent Person Report (the Report including the annexures) has been prepared in accordance 

with the Development and Enterprise market (DEM) listing rules, in particular Schedule 10. The Report 

has been completed in accordance with the guidelines of the Australasian Code for the Reporting of 

Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves prepared by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee 

of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, Australian Institute of Geoscientists and Minerals 

Council of Australia, December 2012 (the JORC Code). 

The Company has prepared a Feasibility Study for Stage 1 which was completed on 31 July 2019. The 

Stage 1 Feasibility Study results and information has been included in this Report to present a 

comprehensive technical and economic summary of Volt’s development ready Stage 1 Bunyu project. 
 

Feasibility Study Key Outcomes and Highlights 
The Bunyu Stage 1 Feasibility Study (FS) was based on a mining and processing plant annual throughput 
rate of 400,000 tonnes to produce on average 23,700tpa of graphite products. The FS financial analysis 
showed favourable NPV and IRR over a payback period of 4.4 years. The capital and operating cost 
estimates used for the FS have been prepared to an accuracy of ±15%. 

The 2018 mineral resource models were used to determine the Stage 1 FS Ore Reserve. The selected mining 

scenario, based on the outcomes of an open pit optimisation, was for three pits to be developed over 7 

years with a total of 2.8Mt of mill feed being mined. The Ore Reserve reported within the pits comprises 

46% Proven and 54% Probable Ore Reserves. 
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Figure 1: Overall location map for the Bunyu Graphite Project 
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Figure 2 shows the planned layouts of the Bunyu 1 area. As well as the Bunyu 1 Stage 1 mine, the operation 
includes the processing plant and associated infrastructure. The planned location of the Stage 2 plant and 
infrastructure is also identified in Figure 2. 

 

Figure 2: Bunyu 1 - Project Layout 
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Financial Outcomes 
Based on the technical, operating and financial parameters used for the Stage 1 Feasibility Study, the 

following key financial metrics are derived per Table 1 below: 
 

Table 1: Bunyu Stage 1 FS - Financial Performance Summary 
 

Stage 1 Project 
Financial 

Performance 

Project Period - from first ore years 7.1 

Total Net Revenue US$ M, real 268.6 

Total EBITDA US$ M, real 93.6 

IRR - before tax %, real 21.0 

IRR – after tax* %, real 19.3 

NPV @ 10.0% - before tax US$ M, real 18.6 

NPV @ 10.0% - after tax* US$ M, real 14.7 

Capital Cost (year 0) US$ M, real 31.8 

Payback Period - after tax - from first ore years 4.4 

* Tanzanian corporate income tax rate of 30% has been applied to the project plus minimum tax (MTA) of 0.5% 
of sales revenue in loss years. Payments of corporate tax on profits are estimated to commence from year 5 of 
production, after utilising the benefits of carried forward income tax losses. 

 
Sensitivity analysis was undertaken for five key economic drivers being graphite prices, feed grade, mineral 
recovery, capital expenditure and operating expenditure as shown in Table 2 and Figure 3 below. The 
sensitivity range used is +/- 30% movement from the FS estimate for each of the drivers. Revenue factors 
have the largest impact on project economics with graphite prices having the largest impact on NPV. 
Expenditure sensitivity analysis highlights the Bunyu Stage 1 FS has relatively low sensitivity to capital 
expenditure outcomes with operating expenditure movements providing a larger impact on project NPV. 

 
Table 2: Bunyu Stage 1 FS NPV Sensitivity Analysis (Disc. Rate @ 10%, US$M, real, before tax) 

 

Key Economic Driver 
Sensitivity Variation 

70% 80% 90% 100% 110% 120% 130% 

Capital Expenditure 30.6 26.6 22.6 18.6 14.6 10.6 6.6 

Operating Expenditure 49.9 39.5 29.0 18.6 8.2 -2.3 -12.7 

Grade -17.0 -5.1 6.7 18.6 30.4 42.3 54.1 
Recovery -17.0 -5.1 6.7 18.6 30.4 42.3 54.1 

Price -30.3 -14.0 2.3 18.6 34.9 51.2 67.5 
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Figure 3: Bunyu Stage 1 FS NPV Sensitivity Analysis (Disc. Rate @ 10%, US$, real, before tax) 
 
 

Income tax: 

Tanzanian corporate income tax rate of 30% has been applied to the project plus minimum tax (MTA) of 

0.5% of sales revenue in loss years. Payments of corporate tax on profits are estimated to commence from 

year 5 of production, after utilising the benefits of carried forward income tax losses. 

 

Exploration and Mineral Resource Definition 
Exploration within the Bunyu Project area was undertaken using a staged approach for target identification 

and progression through to the definition of Mineral Resources. The initial phase of drilling was between 

October and November 2015 (at a nominal spacing of 200m across strike on section lines spaced at 400m 

along strike). A second programme during 2016 (infilled areas to a nominal spacing of 100m across strike 

on section lines spaced at 200m along strike) and the Mineral Resources at Bunyu 1, 2 and 3 were updated 

by ROM Resources Pty Ltd leading to the resource update as part of the PFS announcement in December 

2016. 

An outcome from the PFS for the Bunyu 1, Bunyu 2 and 3 deposits was that additional drilling was required 

to increase the resource size and to infill the existing drilling density, with both RC and diamond drilling, to 

increase the resource confidence at all three deposits. In late 2017, an infill drilling programme was 

conducted within the upper, central zone of Bunyu 1 at a spacing of approximately 40m to 40m, targeting 

the higher grade, near surface mineralisation. A summary of the Bunyu 1 drilling programmes is provided 

in Table 3. 

Table 3: Drilling programmes at Bunyu 1 
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Year Hole type Number of drillholes Metres drilled Number of TGC assays 

2015 DD 4 321.20 468 

RC 61 3,293.00 2,692 

2016 DD 15 1,387.15 1,797 

RC 15 1,777.00 1,599 

2017 DD 16 463.30 462 

RC 56 1,452.00 1,452 

Total DD 35 2,171.65 2,727 

RC 132 6,522.00 5,743 

Total 167 8,693.65 8,470 

 
 

The geological model developed by Volt was reviewed in conjunction with Optiro and determined to be 

sound and representative of the Bunyu 1 area. Volt’s sectional interpretations were modified to interpret 

the higher grade mineralisation using a nominal cut-off grade of 3.5% TGC and to produce consistent layers 

of higher grade mineralisation along strike. In April 2018 the mineralisation interpretation was adjusted to 

include assay results from the 2017 drilling. 

This interpretation was used to develop a wireframe model of the top four interpreted layers of higher 

grade graphitic mineralisation north of the interpreted fault zone, which are intersected by the Stage 1 

north pit, and the top main layer south of the interpreted fault zone, that is intersected by the Stage 1 

central and south pits. A layer of mineralisation that is to the south of the fault zone and above the main 

layer of mineralisation was also included. This model forms the basis of the 2018 Mineral Resource 

estimated for the Stage 1 development. 

The geological interpretation is illustrated in the cross-section Figures 4-6 which show the continuity of the 

graphite bearing stratigraphic units between drill holes and the three pits planned for the mining inventory: 

north, central and south pits respectively. 

The 2018 resource model was developed for investigation of the Stage 1 pit designs. The global Mineral 

Resource for Bunyu 1 reported with the December 2016 PFS has not been re-estimated. The 2018 model 

is restricted to above 240 mRL and includes only the top two layers of mineralisation within the southern 

area and the top four layers of mineralisation within the northern area. 

The Mineral Resources have been reported for the 2018 model above a 2.93% TGC cut-off grade and are 

included in Table 4. This cut-off grade was determined from technical and economic assessment of the 

mineralisation within the Stage 1 FS pits by Orelogy Consulting Pty Ltd. This resource tabulation is not a 

resource statement for the entire Bunyu 1 project and is presented for validation of the 2018 resource 

model which has been used as the basis of the 2018 Stage 1 FS pit designs. Geological interpretation has 

identified additional mineralised layers: seven within the northern area, eight within the southern area and 

two within the eastern area. 
 

Table 4: Bunyu 1 - Mineral Resources within the 2018 resource model 

(restricted above the base of model surface and above 240 mRL) reported above a cut-off grade of 2.93% TGC 
 

Classification Million Tonnes TGC % 

Measured 8.0 5.8 

Indicated 31.9 5.6 

Inferred 36.9 5.1 

Total 76.8 5.4 

Note: this update does not cover the global Mineral Resources at Bunyu 1 
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Figure 4: Bunyu 1 Stage 1 North pit cross section showing mineralised units and general topography 
 
 
 

Figure 5: Bunyu 1 Stage 1 Central pit cross section showing mineralised units and general topography 
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Figure 6: Bunyu 1 Stage 1 South pit cross section showing mineralised units and general topography 
 
 

Mining and Ore Reserve 
Volt’s strategy for the Bunyu 1 Stage 1 Graphite Project is based on a plant throughput rate of 400,000 

tonne of ore per annum and a nominal mine life of approximately 7 years. Figure 7 graphically shows the 

activities involved across the project to bring the proposed product to market. 

The Stage 1 FS mining study including pit optimisation, pit, waste rock dump and stockpile designs, 

dewatering, AMD ore and waste consideration and global mining schedule, grade, ore and waste tonnage 

and estimated mining operating costs and site establishment capital cost at Bunyu 1, has been undertaken 

by the Mining Consultant (Orelogy Mine Consulting Pty Ltd). 

 
The 2018 mineral resource model was used to determine the Bunyu 1 Stage 1 FS Ore Reserve and 

associated mine production schedule. The selected mining scenario, based on the outcomes of an open pit 

optimisation, was for three pits to be developed over 7 years with a total of 2.8Mt of mill feed being mined. 
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Figure 7: Outline of ore movement from pit to market 

The scope of the Stage 1 FS was to develop a project plan for a relatively small component of the Bunyu 1 

deposit. The Bunyu Stage 1 FS Ore Reserve is considered a subset of the 2016 Namangale 1 Ore Reserve 

released by Volt on 15 December 2016 as part of the 2016 Namangale Pre-Feasibility Study. It therefore 

does not replace or update this reserve and is for the purposes of underpinning the Stage 1 FS. The overall 

Ore Reserve for Bunyu (previously Namangale) will be updated as part of the Bunyu Stage 2 DFS which will 

be based on the whole of the Bunyu 1 deposit. 

Table 5 below details the Stage 1 Ore Reserve for Bunyu 1. 
 

Table 5: Bunyu 1 Stage 1 Ore Reserve (cut-off grade 2.93% TGC) 
 

Material Ore Waste Total Strip 

Location Classification kt TGC % kt kt Ratio 

 
North 

Proved 833 6.1%  
109 

 
1,001 

 
0.12 Probable 60 5.1% 

Subtotal 892 6.0% 

 
Central 

Proved 472 6.2%  
593 

 
1,408 

 
0.73 Probable 343 5.6% 

Subtotal 815 5.9% 

South 

Starter 

Proved  0.0%  
916 

 
1,315 

 
2.30 Probable 399 6.8% 

Subtotal 399 6.8% 

South 

Main 

Proved  0.0%  
649 

 
1,358 

 
0.91 Probable 709 6.6% 

Subtotal 709 6.6% 
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Material Ore Waste Total Strip 

Location Classification kt TGC % kt kt Ratio 

 
TOTAL 

Proved 1,305 6.1%  
2,267 

 
5,082 

 
0.81 Probable 1,511 6.4% 

Total 2,815 6.3% 

 
 

The Bunyu Stage 1 FS Ore Reserve comprises 46% Proved and 54% Probable Ore Reserves. Both the Stage 

1 Ore Reserve and Mineral Resource underpinning it have been prepared by competent persons in 

accordance with the guidelines of the JORC Code (2012). The Bunyu Stage 1 FS Ore Reserve is a subset of 

the 2018 Mineral Resource estimate and all Inferred Mineral Resource has been treated as waste. 

The Bunyu Stage 1 FS mine plan and associated Ore Reserve were developed by Orelogy Consulting Pty Ltd. 
A site geotechnical assessment for the Bunyu Stage 1 FS open pits was carried out by specialist consultants 
Pells Sullivan Meynink. A total of four holes were drilled specifically to collect geotechnical data. 
Geotechnical logging of drill core was completed along with geotechnical testing of selected drill core. 
Geotechnical slope criteria were provided for the four different modelled weathering domains. The Bunyu 
Stage 1 pits are shallow, extending no more than approximately 40m below the surface. The pits do not 
extend into fresh material. 

 

Specialist consultant AQ2 undertook a site hydrological and hydrogeological appraisal as part of the Bunyu 
Stage 1 FS and the management of surface and groundwater has been based on the outcomes of their 
assessment. Groundwater inflows are expected to be minimal due to the low permeability of the 
predominantly oxide material and the drawdown of the water table from surrounding bores to supply 
water to the process plant. 

 
The proposed mining method is a conventional, drill, blast, load and haul, open pit with waste material 

stacked in waste dumps. Mining is to be undertaken by a contractor under the control and management 

of VGT personnel and will likely be operated on a 12 hour 365 day per year basis as required. A bench height 

of 6 m has been selected, excavated in three lifts or flitches of 2 m height. This is considered appropriate 

for both the orebody and the equipment proposed by mining contractors. 

An open pit optimisation was undertaken where only Measured and Indicated Mineral Resources were 
considered ore material, while all other material was reported as waste. The optimisation utilised the 
following modifying parameters. 

 

• Dilution and ore loss – dilution has been modelled by re-blocking the resource model, which uses a 

0.5 m block height, to a 2 m block height to reflect the selectivity of the 2 m flitch. The model was then 

re-reported and any material diluted below the cut-off grade was treated as waste. All Ore Reserves 

are based on this diluted mining model. 

• Pit wall slopes – based on initial design recommendation from Pells Sullivan Meynink, which were 

confirmed prior to completion of the Ore Reserve estimate. 

• Mining costs – based on an initial Orelogy estimate of approximately $6.30US/tonne compiled from 

information collated from budget price submissions from prospective shortlisted mining contractors. 

This is in-line with the final cost estimate. 

• Processing parameters – the proposed ore treatment process involves crushing followed by grinding 

and graphite flotation. The final graphite product will be filtered, dried and bagged for transport and 

subsequent loading onto ships in sea containers. An initial estimate for processing cost of 

US$24.25/tonne was developed by BatteryLimits and Orelogy, which included allowances for processing 
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fixed and variable costs, grade control and sustaining capital. A TGC recovery of 91% and average 

product grade of 93.5% were also provided by BatteryLimits and based on metallurgical testwork. 

• A net price inclusive of US$859.40/tonne TGC was supplied by Volt, which included allowances for 

government and vendor royalties, transport to port, port charges, shipping and insurance. 

• An initial project capital was not applied. 

On the basis of the above parameters a breakeven cut-off grade of 2.93% TGC was determined. This 

calculation did not include an allowance for dilution as the regularised model used to develop the Ore 

Reserve (described above) already allowed for dilution. 

The open pit optimisation process was utilised to determine the extent of the highest value pits that provide 

the required inventory for the Stage 1 project (approximately 2.8Mt). As such small shells were selected to 

achieve this target that lay well within any final economic limit for Bunyu 1. Consequently, the optimisation 

parameters were only critical in terms of generating shells of different relative size and value, not in 

confirming an ultimate economic pit limit. 

The optimisation shells selected indicated that pits were developed in three areas; nominally North, Central 

and South. Pit development will be staged with the North and then Central pits contributing to the initial 

plant feed with the South pit development commencing from Year 3. Ore feed is transitional with varying 

states of oxidation; the top of fresh rock is below the Stage 1 pit limits. 

The Bunyu Stage 1 FS mining schedule was designed to generate a minimum 400,000tpa of plant feed 

annually, resulting in an average feed grade of 6.26% TGC. The schedule summary is shown in Table 6 

below. Approximately 223kt of surficial waste material within the South pit are utilised as bulk fill material 

in the construction of the Tailings Storage Facility and Water Storage Dam. This material is removed during 

the plant construction phase and therefore the Bunyu Stage 1 Ore Reserve waste tonnes are depleted by 

this amount prior to scheduling. Consequently the schedule comprises a reduced waste tonnage of 2,044kt 

for the same amount of ore (2,815kt) mined over a 7.1 year periods at a lower strip ratio of 0.73. No Inferred 

Mineral Resource has been included as ore in the Bunyu Stage 1 FS Mining Schedule. The schedule was 

generated in monthly periods for the first two (2) years and the quarterly thereafter. Table 6 provides an 

annual summary of the schedule, which shows that Proved Ore Reserves constitute 82% of the plant feed 

for the first three (3) years of operation. 
 

Table 6: Bunyu Stage 1 FS Mining Schedule – Summary 
 

 
Item 

 
Units 

 
Total 

Year 

-1 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 

 
 

Ore 

Tonnage kt 2,815  440 446 416 340 342 399 400 32 

TGC % 6.26  6.04 6.05 6.06 6.03 6.16 6.61 6.96 5.36 

Proportion 
Proved Ore 

Reserve 

 
% 

 
46% 

  
83% 

 
82% 

 
81% 

 
55% 

 
14% 

   

Waste kt 2,044  311 316 149 541 543 184 0 1 

Total kt 4,859  750 762 565 881 884 583 401 33 

SR t:t 0.73  0.71 0.71 0.36 1.59 1.59 0.46 0.00 0.02 
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Mining costs have been based on budget price submissions from mining contractors, with additional 

allowances for rehandle, overhaul and AMD management included by Orelogy as required. Site 

infrastructure requirements and costs have been developed by BatteryLimits, but the mining infrastructure 

and mining fleet will be supplied by the contractor. 

Product will be transported by truck to either Mtwara or Dar es Salaam ports for on-shipping to the 

customer. Some upgrade of the road from site to the main B5 highway will be required and this has been 

allowed for in the FS estimation. 

The current status of the environmental and regulatory requirements for the project are detailed below. 
 

Metallurgical Testwork 

During the feasibility and prior to the diamond drill core from the 2017 drill programme becoming available, 
an optimisation testwork program was conducted on remnant material from the 2016 bulk trench samples 
to investigate: 

• use of an all in one reagent, to potentially reduce the number of onsite reagents 

• effects of increasing primary grind size 

• rougher concentrate regrinding methods 

• effects of grinding media size 

• screening of intermediate cleaner concentrates to preserve coarse flakes. 

 
The outcomes were incorporated into the variability and composite metallurgical testwork undertaken on 
diamond drill core samples totalling 960kg for the Stage 1 planned development. 

 

Testwork was undertaken at ALS Balcatta with composite details below. 
 

Table 7: Bunyu 1 FS Composite Details 
 

 

Composite ID 
 

Drill Hole ID 
Depth (m) 

Initial Final 

NMDD0021 NMDD0021 6 24.3 

NMDD0022 NMDD0022 8 24.5 

NMDD0024 NMDD0024 7 24.9 

NMDD0025 NMDD0025 0 24.1 

NMDD0026 NMDD0026 0 24.4 

Upper Composite All FS Drill Holes 0 12 

Lower Composite All FS Drill Holes 12 EOH 

Master Composite All FS Drill Holes 0 EOH 

 

Some comminution testwork was undertaken to complement the PFS range of testwork, the primary focus 

was grinding and flotation testwork on both a composite and variability samples showing overall the results 

indicate the variability in the area is low. 
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Table 8: Final Master Composite Flotation Results 
 

Combined Cleaner Concentrate 

Final PSD Overall TGC TGC +150µm TGC-150µm 

P80 (µm) % Grade % Rec. % Grade % Dist’n. % Grade % Dist’n 

282 92.8 94.1 92.4 56.1 93.4 43.9 

 

Table 9: Summary of Variability Flotation Results 
 

 

Test # 

ID 

 

 
Composite ID 

Combined Cleaner Concentrate 

 
Final PSD Overall TGC TGC +150µm TGC-150µm 

P80 (µm) % Grade % Rec. 
% 

Grade 
% 

Dist’n. 
% 

Grade 
% 

Dist’n 

BF1114 NMDD0021 278 94.1 93.2 89.2 53.2 93.6 46.8 

BF1115 NMDD0022 281 92.3 95.4 91.1 55.4 92.6 44.6 

BF1116 NMDD0024 293 91.5 94.7 90.3 57.7 92.6 42.3 

BF1117 NMDD0025 277 92.6 94.9 91.7 54.6 93.5 45.4 

BF1118 NMDD0026 279 92.7 94.4 92.1 53.1 92.7 46.9 

BF1120 
Upper 

Composite 
285 92.9 91.4 91.2 52.9 93.1 47.1 

BF1119 
Lower 

Composite 
275 92.8 94.1 91.9 51.9 93.0 48.1 

 

The above results were used in determining FS estimates including metallurgical performance, reagent 
consumption and graphite product mix for marketing discussions and price assumptions. 

 

Processing, Infrastructure and Logistics 
Processing will be by well-proven crushing, grinding and flotation methods. For Stage 1, ore will be fed to 
the processing plant, located at Bunyu 1, at a nominal rate of 400,000tpa to produce a nominal 20- 
24,000tpa graphite product averaging 92-96% TGC at a nominal 93% recovery. This is based on 
metallurgical testwork programs managed by Battery Limits and undertaken at ALS Laboratory (ALS) Perth 
assessing the ore from the diamond drill core’s amenability to beneficiation by froth flotation through a 
range of testwork programs. 

The proposed processing flowsheet consists of the following primary activities. 

• ROM Bin with grizzly and Apron Feeder 

• Two-stage Crushing Circuit – a primary jaw crusher and secondary cone crusher 

• Grinding – rod mill in closed circuit with a vibrating screen 

• Flotation consisting of roughing and five stages of cleaners with inter-stage attrition regrinding 

• Secondary cleaner screening to remove coarse flake graphite to minimise overgrinding potential 

• Filtration and product drying 

• Screening of final product graphite 

• Bagging of sized fractions of graphite product 

• Tailings will be stored in a tailings storage facility on the mining lease. 
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Figure 7: Outline of ore processing to produce final graphite product 
 

 
The bagged graphite product will be then trucked approximately 550 km to the port at Dar es Salaam (DAR) 
in eastern Tanzania where the bags will be loaded into 20’ or 40’ sea containers in preparation for shipping 
to customers. The feasibility study investigations have recommended DAR as the lower cost port option for 
Stage 1. This is due to the modest Stage 1 product tonnages and current absence of coastal shipping in 
Tanzania. Discussions and investigations are ongoing for a Mtwara based shipping solution for Stage 1 that 
is cost competitive and robust. 

VGT will operate the processing and power plant, and manage a mining contractor, graphite product fleet 
transport and logistics functions. 

Additional infrastructure to support the processing plant will include: 

• Bores and water storage reservoir for water supply 

• Office and workshop facilities 

• Generators for process plant and ancillary power 

• Access roads within the plant and the Project site 

• Camp facilities. 

• A 3 MW generator plant using diesel fuel will supply power to the plant. 

Water recovery will be utilised to minimise the process water requirement. 
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Regulatory and Environment 

 
Regulatory 

The Bunyu Prospecting Licences for the Project were granted in 2015/16 and remain valid until 2019/20. 
Under the Tanzanian Mining Act (2010), administered by the Ministry of Minerals, a Mining Licence (ML) 
or Special Mining Licence (SML) may be issued after the applicant has submitted various documents and 
plans including the following items: 

• Feasibility report (PFS provided by Volt) 

• Environmental certificate after approval of an Environmental and Social Impact Assessment (ESIA) 

• Environmental Management Plan (EMP) 

• Employment and Training Program 

• Procurement Plan 

• Resettlement Action Plan (RAP) 

• Program of Mining Operations 

• Infrastructure Requirements Report 

• Local Content Plan. 

 
VGT lodged applications for two Mining Licence (“ML”) applications covering the 18km2 footprint for Stage 
1 and the Stage 2 expansion. The recent appointment of the Mining Commission has resulted in a large 
number of licence applications being approved. Once the environmental approval is obtained, the 
Company expects the mining licences to be approved soon thereafter. 

 

Regulatory changes in July 2017 have been assessed by Volt and it is believed these changes will not prevent 
Volt from progressing with the current business strategy and plans for development of the Bunyu Project. 

A summary of these legislative changes, which were enacted by the Tanzanian Parliament effective 1 July 

2017 over the legal framework governing the natural resources sector in Tanzania, and their expected 

impact on Volt, was contained in the Company’s ASX announcement of the 7 July 2017. 

The key impacts of those regulatory changes on Volt were summarised as follows: 

• The Tanzanian Government will have a 16% non-dilutable free carried interest in Volt’s Tanzanian 

subsidiary which increases from a current interest of nil. 

• There are a number of reporting and compliance related provisions in the new legislation that could 

cause some increased costs, but they are not materially more than Volt currently plans to monitor 

and report against. Therefore, these changes are seen as having negligible impact on the project. 

• The royalty rate remains at 3% for industrial mineral products which includes graphite products. 

• The introduction of beneficiation of minerals, metallic and precious minerals warehouses, 

concentrate liens and related provisions are not expected to have a material impact on Volt’s Bunyu 

project. 
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• Volt has no material agreements with the Tanzanian Government and, therefore, is not impacted 

by the Review and Re-Negotiation of Unconscionable Terms Act. 

Based on the information currently available, Volt remains of the view that the above legislative changes 

will not cause or prevent Volt from progressing with its current business strategy and plans for development 

of the Bunyu projects. 

All financial outcomes presented in this study represent 100% of the Bunyu Stage 1 Project held by Volt’s 

Tanzanian subsidiary. 

Environment, Social and Community 

During the first quarter of 2018, VGT lodged its Environmental and Social Impact Study (ESIS) with the 

National Environmental Management Council (NEMC). The lodgement of the ESIS follows the completion 

of a significant body of work including flora and fauna surveys, heritage surveys, and stakeholder 

identification, including public consultation and the development of environmental and social monitoring 

and management plans. 

The ESIS covers the area required for the Stage 1 and Stage 2 expansion projects at Bunyu 1. The ESIS forms 

a key component of Volt’s near-term development plans for Bunyu 1 and following assessment by NEMC, 

will be lodged with the Environment Minister for approval. Once approved, Volt will be issued with its 

Environmental Certificate for the Bunyu project. 

Following the issue of the Environmental Certificate, the ML applications can be progressed, and other 

secondary approvals obtained. 

The Resettlement Action Plan has been completed and all approvals for the compensation arrangements 

for approximately 1,100 people either farming and/or living within the mining licences area. This is an 

important milestone as without the compensation arrangements being approved, the Bunyu Project would 

not be able to proceed to development. The footprint that the compensation area covers incorporates the 

Stage 1 development and Stage 2 expansion project. 
 

Implementation Schedule 
The two-stage approach to project development starting with a smaller-scale Stage 1 start-up project will 
enable establishing local relationships, project development and logistics paths. This will provide 
commercial quantities for marketing of larger annual flake graphite production, developing downstream 
processing options and enhance the ability to fund the subsequent Stage 2 development. The DFS for Stage 
2 is planned to proceed concurrent with Stage 1 project development. 

A high-level project schedule for stage 1 has been developed in Figure 8. The projected timeline from the 
approval of funding to first ore is just over one year with first shipment of product assumed during the 
commissioning period, assuming environmental and mining licence approvals and a number of secondary 
permits and licences are secured in a timely manner. 
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Figure 8: Project implementation schedule 

The most likely contracting strategy will be an EPC contract for the main plant, and a range of contracting 
strategies will be utilised in the construction of the infrastructure for the Project that are fit for purpose. 
Operating contracts for mining, a range of services and operating support contracts will be required to 
support the Stage 1 operation 

 
 

Capital and Operating Cost Estimate 
The capital and operating cost estimates have been prepared to an accuracy of ±15%. The capital cost 
estimate summary is shown in Table 10. The capital cost estimate is US$31.8 M. 

 
Table 10: Capital cost estimate summary 

 
Description 

Capital 

Cost 

 

% of 

TOTAL 
(US$‘000) 

Process Plant   

Plant facility 7,587 24 

Process Plant - Infrastructure 2,669 8 

Total Process Plant 10,256 32 
Project Infrastructure   

Infrastructure 8,827 28 

Mine site establishment 747 2 

Total Infrastructure 9,574 30 

Indirect costs   

Mobilisation costs, temp facilities, construction expenses, commissioning 2,001 6 

Engineering, procurement, construction management 2,738 9 

Pre-strip 749 2 

Pre-production Labour 1,229 4 

Owners’ costs 2,246 7 

Contingency 2,978 9 

Total Indirect Costs 11,941 37 

GRAND TOTAL 31,771 100 

 
The operating cost estimate is US$664/t graphite product (FOB) average for Stage 1, with a summary shown 
in Table 11. The equivalent CIF operating cost is estimated at US$678/t. 
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Commissioning and Ramp-up 

Normal Op's 

First Ore 

Process Plant (EPC - fabricate, deliver, install) 

TSF Construction 

Mine Establisment & Pre-strip 

Water Storage Dam Construction 

Early Works (Road; bores; camp) 

FEED 

Environmental Approvals and Permits 

18 17 16 15 14 13 12 11 10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 

MONTHS 

BUNYU STAGE 1 PROJECT SCHEDULE 



 

Table 11: Operating cost estimate summary 
 

Annual Operating Costs 
Av. Total 

(US$k/y) 

Total Cost 

(%) 

Feed 

(US$/t) 

Product 

(US$/t) 

Technical Services & Mining 3,092 19 7.80 125 

Processing 6,770 41 17.09 273 

Maintenance 591 4 1.49 24 

General & Administration 2,987 18 7.54 120 

Product Logistics (FOB) 3,022 18 7.63 122 

Total 16,462 100 41.55 664 
 

 

Human Resources 
The operating strategy for the Stage 1 FS is based on mining by contractor with management, processing, 
and administration by VGT. The Tanzanian government require local content plans and the progressive 
upskilling and empowering of local people and local businesses for a range of businesses including mining. 
A comprehensive local content plan has been submitted as part of the mining licence application process. 
There will be a training program that ensures on-the-job training and employment opportunities for 
Tanzanian citizens. VGT has engaged local HR experts P5 HR Consulting Ltd to support the feasibility study 
and the project development and implementation. 

VGT intends to maximise local employment as per our commitment to be a responsible employer to offset 
the impacts of potential physical and economic displacement. Expatriate labour will be employed only 
where suitable skills cannot be sourced locally or within country and expatriate staff will require to be fully 
trained and certified with relevant mining experience. Working permits will be valid for 24 months with 
possible renewals of a further 36 months, or longer under certain circumstances. A localisation program 
will be developed to ensure a smooth transition to local employment. The Stage 1 operations workforce is 
estimated at 61 people with up to 60 additional contractors. 

 

Marketing and Sales 
Currently natural and synthetic graphite production is around 2.5 million tonnes per annum. However, two 
industries that use natural and synthetic graphite have the potential to more than double global demand 
over the next five years - lithium-ion batteries and fire-retardant building materials. Industrial Minerals 
forecast growth in flake graphite is shown in Figure 9. 

For the growth sectors of lithium-ion batteries and fire-retardant building materials, it is expected most 
new supply will be naturally-sourced graphite, which is materially beneficial to the Bunyu Project. It is the 
view of Volt’s Board and Senior Management that demand for flake graphite from the expandable 
applications sector (including fire-retardant building materials) will continue to increase ahead of industry 
forecasts, representing a significant opportunity for the Company over the short to medium term. 
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Figure 9: Industrial Minerals: Flake Graphite Demand Forecast 2014-2025 

Volt has had dialogue with end users, traders and intermediaries across China, Japan, Korea, Europe and 
North America. Due to the size of the Chinese graphite market, China has been identified as a target market 
for Volt’s product from Stage 1. Anecdotal evidence implies that China has ample small/medium flake 
graphite reserves in the ground. However, it has limited reserves of coarse flake sizes. Product size above 
100# is classified as coarse flake and generally suitable for supplying the expandable graphite market. 
With this market background Volt signed non-binding Cooperation Agreements and Term Sheets with 
leading end-user groups in China in mid 2017as follows. 

CNBM General Technologies (previously CNBMGM) – Cooperation Agreement 
SOE - largest building materials group in China with net assets exceeding US$80 B 
10,000-15,000 t/y for 5 years with a further 5 years mutual option to extend. 

AOYU – Cooperation Agreement 
One of China’s leading Graphite miners and processors 
10-20,000 t/y off-take for 5 years with a further 5 years mutual option to extend. 

Qingdao Tianshengda Graphite Co. Ltd. (Tianshengda) – Term Sheet 
Major graphite processor and distributor, specialising in expandables 
10,000 t/y off-take for 5 years with a further 5 years mutual option to extend. 

Qingdao Guangxing Electronics Material Co. Ltd. (GEM) – Term Sheet 
Major graphite processor and distributor, specialising in expandables 
5,000 t/y off-take for 5 years with a further 5 years mutual option to extend. 

Further discussions have been held in April 2018 with CNBMGT, Tianshengda, GEM and other Chinese 
graphite groups to progress offtake discussions. Volt is now in the process of completing the final binding 
offtake agreements for substantially all of Stage 1 annual production. These offtake agreements are in 
addition to the existing binding offtake agreement with US based graphene company, Nano Graphene 
Incorporated. 

Stage 1 will produce on average 23,700tpa of natural flake graphite product up to 96% TGC, with the 
majority of sales to China being the biggest market for flake graphite. Volt has worked with the customer 
groups that it is in discussion with to reduce the processing on the +100# product to increase the yield, 
flake size and target a lower grade (around 92%TGC). This has been confirmed in metallurgical testwork on 
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diamond drill core in 2017 and for the feasibility metallurgical testwork and flowsheet development in the 
2018 FS. 

A portion of annual flake graphite product tonnage from Stage 1 will allow for sales to potential customer 

groups that require larger sample shipments to commit to contracts for the Stage 2 development. 

Forecast pricing across the relevant flake sizes, purity and product types has been sourced from a 
combination of bespoke industry reports and material including research bodies, BMI and Industrial 
Minerals and Canaccord research. Shorter term pricing also reflects current industry reporting and 
discussions with end users. 

Product size, grade distribution and average sales price is shown in Table 12. 
 

Table 12: Graphite product size, grade distribution and average sales price 
 

Size (µm) 

+500 

Size (#) 

+32 

% Distribution 

1 

% TGC 

95 

Price US$/tonnne 

2,530 

+300 +50 11 93 1,990 

+180 +80 27 92 1,077 

+150 +100 15 92 985 

-150 -100 46 96 704 
 Total 100  1,195 

 

Expected average product basket price for Stage 1 based on the TGC grade, product size distribution and 
pricing is US$1195/t (CIF Qingdao). Prices are based on forecast annual prices for the 7 year life of Stage 1. 

By Year 3 the Company plans to develop a third party SPG processing arrangement whereby fines products 
below 106 micron will be treated to produce uncoated spheroinised and purified (SPG) anode feedstock to 
market to battery cell manufacturers. It is assumed SPG product recovery of 50% will be achieved with the 
remaining 50% sold into the recarburizer and other existing and developing micro carbon product markets. 
The processing cost assumptions have been based on the AOYU cooperation agreement, discussions and 
site visits in mid-2017. Further discussions with third parties have identified other opportunities for toll 
processing or SPG joint venture or profit sharing arrangements. 

 

Project Risks and Opportunities (General and Specific) 
The staged development strategy provides a pathway to development and reduces a number of risks for 

the larger scale Bunyu Expansion Project (Stage 2). 

Risks relating directly to Stage 1 are limited by the modest size of the investment. Current priority 

corporate risks are: 

• Sovereign Risk 

• Development Schedule 

• Project Funding 

• Operating Cost 

• Water Supply: (Stage 1) 

• Security of Tenure 

• Workforce Skills 

• Cost Product Transport 

• Theft Critical Items. 

 
Current priority safety risks are: 

• Disease and Other Sicknesses/Bites 

• General Site Safety 
 

 

22 



 

• Road Safety Risk-Volt 

• Road Safety Risk – General. 

Once proposed treatment actions are implemented, priority corporate risks remaining are safety risks plus: 

• Development Schedule 

• Project Funding 

• Sovereign Risk. 

Development schedule remains a risk until the project is being implemented and Volt demonstrates to the 

graphite industry that it is a market leader and can fulfil offtake contracts. This then places Volt in a strong 

position to expand its business and become a force in the supply of quality graphite flake. 

Project funding risk has reduced with the staged development because of the requirement to fund a 

significantly smaller starter project but remains a priority for Volt. 

Sovereign risk resulting from the changes in Tanzanian regulations in 2017 and needs to be continuously 

monitored and ensuring compliance. 
 

Project Assets and Liabilities 
Volt’s significant assets are the project tenement licenses, the Bunyu pre-feasibility study, the Bunyu Stage 

1 feasibility study, Bunyu project environmental permitting and the government valuer sign-off of the RAP 

(Resettlement action plan) to compensate displaced and affected property owners. There are no significant 

project liabilities until such time as a financial investment decision is made, post development funding, to 

progress the Bunyu Stage 1 project in which case the RAP compensation payments valued at approximately 

US$3.4 million will become payable. 
 

Key Study Contributors 
The consultants listed in table 13 contributed to the key components of the FS. 

 
Table 13: Contributing Consultants to the FS 

 

Content Contributor 

Key FS Management BatteryLimits 

Geology and Resources Optiro 

Geotechnical PSM 

Hydrology AQ2 

Mining Orelogy 

Metallurgy BatteryLimits, ALS 

Processing BatteryLimits 

Engineering BatteryLimits 

Tailings ATC Williams 

Power, Water, Infrastructure and Logistics BatteryLimits, AQ2 and Volt 

Project Implementation Schedule and Plan BatteryLimits and Volt 

Human Resources P5 HR Consulting Limited, Volt 

Capital Cost Estimates BatteryLimits 

Operating Cost Estimates BatteryLimits, Orelogy and Volt 
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Content Contributor 

Marketing Volt, Industrial Minerals 

Financial Assessment Volt and Modus Capital 

Permitting and Environment TanSHEQ and Volt 

 
 
 

Subsequent Events and Next Steps 

Following the completion and publication of the Stage 1 Feasibility Study on 31 July 2018, Volt subsequently 
received the following key development approvals and entered into a further binding offtake agreement. 

• On 1 August 2018 a binding graphite offtake agreement was entered into with Qingdao 
Tianshengda Graphite Co. Ltd. for 9,000 tonnes per annum of Bunyu Graphite Product over five 
years. The Agreement includes an option for a further five-year term by mutual agreement. The 
Agreement incorporates the size ranges of products to be produced in both the Stage 1 
development and the planned expansion to Stage 2 at Bunyu. 

• The Company received the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Certificate from the National 
Environment Management Council of Tanzania (NEMC) for the Bunyu project development on 3 
September 2018. Importantly, the EIA certificate signed by the Honourable Minister of State in Vice 
President's Office for Union Affairs and Environment Hon. January Makamba, represents the final 
pre-requisite for the granting of Volt’s Mining Licence (ML) and one of the final remaining major 
milestones in terms of Government permitting for the Bunyu Graphite Project. 
The Bunyu EIA certificate, along with the previously advised approval of the resettlement 
compensation under the Resettlement Action Plan, covers the area required for the Stage 1 
development and Stage 2 Expansion Project. 

• On 20 October 2018 the Company received two mining licences ML 591/2018 and ML 592/2018 
from the Mining Commission of the Ministry of Minerals of Tanzania. The two Mining Licences 
(ML’s) cover the area required for the respective Stage1 and Stage 2 developments of the Bunyu 
Graphite Project. 
The two ML’s cover a combined area of 17.71km2 and provide Volt with the exclusive right to 
develop the graphite resources in the ML area. The ML’s are effective for a period of 10 years and 
there is a right of further 10-year renewals under section 53 of the Mining Act. 

Once development funding is obtained, the Company will proceed with the Front End Engineering and 
Design for Stage 1 and place orders for long lead time components. 

Concurrent with the Stage 1 development, Volt plans to commence work on the definitive feasibility study 
for the Stage 2 expansion. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Competent Person Statement 

The information in this document that relates to Mineral Resources is based upon information compiled by 
Mrs Christine Standing who is a Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and a 
Member of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists. Mrs Standing is an employee of Optiro Pty Ltd and has 
sufficient experience relevant to the style of mineralisation, the type of deposit under consideration and to 
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the activity undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 edition of the Australasian 
Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves. Mrs Standing consents to 
the inclusion in the report of a summary based upon her information in the form and context in which it 
appears. 

The information in this document that relates to Ore Reserves was compiled by Mr Ross Cheyne who is a 
Fellow of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Mr Cheyne is a Director of Orelogy Consulting 
Pty Ltd and has sufficient experience relevant to the style of mineralisation, the type of deposit under 
consideration and to the activity undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 
edition of the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore 
Reserves. Mr Cheyne consents to the inclusion in the report of a summary based upon his information in 
the form and context in which it appears. 
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Annexure One: Summary of JORC Table 1 Sections 1, 2, 3 and 4 

 
Summary of JORC Table 1 Sections 1, 2 and 3: 

• Geology and geological interpretation – the graphite mineralisation is hosted within a sequence of 
gneiss and schists and is generally sub-horizontal. The higher grade graphite mineralisation was 
interpreted as sub-horizontal layers using a nominal cut-off grade of 3.5% TGC. A fault off-set has been 
interpreted with the mineralised layers in the south-west displaced downwards relative to the 
mineralised layers in the north-east. The main zones of mineralisation extend over an area of 3km along 
strike, 800m to 1.3km across strike and from surface to a drilled depth of approximately 150m below 
surface. 

• Drilling method – the drilling method used is reverse circulation (RC) using 140mm face sampling 
hammers and Triple Tube HQ diamond core holes (63mm). 

• Sampling – one-metre drill chip samples were collected throughout the RC drill programme in 
sequentially numbered bags. Core samples from diamond drillholes were collected based on geology, 
varying in thickness from 0.01m to 3.0m intervals. Almost 80% of the samples are from 1m intervals, 
20% from <1m intervals and 0.1% from intervals of >1m 

• Sub-sampling – RC samples were split to 1.5kg samples for analysis and for the diamond core the quarter 
core was used for analysis. Pulverising was completed using LM5, 90% passing 75μm in preparation for 
analysis. 

• Sample analysis method – the 2015 and 2017 drill samples were sent to SGS in Mwanza, Tanzania for 
sample preparation before being sent to SGS in South Africa for analysis for TGC using method 
GRAP_CSA05V LECO Total Carbon, for sulphur using method CSA06V and for total carbon using method 
CSA01V. Samples from the 2016 drilling programme were sent to ALS in Mwanza before being sent to 
ALS in Brisbane, Australia for analysis for TGC using method C-IR18, for sulphur using method S-IR08 and 
for total carbon using method C-IR07. SGS South Africa (Pty) (Ltd) used ISO and ALS Minerals used 
established standards and are NATA-registered. Duplicate analysis and analysis of Certified Reference 
Material (standards) and blanks was completed and no issues identified with sampling or assaying 
reliability. 

• Resource classification – on the basis of confidence in geological and grade continuity using the drilling 
density, geological model, modelled grade continuity and conditional bias measures (slope of the 
regression and kriging efficiency) and the distribution of the metallurgical testwork samples as criteria. 
In general, the areas tested with the 2017 infill drilling (40m by 40m spacing), that have high confidence 
in the geological interpretation, higher estimation quality are classified as Measured. Areas with lower 
confidence in the geological interpretation and poorer estimation quality were classified as Indicated. 
Areas where the drill spacing is generally 200m by 400m are classified as Inferred. In addition, the 
likelihood of eventual economic extraction was considered in terms of possible open pit mining, 
metallurgical testwork results, marketing agreements and potentially favourable logistics to the Mtwara 
Port, which all support the classification, as per Clause 49 (JORC 2012). 

• Estimation methodology – resources estimation was undertaken using ordinary kriging. The search 
ellipse was oriented within the plane of mineralisation. 

• Cut-off parameters – the resource model is reported above a 2.93% TGC cut-off grade. This cut-off 
grade was selected by Volt Resources based on technical and economic assessment of the 
mineralisation within the Stage 1 FS pits by Orelogy. 

• Metallurgical methods – no metallurgical assumptions have been built into the resource models. 
Metallurgical results related to flake size and sample purity, the continuity of the flake size data, and 
the available process testwork are considered favourable and BatteryLimits has reported that products 
produced from the 2018 metallurgical testwork are within the typical saleable size and grade. 
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Summary of JORC Table 1 Section 4: 

• The Bunyu Stage 1 FS Ore Reserve is considered a subset of the 2016 Namangale 1 Ore Reserve released 
by Volt Resources 15 December 2016 as part of the 2016 Namangale Pre-Feasibility Study. It therefore 
does not replace or update this reserve and is for the purposes of underpinning the Stage 1 FS. The 
Namangale (now Bunyu) overall Ore Reserve will be updated as part of the Bunyu Stage 2 DFS. 

• The Bunyu Stage 1 FS is based around a targeted project production rate over a 7 year period. It does 
not reflect the ultimate economic extent of the Bunyu 1 project. Hence the sensitivity of the ultimate 
project limits has not been tested as part of the Bunyu Stage 1 FS. The supporting data around 
geotechnical and metallurgical parameters are also focused around the Stage 1 area and currently do 
not support generating an ultimate economic pit for the entire Bunyu 1 deposit at an FS standard. It 
should be emphasised that this is not a reflection of the level of confidence in the FS, but is due to the 
limited extent of the Stage 1 project. 

• The Bunyu Stage 1 FS Ore Reserve is based entirely on estimated Measured and Indicated Resources 
and has had all appropriate environmental & economical exclusions applied to it. 

• Mining modifying parameters – planned extraction is by open pit mining and appropriate mining factors 
for dilution and ore loss have been applied to the Mineral Resource model in order to generate the 
Resources which are proposed to be mined as part of Bunyu Stage 1. 

• The Resources which are proposed to be mined as part of Bunyu Stage 1 have been reported at the 
processing cut-off grade of 2.93%. This is a diluted cut-off grade as dilution has already been accounted 
for as part of the block model regularisation process. 

• Modifying factors related to mining costs are based on budget pricing submissions for African based 
mining contractors 

• Modifying factors related to pit wall design criteria are based on the geotechnical recommendations 
provided by independent geotechnical consultant Pells Sullivan Meynink. 

• Modifying factors related to processing costs and recoveries have been supplied by lead engineering 
group BatteryLimits 

• Modifying factors related to commodity price have been supplied by Volt Resources based on 
independent market research 

• The Bunyu Stage 1 FS mining schedule based on achievable production rates for the specified size of 
mining fleet 

• The presence of significant amounts of potentially acid forming (PAF) mine waste rock has been 
addressed in the FS, with details around operational management, procedures and controls and 
appropriate allowances for related costs. 
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Annexure Two: Table 1 of the JORC Code 
The table below summarises the assessment and reporting criteria used for the 2018 Bunyu 1 resource 

model and reflects the guidelines in Table 1 of The Australasian Code for the Reporting of Exploration 

Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (the JORC Code, 2012). 

Section 1 Sampling Techniques and Data 
Criteria JORC Code explanation Commentary 

Sampling 
techniques 

• Nature and quality of sampling. 

• Include reference to measures taken to ensure 
sample representivity and the appropriate 
calibration of any measurement tools or 
systems used. 

1. Reverse Circulation 
• RC drill samples were collected at one- 

metre intervals. 

• The full 1m interval was collected before 
being weighed then riffle spilt into samples 
weighing approximately 1.5 kg. 

• All samples were geologically logged by a 
suitably qualified geologist and 
mineralised intercepts selected for 
analysis. 

• Duplicate and standards analysis were 
completed and no issues identified with 
sampling reliability. 

• Sampling was guided by Volt Resources 
Limited’s protocols and QAQC procedures. 

2. Diamond Drilling 
• For the diamond core drillholes sampling 

was carried out by cutting HQ diamond 
core into quarters. 

• Composite samples for metallurgical 
analysis were selected based on lithology 
intervals as logged by a suitably qualified 
geologist. 

• Samples were crushed to 1mm, split into 
the respective size fractions and sent for 
flake size analysis. 

• Mineralised intercepts selected for 
analysis vary from 0.01 m to 3 m. 

• Duplicate and standards analysis were 
completed and no issues identified with 
sampling reliability. 

• Sampling was guided by Volt Resources 
Limited’s protocols and QAQC procedures. 

Drilling 
techniques 

• Drill type (e.g. core, reverse circulation, open- 
hole hammer, rotary air blast, auger, Bangka, 
sonic, etc) and details (e.g. core diameter, 
triple or standard tube, depth of diamond tails, 
face-sampling bit or other type, whether core 
is oriented and if so, by what method, etc). 

• RC drilling was conducted by JCIL Drill. Bit 
diameter was 4.5 inches (114 mm) face 
sampling bit. 

• Diamond drilling was conducted by JCIL 
drill using HQ core diameter triple tube (63 
mm). 

Drill sample 
recovery 

• Method of recording and assessing core and 
chip sample recoveries and results assessed. 

• Measures taken to maximise sample recovery 
and ensure representative nature of the 
samples. 

• Whether a relationship exists between sample 
recovery and grade and whether sample bias 
may have occurred due to preferential 
loss/gain of fine/coarse material. 

• RC recovery was recorded by weighing the 
recovered sample before splitting. Sample 
size was databased and found to be 
consistent. 

• Diamond drill recovery was excellent 
(>90%) and is therefore not expected to 
influence grade. 
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Criteria JORC Code explanation Commentary 

Logging • Whether core and chip samples have been 
geologically and geotechnically logged to a 
level of detail to support appropriate Mineral 
Resource estimation, mining studies and 
metallurgical studies. 

• Whether logging is qualitative or quantitative 
in nature. Core (or costean, channel, etc) 
photography. 

• The total length and percentage of the 
relevant intersections logged. 

• Logging was carried out on each of the 
samples including lithology, amount of 
weathering by a suitably qualified 
geologist. 

• 100% of the samples were logged 

• Data is initially conducted on paper logging 
sheets and is then transferred to Excel 
logging sheets. 

• Logging is semi-quantitative based on 
visual estimation. 

• The specific gravity data was collected 
from drill core using Archimedes principle 
water displacement methodology. 

• Core was orientated, marked into 1 m 
intervals, core recovery and geotechnical 
data – Rock Quality Designation were 
recorded. 

• Core was photographed, both dry and wet. 

Sub-sampling 
techniques 
and sample 
preparation 

• If non-core, whether riffled, tube sampled, 
rotary split, etc and whether sampled wet or 
dry. 

• For all sample types, the nature, quality and 
appropriateness of the sample preparation 
technique. 

• Quality control procedures adopted for all sub- 
sampling stages to maximise representivity of 
samples. 

• Measures taken to ensure that the sampling is 
representative of the in situ material collected, 
including for instance results for field 
duplicate/second-half sampling. 

• Whether sample sizes are appropriate to the 
grain size of the material being sampled. 

• Sampling was guided by Volt Resources 
Limited’s protocols and QAQC procedures. 

• RC samples were taken at 1 m intervals 
and then split into 1.5 kg samples with a 
reference sample also taken. 

• For the diamond core, the quarter core 
was used for analysis. 

• All the samples are marked with unique 
sequential numbering as a check against 
sample loss or omission. 

• Samples were crushed and pulverised 
using LM5, 90% passing 75 μm in 
preparation for analysis. 

• For the 2015 and 2016 drill samples blank, 
standard and duplicate samples were 
inserted at a ratio of 1:20. 

• For the 2017 drill samples duplicates were 
inserted at a ratio of 1:12 and standards 
and blanks at a ratio of 1:8 in total. 

• All sampling was carefully supervised with 
ticket books containing pre-numbered 
tickets placed in the sample bag and 
double checked against the ticket stubs 
and field sample sheets to guard against a 
loss of sample integrity. 

Quality of 
assay data 
and 
laboratory 
tests 

• The nature, quality and appropriateness of the 
assaying and laboratory procedures used and 
whether the technique is considered partial or 
total. 

• Nature of quality control procedures adopted 
(e.g. standards, blanks, duplicates, external 
laboratory checks) and whether acceptable 
levels of accuracy (i.e. lack of bias) and 
precision have been established. 

• Analysis for total graphitic carbon (TGC) 
and sulphur has been carried out by 
industry accepted and recognised 
laboratories. SGS South Africa (Pty) (Ltd) 
used ISO and ALS Minerals used 
established standards and are NATA- 
registered. 

• The 2015 and 2017 drill samples were sent 
to SGS in Mwanza, Tanzania for sample 
preparation before being were sent to SGS 
in South Africa for analysis for TGC using 
method GRAP_CSA05V LECO Total Carbon, 
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Criteria JORC Code explanation Commentary 

  for sulphur using method CSA06V and for 
total carbon using method CSA01V. 

• Samples from the 2016 drilling programme 
were sent to ALS in Mwanza before being 
sent to ALS in Brisbane, Australia for 
analysis for TGC using method C-IR18, for 
sulphur using method S-IR08 and for total 
carbon using method C-IR07. 

• For the 2015 and 2016 drill samples blank, 
standard and duplicate samples were 
inserted at a ratio of 1:20. 

• For the 2017 drill samples duplicates were 
inserted at a ratio of 1:12 and standards 
and blanks at a ratio of 1:8 in total. 

• Duplicate analysis was completed and no 
issues identified with sampling 
representatively. 

• Analysis of the QAQC data indicates that 
the data is suitable for Mineral Resource 
estimation. 

Verification of 
sampling and 
assaying 

• The verification of significant intersections by 
either independent or alternative company 
personnel. 

• The use of twinned holes. 
• Documentation of primary data, data entry 

procedures, data verification, data storage 
(physical and electronic) protocols. 

• Discuss any adjustment to assay data. 

• QAQC protocols were adopted for the drill 
programmes. 

• During the site visit the CP for the Mineral 
Resource reviewed RC chips and DD core 
against the assay results. 

• Volt Resources engaged CSA Global to 
compile and maintain the database. CSA 
Global validated the assay data as it was 
received, which included analysis of the 
QAQC data. All discrepancies in the data 
were queried with the laboratory and 
resolved prior to data provision of the MS 
Access database to Optiro for resource 
estimation. 

• There are four DD holes that twinned 
earlier RC drillholes. 

• No adjustments have been applied to the 
results. 

Location of 
data points 

• Accuracy and quality of surveys used to locate 
drillholes (collar and down-hole surveys), 
trenches, mine workings and other locations 
used in Mineral Resource estimation. 

• Specification of the grid system used. 
• Quality and adequacy of topographic control. 

• Data for Bunyu 1 has been surveyed in ARC 
1960 grid and UTM datum Zone 37 south. 

• All drillholes were pegged using a hand- 
held GPS. The drillhole collars were then 
surveyed using a hand-held DGPS with a 
horizontal accuracy of 1.5 m. 

• In 2016 an aerial topographical survey was 
undertaken by Gleam Company for the 
Bunyu 1 project area. Corrections were 
made to this by ROM Resources for the 
2016 resource estimate. 

• The drillhole collars for the 2018 resource 
model were adjusted to the topographic 
surface. 

Data spacing 
and 
distribution 

• Data spacing for reporting of Exploration 
Results. 

• Whether the data spacing and distribution is 

• In 2016 the holes were drilled on 200 m to 
400 m spaced sections on either a 100 m 
or 200 m spacing. 

 
 
 

30 



 

Criteria JORC Code explanation Commentary 

 sufficient to establish the degree of geological 
and grade continuity appropriate for the 
Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve estimation 
procedure(s) and classifications applied. 

• Whether sample compositing has been 
applied. 

• Infill drilling during 2017 was on a spacing 
of 40 m by 40 m. 

• Geological interpretation and 
mineralisation continuity analysis indicates 
that data spacing is sufficient for definition 
of a Mineral Resource. 

• All RC samples are taken over intervals of 
1 m. 

• DD core sampling was based on geological 
boundaries with a general maximum limit 
of 1 m thickness. 

• Almost 80% of the samples were taken 
over an interval of 1 m. 

• Samples were composite to 1 m down- 
hole intervals for resource estimation. 

Orientation of 
data in 
relation to 
geological 
structure 

• Whether the orientation of sampling achieves 
unbiased sampling of possible structures and 
the extent to which this is known, considering 
the deposit type. 

• If the relationship between the drilling 
orientation and the orientation of key 
mineralised structures is considered to have 
introduced a sampling bias, this should be 
assessed and reported if material. 

• Interpretation of the relationship between 
the drilling orientation and the orientation 
of key mineralised structures indicates 
that mineralisation is likely to be 
perpendicular to strike continuity. 

• The orientation of drilling is not expected 
to introduce sampling bias. 

Sample 
security 

• The measures taken to ensure sample security. • A unique sample number was retained 
during the whole process. 

• Samples were placed in sacks that were 
cable tied. 

• Transportation is carried out by company 
staff driving the samples to the 
preparation laboratory in Mwanza directly 
from site. 

• Loss of data by theft, fire or computer 
virus attack is minimised by ensuring that 
the updated database, scanned 
documents and photographs are 
immediately distributed to the geological 
team via emails. 

Audits or 
reviews 

• The results of any audits or reviews of 
sampling techniques and data. 

• Sampling techniques and core mark-up 
was reviewed during the Mineral Resource 
CP site visit. 

• Laboratories have not been audited - 
QAQC data indicates sample preparation 
and analysis is to a high standard. 

Section 2 Reporting of Exploration Results 
Criteria JORC Code explanation Commentary 

Mineral 
tenement and 
land tenure 
status 

• Type, reference name/number, location and 
ownership including agreements or material 
issues with third parties such as joint 
ventures, partnerships, overriding royalties, 
native title interests, historical sites, 
wilderness or national park and 
environmental settings. 

• The security of the tenure held at the time of 
reporting along with any known impediments 

• The Bunyu 1 deposit is within prospecting 
license PL10718 which was granted on 18 
September 2015 for a period of four years 
for the exploration of graphite. 

• The Bunyu Project PLs are held by Volt 
Graphite Tanzania Ltd (formerly Nachi 
Resources Limited) which in turn is 100% 
owned by Volt Resources Limited. 
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Criteria JORC Code explanation Commentary 

 to obtaining a licence to operate in the area. • The surface area is administered by the 
Government as native title. The area is 
rural, with wilderness areas and 
subsistence farming. 

• The tenements are subject to a 3% royalty 
on production to the previous owners of 
Nachi Resources, which can be reduced to 
1.5% under an agreement with the 
previous owner. There are no other 
known issues that may affect the tenure. 

• On 8 February 2018, Volt Resources 
announced that it had lodged two Mining 
Lease applications that cover the Bunyu 1 
deposit and surrounding areas. 

Exploration 
done by other 
parties 

• Acknowledgment and appraisal of 
exploration by other parties. 

• There is no written record of previous 
exploration available for this area that is 
known to Volt Resources. 

• The location of some graphite outcrops 
within the Bunyu Project area was known 
by the previous owners. 

Geology • Deposit type, geological setting and style of 
mineralisation. 

• The graphite mineralisation occurs in 
Archean basement rocks of the 
Mozambique Belt system which principally 
comprise metamorphic rocks ranging from 
schist to gneisses including marbles, 
amphibolite, graphitic schist, mica and 
kyanite schist, acid gneisses, hornblende, 
biotite and garnet gneisses, quartzite, 
granulite, and pegmatite veins. 

• Exploration has focused on areas where 
there is no or minimal overlying younger 
sedimentary sequences remaining (mostly 
Cretaceous sandstones and 
conglomerates). 

Drillhole 
Information 

• A summary of all information material to the 
understanding of the exploration results 
including a tabulation of the following 
information for all Material drillholes: 

• easting and northing of the drillhole collar 
• elevation or RL (elevation above sea level 

in metres) of the drillhole collar 
• dip and azimuth of the hole 

• down hole length and interception depth 
• hole length. 

• Exploration results are not being reported 
for the Mineral Resources area. 

Data 
aggregation 
methods 

• In reporting Exploration Results, weighting 
averaging techniques, maximum and/or 
minimum grade truncations (e.g. cutting of 
high grades) and cut-off grades are usually 
Material and should be stated. 

• Exploration results are not being reported 
for the Mineral Resources area. 

• Metal equivalent values have not been 
used. 

• A nominal 3.5% total graphitic carbon 
lower cut-off has been applied in the 
determination of significant higher grade 
intercepts. 

Relationship 
between 
mineralisation 

• If the geometry of the mineralisation with 
respect to the drillhole angle is known, its 
nature should be reported. 

• If it is not known and only the down hole 

• Drillholes intersected mineralisation at 
near perpendicular to the strike 
orientation of the host lithologies. 
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Criteria JORC Code explanation Commentary 

widths and 
intercept 
lengths 

lengths are reported, there should be a clear 
statement to this effect. 

• Drill lines are planned to be as close as 
possible to right angles to the mapped 
mineralisation. 

• Exploration results are not being reported 
for the Mineral Resources area. 

Diagrams • Appropriate maps and sections (with scales) 
and tabulations of intercepts should be 
included for any significant discovery being 
reported These should include, but not be 
limited to a plan view of drillhole collar 
locations and appropriate sectional views. 

• Relevant diagrams have been included 
within this report. 

• Exploration results are not being reported 
for the Mineral Resources area. 

Balanced 
reporting 

• Where comprehensive reporting of all 
Exploration Results is not practicable, 
representative reporting of both low and high 
grades and/or widths should be practiced to 
avoid misleading reporting of Exploration 
Results. 

• Exploration results are not being reported 
for the Mineral Resources area. 

Other 
substantive 
exploration 
data 

• Other exploration data, if meaningful and 
material, should be reported including (but 
not limited to): geological observations; 
geophysical survey results; geochemical 
survey results; bulk samples – size and 
method of treatment; metallurgical test 
results; bulk density, groundwater, 
geotechnical and rock characteristics; 
potential deleterious or contaminating 
substances. 

• Exploration results are not being reported 
for the Mineral Resources area. 

• Previous results from the Bunyu Project 
include Ground EM surveys, mapping, 
trenching, rock chip sampling. All of the 
results of this work were previously 
reported. 

Further work • The nature and scale of planned further work 
(e.g. tests for lateral extensions or depth 
extensions or large-scale step-out drilling). 

• Follow-up drill RC and diamond core drill 
testing to further confirm extensions of 
graphite mineralisation and to extend the 
Measured and Indicated Mineral 
Resources. 

 
 
 
 

 

Section 3 Estimation and Reporting of Mineral Resources 
Criteria JORC Code explanation Commentary 

Database 
integrity 

• Measures taken to ensure that data has not 
been corrupted by, for example, 
transcription or keying errors, between its 
initial collection and its use for Mineral 
Resource estimation purposes. 

• Data validation procedures used. 

• Data used for the resource model is 
sourced from an export out of the 
Microsoft Access Database that was 
compiled and maintained by CSA Global, 
on behalf of Volt Resources 

• Relevant tables from the database are 
exported to MS Excel format and 
converted to csv format for import into 
Datamine software for use in the resource 
model. 

• Validation of the data import includes, 
amongst others, checks for drillhole collar 
discrepancy against topography, 
overlapping intervals, missing survey data, 
missing assay data, missing lithological 
data, and missing collars. 
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Criteria JORC Code explanation Commentary 

  • Additional data validation, by Optiro, 
included checking for out of range assay 
data and overlapping or missing intervals. 

Site visits • Comment on any site visits undertaken by 
the Competent Person and the outcome of 
those visits. 

• A site visit to the Bunyu 1 deposit was 
undertaken by Mrs Christine Standing 
(Principal Consultant, and CP for the 
resource model) during December 2017. 

• During the site visit drill sites were 
inspected, drillhole sampling and logging 
procedures, density measurement 
procedures were reviewed, sample packing 
and dispatch was inspected and the 
geological model was reviewed. 

• There were no negative outcomes from 
any of the above items, and samples and 
geological data were deemed fit for use in 
the preparation of the resource model. 

Geological 
interpretation 

• Confidence in (or conversely, the uncertainty 
of) the geological interpretation of the 
mineral deposit. 

• Nature of the data used and of any 
assumptions made. 

• The effect, if any, of alternative 
interpretations on Mineral Resource 
estimation. 

• The use of geology in guiding and controlling 
Mineral Resource estimation. 

• The factors affecting continuity both of 
grade and geology. 

• Confidence in the geological interpretation 
of the deposit is high in areas of close 
spaced drilling and moderate elsewhere. 

• The geological confidence has been 
considered for classification of the 
resource. 

• Mineralisation is hosted within a sequence 
of gneiss and schists. 

• The mineralisation is generally sub- 
horizontal. A fault off-set has been 
interpreted with the mineralised layers in 
the south-west displaced downwards 
relative to the mineralised layers in the 
north-east. 

• Geological interpretation was completed 

on a sectional basis, from which six 

mineralised layers (four to the north of the 

fault off-set and two to the south of the 

fault off-set) were identified that are 

intersected by the Stage 1 pit designs at 

Bunyu 1 or above the main layer of 

mineralisation within the southern area. 

• There are additional mineralised layers at 
depth and to the east of the main 
mineralisation. Geological interpretation 
has identified additional mineralised 
layers: seven within the northern area, 
eight within the south area and two within 
the eastern area. These were not included 
in the resource model. 

• No alternative interpretations were 
considered. The sectional interpretation 
was developed by Volt Resources following 
extensive logging of the infill drillhole data. 
The assay results, obtained after the 
sectional interpretation was completed, 
supported this interpretation. 

• The mineralisation domains were defined 
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Criteria JORC Code explanation Commentary 

  using grade constraints. A nominal cut-off 
grade of 3.5% TGC was used to define 
boundaries between higher grade 
mineralised domains and the lower grade 
and the weakly or non-mineralised 
domains. 

• Weathering domains representing 
colluvium, oxidised, transitional and fresh 
were modelled and were used to assign 
different density values and for TGC and 
sulphur grade estimation outside of the 
higher grade mineralised domains. 

Dimensions • The extent and variability of the Mineral 
Resource expressed as length (along strike or 
otherwise), plan width, and depth below 
surface to the upper and lower limits of the 
Mineral Resource. 

• The main zones of mineralisation extend 
over an area of 3 km along strike, 800 m to 
1.3 km across strike and from surface to a 
drilled depth of approximately 150 m 
below surface. 

• The Bunyu 1 mineralisation remains open 
to the north-east (where it is under a thick 
sedimentary sequence), to the south-west 
and at depth. 

Estimation and 
modelling 
techniques 

• The nature and appropriateness of the 
estimation technique(s) applied and key 
assumptions, including treatment of extreme 
grade values, domaining, interpolation 
parameters and maximum distance of 
extrapolation from data points. If a 
computer assisted estimation method was 
chosen include a description of computer 
software and parameters used. 

• The availability of check estimates, previous 
estimates and/or mine production records 
and whether the Mineral Resource estimate 
takes appropriate account of such data. 

• The assumptions made regarding recovery of 
by-products. 

• Estimation of deleterious elements or other 
non-grade variables of economic significance 
(e.g. sulphur for acid mine drainage 
characterisation). 

• In the case of block model interpolation, the 
block size in relation to the average sample 
spacing and the search employed. 

• Any assumptions behind modelling of 
selective mining units. 

• Any assumptions about correlation between 
variables. 

• Description of how the geological 
interpretation was used to control the 
resource estimates. 

• Discussion of basis for using or not using 
grade cutting or capping. 

• The process of validation, the checking 
process used, the comparison of model data 
to drillhole data, and use of reconciliation 
data if available. 

• Drillhole sample data was flagged from the 
interpretations of the mineralised 
domains. 

• Sample data was composited to a 1 m 
downhole length. 

• Data has a low coefficient of variation. 
Two outlier values were top-cut to 16% 
TGC. 

• The global Mineral Resource was estimated 
and reported in December 2016 by ROM 
Resources. This resource model extended 
at depth and laterally compared to the 
2018, model which was restricted to 
resource estimation within the mineralised 
layers intersected by the Stage 1 pit 
designs and included the mineralisation 
above the main mineralised layer in the 
southern area. 

• TGC mineralisation continuity was 
interpreted from variogram analyses to 
have a horizontal range of 190 m to 275 m 
along strike and 100 m to 155 m across 
strike, 

• The majority of the Bunyu 1 deposit was 
tested by the 2015 drilling programme that 
was at a nominal spacing of 200 m across 
strike on section lines spaced at 400 m 
along strike. The 2016 drilling programme 
infilled areas to a nominal spacing of 100 m 
across strike on section lines spaced at 200 
m along strike. In 2017, an infill drilling 
programme was conducted within the 
upper, central zone of Bunyu 1 at a spacing 
of approximately 40 m to 40 m. 
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Criteria JORC Code explanation Commentary 

  • A twin drilling programme confirmed the 
RC drillholes could be used with the 
diamond core samples for grade 
estimation. 

• The maximum extrapolation distance is 
75 m along strike. The interpretation is 
constrained by drilling in the across strike 
direction and thee interpretation is 
extended to half the drill spacing. 

• Grade estimation was into parent blocks of 
30 mE by 30 mN on 2 m benches. Block 
size was selected based on kriging 
neighbourhood analysis. 

• No selective mining units were assumed in 
the model. 

• Estimation of TGC and sulphur was carried 
out using ordinary kriging at the parent 
block scale and using Datamine software. 

• Sulphur is not correlated with TGC and 
both variables were modelled 
independently. 

• The search ellipses were oriented within 
the plane of the mineralisation. 

• Three estimation passes were used; the 
first search was based upon the variogram 
ranges in the three principal directions; the 
second search was two times the initial 
search and the third search was up to six 
times the initial search, with reduced 
sample numbers required for estimation. 

• Around 65% of the TGC block grades were 
estimated in the first pass, 30% in the 
second pass and the remaining 5% in the 
third search pass. 

• The estimated TGC block model grades 
were visually validated against the input 
drillhole data, comparisons were carried 
out against the drillhole data and by 
northing, easting and elevation slices. 

• The non-grade element estimated is 
sulphur (S%). Sulphur may impact on 
metallurgical processing and is considered 
a deleterious element in some graphite 
deposits 

• Maximum continuity ranges for the flake 
size are 380 m along strike (055°) and 200 
m across-strike (325°). 

• No mining has taken place; therefore, no 
reconciliation data is available. 

Moisture • Whether the tonnages are estimated on a 
dry basis or with natural moisture, and the 
method of determination of the moisture 
content. 

• Tonnes have been estimated on a dry 
basis. 

• Moisture content has not been tested. 

Cut-off 
parameters 

• The basis of the adopted cut-off grade(s) or 
quality parameters applied. 

• The resource model is reported above a 
2.93% TGC cut-off grade. This cut-off 
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Criteria JORC Code explanation Commentary 

  grade was selected by Volt Resources 
based on technical and economic 
assessment of the mineralisation within 
the Stage 1 FS pits by Orelogy. 

Mining factors 
or assumptions 

• Assumptions made regarding possible 
mining methods, minimum mining 
dimensions and internal (or, if applicable, 
external) mining dilution. It is always 
necessary as part of the process of 
determining reasonable prospects for 
eventual economic extraction to consider 
potential mining methods, but the 
assumptions made regarding mining 
methods and parameters when estimating 
Mineral Resources may not always be 
rigorous. 

• Planned extraction is by open pit mining 
involving standard truck and haul mining 
techniques. 

• The geometry of the deposit will make it 
amenable to mining methods currently 
employed in many surface operations in 
similar deposits around the world. 

• Mining factors such as dilution and ore loss 
have not been applied. 

Metallurgical 
factors or 
assumptions 

• The basis for assumptions or predictions 
regarding metallurgical amenability. It is 
always necessary as part of the process of 
determining reasonable prospects for 
eventual economic extraction to consider 
potential metallurgical methods, but the 
assumptions regarding metallurgical 
treatment processes and parameters made 
when reporting Mineral Resources may not 
always be rigorous. 

• No metallurgical assumptions have been 
built into the resource models. 

• The results from metallurgical testwork 
have been considered for Mineral 
Resource classification. 

• Results to date demonstrate that products 
produced by conventional processing 
techniques are within the typical saleable 
size and grade. 

• 2018 testwork results indicate that 
recoveries of TGC of 91% to 96.5% can be 
achieved from the rougher concentrate. 

• For three of the four samples 25 to 33% of 
the flakes are ≥180 μm. The flake size 
within the concentrate developed from 
fresh material is finer (with 20% ≥180 μm 
and 30% ≥150 μm). 

• Some 1 m samples from 11 randomly 
selected drillholes were tested for a 
comprehensive suite of trace elements. 
Vanadium ranged from 135 to 937 ppm. 

Environmental 
factors or 
assumptions 

• Assumptions made regarding possible waste 
and process residue disposal options. It is 
always necessary as part of the process of 
determining reasonable prospects for 
eventual economic extraction to consider the 
potential environmental impacts of the 
mining and processing operation. 

• No assumptions have been made regarding 
waste and process residue. 

• Environmental studies are being 
undertaken as part of the Feasibility Study 

Bulk density • Whether assumed or determined. If 
assumed, the basis for the assumptions. If 
determined, the method used, whether wet 
or dry, the frequency of the measurements, 
the nature, size and representativeness of 
the samples. 

• The bulk density for bulk material must have 
been measured by methods that adequately 
account for void spaces (vugs, porosity, etc), 
moisture and differences between rock and 
alteration zones within the deposit. 

• Discuss assumptions for bulk density 
estimates used in the evaluation process of 

• Bulk density was measured for 730 core 
samples from diamond holes using 
Archimedes and caliper measurements. 

• The density data has a range of 1.25 to 
3.73 t/m3. 

• Analysis of this data indicated that there is 
a relationship with oxidation. 

• A bulk density of 1.92 t/m3 was assigned to 
colluvium, 2.07 t/m3 was assigned to the 
oxidised material, 2.50 t/m3 was assigned 
to the transitional material and 2.64 t/m3 
was assigned to the fresh material. 
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Criteria JORC Code explanation Commentary 

 the different materials.  

Classification • The basis for the classification of the Mineral 
Resources into varying confidence 
categories. 

• Whether appropriate account has been 
taken of all relevant factors (i.e. relative 
confidence in tonnage/grade estimations, 
reliability of input data, confidence in 
continuity of geology and metal values, 
quality, quantity and distribution of the 
data). 

• Whether the result appropriately reflects the 
Competent Person’s view of the deposit. 

• Mineral Resources have been classified on 
the basis of confidence in geological and 
grade continuity using the drilling density, 
geological model, modelled grade 
continuity and conditional bias measures 
(slope of the regression and kriging 
efficiency) and the distribution of the 
metallurgical testwork samples as criteria. 

• In general, the areas tested with the 2017 
infill drilling (40 m by 40 m spacing), that 
have high confidence in the geological 
interpretation and higher estimation 
quality are classified as Measured. 

• Areas with lower confidence in the 
geological interpretation and poorer 
estimation quality were classified as 
Indicated. 

• Areas where the drill spacing is generally 
200 m by 400 m and mineralised domains 
at depth that are classified as Inferred. 

• The available process testwork indicates 
that likely product quality is considered 
favourable for eventual economic 
extraction. 

• In addition, the likelihood of eventual 
economic extraction was considered in 
terms of possible open pit mining, and 
potentially favourable logistics to the 
Mtwara Port. 

• Based on this, and taking into 
consideration the thickness, grades and 
depth of the deposit, it is considered that 
the Bunyu 1 deposit has a reasonable 
prospect of eventually being mined. 

• Metallurgical results related to flake size 
and sample purity, the continuity of the 
flake size data, project location and 
marketing agreements all support the 
classification, as per Clause 49 (JORC 2012). 

• The classification considers all available 
data and quality of the estimate and 
reflects the Competent Person’s view of 
the deposit. 

Audits or 
reviews 

• The results of any audits or reviews of 
Mineral Resource estimates. 

• The resource model has been peer 
reviewed by Optiro staff. 

Discussion of 
relative 
accuracy/ 
confidence 

• Where appropriate a statement of the 
relative accuracy and confidence level in the 
Mineral Resource estimate using an 
approach or procedure deemed appropriate 
by the Competent Person. 

• The statement should specify whether it 
relates to global or local estimates, and, if 
local, state the relevant tonnages, which 
should be relevant to technical and economic 
evaluation. 

• The assigned classification of Measured, 
Indicated and Inferred reflects the 
Competent Person’s assessment of the 
accuracy and confidence levels in the 
resource model. 

• The confidence levels reflect production 
volumes on a quarterly basis. 
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Section 4: Estimation and Reporting of Ore Reserve for the Bunyu Stage 1 FS 
The table below summarises the assessment and reporting criteria used for the Bunyu Stage 1 FS Ore 

Reserve and reflects both the guidelines in Table 1 of The Australasian Code for the Reporting of 

Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (the JORC Code, 2012) and the requirements for 

a feasibility study to be underpinned by an Ore Reserve. The Bunyu Stage 1 Ore Reserve is considered a 

subset of the 2016 Namangale 1 Ore Reserve released by Volt Resources 15 December 2016 as part of the 

Pre-Feasibility Study. It therefore does not replace or update this reserve and is for the purposes of 

underpinning the Stage 1 FS. The Namangale (now Bunyu) overall Ore Reserve will be updated as part of 

the Bunyu Stage 2 DFS. 
 

Criteria JORC Code explanation Commentary 

Mineral 
Resource 
estimate for 
conversion to 
Ore Reserve 

• Description of the Mineral Resource 
estimate used as a basis for the conversion 
to an Ore Reserve. 

 

• Clear statement as to whether the Mineral 
Resources are reported additional to, or 
inclusive of, the Ore Reserve. 

• The Mineral Resource Estimate used to 
develop the 2018 Bunyu 1 Mineral Resource 
Estimate is classified a JORC 2012 Mineral 
Resource statement by Volt Resources. The 
2018 Bunyu 1 Mineral Resource Estimate 
was completed by Christine Standing (the 
Competent Person) of Optiro Pty Ltd. 

• The 2018 Mineral Resources are reported 
inclusive of the Bunyu Stage 1 FS Ore 
Reserve. The Ore Reserve does not include 
Inferred Mineral Resources. 

• The 2018 Bunyu 1 Mineral Resource 
Estimate contains no allowances for mining 
related ore dilution or ore losses 

• The Bunyu Stage 1 FS only assesses a very 
small portion of the Bunyu 1 deposit 
relevant to the feasibility area. The entire 
Bunyu deposit will be assessed as part of a 
subsequent Stage 2 assessment and an 
updated Bunyu Ore Reserve will be released 
at this point. Consequently, the Ore Reserve 
developed as part of the Stage 1 FS is 
referred to as the Bunyu Stage 1 FS Ore 
Reserve. 

• Due to the scale of the Bunyu Stage 1 FS, 
the Stage 1 Ore Reserve does not define an 
ultimate economic limit. A considerable 
proportion of the 2018 Bunyu 1 Mineral 
Resource has not been assessed for 
economic viability as part of the Stage 1 FS. 

Site visits • Comment on any site visits undertaken by 
the Competent Person and the outcome of 
those visits. 

 

• If no site visits have been undertaken 
indicate why this is the case. 

• A site visit was undertaken by Mr Ross 
Cheyne, Director of Orelogy Consulting Pty 
Ltd and Competent Person for the Bunyu 
Stage 1 Ore Reserve. The purpose of the 
visit was to assess the site conditions, 
layout and inspect drill core as available to 
confirm the appropriateness of the Ore 
Reserve 

• All other key relevant disciplines have 
undertaken site visits and provided input 
into both the planned development and the 
Bunyu Stage 1 FS Ore Reserve. 
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Study status • The type and level of study undertaken to 
enable Mineral Resources to be converted 
to an Ore Reserve. 

 

• The Code requires that a study to at least 
Pre-Feasibility Study level has been 
undertaken to convert Mineral Resources to 
Ore Reserves. Such studies will have been 
carried out and will have determined a mine 
plan that is technically achievable and 
economically viable, and that material 
Modifying Factors have been considered. 

• The development of the mine plan and 
associated economic evaluation of the 
Bunyu Stage 1 FS has been completed to a 
FS level of accuracy of +/- 15%. 

• The Ore Reserve was underpinned by a 
mine plan detailing mining locations, ore 
and waste quantities; mill feed quantities 
and mill head grades. Scheduling was 
undertaken in monthly and quarterly 
periods. 

• Mine planning activities included an 
updated pit optimisation, mine design, 
scheduling, mining cost estimation and 
financial analysis in order to confirm the 
ability to economically mine the Bunyu 
Stage 1 FS Ore Reserve. 

• Modifying factors considered during the 
mine planning process included slope 
design criteria, mining dilution and ore loss, 
processing recoveries, processing costs, 
general and administration costs, product 
price and royalties, engineering and 
infrastructure design, land access and 
permitting. 

• The financial evaluation carried out as part 
of the Bunyu Stage 1 FS indicates that the 
Bunyu Stage 1 Graphite Project is 
technically achievable and economically 
viable. Financial modelling indicates it has 
an NPV of US$18.6M (10% D.R.) and an IRR 
of 21.0% (pre-tax, US$, real) 

• The following groups have been utilised by 
Volt Resources for the FS and provided key 
inputs into developing the Bunyu Stage 1 FS 
Ore Reserve: 

• Geology and Resources – Optiro 
- Geotechnical – Pells Sullivan Meynink 
- Hydrology – AQ2 
- Mining – Orelogy 
- Metallurgy – BatteryLimits / ALS 
- Processing – Battery Limits 
- Engineering – Battery Limits 
- Tailings – ATC Williams 
- Power, Water, Infrastructure and 

Logistics – BatteryLimits / AQ2 / Volt 
- Marketing – Volt / Industrial Minerals 
- Financial Assessment – Volt / Modus 

Capital 

Cut-off 
parameters 

• The basis of the cut-off grade(s) or quality 
parameters applied. 

• The cut-off grade used is the processing (or 
internal) cut-off grade (i.e. material is 
treated as ore if the recovered revenue 
exceeds the processing cost). This 
calculation excludes mining costs as these 
are treated as sunk when the decision is 
made to direct material to either the 
process plant or waste dump. 

• The Bunyu Stage 1 FS Ore Reserve is based 
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  on a Net Price which includes selling costs 
such as transport (trucking and shipping) 
and government and vendor royalties. 

• The processing cut-off grade is 2.93% TGC 
for Stage 1 FS Ore Reserve. 

Mining factors 
or 
assumptions 

The method and assumptions used as reported 
in the Pre-Feasibility or Feasibility Study to 
convert the Mineral Resource to an Ore Reserve 
(i.e. either by application of appropriate factors 
by optimisation or by preliminary or detailed 
design). 

 
The choice, nature and appropriateness of the 
selected mining method(s) and other mining 
parameters including associated design issues 
such as pre-strip, access, etc. 

 
The assumptions made regarding geotechnical 
parameters (e.g. pit slopes, stope sizes, etc.), 
grade control and pre- production drilling. 

 

The major assumptions made and Mineral 
Resource model used for pit and stope 
optimisation (if appropriate). 

 
The mining dilution and mining recovery factors 
used. 

 
Any minimum mining widths used. 

 

The manner in which Inferred Mineral Resources 
are utilised in mining studies and the sensitivity 
of the outcome to their inclusion. 

 
The infrastructure requirements of the selected 
mining methods. 

• Open pit optimisation proprietary software 
was utilised to determine the extent of the 
highest value pits that provide the required 
inventory for the Stage 1 project (approx. 
2.8Mt). The optimisation process used 
initial estimates of the various modifying 
factors. However as the Stage 1 pits lay well 
within any final economic limit for Bunyu 1, 
the optimisation parameters were only 
critical in terms of generating shells of 
different relative size and value, not in 
confirming an ultimate economic pit limit. 

• The mining method is conventional truck 
and shovel open pit mining. 

• Bunyu 1 is suited to conventional open pit 
mining methods as: 
- The deposit outcrops with limited initial 

overburden, 
- The deposit is generally flat lying with 

the pit designs which allows for selective 
mining with the small equipment 
proposed 

- There are several sub-parallel lenses 
that fall within the pit boundary 
resulting in a relatively low stripping 
ratio (0.73 waste : 1 ore). 

• Suitable waste material from within the 
South Pit area will be utilised as bulk fill for 
construction of the Tailings Storage Facility 
and Water Storage Dam prior to mining 
commencing. Consequently, the mine 
production schedule generated for the FS 
consists of the Ore Reserve with an 
allowance for depletion of this volume of 
waste material. 

• The deposit will be mined on 6m high 
benches for blasting, but excavated in 3 x 
2m high flitches to manage dilution. 

• Dilution and ore loss were applied by 
reblocking the 7.5mX x 7.5mY x 0.5mZ 
Resource block model to 7.5mX x 7.5mY x 
2mZ Mining block model to reflect a 
minimum selective mining unit (i.e. 2m 
flitch height). The Bunyu Stage 1 FS Ore 
Reserve was then reported based on the 
diluted grade of the larger block. The 
resource model had been estimated on a 
domain boundary grade of 3.5% TGC, which 
is considerably higher than the calculated 
cut-off grade of 2.93%. Optiro had also 
estimate TGC into the domains outside of 
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  the 3.5%TGC boundaries. Orelogy treated 
these grades outside of the “ore” domains 
as a background diluent grade. 

• A minimum mining width of 20m was used 
for all pit designs. 

• Mine designs have been undertaken using 
the geotechnical recommendation provided 
by Pells Sullivan Meynink, independent 
geotechnical consultant appointed by Volt 
Resources who undertook a site 
geotechnical assessment. PSM provided 
specific berm, batter and inter-ramp angle 
recommendations for four (4) distinct 
weathering zones that were modelled in the 
Mineral Resource. PSM also undertook a 
review of the final pit designs to confirm 
they adhered to the design 
recommendations. The geotechnical 
investigation was focused on the area of the 
North and Central pits and was extrapolated 
to include the South Pit. The risk around any 
geotechnical uncertainty in the South Pit is 
mitigated by: 
- The pits are relatively shallow, being a 

maximum of 45m below surface. 
- The South Pit is not commenced until 

Year 4, allowing more than enough time 
to undertake a suitable geotechnical 
assessment. 

- The pit in general has flatter slopes than 
the design recommendations. 

• The mine schedule is based on achievable 
production rates for the specified size of 
mining fleet with only a single shift per day 
required at peak. 

• No inferred mineral resources have been 
used in the determination of the Bunyu 
Stage 1 FS Ore Reserve. 

• The proposed mining method requires the 
conventional mining  infrastructure 
including but not limited to mining 
equipment workshop, fuel & oil storage 
facilities, wash bay, offices, lunch and 
ablution facilities and a first aid room. These 
are to be supplied by the mining contractor. 
Volt Resources have defined a mining 
infrastructure area and will supply water to 
this location, with power supplied by the 
contractor. 

• Due to the low mining production rates it is 
envisaged limited explosives will be stored 
on site. Explosives will be trucked to site as 
required and an explosives magazine area 
has been demarcated by Volt Resources. 
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Metallurgical 
factors or 
assumptions 

The metallurgical process proposed and the 
appropriateness of that process to the style of 
mineralisation. 

 
Whether the metallurgical process is well-tested 
technology or novel in nature. 

 
The nature, amount and representativeness of 
metallurgical test work undertaken, the nature 
of the metallurgical domaining applied and the 
corresponding metallurgical recovery factors 
applied. 

 
Any assumptions or allowances made for 
deleterious elements. 

 

The existence of any bulk sample or pilot scale 
test work and the degree to which such samples 
are considered representative of the orebody as 
a whole. 

 
For minerals that are defined by a specification, 
has the ore reserve estimation been based on 
the appropriate mineralogy to meet the 
specifications? 

• The processing plant is designed to recover 
graphite concentrate by froth flotation. Ore 
will be crushed followed by grinding and 
graphite flotation. The final graphite 
product will be filtered, dried and bagged 
for transport and subsequent loading onto 
ships in sea containers. 

• A key objective of the plant design is to 
produce a marketable high-grade graphite 
product at the largest possible graphite 
flake size to maximise the value of the 
products produced. 

• The proposed flowsheet has been 
developed based on the metallurgical 
testwork undertaken to date and derived 
Process Design Criteria. The process plant 
design is based on a metallurgical flowsheet 
with unit operations that are conventional 
and well proven and aligned with current 
graphite industry practice. 

• The metallurgical testwork program 
conducted on Bunyu 1 used composite 
samples produced from drill core. Prior to 
the diamond drill core from the 2017 drill 
program becoming available an 
optimisation testwork program was 
conducted on remnant material from the 
2016 bulk trench samples to investigate 
options for optimising the processing 
approach. 

• The outcomes were incorporated into the 
testwork undertaken on 2017 diamond drill 
core samples for the Stage 1 planned 
development. Testwork focused on 
grinding and flotation using both a 
composite and variability samples and was 
undertaken at ALS in Western Australia. 
Some comminution testwork was also 
undertaken. 

• The results from the recent testwork were 
similar to results from previous 2016 
testwork and demonstrated saleable 
graphite products can be readily produced. 
Overall the results indicate the variability in 
the Bunyu 1 project area is low. 

• Metallurgical testwork had not identified 
any deleterious elements. 

Environmental The status of studies of potential environmental 
impacts of the mining and processing operation. 
Details of waste rock characterisation and the 
consideration of potential sites, status of design 
options considered and, where applicable, the 
status of approvals for process residue storage 
and waste dumps should be reported. 

• An Environmental and Social Impact Study 
(ESIS) for the Bunyu Stage 1 FS has been 
completed and lodged. The ESIS is based on 
a significant body of work including flora 
and fauna surveys, heritage surveys, and 
stakeholder identification, including public 
consultation and the development of 
environmental and social monitoring and 
management plans. 

• The ESIS has been reviewed by the NEMC 

 
 

43 



 

  and Technical Advisory Committee which 
has included a site visit and technical review 
meetings and is now in the final stage prior 
to forwarding to the Minister for 
Environment for approval. 

• The key issue related to mining activities is 
the presence of potentially acid forming 
(PAF) material as part of the mine waste 
rock. It is possible that most of waste rock 
generated by the open pits will be acid 
forming to some degree. Procedures for the 
construction of the waste rock dump (WRD) 
and the management of any run-off from 
these facilities has been developed as part 
of the Bunyu Stage 1 FS. This includes 
(without limitation) base impermeability 
requirements, construction methodology, 
drainage control, capping and 
rehabilitation. Allowance has been made for 
cost related to the management and control 
of AMD 

• The approach for final mine closure will be 
assessed and managed as part of the Stage 
2 process. A detailed AMD management 
plan will be developed as part of the post- 
feasibility FEED phase to be included in the 
operating protocols for the mining contract 
tender. The effectiveness of the proposed 
strategies for operational management and 
post-closure minimisation of AMD risk will 
be tested by numerical modelling, and 
validated by in situ monitoring and field 
trials. This will be scheduled well in advance 
of closure to confirm their effective 
performance. 

Infrastructure The existence of appropriate infrastructure: 
availability of land for plant development, 
power, water, transportation (particularly for 
bulk commodities), labour, accommodation; or 
the ease with which the infrastructure can be 
provided, or accessed. 

• No significant infrastructure currently exists 
at the project site. The infrastructure 
required has been designed and costed by 
BatteryLimits Pty Ltd as part of the FS. 

• Access to both Mtwara and Dar es Salaam is 
via the national highway B5 which lies 
approx. 12 km to the south of the Bunyu 
Stage 1 project area. The FS includes a 
design and cost estimate for upgrading the 
road from the Bunyu North turnoff on the 
B5 to site. 

• Power at site will be provided via diesel 
generator. 

• A Local Content Plan has been developed as 
part of the FS and the requirements of this 
plan will be key selection criteria for all 
service providers, including the mining 
contractor. 

• Accommodation for the Stage 1 workforce 
will be provisioned via a combination of 
locally sourced labour and a camp 
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  constructed at the site which has been 
allowed for in the FS cost estimate. 

Costs The derivation of, or assumptions made, 
regarding projected capital costs in the study. 

 

The methodology used to estimate operating 
costs. 

 
Allowances made for the content of deleterious 
elements. 

 
The source of exchange rates used in the study. 

Derivation of transportation charges. 

The basis for forecasting or source of treatment 
and refining charges, penalties for failure to 
meet specification, etc. 

 

The allowances made for royalties payable, both 
Government and private. 

• Mining costs have been calculated based on 
the submissions received for a Request for 
Budget Pricing (RFPB) sent to a range of 
African based mining contractors. The 
submission has been adjusted to allow for 
the differences in the FS mine plan from the 
one presented in the RFBP. This includes: 
- Overhaul rates for longer haulage 

distances 
- Additional site preparation 

requirements for dumps and stockpiles 
to cater for AMD 

- Ongoing AMD management 
- Dayworks 

• The diesel fuel price was supplied by Volt 
Resources based on typical in country 
pricing. 

• The capital cost estimate has been compiled 
by BatteryLimits based on the design, 
supply, fabrication, construction and 
commissioning of a new graphite plant in 
Tanzania and includes supporting 
infrastructure and indirect costs. Mine 
establishment and infrastructure costs are 
included, but the cost of the mining fleet 
and associated infrastructure is financed by 
the mining contractor and covered by 
operating expenses (Opex). 

• The estimate for the process plant is based 
on the process design as documented in 
Process Design Criteria, process flowsheet, 
equipment list and plant layout plan. The 
plant estimate has been based upon budget 
price quotations for major equipment, in- 
house data from recent projects, 
preliminary MTO estimates for steel and 
concrete, and industry standard estimating 
factors for ancillary equipment and other 
installation costs. 

• The estimate incorporates direct costs and 
indirect costs but does not include 
allowances for: 
- pre-implementation studies 
- financing 
- taxation 
- land access 
- mining rights 

• Rehabilitation and closure have been 
assessed on the basis that the Stage 1 
project is superseded by the Stage 2 project 
within the life of Stage 1. 

• The operating cost estimate for the project 
includes all costs associated with mining, 
processing, infrastructure and site-based 
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  general and administration costs. The 
operating costs have been developed in US$ 
unless otherwise stated and unit rates and 
prices included have a base date of Q1 2018 
with no allowance for escalation or 
inflation. 

• The operating costs have been compiled 
from a variety of sources, including: 
- Budget quotations received from 

vendors and/or contractors 
- “Operating cost database” of the 

consultants 
- Wages and salaries developed from 

P5HR, a Tanzanian HR consultant 
- Estimates based on industry standards 

from similar operations 
- First principle estimates based on typical 

operating data 

• Most equipment costs were quoted in 
South African Rand or US$, and 
infrastructure costs were most commonly in 
US$. All costs were converted to US$ based 
on the exchange rates below. 
- US$1.00 = A$1.29 
- US$1.00 = 2,273 TZS (Tanzanian Shilling), 
- US$1.00 =13 ZAR (South African Rand), 
- US$1.00 = € 0.84 

A 3% government royalty and 3% vendor 
royalty has been allowed for in the financial 
evaluation. 

Revenue factors The derivation of, or assumptions made 
regarding revenue factors including head grade, 
metal or commodity price(s) 

 
The derivation of assumptions made of metal or 
commodity price(s), for the principal metals, 
minerals and co-products. 

• Forecast pricing across the relevant flake 
sizes, purity and product types has been 
sourced from a combination of bespoke 
industry reports and material including 
research bodies, BMI and Industrial 
Minerals and Canaccord research. Shorter 
term pricing also reflects current industry 
reporting and discussions with end users. 

• An average basket price has been calculated 
for the Bunyu 1 deposit from the 
metallurgical testwork on size distribution, 
product quality and the assumed product 
revenues. 

• Sensitivity analysis was undertaken for five 
key economic drivers being graphite prices, 
feed grade, mineral recovery, capital 
expenditure and operating expenditure. 

• The sensitivity range used was +/- 30% and 
the revenue driver (price/grade/recovery) 
were seen to have the largest impact on 
project economics. Bunyu Stage 1 has 
relatively low sensitivity to capital 
expenditure, more so to operating 
expenditure. 

Market 
assessment 

The demand, supply and stock situation for the 
particular commodity, consumption trends and 

• Market research by BMI, Industrial Minerals 
and Canaccord research. These indicate a 
steady appreciation in graphite prices over 
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 factors likely to affect supply and demand into 
the future. 
A customer and competitor analysis along with 
the identification of likely market windows for 
the product. 
Price and volume forecasts and the basis for 
these forecasts. 
For industrial minerals the customer 
specification, testing and acceptance 
requirements prior to a supply contract. 

the next five years as demand for spherical 
graphite increases. 

• Volt Resources anticipate that most battery 
manufacturers will prefer naturally sourced 
graphite flake product as it is less costly and 
more environmentally friendly than 
synthetic graphite. 

• Securing offtake agreements has been 
viewed as a key requirement to 
development of the Project. Volt Resources 
has signed non-binding Cooperation 
Agreements and Term Sheets with leading 
end-user groups in China as follows: 
- CNBM General Technologies (previously 

CNBMGM) 
10,000-15,000 t/y for 5 years with a 
further 5 years mutual option to extend 

- AOYU 
10-20,000 t/y off-take for 5 years with a 
further 5 years mutual option to extend. 

-   Qingdao Tianshengda Graphite Co. Ltd. 
(Tianshengda) 
5,000 t/y off-take for 5 years with a 
further 5 years mutual option to extend 
Qingdao Guangxing Electronics 
Material Co. Ltd. (GEM) 
5,000 t/y off-take for 5 years with a 
further 5 years mutual option to extend 

• Volt Resources is now in the process of 
completing the final binding offtake 
agreements for substantially all of Stage 1 
annual production. These offtake 
agreements are in addition to the existing 
binding offtake agreement with US based 
graphene company, Nano Graphene 
Incorporated which is in respect to a small 
tonnage of product in the graphene market. 

Economic The inputs to the economic analysis to produce 
the net present value (NPV) in the study, the 
source and confidence of these economic inputs 
including estimated inflation, discount rate, etc. 
NPV ranges and sensitivity to variations in the 
significant assumptions and inputs. 

• The Bunyu Stage 1 FS schedule has been 
evaluated by Modulus Capital Pty Ltd using 
a detailed financial model. This 
demonstrates the Ore Reserve and 
associated Stage 1 FS schedule generates 
positive cash flows and acceptable return 
on investment over and above the capital 
and operating costs of the project. 

• The assumptions used in the Ore Reserve 
analysis are as follows: 
- All Inferred material assigned zero value 
- 10% discount real 
- Variable price over life of project 

• Sensitivity analysis has been undertaken 
which shows the project remains economic 
over an appropriate range of input 
parameters, given the accuracy of the study 
on which this is based 

Social The status of agreements with key • Stakeholder consultations began in 2016 
and the engagement process has continued 

 
 

47 



 

 stakeholders and matters leading to social 
licence to operate. 

during the subsequent ESIA process, and is 
ongoing. Overall the reception to mining in 
the area has been positive. 

• A Resettlement Action Plan has been 
completed and all approvals for the 
compensation arrangements for 
approximately 1,100 people either farming 
and/or living within the mining licences 
area. The footprint of the compensation 
area incorporates the Stage 1 development 
and Stage 2 expansion project. 

Other To the extent relevant, the impact of the 
following on the project and/or on the 
estimation and classification of the Ore Reserve: 
• Any identified material naturally occurring 

risks. 

• The status of material legal agreements and 
marketing arrangements. 

• The status of governmental agreements and 
approvals critical to the viability of the 
project, such as mineral tenement status, 
and government and statutory approvals. 
There must be reasonable grounds to expect 
that all necessary Government approvals 
will be received within the timeframes 
anticipated in the Pre-Feasibility or 
Feasibility study. Highlight and discuss the 
materiality of any unresolved matter that is 
dependent on a third party on which 
extraction of the reserve is contingent. 

• No identifiable naturally occurring risks 
have been identified to impact the Bunyu 
Stage 1 FS Ore Reserve. 

• Volt Resources has an existing binding 
offtake agreement with US based graphene 
company, Nano Graphene Incorporated. In 
addition, Volt Resources have three signed 
Cooperation Agreements and / or Term 
Sheets with leading end-user groups in 
China. These demonstrate that sales of the 
products can be commercially achieved. 

• Volt Resources has lodged two Mining 
Licence (“ML”) applications covering the 
18km2 footprint for Stage 1 and the Stage 2 
expansion. The recent appointment of the 
Mining Commission has resulted in a large 
number of licence applications being 
approved. Once the environmental 
approval is obtained, Volt Resources 
expects the mining licences to be approved 
soon thereafter. 

Classification The basis for the classification of the Ore 
Reserve into varying confidence categories. 

 

Whether the result appropriately reflects the 
Competent Person’s view of the deposit. 

 
The proportion of Ore Reserves that have been 
derived from Measured Mineral Resources (if 
any). 

• The Bunyu Stage 1 FS Ore Reserves 
comprise Measured Mineral Resource 
material converted to “Proved” reserves 
and Indicated Mineral Resource material 
converted to “Probable” reserves. 

• In line with JORC 2012 guidelines, Inferred 
Mineral Resource material has not been 
included. 

• Approx. 46% of the Bunyu Stage 1 FS Ore 
Reserve is Proved Reserves, with the 
remainder being in the Probable Reserve 
category. 

Audits or 
reviews 

The results of any audits or reviews • No external audits or reviews have been 
carried out to date 

Discussion of 
relative 
accuracy/ 
confidence 

Where appropriate a statement of the relative 
accuracy and confidence level in the Ore Reserve 
estimate using an approach or procedure 
deemed appropriate by the Competent Person. 
For example, the application of statistical or 
geostatistical procedures to quantify the relative 
accuracy of the reserve within stated confidence 
limits, or, if such an approach is not deemed 
appropriate, a qualitative discussion of the 
factors which could affect the relative accuracy 
and confidence of the estimate. 

• As there is no current mining at Bunyu, 
reconciliation of the Bunyu Stage 1 FS Ore 
Reserve with production data cannot be 
undertaken. 

• The Bunyu Stage 1 FS Ore Reserve is an 
outcome of a feasibility level study, the 
confidence of which is accepted to be +/- 
15% globally. 

• The Bunyu Stage 1 FS Ore Reserve is based 
around a targeted project production rate 
over a 7 year period. It does not reflect the 
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The statement should specify whether it relates 
to global or local estimates, and, if local, state 
the relevant tonnages, which should be relevant 
to technical and economic evaluation. 
Documentation should include assumptions 
made and the procedures used. 

 

Accuracy and confidence discussions should 
extend to specific discussions of any applied 
Modifying Factors that may have a material 
impact on Ore Reserve viability, or for which 
there are remaining areas of uncertainty at the 
current study stage. 

 
It is recognised that this may not be possible or 
appropriate in all circumstances. These 
statements of relative accuracy and confidence 
of the estimate should be compared with 
production data, where available. 

ultimate economic extent of the Bunyu 1 
project. Hence the sensitivity of the 
ultimate project limits has not been tested 
as part of the Stage 1 FS. The supporting 
data around geotechnical and metallurgical 
parameters are also focused around the 
Stage 1 area and currently do not support 
generating an ultimate economic pit for the 
entire Bunyu 1 deposit at an FS standard. 
The Namangale 1 (now Bunyu 1) Ore 
Reserve announced on 15 December 2016 
remains valid and will be updated as part of 
the Stage 2 DFS. 

 
 

Competent Persons Short Biography 

 
Christine Standing [BSc Hons (Geology), MSc (Mineral Economics), MAIG, MAusIMM] is a geologist with 

over 35 years’ worldwide experience in the mining industry. She has six years’ experience as an 

exploration geologist in Western Australia and over 30 years’ experience as a consultant specialising in 

resource estimation, reconciliation, project management and statutory and competent persons’ reporting 

on worldwide projects for a range of commodities. She has acted as a Qualified Person and Competent 

Person for gold, graphite, silver, copper, mineral sands, nickel, chromium, lithium and PGEs. She is a 

Principal of Optiro Pty Ltd and is involved in resource estimation, independent technical reviews, audits 

and valuations of exploration assets. She also has significant experience in preparing independent 

competent person’s reports, due diligence reviews and mineral asset valuations and has prepared reports 

in accordance with the guidelines of the JORC and VALMIN Codes, and NI43-101 requirements. 

 

 
Ross Cheyne [Bachelor of Engineering (Mining) Hons, FAusIMM] has been employed professionally as a 

mining engineer since 1990, and has extensive operational and planning experience. This includes 

working in Australia, Ghana, Malaysia, Myanmar and Ireland. He began his consulting career in 2001 with 

CSA in Ireland, then with Snowden Consultants in Perth before co-founding ORELOGY with Steve Craig in 

2005. As a Director and Principal Consultant with ORELOGY, Ross has managed work on numerous 

projects in a range of commodities, scales and locations across the globe. He has undertaken all aspects 

of the mine planning cycle with an emphasis on costing and financial modelling. He has assumed 

Competent Person responsibilities for a range of project in Australia and Africa in gold, iron ore, graphite, 

copper and uranium. As such Ross is suitably qualified and experienced to fulfil the role of Competent 

Person for the Bunyu Graphite Project. 
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